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May 5, 2023

Dear Stockholders,

2022 proved to be another exceptional year for indie Semiconductor.  We continued to benefit from increasing market demand 
for our highly innovative Autotech products, which are backed by an extensive global patent portfolio developed by a world class 
team of over 600 dedicated employees.  The indie team started 2022 with strong momentum as we gained design win traction 
across leading Tier-1s and global automotive OEMs.  In fact, in the third quarter, we announced a significant increase in our 
strategic backlog to $4.3 billion, compared to $2.6 billion in 2021 and $2.0 billion at the time of our launch in 2020.  This growth 
reflects widespread program wins across our product portfolio – especially in Radar, Vision, Advanced Lighting and Wireless 
Charging applications.  Our program, customer and application diversification sets the stage for sustained growth over the 
course of this decade as design wins translate into program ramps, yielding revenue and free cash flow generation.    

Over the past 15 years, our talented organization has pushed the envelope of innovation, consistently delivered the highest 
quality service, and never taken shortcuts along the way.  While legacy incumbents were focused on optimizing operating 
margins at the expense of R&D investment, we significantly increased our R&D investments to expand our strategic product 
areas.  We’ve also developed deep relationships with some of the leading global Tier 1 automotive suppliers while our solutions 
have been validated by the market, with over 200 million cumulative unit shipments through year end.  As we look forward, we 
are well positioned to capitalize on some of the most demanding Autotech design challenges in the world. 

In 2022, we delivered a record $111 million in revenue, more than doubling the prior year’s top line for the second year in a row.  
Our non-GAAP gross margins expanded by 620 basis points to 49.9%, despite the challenging global supply chain environment.  
To put this robust performance into better context, since our IPO in the fourth quarter 2020, we’ve successfully scaled our 
business nearly 5-fold and enhanced our non-GAAP gross margin by 1500 basis points over roughly 24 months. 

With our di� erentiated product portfolio, we captured several major design wins with leading customers across driver safety 
and automation (ADAS), in-cabin user experience and electrification applications.  In addition, we accelerated our ADAS 
developments with two acquisitions in early 2023 with GEO Semiconductor and Silicon Radar GmbH.  GEO immediately rounds 
out our sensor o� ering and Computer Vision product portfolio with field-proven, di� erentiated solutions.  We expect that 
this combination will be highly synergistic operationally, with massive cross-selling opportunities.  At the same time, Silicon 
Radar GmbH complements our Radar roadmap with the world’s first production-ready 120 GHz radar transceiver for in-cabin 
monitoring applications.  

With 2023 well underway, our business is gaining momentum, putting indie on pace for another remarkable year.  Quite 
simply, we are benefitting from increasing broad-based demand for our highly innovative automotive semiconductors and 
so� ware, underpinned by a strengthening order pattern.  Accordingly, given new program ramps throughout the year, we 
intend to demonstrably and sustainably outperform our addressable markets, drive further gross margin expansion and achieve 
profitability in the back half of this year.

We remain committed to upholding our environmental, social and governance values at indie, and believe responsible and 
sustainable business practices support our long-term success.  Our corporate strategies and day-to-day activities reflect this 
commitment.  This includes: the implementation of socially responsible policies and procedures, the fostering of an all-inclusive 
workplace, our drive to use materials and energy more e�  ciently in production, the careful management of our supply chain, our 
products that enhance road safety and the execution of a robust ethics and compliance program.

We couldn’t be more excited about the opportunities that lie ahead.  Our comprehensive and di� erentiated portfolio of 
ADAS, in-cabin user experience and vehicle electrification solutions is increasingly winning in the marketplace.  We plan to 
apply the same principles and follow the cultural values that got us to this stage, and in the process, drive extraordinary 
value for our shareholders.

Donald McClymont

Co-founder and Chief Executive Offi  cer
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FORWARD-LOOKING STATEMENTS

This report contains “forward-looking statements” (within the meaning of Section 21E of the United States Securities Exchange 
Act of 1934, as amended, and Section 27A of the Securities Act of 1933, as amended). Such statements include, but are not 
limited to, statements regarding the Company’s future business and financial performance and prospects, and other statements 
identified by words such as “will likely result,” “expect,” “anticipate,” “estimate,” “believe,” “intend,” “plan,” “project,” 
“outlook,” “should,” “could,” “may” or words of similar meaning. Such forward-looking statements are based upon the 
current beliefs and expectations of the Company’s management and are inherently subject to significant business, economic 
and competitive uncertainties and contingencies, many of which are difficult to predict and generally beyond our control. 
Actual results and the timing of events may differ materially from the results included in such forward-looking statements. In 
addition to the factors disclosed under “Risk Factors” in Part I, Item 1A herein, the following factors, among others, could 
cause actual results and the timing of events to differ materially from the anticipated results or other expectations expressed in 
such forward-looking statements: downturns or volatility in general economic conditions; the impact of the COVID-19 
pandemic or a similar public health crisis; the impact of Russia’s invasion of Ukraine; the Company’s reliance on contract 
manufacturing and outsourced supply chain and the availability of semiconductors and manufacturing capacity; competitive 
products and pricing pressures; the Company’s ability to win competitive bid selection processes and achieve additional design 
wins; the impact of any acquisitions the Company may make, including its ability to successfully integrate acquired businesses 
and risks that the anticipated benefits of any acquisitions may not be fully realized or take longer to realize than expected; 
management’s ability to develop, market and gain acceptance for new and enhanced products and expand into new 
technologies and markets; trade restrictions and trade tensions; and political or economic instability in the Company’s target 
markets. indie cautions that the foregoing list of factors is not exclusive.

All information set forth herein speaks only as of the date hereof, and the Company disclaims any intention or obligation to 
update any forward-looking statements made in this report or in its other public filings, whether as a result of new information, 
future events or otherwise, except as required by law. 

References in this Annual Report on Form 10-K to “indie,” the “Company,” “we,” “us,” and “our” refer to indie 
Semiconductor, Inc., a Delaware corporation, and its consolidated subsidiaries, or (in the case of references prior to the 
consummation of the business combination (the “Transaction”) with Thunder Bridge Acquisition II, Ltd. (“TB2”) in June 
2021) to our predecessor Ay Dee Kay, LLC, a California limited liability company (“ADK LLC”). All references to U.S. dollar 
amounts are in thousands, other than share amounts, per share amount, date or the context otherwise requires.
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PART I

ITEM 1. BUSINESS

Company Overview

indie offers highly innovative automotive semiconductors and software solutions for Advanced Driver Assistance Systems 
(“ADAS”), autonomous vehicle, in-cabin, user experience (including connected car) and electrification applications. The 
Company focuses on edge sensors across multiple modalities spanning light detection and ranging (“LiDAR”), radar, 
ultrasound and computer vision. These functions represent the core underpinnings of both electric and automated vehicles, 
while the advanced user interfaces are transforming the in-cabin experience to mirror and seamlessly connect to the mobile 
platforms people rely on every day. indie is an approved vendor to Tier 1 automotive suppliers and its platforms can be found in 
marquee automotive manufacturers around the world.

Through innovative analog, digital and mixed-signal integrated circuits (“ICs”) with software running on the embedded 
processors, we are developing a differentiated, market-leading portfolio of automotive products. Our technological expertise, 
including cutting-edge design capabilities and packaging skillsets, together with our deep applications knowledge and strong 
customer relationships, have enabled us to cumulatively ship over 200 million semiconductor devices since our inception.

Our go-to-market strategy focuses on collaborating with key customers and partnering with Tier 1s via aligned product 
development, in pursuit of solutions addressing the automotive industry’s highest growth applications. We leverage our core 
capabilities in system-level hardware and software integration to develop highly integrated, ultra-compact and power efficient 
solutions. Further, our products meet or exceed the quality standards set by the more than 25 global automotive manufacturers 
who utilize our devices today. 

With a global footprint, we support leading customers from our design and application centers located in North and South 
America, Middle East, Asia and Europe, where our local teams work closely on their unique design requirements.

Recent Acquisitions

Silicon Radar

On February 21, 2023, Symeo GmbH (“Symeo”), one of our wholly-owned subsidiaries, completed its acquisition of all of the 
outstanding capital stock of Silicon Radar GmbH, a limited liability company organized under the laws of Germany (“Silicon 
Radar”). The acquisition was consummated pursuant to a Share Purchase Agreement by and among Symeo, indie and the 
holders of the outstanding capital stock of Silicon Radar. The closing consideration consisted of (i) $9.0 million in cash, (ii) 
approximately 980,000 shares of indie’s Class A common stock, par value $0.0001 per share and (iii) a contingent 
consideration payable in cash or in Class A common stock subject to Silicon Radar’s achievement of certain revenue-based and 
design-win milestones through December 31, 2024. The purchase price is subject to working capital and other adjustments as 
provided in the merger agreement. 

GEO Semiconductor Inc.

On February 9, 2023, we entered into an Agreement and Plan of Merger, pursuant to which Gonzaga Merger Sub Inc., a 
Delaware corporation and indie’s wholly-owned subsidiary, will merge with and into GEO Semiconductor Inc., a Delaware 
corporation (“GEO”), with GEO surviving as a wholly-owned subsidiary of indie (the “Merger”). The aggregate consideration 
for the Merger, which is up to $270.0 million, consisted of (i) $90.0 million payable in cash at closing, (ii) $90.0 million 
payable in indie shares of Class A common stock, par value $0.0001 per share (the “Common Stock”) at closing, and (iii) up to 
$90.0 million payable in cash or Common Stock subject to achieving certain GEO-related revenue targets. The purchase price is 
subject to working capital and other adjustments as provided in the merger agreement. The transaction was completed on March 
3, 2023.

Symeo GmbH 

On October 21, 2021, we entered into a definitive agreement with Analog Devices (“ADI”) to acquire Symeo GmbH. The 
acquisition was approved by the German government on January 4, 2022 and closed on the same day. The total consideration 
paid for this acquisition consisted of (i) $8.7 million in cash at closing, net of cash acquired; (ii) a $10.0 million promissory 
note payable in January 2023 with a fair market value of $9.7 million; and (iii) an equity-based earn-out of up to 858,369 shares 
of indie Class A common stock based on future revenue growth. The fair market value of this equity-based earn-out was $7.8 
million on January 4, 2022.
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ON Design Israel Ltd 

On October 1, 2021, we entered into a definitive agreement with Onsemi (“Onsemi”) and completed the acquisition of ON 
Design Israel Ltd. (“ON Design Israel”), for $5.0 million in cash paid upon close (net of cash acquired), $7.5 million of cash in 
2022 and up to $7.5 million of cash based on design win performance.

We paid a premium (i.e. goodwill) over the fair value of the net tangible and identified intangible assets acquired as part of the 
Symeo and On Design acquisitions brought us an engineering development team with broad experience in millimeter wave 
technology and radar system implementation, respectively, which will accelerate indie’s entry into the radar market and enable 
us to capture strategic opportunities among Tier 1 customers. 

TERAXION, INC

On August 27, 2021, indie entered into a Share Purchase Agreement, pursuant to which indie’s wholly-owned Canadian 
subsidiary (“Purchaser”) agreed to purchase all of the outstanding capital stock of TeraXion from the existing stockholders. The 
transaction was completed on October 12, 2021 and TeraXion became a wholly-owned subsidiary of ADK, LLC as a result of 
this acquisition.

The aggregate purchase price of this acquisition was CAD $200.0 million (the “Purchase Price”), which was payable 50% in 
cash and 50% in indie’s shares of Class A common stock, subject to various purchase price adjustments. Upon completion of 
the transaction, the total consideration paid for this acquisition consisted of (i) approximately $75.3 million in cash (including 
debt paid at closing and net of cash acquired); (ii) the issuance by indie of 5,805,144 shares of indie Class A common stock 
with a fair value of $65.2 million based on the market value of $11.23 per share; and (iii) the assumption by indie of TeraXion 
options, which became exercisable to purchase 1,542,332 shares of indie Class A common stock with a fair value of $17.2 
million.

TeraXion is a market leader in the design and manufacture of innovative photonic components. We paid a premium (i.e. 
goodwill) over the fair value of the net tangible and identified intangible assets acquired as this acquisition accelerates indie’s 
vision of becoming a semiconductor and software level solutions provider for multiple sensor modalities spanning ADAS and 
autonomous vehicles. 

Execution of At-The-Market Agreement

On August 26, 2022, indie entered into an At Market Issuance Agreement (“ATM Agreement”) with B. Riley Securities, Inc., 
Craig-Hallum Capital Group LLC and Roth Capital Partners, LLC (collectively as “Sales Agents”) relating to shares of our 
Class A common stock, par value $0.0001 per share. In accordance with the terms of the Sales Agreement, we may offer and 
sell shares of its Class A common stock having an aggregate offering price of up to $150.0 million from time to time through 
the Sales Agents, acting as our agent or principal. We implemented this program for the flexibility that it provides to the capital 
markets and to best time our equity capital needs. As of December 31, 2022, indie has raised gross proceeds of $17.2 million 
and issued 2,131,759 shares of Class A common stock at an averaged per-share sales price of $8.07 through this program and 
had approximately $132.8 million available for future issuances under the ATM Agreement. For the fiscal year ended 
December 31, 2022, indie incurred total issuance costs of $0.4 million.

Reverse Recapitalization with Thunder Bridge Acquisition II

On June 10, 2021, we completed a series of transactions (the “Transaction”) with Thunder Bridge Acquisition II, Ltd (“TB2”) 
pursuant to the Master Transactions Agreement dated December 14, 2020, as amended on May 3, 2021 (the “MTA”). In 
connection with the Transaction, Thunder Bridge II Surviving Pubco, Inc, a Delaware corporation (“Surviving Pubco”), was 
formed to be the successor public company to TB2, TB2 was domesticated into a Delaware corporation and merged with and 
into a merger subsidiary of Surviving Pubco. Additionally, we consummated a Private Investment in Public Equity (“PIPE”) 
financing, pursuant to which Surviving Pubco issued 15 million Class A common shares, generating net proceeds of $150 
million as a result of the Transaction. Also, on June 10, 2021, Surviving Pubco changed  its  name to indie Semiconductor, Inc., 
and listed our shares of Class A common stock, par value $0.0001 per share on The Nasdaq Stock Market LLC under the 
symbol “INDI.”

The Transaction was accounted for as a reverse recapitalization in accordance with generally accepted accounting principles in 
the United States of America (“U.S. GAAP”). indie is deemed to be the accounting predecessor of the combined business and is 
the successor registrant for U.S. Securities and Exchange Commission (“SEC”) purposes, meaning that our financial statements 
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for previous periods will be disclosed in the registrant’s future periodic reports filed with the SEC. The most significant change 
in our reported financial position and results of operations was gross cash proceeds of $399.5 million from the merger 
transaction, which includes $150 million in gross proceeds from the PIPE financing that was consummated in conjunction with 
the Transaction. The increase in cash was offset by transaction costs incurred in connection with the Transaction of 
approximately $43.5 million plus the retirement of indie’s long-term debt of $15.6 million. Approximately $29.8 million of the 
transaction costs and all of indie’s long-term debt were paid as of June 30, 2021. Approximately $21.8 million of the 
transaction costs paid as of June 30, 2021 were paid by TB2 as part of the closing of the Transaction. The remainder of the 
transaction costs were paid in the third quarter of 2021.

Industry Overview

At the highest level, semiconductors can be classified either as discrete devices, such as individual transistors, or integrated 
circuits, where a number of transistors and other components are combined to form a more complicated electronic subsystem. 
ICs can be divided into three primary categories: digital, analog, and mixed-signal. Digital ICs, such as memory devices and 
microprocessors, can store or perform arithmetic functions with data. Analog ICs, by contrast, handle real-world signals such as 
temperature, pressure, light, sound or speed, and also perform power management functions such as regulating or converting 
voltages for electronic devices. Mixed-signal ICs combine digital and analog functions onto a single chip and play an important 
role in bridging real-world inputs into the digital domain.

Historically, growth in the semiconductor industry has been driven by content expansion in computing, mobile and consumer 
electronics. However, research analysts anticipate that as each of these markets approaches saturation, the automotive sector 
will become one of the fastest growing opportunities. Specifically, according to IHS, the global automotive semiconductor 
market, which was valued at $54 billion in 2021, is projected to reach $130 billion by 2028, registering a compound annual 
growth rate (“CAGR”) over this period of 13%.

indie’s Market Opportunity

In today’s automobiles, semiconductors perform a variety of functions across multiple electronic components and systems, 
including sensing, processing data, storing information and converting or controlling signals. Semiconductor architectures vary 
significantly depending upon the specific function or application of the end product. They also differ based on a number of 
technical characteristics, including the degree of integration, level of customization, programmability and the underlying 
process technology utilized in manufacturing and assembly.

While semiconductors have always comprised the core building blocks of automotive electronic systems and equipment, recent 
technological advances have substantially increased their features, functionality and performance. Today, they support 
enhanced user interfaces and offer improved power consumption — all with reduced footprints and lower costs. These 
innovations have resulted in significant growth opportunities spanning diverse end markets and applications.

The three megatrends driving the automotive semiconductor market are catalyzed by: (i) the increasing electrification of vehicle 
drivetrains leading to the rapid proliferation of electric vehicles (“EVs”); (ii) the adoption of advanced driver assistance systems 
(“ADAS”) and driving automation functionality to improve road safety and strive towards higher levels of vehicle automation; 
and (iii) consumer demands for engaging, connected and convenient in-cabin user experience (UX).

Regarding electrification, S&P Global Mobility forecasts a 32% EV CAGR, with total annual EV production growing from 5 
million in 2021, to 35 million in 2028, representing greater than one-third of all new light vehicle production. These forecast 
volumes are driven in part by increasing global governmental mandates to decarbonize road transportation which contributes 
around 16% of total greenhouse gases (“GHG”) according to the International Energy Agency, but also by improved consumer 
awareness and preference for low carbon vehicle options. While the state of California has been a global leader in this through 
its Low-Emission Vehicle (“LEV”), GHG and Zero-Emission Vehicle (“ZEV”) regulations and criteria, there is accelerating 
international momentum to address the climate change impact of vehicles through global forums such as the United Nations 
Conference of the Parties (“COP”). At COP26 in 2021, a combination of more than 100 countries, cities, states, vehicle 
manufacturers - including BYD Auto, Ford Motor Company, General Motors, Mercedes-Benz and Volvo Cars - and other key 
institutional stakeholders signed the Glasgow Declaration on Zero-Emission Cars and Vans to end the sale of internal 
combustion engines by 2035 in leading markets, and by 2040 worldwide. These collective initiatives, commitments and 
regulations – enabled by semiconductor technologies - will drive global EV uptake, reduce harmful emissions and benefit 
society as a whole. According to IHS, the semiconductor value to support this global drivetrain electrification will grow at a 
26% CAGR, from $6.1 billion in 2021, to $30.3 billion in 2028.
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In parallel to the rapid electrification of vehicles, global ADAS system deployments are expected to increase substantially, 
driven in part by mandates for increased vehicle safety features by governmental bodies such as the European Commission and 
the National Highway Traffic Safety Administration (“NHTSA”) in the United States. Better consumer safety awareness and 
demand created by safety assessment initiatives such as the European and U.S. New Car Assessment Programs (“NCAP”) have 
also directly influenced vehicle OEMs to incorporate minimum levels of crash safety and mitigation into new vehicles since 
1979, and have evolved over time to include sophisticated semiconductor-enabled ADAS and automation capabilities such as 
Automatic Electronic Braking (“AEB”), Lane Keeping Assist (“LKA”), speed assistance and forward collision warning and, 
most recently, driver- and occupant monitoring (“DMS”, “OMS”), in order for a vehicle to be awarded a 5-star rating. With 
these global safety rating programs and governmental regulation, auto manufacturers are delivering more safety features to 
customers, the ADAS ECU market size will grow from $21 billion in 2021 to reach $50 billion by 2028, with corresponding 
semiconductor content of $8 billion to $31 billion, respectively, or a 21% CAGR, according to S&P Global.

In addition to electrified vehicle drivetrains and new safety features driving semiconductor content value in vehicles is the 
demand for improved in-cabin UX. In-cabin UX used to be synonymous with the in-vehicle infotainment (IVI) system, but 
today UX is defined by much more than IVI; consumers want intuitive, informative, connected and engaging interactions with 
their vehicle as they have become accustomed to with their portable consumer devices, but they also want enhanced 
convenience, utility, comfort and customizability of the cabin to their personal preferences, the nature of the journey or even the 
driver’s mood. Interior lighting, device power delivery, wireless charging, device-to-IVI interfacing, connected car networking 
and a multitude of utility and comfort functions enabled by small motors (such as electric seats, seat ventilation, air-
conditioning vents, etc.) contribute to the wider in-cabin UX, and all require semiconductor-enabled electronics. S&P Global 
forecasts that the semiconductor content value for in-cabin UX, which includes IVI, connectivity and body and convenience 
functions, will reach $45 billion in 2028, representing a 10% CAGR from $23 billion in 2021.

indie’s addressable market is not solely dependent on global automotive vehicle volumes, but rather on the increased levels of 
semiconductor content that are required in vehicles to support the safety and automation systems, enhanced user experiences 
and electrification applications as introduced above.

Competitive Strengths

indie focuses on delivering leading-edge semiconductor hardware with embedded software solutions. Over the past 10 years, 
we have built trusted relationships with Tier 1 automotive suppliers. Through focused R&D, leading intellectual property and a 
curated strategic partner network, we are on multiple Tier 1 Approved Vendor Lists (“AVLs”). Our competitive strengths 
include the following:

• Positioned in the highest growth areas. Our products serve three types of automotive applications: safety systems,
user experience (including connected car) and electrification. According to S&P Global, these key applications are
projected to grow at a 13% CAGR, from $54 billion in 2021 to $130 billion by 2028, substantially outpacing the total
global semiconductor market, and representing a significant addressable market for indie.

• Differentiated solutions with high barriers to entry. Due to the high degree of regulatory scrutiny and safety
requirements in the automotive industry, the semiconductor market is characterized by stringent qualification
processes, zero defect quality requirements and functionally safe design architectures. As a result, products must meet
high-reliability standards and have extensive design-in timeframes. Further, the automotive environment is harsh,
exposing vehicles to fluctuations in temperature and humidity and solutions require specific expertise. Given our
extensive industry experience, indie has overcome these high barriers to entry and is well positioned to solve some of
the most demanding Autotech design challenges.

• Partner/Customer relationships. We focus on engaging with leading global customers by developing technically
differentiated, compelling and sustainable architectures. To win with customers and programs, we bring unique
designs that allow major cost savings through higher levels of product integration, reducing the total number of chips
needed to support multiple requirements. Toward that end, today indie is approved on multiple Tier 1 AVLs.

• Proven management team. indie’s executive management team brings extensive semiconductor experience, with past
successes in delivering leading-edge technologies and creating stockholder value.

Company Strategy
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We are dedicated to offering our customers a comprehensive portfolio of automotive technology solutions. We focus on 
designing and delivering the technologies that enable three key automotive dynamics: safety systems, enhanced in-cabin user 
experience (including connected car) and electrification. Core tenets of our strategy include:

• Enabling diverse, high growth applications. Our system-on-chip solutions are at the epicenter of a diverse set of
emerging applications including radar, LiDAR, vision, wireless charging, wired power delivery, interior and exterior
lighting, device-to-IVI interfacing, power management and small motor control.

• Delivering on existing wins and extending product reach. Our products currently support multiple Tier 1 automotive
supplier platforms. In the medium term, we plan to deliver expanded LiDAR and vision solutions and bring Artificial
Intelligence (“AI”) and Machine Learning (“ML”) processor acceleration capabilities into these applications.

• Leveraging our global supply chain. We have built a nimble global network of foundry, test and assembly partners
that provide us with the ability to deliver superior supply chain operations. As a fabless semiconductor supplier, this
approach has allowed us to maximize scalability while minimizing capital expenditures. To meet demand as the
business scales, we are continue to enhance our successful strategic supply chain partnerships.

• Driving margin expansion through innovative designs and development. We intend to expand our margins through
the design and development of new, more highly integrated solutions. Our engineering teams develop architectures to
improve performance and efficiency while reducing the size and cost of the chip as well as the need for multiple
discrete devices.

• Pursuing selective acquisitions. Since the closing of the Transaction, we have completed multiple acquisitions. We
continually assess and plan to selectively pursue inorganic opportunities that are complementary to our existing
technologies and portfolio of products and/or accelerate our growth initiatives.

Company Products and Solutions

Our current products include devices for a multitude of automotive applications spanning ultrasound for parking assistance, in-
cabin wireless charging and USB power delivery, device interfacing through Apple CarPlay and Android Auto, and LED 
lighting controllers for interior and exterior applications. Products under development range from FMCW-based LiDAR, radar 
and vision solutions for ADAS, charging controllers for electric vehicles, smart car access solutions and cybersecurity 
microcontrollers. Within our ADAS portfolio, we intend to support all key sensor modalities, delivering comprehensive system-
level solutions for our customers as depicted below.
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We have deep design experience and capabilities in core technologies, allowing us to deliver leading-edge Autotech 
architectures. Our capabilities include, but are not limited to:

• system engineering, optimization and partitioning;
• mixed-signal and RF design;
• analog and power management;
• digital design; and
• Digital Signal Processors (“DSP”) and Arm(R)-based Microcontrollers (“MCU”)

In addition, embedded software is a cornerstone of virtually all of indie’s products. We utilize automotive grade software 
solutions and Arm 32-bit processors. Through our proprietary design flow, we also enable algorithm development and co-
development with hardware.

TeraXion Products and Solutions

TeraXion designs and manufactures innovative photonic components on various technology platforms, including fiber Bragg 
gratings (“FBG”), low-noise lasers, athermal and tunable packaging, photonic integration and low-noise and high-speed 
electronics. These components are integrated into solutions for the laser systems, optical sensing and optical communication 
markets. Importantly, we are integrating TeraXion’s expertise in photonics across our automotive LiDAR offerings.

Manufacturing

Other than specific FBG and semiconductor laser-based products offered by TeraXion, indie continues to utilize a fabless 
business model, working with a network of third parties to manufacture, assemble and test our products. This approach allows 
us to focus our engineering and design resources on our core competencies and to control and reduce our fixed costs and capital 
expenditures.

Wafers, which are the fundamental components of our devices, are manufactured by multiple third-party foundries. Our 
primary foundry partners are X-FAB, HHGrace, and Global Foundries. We contract with X-FAB for mixed signal and high 
voltage foundry. HHGrace provides us deeper sub-micron capabilities with embedded Flash Memory.We use Global Foundries 
as our foundry partner for several process technologies, including advanced nodes. We dual source packaging at ASE, ATX 
and Hana Semiconductor. We use test services from Sigurd and Terepower. Having several sources and partners provides us 
with enhanced security of supply.

Manufacturing lead time is 26 weeks. The lead time for wafers is 16 weeks. The backend processing including probe, assembly, 
and test is about 8 weeks. The finished product is then warehoused and drop-shipped to a specific location. We currently ship 
products to Greater China (including Hong Kong and Taiwan), the United States, Portugal, Korea, Mexico, and Germany.

In connection with our acquisition of TeraXion in October 2021, we added limited manufacturing capabilities in Quebec City, 
Canada to assemble and test FBG based products and semiconductor laser-based products.

Sales, Marketing and Customer Support

Our go-to-market strategy provides comprehensive customer coverage. We are partner and standard agnostic, allowing our 
solutions to be used globally and across multiple platforms and customers. We target innovative Tier 1 automotive suppliers 
and focus on the semiconductors and software that enable the key systems which underpin the highest growth automotive 
technology market opportunities.

We often work with customers that have a leading market share in a given application and we deliver unique, tailor-made 
software and hardware solutions. Given automotive product cycles, we are typically in production with customers for more than 
seven years with a single design. Through our customer collaboration at the R&D level, our team members are often integrated 
into a customer’s technology selection and design processes, a key aspect in indie’s winning track record of repeat business.

Since our inception, we have shipped over 200 million devices to customers and our products are powering solutions in over 25 
automotive suppliers. By establishing a trusted relationship with the industry’s leading suppliers, indie is well positioned to gain 
a growing share of new automotive solutions.
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Revenues for the years ended December 31, 2022 and 2021 include sales to Aptiv, a leading Tier 1 automotive supplier, which 
represented approximately 37% and 39% of total revenue, respectively. The loss of this customer would have a material impact 
on our consolidated financial results.

Research and Development Strategy

We have invested a significant amount of time and expense into the design and development of our products and the associated 
software. Our engineering teams deliver innovative mixed-signal solutions with a focus on meeting our customers’ performance 
requirements.

As an Autotech company, we believe that our future success depends on our ability to rapidly develop and introduce 
differentiated products. Our goal is to continually improve both our existing portfolio, while simultaneously introducing new 
solutions in order to create value for our customers. To outpace market growth, we seek to invest in opportunities that will help 
extend our product reach, with an emphasis on the industry’s fastest growing segments. Our attention to meeting or exceeding 
the stringent automotive safety and reliability requirements is fundamental to our research and development process.

To that end, we regularly review our investments to ensure alignment with our growth and profitability goals and make 
necessary changes in the allocation of resources as needed. In 2022, we spent approximately 109% of our revenues on research 
and development as we expand product development activities in support of pent-up customer demand.

Our research activities are principally conducted at our headquarters in Aliso Viejo, California and we have design centers and 
sales offices in Austin, TX; Boston, MA; Detroit, MI; San Francisco and San Jose, CA; Córdoba, Argentina; Budapest, 
Hungary; Dresden, Frankfurt an der Oder, Munich and Nuremberg, Germany; Edinburgh, Scotland; Rabat, Morocco; Haifa and 
Tel Aviv, Israel; Quebec City, Canada; Tokyo, Japan; Seoul, South Korea and several locations throughout China.

Process and Packaging Technology

Packaging is becoming increasingly crucial to the performance and reliability of automotive ICs, especially given the 
challenging operating environment of vehicles. indie’s technology development engineers have long-established expertise in 
delivering leading-edge capabilities, such as system-in-package (“SiP”) technology. Further, we leverage our packaging 
capabilities to integrate multiple chips into a single package solution.

Automotive Quality and Safety

We employ wafer and package technologies that meet or exceed the rigorous quality and safety requirements set by industry 
standards and our customers. Our robust development processes and company guidelines have resulted in indie devices that are 
capable of exceeding the requirements of AEC Q100 Automotive Grade.

Our dedication to our customers begins with a commitment to design, produce and deliver the highest quality products that 
meet or exceed the performance levels required for each application. We encourage our customers to frequently visit both our 
design centers and our manufacturing partners to ensure that the processes and quality meet the standards they have come to 
expect. We are ISO9001 and ISO26262 certified and intend to pursue further certifications.

Intellectual Property

The core strengths of our business are our intellectual property portfolio and engineering experience, both of which guide 
product development activities and our approach to patent filings.

Our future success and competitive position depend in part upon our ability to obtain and maintain protection of our proprietary 
technologies. In general, we have elected to pursue patent protection for aspects of our circuit and device designs that we 
believe are patentable. We have a number of core technology patents currently in process, including provisions, but we do not 
rely on any particular patent or patents for our success and have instead relied on our know-how and trade secrets. We also rely 
on a combination of non-disclosure agreements and other contractual provisions, as well as our employees’ commitment to 
confidentiality and loyalty, to protect our technology and processes.

The semiconductor industry in general is characterized by frequent claims of infringement and litigation regarding patent and 
other intellectual property rights. Patent infringement is an ongoing risk, in part because other companies in our industry could 
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have patent rights that may not be identifiable when we initiate development efforts. Litigation may be necessary to enforce our 
intellectual property rights, and we may have to defend ourselves against infringement claims.

Competition

The market for high-performance analog, digital and mixed-signal semiconductors for automotive applications, is competitive 
although recent consolidation across the semiconductor industry has reduced the number of viable competitors and created 
design opportunities for us. Our primary competitors are other automotive-focused semiconductor companies, including 
Infineon, Monolithic Power Systems, NXP, Renesas and ST Microelectronics.

Some competitors have more financial resources than we do, while others have a more diversified set of products and end 
markets. Accordingly, such competitors may be able to respond more quickly to customer requests and market developments, 
and to better withstand external economic or market factors.

However, we believe that our technical and design experience, our existing approved vendor list position across multiple Tier 1 
automotive suppliers, and a growing demand for software-embedded solutions with proprietary manufacturing and packaging 
capabilities, position us to outpace our addressable market.

Corporate Responsibility and Sustainability

We believe responsible and sustainable business practices support our long-term success. As a company, we are committed to 
protecting and supporting our people, our environment, and our communities. This commitment is reflected through our day-to-
day activities, including the adoption of socially responsible policies and procedures, our focus on fostering an inclusive 
workplace, our constant drive toward more efficient use of materials and energy, our careful management of our supply chain, 
our products which help enhance road safety, and our ethics and compliance program.

• We seek to protect the human rights and civil liberties of our employees through policies, procedures, and programs
that avoid risks of compulsory and child labor, both within our company and throughout our supply chain.

• We foster a workplace of dignity, respect, diversity, and inclusion through our recruiting and advancement practices,
internal communications, and employee resource groups.

• We educate our employees annually on relevant ethics and compliance topics, publish accessible guidance on ethical
issues and related company resources in our global Code of Business Conduct and Ethics, and encourage reporting of
ethical concerns through any of several global and local reporting channels.

• We innovate to reduce the energy used by our products, the energy used to manufacture them, and the amount of new
materials required to manufacture them.

Employees 

As of December 31, 2022, we had over 600 employees. None of our employees or contract workers are represented by a labor 
union. 

Information about Our Executive Officers

Our executive officers are as follows:

Name Age Position
Donald McClymont 54 Chief Executive Officer and Director
Ichiro Aoki 58 President and Director
Thomas Schiller 52 Chief Financial Officer and EVP of Strategy
Kanwardev Raja Singh Bal 47 Chief Accounting Officer
Steven Machuga 58 Chief Operating Officer

Donald McClymont serves as indie’s Chief Executive Officer and is responsible for formulating its strategic vision, ensuring 
the execution of business plans and creating shareholder value. Mr. McClymont also serves on indie’s Board of Directors. Prior 
to co-founding indie in 2007, he was Vice President of Marketing at Axiom Microdevices, tasked with driving company 
strategy, developing sales engagements and building key industry partnerships. Prior to Axiom, he was a Product Line Director 
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at Skyworks Solutions and Conexant, and a Marketing Manager at Fujitsu. Previously, he was with Thesys (now X-FAB 
Melexis), and Wolfson (now Cirrus Logic), as a design engineer. Mr. McClymont holds five patents worldwide and earned a 
Master in Engineering Electronics and Electrical from the University of Glasgow.

Ichiro Aoki serves as indie’s President and as a member of the Board of Directors. He works closely with indie’s executive 
team and Board to create, update and manage execution of indie’s strategies and technical roadmaps. Prior to co-founding indie 
in 2007, Dr. Aoki was a co-founder, Board Member and Chief Architect of Axiom Microdevices, which was subsequently sold 
to Skyworks Solutions. Previously, Dr. Aoki founded and served as co-CEO of PST Eletronica Ltd. in Brazil, which was later 
sold to Stoneridge, Inc. Dr. Aoki has developed 35 patents worldwide and has authored numerous IEEE papers, two of them 
having over 400 citations. He is fluent in Japanese, Portuguese and English. Dr. Aoki holds a Ph.D. and Masters in Electrical 
Engineering from the California Institute of Technology and a Bachelor of Science in Electrical Engineering from the 
University of Campinas, Sao Paulo, Brazil. He serves as a California Institute of Technology Electrical Engineering Advisory 
Council Member and is also a Scientific Advisory Board Member with the California Institute of Technology Space-based 
Solar Power Project.

Thomas Schiller serves as indie’s Chief Financial Officer and Executive Vice President of Strategy. In this role, he leads all 
corporate financing, reporting, investor relations, treasury, tax, as well as merger and acquisition activities. Prior to joining indie 
in October 2019, Mr. Schiller was Vice President of Marketing at Marvell Semiconductor, from February to October 2019. 
From July 2002 to February 2019, he was Vice President of Strategy and Corporate Development at Skyworks Solutions. He 
earned a Masters of Business Administration from the University of Southern California with specialization in Entrepreneurship 
and Finance, and holds a Bachelor of Arts in Social Sciences with emphasis in Economics and Political Science from the 
University of California, Irvine. In addition, Mr. Schiller has completed executive education programs at the University of 
California, Los Angeles and at Suffolk University, Boston.

Kanwardev Raja Singh Bal, serves as indie's Chief Accounting Officer. In this role, Mr. Bal leads indie’s accounting and 
finance operations, and works closely with the Chief Financial Officer to oversee financial reporting, tax, global treasury and 
internal control activities. From January 2020 to December 2022, Mr. Bal served as Senior Vice President - Finance and 
Controller of indie. Prior to joining indie in January 2020, Mr. Bal served as Operating Partner and Chief Financial Officer for 
True North Venture Partners and its wholly-owned portfolio companies from October 2017 and December 2019 and as Vice 
President and Chief Financial Officer for GT Advanced Technologies from January 2014 and October 2017. Previously, Mr. 
Bal served as Corporate Controller and Treasurer for Skyworks Solutions, where he held finance roles with increasing 
responsibility. He also has held finance positions with Lucent Technologies and Ernst & Young. Mr. Bal holds a CPA 
accounting designation, a Master of Management Analytics from Queen’s University’s Smith School of Business, and a 
Bachelor of Commerce degree from the University of Ottawa's Telfer School of Management.

Steven Machuga, serves as indie’s Chief Operating Officer. He has over 30 years of experience in electronics and 
semiconductor development and high-volume operations management of the entire supply chain. Prior to joining indie in March 
2021, he was Vice President, Worldwide Operations at Skyworks Solutions since 2016. Prior to that, he was Vice President, 
External Manufacturing Operations & Engineering at Skyworks from 2006. He holds a Masters in Chemical Engineering and 
Materials Science from the University of Minnesota and a Bachelor of Science in Chemical Engineering, from the University of 
Connecticut. He holds six U.S. patents and three European patents.

Our executive officers are appointed annually by and serve at the discretion of the Board of Directors.

Available Information

Our primary Internet address is www.indiesemi.com. We make our U.S. Securities and Exchange Commission (“SEC”) 
periodic reports (Forms 10-Q and Forms 10-K) and current reports (Forms 8-K) available free of charge through our website as 
soon as reasonably practicable after they are filed electronically with the SEC. Within the Investor Relations section of our 
website, we provide information concerning corporate governance, including our Audit and Compensation Committee charters, 
Nominating and Corporate Governance information, Board committee composition and chairs, Code of Ethics for Principal 
Financial Officers, and other information. The content of our website is not incorporated by reference into this Annual Report 
on Form 10-K or into any other report or document we file with the SEC, and any references to our websites are intended to be 
inactive textual references only.

The SEC also maintains an Internet website at http://www.sec.gov that contains reports, proxy and information statements, and 
other information that we file electronically with the SEC.
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ITEM 1A. RISK FACTORS

In evaluating our company and our business, you should carefully consider the risks and uncertainties described below, 
together with the other information in this Annual Report on Form 10-K, including our consolidated financial statements and 
the related notes and the section titled “Management’s Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of 
Operations.” The occurrence of one or more of the events or circumstances described in these risk factors, alone or in 
combination with other events or circumstances, may have a material adverse effect on our business, reputation, revenue, 
financial condition, results of operations or future prospects, in which case the market price of our common stock could 
decline, and you could lose part or all of your investment. Unless otherwise indicated, reference in this section and elsewhere 
in this Annual Report on Form 10-K to our business being adversely affected, negatively impacted or harmed will include an 
adverse effect on, or a negative impact or harm to, our business, reputation, financial condition, results of operations, revenue 
or our future prospects. The risks and uncertainties described below are not intended to be exhaustive and are not the only ones 
we face. Additional risks and uncertainties not presently known to us or that we currently deem immaterial may also impair our 
business. This Annual Report on Form 10-K also contains forward-looking statements that involve risks and uncertainties. Our 
actual results could differ materially from those anticipated in the forward-looking statements as a result of a number of 
factors, including the risks described below. See the section titled “Cautionary Statement Regarding Forward-Looking 
Statements.”

Summary of Risks

An investment in shares of our Class A common stock and warrants involves substantial risks and uncertainties that may 
adversely affect the value of your investment. Some of the more significant challenges and risks relating to an investment in our 
company include, among other things, the following:

Risks Related to Our Operations and Industry

• The cyclical nature of the semiconductor industry may limit our net sales and profitability.
• If we fail to compete effectively in the highly competitive semiconductor industry, our business could be adversely

affected.
• Declining average selling prices and price erosion may adversely impact our revenue and profitability.
• Failure to win competitive bid selection processes could adversely affect our business.
• Decline in demand for our customers’ end products could adversely impact our revenue and profitability.
• Any downturn in the automotive market could significantly harm our financial results.
• We depend on third parties to manufacture, assemble, test and/or package our products,
• We rely on the timely supply of materials that may only be available from a limited number of suppliers.
• We must develop new products with acceptable profit margins.
• “Strategic backlog” and “design win pipeline” estimations may not result in revenue or profits.
• Mergers, acquisitions, investments and joint ventures could adversely affect our results of operations.
• Future growth could strain our resources, management, information and telecommunication systems and operating and

financial controls.
• We may seek additional capital, which may result in dilution to our stockholders.
• We may rely on strategic partnerships, joint ventures and alliances, which may fail for reasons outside of our control.
• We may not be successful in exiting certain programs or businesses or in restructuring our operations, which could

adversely impact our business.
• Disruptions in our relationships with any one of our key customers could adversely affect our business.
• We have historically incurred losses and may continue to incur losses.

Risks Related to Our Indebtedness

• Our existing and future indebtedness could adversely affect our ability to operate our business.
• We may not have sufficient funds to repay the indebtedness and repurchase the 2027 Notes or make cash payments upon

conversions thereof.
• Provisions in the 2027 Indenture for the 2027 Notes may deter or prevent a business combination that stockholders may

consider favorable.
• The accounting method for reflecting the 2027 Notes may adversely affect our reported earnings and financial condition.
• The conditional conversion feature of the 2027 Notes, if triggered, may adversely affect our financial condition and

operating results.
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Risks Related to Our Organizational Structure

• We are dependent upon distributions made by our subsidiaries to make certain payments, and such distributions may be
delayed or restricted for reasons outside of our control.

• We are party to a Tax Receivable Agreement, which requires us to make certain payments, and such payment may exceed
our actual tax benefits or may be accelerated.

Risks Related to Macroeconomic Conditions

• Geopolitical uncertainty could impact end customer demand and disrupt our supply chain.
• Downturns or volatility in general economic conditions could harm our business.
• Fluctuations in foreign exchange rates could have an adverse effect on our results of operations.
• Our worldwide operations are subject to political, economic and health risks and natural disasters, which could have a

material adverse effect on our business operations.

Risks Related to our Intellectual Property, Technology and Cybersecurity.

• Improper use of our intellectual property could have a material adverse effect on our business, financial condition and
results of operations.

• Intellectual property claims or litigation could significantly harm our business.
• We license certain third-party software that may not be available to us in the future which may delay product development

and production or cause us to incur additional expense.
• Interruptions in information technology systems could adversely affect our business.
• Security breaches and other cybersecurity incidents could adversely impact our business.

Risks Related to Regulatory Compliance and Legal Matters

• If we or our customers fail to comply with a large body of laws and regulations, our business and reputation could be
adversely affected.

• We may be adversely affected by product defects and product liability or warranty claims.
• Significant litigation and stockholder activism could impair our reputation and adversely affect our business.
• We are subject to export restrictions and laws affecting trade and investments which could materially and adversely affect

our business and results of operations.
• Changes in tax rates or laws or additional tax liabilities could adversely affect our business.
• Failure to comply with anti-corruption laws or our ethics policies could adversely affect our business.

Risks Related to Doing Business in China

• Uncertainties with respect to the PRC legal system could adversely affect our China business.
• China’s economic, political and social conditions may change rapidly with little advance notice, which could adversely

affect our business.
• Our China subsidiary may be limited in its ability to make distributions to us.
• Government control of currency conversion may affect the value of our securities.
• Failure to comply with certain regulations may subject us or our PRC employees to fines or sanctions.
• Failure to comply with PRC laws and other obligations regarding data protection could have a material adverse effect on

our business.

Risks Related to Financial Reporting, Internal Controls and Being a Public Company

• We may not be able to timely and effectively implement and maintain controls and procedures required by Section 404 of
the Sarbanes-Oxley Act that is applicable to us, which could result in materially misstated financial reporting.

• Increased expenses and administrative burdens as a public company could have a material adverse effect on our business.
• Use of exemptions available to emerging growth companies could make our securities less attractive to investors and may

make it difficult to compare our performance to that of other public companies.

Risks Related to Ownership of Our Class A Common Stock and Warrants, and Organizational Documents

• We must comply with the continued listing standards of Nasdaq for our Class A common stock.
• We may redeem unexpired warrants prior to their exercise at a time that is disadvantageous to the holder, thereby making

such warrants worthless.
• Our warrants may have an adverse effect on the market price of our Class A common stock.
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• An investment in our Class A common stock may be diluted by future issuances of our Class A common stock or ADK
LLC units.

• There may be sales of a substantial amount of Class A common stock by our stockholders, which could cause the price of
our securities to fall.

• Provisions in our Certificate of Incorporation and Bylaws limit the ability of stockholders to take certain actions and could
delay or discourage takeover attempts.

• Our Certificate of Incorporation designates the Court of Chancery of the State of Delaware as the sole and exclusive forum
for certain types of actions and proceedings, which could limit our stockholders’ ability to obtain a favorable judicial
forum.

Please see below for a discussion of these and other factors you should consider before making an investment in our securities.

Risks Related to Our Operations and Industry

The cyclical nature of the semiconductor industry may limit our ability to maintain or improve our net sales and 
profitability.

The semiconductor industry is highly cyclical and is prone to significant downturns from time to time. Cyclical downturns can 
result in substantial declines in semiconductor demand, production overcapacity, high inventory levels and accelerated erosion 
of average selling prices. Such downturns result from a variety of market forces including constant and rapid technological 
change, quick product obsolescence, price erosion, evolving standards, short product life cycles and wide fluctuations in 
product supply and demand.

For example, commencing in 2020, a variety of factors including the COVID-19 pandemic, ongoing trade disputes between the 
United States and China, geopolitical factors, such as Russia’s invasion of Ukraine, weakness in demand and pricing for 
semiconductors across applications, and excess inventory have resulted in downturns in the semiconductor industry. During the 
second half of fiscal year 2020, customer manufacturing facilities re-opened and demand has returned to normal and continued 
to grow. While the Company does not anticipate significant adverse effects on its operations in the near- or mid-term, the future 
effects of COVID-19  are difficult to predict, due to uncertainty about different variants that may evolve, the actions that may 
be taken to contain or treat future impact, and how quickly and to what extent normal economic and operating conditions 
resume. 

Conversely, significant upturns could cause us to be unable to satisfy demand in a timely and cost-efficient manner, and could 
result in increased competition for access to third-party foundry, assembly and testing capacity. In the event of such an upturn, 
we may not be able to expand our workforce and operations in a sufficiently timely manner, procure adequate resources and 
raw materials, or locate suitable suppliers or other subcontractors to respond effectively to changes in demand for our existing 
products or to the demand for new products. Accordingly, our business, financial condition and results of operations could be 
materially and adversely affected.

The semiconductor industry is highly competitive. If we fail to introduce new technologies and products in a timely manner, 
it could adversely affect business.

The semiconductor industry is highly competitive and characterized by constant and rapid technological change, short product 
lifecycles, significant price erosion, and evolving standards for quality. Accordingly, the success of our business depends, to a 
large extent, on our ability to meet evolving industry requirements, introduce new products and technologies designed to satisfy 
those evolving requirements, and see our products and technologies accepted in the marketplace, both in a timely manner and at 
prices that are acceptable to customers.

Moreover, the costs related to the research and development necessary to develop new technologies and products are significant 
and some of our competitors may have greater resources than us. If they significantly increase the resources that they devote to 
developing and marketing their products, we may not be able to compete effectively. Our competitors’ products, services and 
technologies may be less costly or may offer superior functionality or better features than ours, which may result in lower than 
expected selling prices for our products. Additionally, some of our competitors operate and maintain their own fabrication 
facilities, have longer operating histories, larger customer bases, more comprehensive intellectual property portfolios and 
greater financial resources. 

Further, the semiconductor industry has experienced, and may continue to experience, significant consolidation among 
companies and vertical integration among customers. Larger competitors resulting from consolidations may have certain 
advantages over us, including, but not limited to: more efficient cost structures; substantially greater financial and other 
resources with which to withstand adverse economic or market conditions and pursue development, engineering, 
manufacturing, marketing and distribution of their products; longer independent operating histories; presence in key markets; 
intellectual property protection; large purchase quantities; and greater name recognition. In addition, we may be at a 
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competitive disadvantage to our peers if we fail to identify or are unable to finance attractive opportunities to acquire companies 
to expand our business. Consolidation among our competitors and integration among our customers could erode our market 
share, negatively impact our capacity to compete and require us to restructure our operations, any of which would have a 
material adverse effect on our business.

As a result of these competitive pressures, we may face declining sales volumes or lower prices for our products, and may not 
be able to reduce total costs in line with declining revenue. If any of these risks materialize, they could have a material adverse 
effect on our business, financial condition and results of operations.

The average selling prices of products in our markets have historically decreased over time and could do so in the future, 
which could adversely impact our revenue and profitability.

Average selling prices of semiconductor products in the markets we serve have historically decreased over time. Profit margins 
and financial results may suffer if we are unable to offset any reductions in average selling prices by reducing costs, developing 
new or enhanced products on a timely basis with higher selling prices or profit margins, or increasing sales volumes. Although 
in some cases, we have contractual agreements with customers, there is no assurance that those price agreements will be 
honored. As a result, our average selling prices may decline faster than forecasted. Additionally, increases in the industry 
semiconductor manufacturing capacity could lead to declines in average selling prices and a decrease in short-term or long-term 
demand, resulting in industry oversupply, could materially adversely affect our business, results of operations, or financial 
condition.

Much of our business depends on winning competitive bid selection processes, and the failure to be selected could adversely 
affect business in those market segments.

The competitive selection processes often require an investment of significant time and capital resources, with no guarantee of 
winning the contract and generating revenue. In the automotive semiconductor market in which we compete, due to the longer 
design cycles involved, failure to win a design-in could prevent access to a customer for several years. Our failure to win a 
significant number of these bids could result in reduced revenues, and hurt our competitive position for future selection 
processes, which could have a material adverse effect on our business, financial condition and results of operations.

The demand for our products depends on the demand for our customers’ end products.

The vast majority of our revenue is derived from sales to manufacturers in the automotive industry. Demand in this market 
fluctuates significantly, driven by consumer spending, consumer preferences, the development of new technologies and 
prevailing economic conditions. In addition, the end products in which our semiconductors are incorporated may not be 
successful, or may experience price erosion or other competitive factors that could affect the price manufacturers are willing to 
pay. Such customers have in the past, and may in the future, vary order levels significantly from period to period, request 
postponements of scheduled delivery dates, modify their orders or reduce lead times. This is particularly common during 
periods of low demand. This can make managing business difficult, as it limits the predictability of future revenue. It can also 
affect the accuracy of our financial forecasts.

Furthermore, because we do not manufacture the semiconductors used for our products, we are dependent on third parties to 
manufacture and assemble our products. Our manufacturing lead times require us to make estimates of customers’ future 
demand. If our estimates of customer demand are ultimately inaccurate, these conditions could lead to a significant mismatch 
between supply and demand. This mismatch may result in both product shortages and excess inventory and could significantly 
harm our financial results. In periods of shortages impacting the semiconductor industry or limited supply or capacity in our 
supply chain, as we have experienced in the past, the lead time on our orders for certain supply could become extended, 
heightening these risks.

Furthermore, developing industry trends, including customers’ use of outsourcing and new and revised supply chain models, 
may affect our revenue, costs and working capital requirements.

Our sales are made primarily to Tier 1 suppliers. Any downturn in the automotive market could significantly harm our 
financial results.

This automotive concentration of sales exposes us to the risks associated with the automotive market. For example, our 
anticipated future growth is highly dependent on the adoption of ADAS, user interface, connectivity and electrification 
technologies, which are expected to have increased sensor and power product content. A downturn in the automotive market 
could delay automakers’ plans to introduce new vehicles with these features, which would negatively impact the demand for 
products and our ability to grow our business.
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The automotive industry continues to undergo consolidation and reorganization and, in some cases, suppliers to the automotive 
industry have entered bankruptcy. Consolidation or closures of automobile dealers could reduce the aggregate demand for our 
services in the future and limit the amounts we earn from our products. Such changes in the automotive market could have a 
material adverse effect on our business, financial condition and results of operations. 

We depend on third parties and their technology to manufacture, assemble, test and/or package our products, which exposes 
us to risks.

The manufacture of our products, including the fabrication of semiconductor wafers, and the assembly and testing of our 
products, involve highly complex processes. For example, minute levels of contaminants in the manufacturing environment, 
difficulties in the wafer fabrication process or other factors can cause a substantial portion of the components on a wafer to be 
nonfunctional. These problems may be difficult to detect at an early stage of the manufacturing process and often are time-
consuming and expensive to correct.

From time to time, we have experienced problems achieving acceptable yields at our third-party wafer fabrication partners, 
resulting in delays in the availability of components. Moreover, an increase in the rejection rate of products during the quality 
control process before, during or after manufacture and/or shipping of such products, results in lower yields and margins.

In addition, changes in manufacturing processes required as a result of changes in product specifications, changing customer 
needs and the introduction of new product lines have the potential to significantly reduce manufacturing yields, resulting in low 
or negative margins on those products. Poor manufacturing yields over a prolonged period of time could adversely affect our 
ability to deliver products on a timely basis and harm relationships with our customers, which could materially and adversely 
affect our business, financial condition and results of operations.

We rely on the timely supply of materials and our business could be adversely affected if suppliers fail to meet their delivery 
obligations or raise prices. Certain materials needed in our manufacturing operations are only available from a limited 
number of suppliers.

We have a fabless business model, which outsources our manufacturing operations to third-party foundries. The manufacturing 
operations depend on deliveries of materials in a timely manner and, in some cases, on a just-in-time basis. From time to time, 
suppliers may extend lead times, limit the amounts supplied or increase prices due to capacity constraints or other factors. 
Supply disruptions may also occur due to shortages in critical materials or components. Because our products are complex, it is 
frequently difficult or impossible to substitute one type of material with another. A failure by suppliers to deliver requirements 
could result in disruptions to our third-party manufacturing operations. Our business, financial condition and results of 
operations could be harmed if we are unable to obtain adequate supplies of materials in a timely manner or if there are 
significant increases in the costs of materials.

The semiconductor industry is characterized by continued price erosion, especially after a product has been on the market 
for a period of time, and we may be unsuccessful in advancing our product technologies, improving efficiencies or 
developing and selling new products with product margins similar or better than what we have experienced in the past.

One of the results of the rapid innovation in the semiconductor industry is that pricing pressure, especially on products 
containing older technology, can be intense. Product life cycles are relatively short, and as a result, products tend to be replaced 
by more technologically advanced substitutes on a regular basis. In turn, demand for older technology falls, causing the price at 
which such products can be sold to drop, in some cases precipitously.

In order to continue profitably supplying these products, continuous development of new technology, processes and product 
innovations is necessary. If we cannot advance our process technologies or improve our efficiencies to a degree sufficient to 
maintain required margins, we will no longer be able to make a profit from the sale of these products. Moreover, we may not be 
able to cease production of such products, either due to contractual obligations or for customer relationship reasons, and as a 
result we may be required to bear a loss on such products. We cannot guarantee that competition in our core product markets 
will not lead to price erosion, lower revenue or lower margins in the future. Should reductions in our manufacturing costs fail to 
keep pace with reductions in market prices for the products we sell, this could have a material adverse effect on our business, 
financial condition and results of operations. Further, we have invested and will continue to invest significant resources in our 
product and technology development efforts. Our development efforts carry inherent risk due to the challenges of foreseeing 
changes or developments in technology, predicting changes in customer requirements or preferences or anticipating the 
adoption of new industry standards, and we may be unable to meet our customers’ requirements or gain market acceptance. 
Should we fail to develop and introduce sufficiently unique products with profit margins similar to or better than what we have 
experienced in the past or should our product development fail to keep pace with the changing needs of our customers and 
industry, our business, financial condition and results of operations could be materially and adversely affected.
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Our strategic backlog and design win pipeline are subject to unexpected adjustments and cancellations and may not be a 
reliable indicator of future revenues or earnings.

There can be no assurance that the revenues projected in our strategic backlog or design win pipeline will be realized or, if 
realized, will result in profits. Our strategic backlog estimates represent the revenue we expect to recognize from product orders 
within the next ten years. The estimate of our strategic backlog requires substantial judgment and is based on a number of 
assumptions, including management’s current assessment of customer and third-party contracts that exist as of the date the 
estimate is made, as well as revenues from expected contract renewals and/or expected design wins, to the extent that we 
believe that recognition of the related revenue will be realizable within the next ten years. Although we believe the assumptions 
underlying our strategic backlog estimate are reasonable, they are not guarantees and we can give no assurance that we will 
recognize the revenues reflected in the strategic backlog estimate. A number of factors could result in actual revenues being less 
than the amounts reflected in strategic backlog. Our customers or third-party partners may attempt to renegotiate or terminate 
their contracts for a number of reasons, including competitor offerings, mergers, changes in their financial condition, or general 
changes in economic conditions within their industries or geographic locations, we may experience delays in the development 
or delivery of products or services specified in customer contracts, or we may be unable to win competitive bid selection 
processes or achieve additional design wins on the timeline currently anticipated or at all. Because of the possibility of contract 
cancellations or changes in scope and schedule, we cannot predict with certainty when or if backlog will be realized. In 
addition, even where a contract proceeds as scheduled, it is possible that contracted parties may default and fail to pay amounts 
owed to us or poor contract performance could increase the cost associated with a contract. Delays, suspensions, cancellations, 
payment defaults, scope changes and poor contract execution could materially reduce or eliminate the revenues and profits that 
we actually realize from our strategic backlog. Accordingly, there can be no assurance that contracts, renewals or expected 
design wins included in strategic backlog will actually generate the predicted revenues or profits. 

We may pursue mergers, acquisitions, investments and joint ventures, which could adversely affect our results of operations.

Our growth strategy includes acquiring or investing in businesses that offer complementary products, services and technologies, 
or enhance our market coverage or technological capabilities. Any acquisitions or investments we undertake involve risks and 
uncertainties, including but not limited to:

• Difficulties integrating the operations, employees, technologies or products of acquired companies or working with
third parties with which we may partner on joint development or collaboration relationships;

• Inaccuracies in our estimates and assumptions used to assess a transaction may result in us not realizing the expected
financial or strategic benefits of any such transaction;

• Disruption of our ongoing business and diversion of our management’s attention;
• Our inability to retain key personnel of acquired businesses;
• Claims or liabilities that we assume from an acquired company or technology or that are otherwise related to an

acquisition;
• Dilution of the ownership of our existing stockholders in connection with any equity or debt securities issued in

connection with financing any such transaction; and
• U.S. and foreign regulatory approvals required in connection with an acquisition or investment may take longer than

anticipated to obtain, may not be forthcoming or may contain burdensome conditions, which may jeopardize, delay or
reduce the anticipated benefits to us of the transaction.

The occurrence of any of these risks could have a material adverse effect on our business, operating results or financial 
condition. 

If we do not effectively manage future growth, our resources, systems and controls may be strained, and our results of 
operations may suffer.

Future growth could strain our resources, management, information and telecommunication systems and operating and financial 
controls. To manage future growth effectively, we must be able to improve and expand our systems and controls, which we 
may not be able to do in a timely or cost-effective manner. A failure to manage any growth we may experience or improve or 
expand our existing systems and controls, or unexpected difficulties in doing so, could harm our business and results of 
operations.

We may seek additional capital to take advantage of business opportunities and support the further expansion of our 
business, which capital might not be available on acceptable terms, if at all, or may result in dilution to our stockholders.

We may seek additional equity or debt financing to pursue strategic opportunities, acquire complementary businesses, products 
or technologies or to fund the further expansion of our business. Such financing may not be available on acceptable terms, when 
needed or at all. If additional funds are raised through the issuance of equity or debt securities, our existing stockholders could 
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suffer meaningful dilution, and such securities may have rights, preferences or privileges senior to those of the holders of our 
Class A common stock. If we raise additional funds by issuing debt, we may be subject to further limitations on our operations 
and ability to pay dividends due to restrictive covenants.

From time to time, we may rely on strategic partnerships, joint ventures and alliances for manufacturing and research and 
development. However, we do not control these partnerships and joint ventures, and actions taken by any of our partners or 
the termination of these partnerships or joint ventures could adversely affect our business.

As part of our strategy, we may enter into a number of long-term strategic partnerships and alliances, including mergers and 
acquisitions. There can be no assurances that they will be successful. If any of our current strategic partners or alliances we may 
engage with in the future were to encounter financial difficulties or change their business strategies, they may no longer be able 
or willing to participate in these groups or alliances, which could have a material adverse effect on our business, financial 
condition and results of operations.

We may from time-to-time desire to exit certain programs or businesses, or to restructure our operations, but may not be 
successful in doing so.

From time to time, we may decide to divest certain businesses or restructure our operations, including through the contribution 
of assets to joint ventures. However, our ability to successfully exit businesses, or to close or consolidate operations, depends 
on a number of factors, many of which are outside of our control. For example, if we are seeking a buyer for a particular 
business, none may be available, or we may not be successful in negotiating satisfactory terms with prospective buyers. In some 
cases, particularly with respect to our European operations, there may be laws or other legal impediments affecting our ability 
to carry out such sales or restructuring.

If we are unable to exit a business in a timely manner, or to restructure our operations in a manner we deem to be advantageous, 
this could have a material adverse effect on our business, financial condition and results of operations. Even if a divestment is 
successful, we may face indemnity and other liability claims by the acquirer or other parties.

Disruptions in our relationships with any one of our key customers could adversely affect our business.

A substantial portion of our revenue is derived from top customers. We cannot guarantee that we will be able to generate 
similar levels of revenue from our largest customers in the future. If one or more of these customers substantially reduces their 
purchases from us, it could have a material adverse effect on our business, financial condition and results of operations. Sales to 
Aptiv, a leading Tier 1 automotive supplier, represented approximately 37% and 39% of our total revenue for the years ended 
December 31, 2022 and 2021, respectively. The loss of this customer would have a material adverse impact on our consolidated 
financial results. However, as we continue to grow our customer base organically and through business combinations, the 
revenue concentration with Aptiv may decrease over time. 

Conflict minerals disclosure regulations may require us to incur additional expenses, may result in damage to our business 
reputation and may adversely impact our ability to conduct our business.

The U.S. Congress has enacted laws, and the SEC has adopted rules regarding enhanced disclosure requirements for companies 
that use specified minerals known as “conflict minerals” in their products. Some of these metals are commonly used in 
semiconductor devices, including our products. These SEC rules require companies to investigate, disclose and report whether 
or not such metals originated from the Democratic Republic of Congo or adjoining countries. We have numerous foreign 
suppliers, many of whom are not obligated by law to investigate their own supply chains. As a result, we may incur significant 
costs to comply with the diligence and disclosure requirements, including costs related to determining the source of any of the 
relevant metals used in our products. In addition, because our supply chain is with third parties, we may not be able to 
sufficiently verify the origin of all the relevant metals used in our products through the due diligence procedures we implement. 
We may also face difficulties in satisfying our customers if they require that we prove or certify that our products are “conflict-
free.” Key components and parts that can be shown to be “conflict-free” may not be available to us in sufficient quantity, or at 
all, or may only be available at significantly higher cost to us. If we are not able to meet customer requirements, customers may 
discontinue purchasing from us. Any of these outcomes could adversely impact our business, financial condition or operating 
results.

We have historically incurred losses and may continue to incur losses.

We have incurred a net loss since our inception. Our ability to achieve profitability will depend on increased revenue growth 
from, among other things, increased demand for our product offerings. We may not be successful in these pursuits, and we may 
never achieve profitability or sustain profitability if achieved.

Risks Related to Our Indebtedness
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Our existing and future indebtedness could adversely affect our ability to operate our business.

As of December 31, 2022, our total consolidated indebtedness was $171.4 million. We may also incur additional indebtedness 
to meet future financing needs. We may be subject to debt covenants and payment obligations that may limit our ability to 
operate our business. Any outstanding indebtedness, including any additional future indebtedness, combined with our other 
financial obligations and contractual commitments could have significant adverse consequences, including:

• requiring us to dedicate a portion of our cash resources to the payment of interest and principal, reducing our cash available
to fund working capital, capital expenditures, product candidate development and other general corporate purposes;

• increasing our vulnerability to adverse changes in general economic, industry and market Conditions, such as interest rate
fluctuations;

• subjecting us to restrictive covenants that may reduce our ability to take certain corporate actions or obtain further debt or
equity financing;

• acceleration of payment of our debt obligations upon a default of payment;
• potential loss of collateral for secured indebtedness;
• limiting our flexibility in planning for, or reacting to, changes in our business and the industry in which we compete; and
• placing us at a competitive disadvantage compared to our competitors that have less debt or better debt servicing options.

Additionally, if we issue shares of our common stock upon conversion of our 4.50% convertible notes with a principal balance 
of $160.0 million issued in November 2022 (the “2027 Notes”), the ownership interest of our existing stockholders would be 
diluted. A default of our obligations regarding our debt could result in potential loss of collateral for secured indebtedness.

Our ability to meet our debt servicing obligations, including our ability to make scheduled payments of the principal of, to pay 
interest on or to refinance the 2027 Notes, will depend on our future performance, which will be subject to financial, business 
and other factors affecting our operations, some of which are beyond our control. Our business may not generate cash flow 
from operations in the future sufficient to service our debt, including the 2027 Notes, and make necessary capital expenditures. 
If we are unable to generate such cash flow, we may be required to adopt one or more alternatives, such as selling assets, 
restructuring debt or obtaining additional equity capital on terms that may be onerous or highly dilutive. Our ability to 
otherwise settlenance the 2027 Notes will depend on the capital markets and our financial condition at such time. We may not 
be able to engage in any of these activities or engage in these activities on desirable terms, which could result in a default on the 
2027 Notes. Furthermore, the 2027 Notes are our obligations exclusively and are not guaranteed by any of our operating 
subsidiaries. Our subsidiaries are separate and distinct legal entities and have no obligation, contingent or otherwise, and may 
not be able, or may not be permitted, to make distributions to enable us to make payments on the 2027 Notes or to make any 
funds available for that purpose.

We may not have the ability to raise the funds necessary to settle the 2027 Notes or to repurchase the 2027 Notes upon a 
fundamental change, and our future debt may contain limitations on our ability to pay cash upon conversion or repurchase 
of the 2027 Notes.

Holders of the 2027 Notes may require us to repurchase their 2027 Notes upon the occurrence of a fundamental change at a 
repurchase price equal to 100% of the principal amount of the 2027 Notes, plus accrued and unpaid interest, if any. In addition, 
upon conversion of the 2027 Notes, unless we elect to deliver solely shares of our common stock to settle such conversion 
(other than paying cash in lieu of delivering any fractional share), we will be required to make cash payments in respect of the 
2027 Notes being converted. However, we may not have enough available cash or be able to obtain financing at the time we are 
required to make repurchases of 2027 Notes being surrendered or converted. In addition, our ability to repurchase the 2027 
Notes or to pay cash upon conversions of the 2027 Notes may be limited by law, by regulatory authority or by agreements 
governing our future indebtedness. Our failure to repurchase 2027 Notes at a time when the repurchase is required by the 
indenture or to pay any cash payable on future conversions of the 2027 Notes as required by the indenture would constitute a 
default under the indenture. A default under the indenture or the fundamental change itself could also lead to a default under 
agreements governing our future indebtedness. If the repayment of the related indebtedness were to be accelerated after any 
applicable notice or grace periods, we may not have sufficient funds to repay the indebtedness and repurchase the 2027 Notes 
or make cash payments upon conversions thereof.

Provisions in the 2027 Indenture for the 2027 Notes  may deter or prevent a business combination that stockholders may 
consider favorable.

If a fundamental change (as defined in the 2027 Notes) occurs prior to the maturity date, subject to certain limited exceptions, 
holders of the 2027 Notes will have the right, at their option, to require us to repurchase all or a portion of their 2027 Notes. In 
addition, if a make-whole fundamental change (as defined in the 2027 Notes) occurs prior to the maturity date, we will in some 
cases be required to increase the conversion rate for a holder that elects to convert its 2027 Notes in connection with such make-
whole fundamental change. Furthermore, the 2027 Indenture for the 2027 Notes will prohibit us from engaging in certain 
mergers or acquisitions unless, among other things, the surviving entity assumes our obligations under the 2027 Notes. These 
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and other provisions in the 2027 Notes could deter or prevent a third party from acquiring us even when stockholders may 
consider the acquisition to be favorable.

The accounting method for reflecting the 2027 Notes may adversely affect our reported earnings and financial condition. 

The interest expense that we expect to recognize for the 2027 Notes for accounting purposes will be greater than the cash 
interest payments we will pay on the 2027 Notes, which will result in lower reported net income or higher reported net loss, as 
the case may be. In addition, we expect that the shares underlying the 2027 Notes will be reflected in our diluted earnings per 
share using the “if converted” method. However, if reflecting the 2027 Notes in diluted earnings per share is anti-dilutive, then 
the shares underlying the 2027 Notes will not be reflected in our diluted earnings per share. Accounting standards may change 
in the future in a manner that may adversely affect our diluted earnings per share. Furthermore, if any of the conditions to the 
convertibility of the 2027 Notes is satisfied, then we may be required under applicable accounting standards to reclassify the 
liability carrying value of the 2027 Notes as a current, rather than a long-term, liability. This reclassification could be required 
even if no holders convert their 2027 Notes and could materially reduce our reported working capital.

The conditional conversion feature of the 2027 Notes, if triggered, may adversely affect our financial condition and 
operating results.

In the event the conditional conversion feature of the 2027 Notes is triggered, holders of 2027 Notes will be entitled to convert 
the 2027 Notes at any time during specified periods at their option. If one or more holders elect to convert their 2027 Notes, 
unless we elect to satisfy our conversion obligation by delivering solely shares of our common stock (other than paying cash in 
lieu of delivering any fractional share), we would be required to settle a portion or all of our conversion obligation through the 
payment of cash, which could adversely affect our liquidity. In addition, even if holders do not elect to convert their 2027 
Notes, we could be required under applicable accounting rules to reclassify all or a portion of the outstanding principal of the 
2027 Notes as a current rather than long-term liability, which would result in a material reduction of our net working capital. 

Risks Related to Our Organizational Structure

We are a holding company and our only material asset is our interest in ADK LLC, and we are accordingly dependent upon 
distributions made by our subsidiaries to pay taxes, make payments under the Tax Receivable Agreement and pay dividends.

We are a holding company with no material assets other than our ownership of ADK LLC units and our managing member 
interest in ADK LLC. As a result, we will have no independent means of generating revenue or cash flow. Our ability to pay 
taxes, make payments under the Tax Receivable Agreement and pay dividends will depend on the financial results and cash 
flows of ADK LLC and its subsidiaries and the distributions we receive from ADK LLC. Deterioration in the financial 
condition, earnings or cash flow of ADK LLC and its subsidiaries for any reason could limit or impair ADK LLC’s ability to 
pay such distributions. Additionally, to the extent that we need funds and ADK LLC and/or any of its subsidiaries are restricted 
from making such distributions under applicable law or regulation or under the terms of any financing arrangements, or ADK 
LLC is otherwise unable to provide such funds, it could materially adversely affect our liquidity and financial condition.

ADK LLC will continue to be treated as a partnership for U.S. federal income tax purposes and, as such, generally will not be 
subject to any entity-level U.S. federal income tax. Instead, taxable income will be allocated to holders of ADK LLC units. 
Accordingly, we will be required to pay income taxes on our allocable share of any net taxable income of ADK LLC. Under the 
terms of the Amended Operating Agreement, ADK LLC is obligated to make tax distributions to holders of ADK LLC units 
(including members of ADK LLC prior to the Transaction (“indie Equity Holders”) and us) calculated at certain assumed tax 
rates. In addition to tax expenses, we will also incur expenses related to our operations, including payment obligations under the 
Tax Receivable Agreement (and the cost of administering such payment obligations), which could be significant. We intend to 
cause ADK LLC to make distributions to holders of ADK LLC units in amounts sufficient to cover all applicable taxes 
(calculated at assumed tax rates), relevant operating expenses, payments under the Tax Receivable Agreement and dividends, if 
any, declared by us. However, as discussed below, ADK LLC’s ability to make such distributions may be subject to various 
limitations and restrictions including, but not limited to, restrictions on distributions that would either violate any contract or 
agreement to which ADK LLC is then a party, including debt agreements, or any applicable law, or that would have the effect 
of rendering ADK LLC insolvent. If our cash resources are insufficient to meet our obligations under the Tax Receivable 
Agreement and to fund our obligations, we may be required to incur additional indebtedness to provide the liquidity needed to 
make such payments, which could materially adversely affect our liquidity and financial condition and subject us to various 
restrictions imposed by any such lenders. To the extent that we are unable to make payments under the Tax Receivable 
Agreement for any reason, such payments will be deferred and will accrue interest until paid; provided, however, that 
nonpayment for a specified period may constitute a material breach of a material obligation under the Tax Receivable 
Agreement and therefore accelerate payments due under the Tax Receivable Agreement.

Additionally, although ADK LLC generally will not be subject to any entity-level U.S. federal income tax, it may be liable 
under recent federal tax legislation for adjustments to its tax return, absent an election to the contrary. In the event ADK LLC’s 
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calculations of taxable income are incorrect, its members, including us, in later years may be subject to material liabilities 
pursuant to this federal legislation and its related guidance.

We anticipate that the distributions we will receive from ADK LLC may, in certain periods, exceed our actual tax liabilities and 
obligations to make payments under the Tax Receivable Agreement. Our board of directors, in its sole discretion, will make any 
determination from time to time with respect to the use of any such excess cash so accumulated, which may include, among 
other uses, to acquire additional newly issued ADK LLC units from ADK LLC at a per unit price determined by reference to 
the market value of the Class A common stock; to pay dividends, which may include special dividends, on our Class A 
common stock; to fund repurchases of Class A common stock; or any combination of the foregoing. We will have no obligation 
to distribute such cash (or other available cash other than any declared dividend) to our stockholders. To the extent that we do 
not distribute such excess cash as dividends on Class A common stock or otherwise undertake ameliorative actions between 
ADK LLC units and shares of Class A common stock and instead, for example, hold such cash balances, holders of ADK LLC 
units that held interests in ADK LLC pre-Transaction may benefit from any value attributable to such cash balances as a result 
of their ownership of Class A common stock following an exchange of their ADK LLC units, notwithstanding that such holders 
may previously have participated as holders of ADK LLC units in distributions by ADK LLC that resulted in such excess cash 
balances held by us. 

Dividends on our common stock, if any, will be paid at the discretion of our board of directors, which will consider, among 
other things, our business, operating results, financial condition, current and expected cash needs, plans for expansion and any 
legal or contractual limitations on our ability to pay such dividends. Financing arrangements may include restrictive covenants 
that restrict our ability to pay dividends or make other distributions to our stockholders. In addition, ADK LLC is generally 
prohibited under state law from making a distribution to a member to the extent that, at the time of the distribution, after giving 
effect to the distribution, liabilities of ADK LLC (with certain exceptions) exceed the fair value of its assets. ADK LLC’s 
subsidiaries are generally subject to similar legal limitations on their ability to make distributions to ADK LLC. If ADK LLC 
does not have sufficient funds to make distributions, our ability to declare and pay cash dividends may also be restricted or 
impaired.

Under the Tax Receivable Agreement, we will be required to pay 85% of the tax benefits relating to tax depreciation or 
amortization deductions as a result of the tax basis step-up we receive in connection with the exchanges of ADK LLC units 
into our Class A common stock and related transactions, and those payments may be substantial.

Certain indie Equity Holders may exchange their ADK LLC units for shares of Class A common stock pursuant to the 
Exchange Agreement, subject to certain conditions and transfer restrictions as set forth therein and in the Amended Operating 
Agreement. These exchanges are expected to result in increases in our allocable share of the tax basis of the tangible and 
intangible assets of ADK LLC. These increases in tax basis may increase (for tax purposes) depreciation and amortization 
deductions and therefore reduce the amount of income or franchise tax that we would otherwise be required to pay in the future 
had such exchanges never occurred.

In connection with the Transaction, we entered into the Tax Receivable Agreement, which generally provides for the payment 
by us of 85% of certain tax benefits, if any, that we realize (or in certain cases are deemed to realize) as a result of these 
increases in tax basis and certain tax attributes of the ADK Blocker Group and tax benefits related to entering into the Tax 
Receivable Agreement, including tax benefits attributable to payments under the Tax Receivable Agreement. These payments 
are the obligations of indie Semiconductor, Inc. and not of ADK LLC. The actual increase in our allocable share of ADK LLC’s 
tax basis in its assets, as well as the amount and timing of any payments under the Tax Receivable Agreement, will vary 
depending upon a number of factors, including the timing of exchanges, the market price of the Class A common stock at the 
time of the exchange, the extent to which such exchanges are taxable and the amount and timing of the recognition of our 
income. While many of the factors that will determine the amount of payments that we will make under the Tax Receivable 
Agreement are outside of our control, we expect that the payments we will make under the Tax Receivable Agreement will be 
substantial and could have a material adverse effect on our financial condition. Any payments made by us under the Tax 
Receivable Agreement will generally reduce the amount of overall cash flow that might have otherwise been available to us. To 
the extent that we are unable to make timely payments under the Tax Receivable Agreement for any reason, the unpaid amounts 
will be deferred and will accrue interest until paid. Furthermore, our future obligation to make payments under the Tax 
Receivable Agreement could make us a less attractive target for an acquisition, particularly in the case of an acquirer that 
cannot use some or all of the tax benefits that may be deemed realized under the Tax Receivable Agreement. 

In certain cases, payments under the Tax Receivable Agreement may exceed the actual tax benefits we realize or may be 
accelerated.

Payments under the Tax Receivable Agreement will be based on the tax reporting positions that we determine, and the Internal 
Revenue Service (the “IRS”) or another taxing authority may challenge all or any part of the tax basis increases, as well as other 
tax positions that we take, and a court may sustain such a challenge. In the event any tax benefits initially claimed by us are 
disallowed, the indie Equity Holders will not be required to reimburse us for any excess payments that may previously have 
been made under the Tax Receivable Agreement, for example, due to adjustments resulting from examinations by taxing 
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authorities. Rather, excess payments made to such holders will be netted against any future cash payments otherwise required to 
be made by us, if any, after the determination of such excess. However, a challenge to any tax benefits initially claimed by us 
may not arise for a number of years following the initial time of such payment or, even if challenged early, such excess cash 
payment may be greater than the amount of future cash payments that we might otherwise be required to make under the terms 
of the Tax Receivable Agreement and, as a result, there might not be future cash payments from which to net against. As a 
result, in certain circumstances we could make payments under the Tax Receivable Agreement in excess of our actual income 
or franchise tax savings, which could materially impair our financial condition.

Moreover, the Tax Receivable Agreement provides that, in the event that (i) we exercise our early termination rights under the 
Tax Receivable Agreement, (ii) we become bankrupt or undergo a similar insolvency event, (iii) certain changes of control 
occur (as described in the Tax Receivable Agreement) or (iv) we are more than three months late in making of a payment due 
under the Tax Receivable Agreement (unless we in good faith determine that we have insufficient funds to make such 
payment), our obligations under the Tax Receivable Agreement will accelerate and we will be required to make an immediate 
lump-sum cash payment to the indie Equity Holders equal to the present value of all forecasted future payments that would 
have otherwise been made under the Tax Receivable Agreement, which lump-sum payment would be based on certain 
assumptions, including those relating to our future taxable income. The lump-sum payment to the indie Equity Holders could be 
substantial and could exceed the actual tax benefits that we realize subsequent to such payment because such payment would be 
calculated assuming, among other things, that we would be able to use the assumed potential tax benefits in future years, and 
that tax rates applicable to us would be the same as they were in the year of the termination.

There may be a material negative effect on our liquidity if the payments under the Tax Receivable Agreement exceed the actual 
income or franchise tax savings that we realize. Furthermore, our obligations to make payments under the Tax Receivable 
Agreement could also have the effect of delaying, deferring or preventing certain mergers, asset sales, other forms of business 
combinations or other changes of control. We may need to incur additional indebtedness to finance payments under the Tax 
Receivable Agreement to the extent its cash resources are insufficient to meet our obligations under the Tax Receivable 
Agreement as a result of timing discrepancies or otherwise. Such indebtedness may have a material adverse effect on our 
financial condition.

Risks Related to Macroeconomic Conditions

Downturns or volatility in general economic conditions could have a material adverse effect on our business, financial 
condition, results of operations and liquidity.

Our net sales and profitability depend significantly on general economic conditions and the demand for the end products in the 
markets in which our customers compete. A decline in end-user demand can affect the need that customers have for our 
products, as well as the ability of customers to obtain credit or meet their payment obligations to us, and may increase the 
likelihood of customers canceling or deferring existing orders. Current and continued inflationary conditions have led, and may 
continue to lead to rising prices or rising interest rates, which has had, and could continue to have a dampening effect on overall 
economic activity and consumer demand for automotive products and could result in reduced demand for our products. Other 
adverse changes in economic conditions, including any recession, economic slowdown or disruption of credit markets, may also 
lead to lower demand for our products. Volatile and uncertain economic conditions can make it difficult to accurately forecast 
and plan future business activities. This could result in an oversupply of products relative to customer demand.

In addition, any disruption in the credit markets, including as a result of geopolitical events, such as the ongoing conflict in 
Ukraine, volatile macroeconomic conditions, or the COVID-19 pandemic or other public health crises, could impede our access 
to additional capital. If there is limited access to additional financing sources, we may be required to defer capital expenditures 
or seek other sources of liquidity, which may not be available on acceptable terms or at all. Similarly, if our suppliers face 
challenges in obtaining credit or other financial difficulties, they may be unable to provide the necessary materials or services to 
us.

All of these factors related to global economic conditions, which are beyond our control, could adversely impact our business, 
financial condition, results of operations and liquidity.

Fluctuations in foreign exchange rates could have an adverse effect on our results of operations.

We operate in various worldwide locations and our consolidated financial results are reported in U.S. dollars. However, some of 
the revenue and expenses of our foreign subsidiaries are denominated in local currencies. Fluctuations in foreign exchange rates 
against the U.S. dollar could result in changes in reported revenues and operating results due to the foreign exchange impact of 
translating these transactions into U.S. dollars. Currency fluctuations could decrease revenue and increase our operating costs. 
Though we have exposure to fluctuations in currency exchange rates, historically, the impact has generally not been material to 
our consolidated results of operations or financial position.

24



Our worldwide operations are subject to political, economic and health risks and natural disasters, including the ongoing 
effects of the COVID-19 pandemic or other future health crises, which could have a material adverse effect on our business 
operations.

Our business may be impacted by natural disasters, labor strikes, terrorism, war, intensified political unrest, or public health 
crises, which could disrupt our operations, or those of our suppliers or contract manufacturing facilities, disrupt our distribution 
channels or supply chains, delay new production and shipments of existing products or result in costly repairs, replacements or 
other costs, all of which would negatively impact our business. Such events may also result in significant increases in the prices 
of raw materials used for manufacturing processes. Furthermore, any disaster affecting our customers (or their respective 
customers) may significantly negatively impact the demand for our products and therefore our revenue. Our offices in 
California, the production facilities of third-party wafer suppliers, integrated circuit testing and manufacturing facilities, a 
portion of our assembly and research and development activities, and certain other critical business operations are located in or 
near seismically active regions and are subject to periodic earthquakes. We do not maintain earthquake insurance and could be 
materially and adversely affected in the event of a major earthquake. In addition, we rely heavily on internal information and 
communications systems and on systems or support services from third parties to manage our operations efficiently and 
effectively. Any of these are subject to failure due to a natural disaster or other disruptions. System-wide or local failures that 
affect our information processing could have material adverse effects on our business, financial condition, results of operations 
and cash flows. There is also increasing concern that climate change may cause a rising number of these natural disasters with 
potentially dramatic effects on human activity.

In addition, public health crises, such as the COVID-19 pandemic and the efforts to control such crises, have impacted, and 
could in the future impact our workforce and operations, and those of our customers, suppliers and logistics providers. We have 
experienced, and expect to continue to experience, disruption to parts of our global semiconductor supply chain and disruptions 
in commercial transportation infrastructure that have resulted in increased customer order lead times as a result of the 
COVID-19 pandemic, and future public heath crises could have a similar impact on our operations. The degree to which the 
COVID-19 pandemic or other future public health crises ultimately impacts our business and results of operations depend on 
many factors beyond our control and cannot be predicted.

Risks Related to our Intellectual Property, Technology and Cybersecurity

We rely to a significant extent on proprietary intellectual property. We may not be able to protect this intellectual property 
against improper use by our competitors or others.

Our success and future revenue growth depend, in part, on our ability to protect our proprietary technology, products, designs 
and fabrication processes, and other intellectual property, against misappropriation by others. We primarily rely on patent, 
copyright, trademark and trade secret laws, as well as nondisclosure agreements and other methods, to protect our intellectual 
property. We may have difficulty obtaining patents and other intellectual property rights to protect our proprietary products, 
technology and intellectual property, and the patents and other intellectual property rights received may be insufficient to 
provide us with meaningful protection or commercial advantage. We may not obtain patent protection or secure other 
intellectual property rights in all the countries in which we operate, and under the laws of such countries, patents and other 
intellectual property rights may be or become unavailable or limited in scope. Even if new patents are issued, the claims 
allowed may not be sufficiently broad to effectively protect proprietary technology, processes and other intellectual property. In 
addition, any of our existing patents, and any future patents issued, may be challenged, invalidated or circumvented.

Further, proprietary technology, designs and processes and other intellectual property may be vulnerable to disclosure or 
misappropriation by employees, contractors and other persons. It is possible that competitors or other unauthorized third parties 
may obtain, copy, use or disclose our proprietary technologies, products, designs, processes and other intellectual property 
despite efforts to protect intellectual property. While we have a number of patent filings in process, there can be no assurances 
that these patents will be issued or that any rights will be granted and provide meaningful protection against misappropriation of 
intellectual property. Competitors may also be able to develop similar technology independently or design around our patents. 
We may not have or pursue patents or pending applications in all the countries in which we operate corresponding to all 
primary patents and applications. Even if patents are granted, effective enforcement in some countries may not be available. In 
particular, intellectual property rights are difficult to enforce in countries where the application and enforcement of the laws 
governing such rights may not have reached the same level as compared to other jurisdictions where we operate. Consequently, 
operating in some countries may subject us to an increased risk that unauthorized parties may attempt to copy or otherwise use 
intellectual property or the intellectual property of suppliers or other parties with whom we engage. There is no assurance that 
we will be able to protect our intellectual property rights or have adequate legal recourse in the event that we seek legal or 
judicial enforcement of our intellectual property rights under the laws of such countries. Any inability on our part to adequately 
protect our intellectual property may have a material adverse effect on our business, financial condition and results of 
operations.

We may become party to intellectual property claims or litigation that could cause us to incur substantial costs, pay 
substantial damages or prohibit us from selling our products.
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The semiconductor industry is characterized by frequent litigation regarding patent and other intellectual property rights. From 
time to time, we may receive communications from third parties that allege that our products or technologies infringe their 
patent or other intellectual property rights. Lawsuits or other proceedings resulting from allegations of infringement could 
subject us to significant liability for damages, invalidate our proprietary rights and adversely affect our business. In the event 
that any third party succeeds in asserting a valid claim against us or any of our customers, we could be forced to do one or more 
of the following:

• discontinue selling, importing or using certain technologies that contain the allegedly infringing intellectual property which
could cause us to stop manufacturing certain products;

• seek to develop non-infringing technologies, which may not be feasible;
• incur significant legal expenses;
• pay substantial monetary damages to the party whose intellectual property rights we may be found to be infringing; and/or
• we or our customers could be required to seek licenses to the infringed technology that may not be available on

commercially reasonable terms, if at all.

If a third party causes us to discontinue the use of any technologies, we could be required to design around those technologies. 
This could be costly and time consuming and could have an adverse effect on our financial results. Any significant impairments 
of intellectual property rights from any litigation we face could materially and adversely impact our business, financial 
condition, results of operations and our ability to compete.

Certain software that we use in our products is licensed from third parties and may not be available to us in the future, 
which may delay product development and production or cause us to incur additional expense.

Some of our solutions contain software licensed from third parties, some of which may not be available to us in the future on 
terms that are acceptable to us or allow our products to remain competitive. The loss of these licenses or the inability to 
maintain any of them on commercially acceptable terms could delay development of future products or the enhancement of 
existing products.

Interruptions in our computer systems, networks or information technology systems, including attempted security breaches 
and other cybersecurity incidents, could adversely affect our business.

We rely on the efficient and uninterrupted operation of complex information technology applications, systems and networks to 
operate our business. The reliability and security of information technology infrastructure and software, and our ability to 
expand and continually update technologies in response to changing needs is critical to our business. Any significant 
interruption in these applications, systems or networks, including but not limited to new system implementations, computer 
viruses, cyberattacks, security breaches, facility issues or energy blackouts, could have a material adverse impact on our 
business, financial condition and results of operations.

Our business also depends on various outsourced IT services. We rely on third-party vendors to provide critical services and to 
adequately address cyber security threats to their own systems. Any failure of third-party systems and services to operate 
effectively could disrupt our operations and could have a material adverse effect on our business, financial condition and results 
of operations.

Cyber-attacks attempting to obtain access to our computer systems and networks could result in the misappropriation of 
proprietary information and technology. Although we have taken steps to protect the security of our computer systems and 
networks and the data maintained in those systems and networks, it is possible that our safety and security measures will not 
prevent the improper access or disclosure of such proprietary information such as in the event of cyber-attacks. Additionally, 
external events, like the conflict between Russia and Ukraine, can increase the likelihood of cyber-attacks. There can be no 
assurance that any breach or incident will not have a material impact on our operations and financial results. In the current 
environment, there are numerous and evolving risks to cybersecurity and privacy, including criminal hackers, state-sponsored 
intrusions, industrial espionage, employee malfeasance, and human or technological error. In the event of such breaches, us, our 
customers or other third parties could be exposed to potential liability, litigation, and regulatory action, as well as the loss of 
existing or potential customers, damage to reputation, and other financial loss.

In addition, the cost and operational consequences of responding to breaches and implementing remediation measures could be 
significant. We could also be impacted by existing and proposed laws and regulations, as well as government policies and 
practices related to cybersecurity, privacy and data protection.

Cyber-attacks or other catastrophic events could result in interruptions or delays to us, our customers, or other third-party 
operations or services, financial loss, potential liability, and damage to our reputation and affect our relationships with 
customers and suppliers.
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Further, we may be subject to theft, loss, or misuse of personal and confidential data regarding our employees, customers and 
suppliers that is routinely collected, used, stored, and transferred to run our business. Such theft, loss, or misuse could result in 
significantly increased business and security costs or costs related to defending legal claims.

Global privacy legislation, enforcement, and policy activity in this area are rapidly expanding and creating a complex regulatory 
compliance environment. In addition, even inadvertent failure to comply with federal, state, or international privacy-related or 
data protection laws and regulations could result in proceedings against us by governmental entities or others. Our costs to 
comply with and implement these privacy-related and data protection measures could be significant.

Risks Related to Regulatory Compliance and Legal Matters

Our failure, or the failure of our customers, to comply with the large body of laws and regulations to which we are subject 
could have a material adverse effect on our business and operations.

We are subject to regulation by various governmental agencies in the United States and other jurisdictions in which we operate. 
These include traditional automotive quality standards and regulations as well as international trade regulations. Our failure to 
comply with any applicable regulations or requirements could subject us to investigations, sanctions, enforcement actions, 
fines, damages, penalties, or injunctions. If any governmental sanctions are imposed, or if we do not prevail in any possible 
civil or criminal litigation, our business, financial condition and results of operations could be materially and adversely affected. 
In addition, responding to any action will likely result in a significant diversion of management’s attention and financial 
resources.

Furthermore, if our customers fail to comply with these regulations, we may be required to suspend sales to these customers, 
which could damage our reputation and negatively impact our results of operations. 

Our business may be adversely affected by costs relating to product defects, and we could be faced with product liability 
claims.

There is a risk that defects may occur in our products. We make highly complex integrated circuits and our customers typically 
integrate the semiconductors we sell into numerous automotive products, which are then sold into the marketplace. A defect in 
any of our products could give rise to significant costs, including expenses relating to recalling the products, replacing defective 
items and writing down defective inventory as well as lead to the loss of potential sales.

In addition, the occurrence of such defects may give rise to product liability claims, including liability for damages caused by 
such defects if our semiconductors or the consumer products based on them malfunction and result in personal injury or death. 
Such claims could result in significant costs and expenses relating to damages and attorneys’ fees. Moreover, since the cost of 
replacing defective semiconductor devices is often much higher than the value of the devices themselves, we may at times face 
damage claims from customers that are in excess of the amounts paid to us for products, including consequential damages. We 
may even be named in product liability claims where there is no evidence that our products caused the damage in question.

Additionally, customers may recall their end products if they prove to be defective or they may make compensatory payments 
in accordance with industry or business practice or in order to maintain good customer relationships. If such a recall or payment 
is caused by a defect in one of our products, customers may seek to recover all or a portion of their losses from us. If any of 
these risks materialize, our reputation would be harmed and there could be a material adverse effect on our business, financial 
condition and results of operations.

We may face significant warranty claims.

Our semiconductor devices are sold with warranties. The warranty for our products requires us to repair or replace products that 
are deficient. As a result, we bear the risk of warranty claims on all products we supply, including those manufactured by third 
parties. There can be no assurance that we will be successful in claiming under any warranty or indemnity provided to us by our 
suppliers or vendors in the event of a successful warranty claim against us by a customer, or that any recovery from such 
vendor or supplier would be adequate. Although we haven’t historically experienced deficient warranty reserves, there is a risk 
that warranty claims made against us will exceed our warranty reserve and could have a material adverse effect on our financial 
condition, results of operations, business and/or prospects.

Significant litigation could impair our reputation and cause us to incur substantial costs.

We may be party to various lawsuits and claims arising in the ordinary course of business, including claims relating to 
intellectual property, customer contracts, employment matters, third-party manufacturers or subcontractors, or other aspects of 
our business. Litigation, regardless of outcome, could result in substantial costs, reputational harm and a diversion of 
management’s attention and resources. The outcome of litigation is often difficult to predict, and any litigation may have a 
material adverse effect on our business, financial condition, results of operations and cash flows.
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Our business and operations could be negatively affected if it becomes subject to any securities litigation or stockholder 
activism, which could cause us to incur significant expense, hinder execution of our business and growth strategy and 
impact our stock price.

In the past, following periods of volatility in the market price of a company’s securities, securities class action litigation has 
often been brought against that company. Stockholder activism, which could take many forms or arise in a variety of situations, 
has been increasing recently. Volatility in the stock price of our Class A common stock, allegations arising in connection with 
the Transaction or other reasons may in the future cause us to become the target of securities litigation or stockholder activism. 
Securities litigation and stockholder activism, including potential proxy contests, could result in substantial costs and divert 
management’s and our board of directors’ attention and resources from our business. Additionally, such securities litigation and 
stockholder activism could give rise to perceived uncertainties as to our future, adversely affect our relationships with service 
providers and make it more difficult to attract and retain qualified personnel. Also, we may be required to incur significant legal 
fees and other expenses related to any securities litigation and activist stockholder matters. Further, our stock price could be 
subject to significant fluctuation or otherwise be adversely affected by the events, risks and uncertainties of any securities 
litigation and stockholder activism.

We are subject to export restrictions and laws affecting trade and investments that could materially and adversely affect our 
business and results of operations.

We have material operations and relationships in China, including an interest in Wuxi indie Microelectronics Technology Co., 
Ltd. (“Wuxi”),  a partially-owned Chinese subsidiary. Since the beginning of 2018, there have been several instances of U.S. 
tariffs on Chinese goods, some of which prompted retaliatory Chinese tariffs on U.S. goods. In May 2019, the U.S. president 
issued an executive order that invoked national emergency economic powers to implement a framework to regulate the 
acquisition or transfer of information communications technology in transactions that imposed undue national security risks. 
These actions could lead to additional restrictions on the export of products that include or enable certain technologies, 
including products we provide to China-based customers.

The institution of trade tariffs both globally and between the U.S. and China specifically carries the risk of negatively affecting 
China’s overall economic condition, which could have a negative impact on us as we have significant operations in China.

Furthermore, the imposition of tariffs could cause a decrease in the sales of products to customers located in China or other 
customers selling to Chinese end users, which could materially and adversely affect our business, financial condition and results 
of operations.

We are subject to U.S. laws and regulations that could limit and restrict the export of some products and services and may 
restrict transactions with certain customers, business partners and other persons, including, in certain cases, dealings with or 
between our employees and subsidiaries. In certain circumstances, export control and economic sanctions regulations may 
prohibit the export of certain products, services and technologies and in other circumstances we may be required to obtain an 
export license before exporting the controlled item. Compliance with these laws and regulations could materially limit 
operations or sales, which would materially and adversely affect our business and results of operations.

In addition, U.S. laws and regulations and sanctions, or threat of sanctions, that could limit and restrict the export of some of 
our products and services to customers, may also encourage customers to develop their own solutions to replace our products, 
or seek to obtain a greater supply of similar or substitute products from competitors that are not subject to these restrictions, 
which could materially and adversely affect our business, financial condition and results of operations.

Changes in domestic or international changes in tax rates, the adoption of new tax laws or other exposure to additional tax 
liabilities could adversely affect our results of operations and financial condition.

We are subject to income and other taxes in both the United States and various foreign jurisdictions. Changes to sustained yield 
or regulations in the jurisdictions in which we operate, or in the interpretation of such laws or regulations, could significantly 
increase our effective tax rate and reduce cash flow from operating activities, and otherwise have a material adverse effect on 
our financial condition. In addition, other factors or events, including business combinations and investment transactions, 
changes in the valuation of deferred tax assets and liabilities, adjustments to taxes upon finalization of various tax returns or as 
a result of deficiencies asserted by taxing authorities, increases in expenses not deductible for tax purposes, changes in available 
tax credits, changes in transfer pricing methodologies, other changes in the apportionment of income and other activities among 
tax jurisdictions, and changes in tax rates, could also increase our effective tax rate.

Our tax filings are subject to review or audit by the U.S. Internal Revenue Service (the “IRS”) and state, local and foreign 
taxing authorities. We exercise significant judgment in determining our worldwide provision for taxes and, in the ordinary 
course of business, there may be transactions and calculations where the proper tax treatment is uncertain. Our determinations 
are not binding on the IRS or any other taxing authorities, and accordingly the final determination in an audit or other 
proceeding may be materially different than the treatment reflected in our tax provisions, accruals and returns. An assessment of 
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additional taxes because of an audit could have a material adverse effect on our business, financial condition, results of 
operations and cash flows.

Failure to comply with anti-corruption laws or violations of our internal policies designed to ensure ethical business 
practices could cause damage to our reputation, adversely affect our business and could result in substantial fines, 
sanctions, and criminal or civil penalties.

We operate in a number of countries throughout the world, including in countries that do not have as strong a commitment to 
anti-corruption and ethical behavior as is required by U.S. laws or by corporate policies. We are subject to the risk that us, our 
U.S. employees or our employees located in other jurisdictions or any third parties that we engage to do work on our behalf in 
foreign countries may take action determined to be in violation of anti-corruption laws in any jurisdiction in which we conduct 
business, including the U.S. Foreign Corrupt Practices Act of 1977 (the “FCPA”). In addition, we operate in certain countries in 
which the government may take an ownership stake in an enterprise and such government ownership may not be readily 
apparent (thereby increasing potential FCPA violations). Any violation of the FCPA or any similar anti-corruption law or 
regulation could result in substantial fines, sanctions, civil and/or criminal penalties and curtailment of operations in certain 
jurisdictions and might adversely affect our business, results of operations or financial condition. In addition, we have internal 
ethics policies that we require our employees to comply with in order to ensure that our business is conducted in a manner that 
our management deems appropriate. If these anti-corruption laws or internal policies were to be violated, our reputation and 
operations could also be substantially harmed.

In order to comply with environmental and occupational health and safety laws and regulations, we may need to modify our 
activities or incur substantial costs, liabilities, obligations and fines, or require us to have suppliers alter their processes.

The semiconductor industry is subject to a variety of international, federal, state, local and non-U.S. laws and regulations 
governing pollution, environmental protection and occupational health and safety. Compliance with current or future 
environmental and occupational health and safety laws and regulations could restrict our ability to expand our business or 
require us to modify processes or incur other substantial expenses which could harm business. Environmental and occupational 
health and safety laws and regulations have tended to become more stringent over time, causing a need to redesign 
technologies, imposing greater compliance costs and increasing risks and penalties associated with violations, which could 
seriously harm business.

Risks Related to Doing Business in China

A majority of our consolidated revenue is generated from product sales with a final shipping destination in China, and a portion 
of our operations are conducted in China through Wuxi, our Chinese subsidiary that we control and therefore, we face 
additional risks and uncertainties related to doing business in China in general, including but not limited to the following:

Uncertainties with respect to the PRC legal system could adversely affect our China business.

The PRC legal system is a civil law system based on written statutes. Unlike the common law system, prior court decisions 
under the civil law system may be cited for reference but have limited precedential value.

In 1979, the PRC government began to promulgate a comprehensive system of laws and regulations governing economic 
matters in general. The overall effect of legislation over the past four decades has significantly enhanced the protection afforded 
to various forms of foreign investments in China. However, China has not developed a fully integrated legal system, and 
recently enacted laws and regulations may not sufficiently cover all aspects of economic activities in China. In particular, the 
interpretation and enforcement of these laws and regulations involve uncertainties. Since PRC administrative and court 
authorities have significant discretion in interpreting and implementing statutory provisions and contractual terms, it may be 
difficult to evaluate the outcome of administrative and court proceedings and the level of legal protection we enjoy. These 
uncertainties may affect our judgment on the relevance of legal requirements and our ability to enforce our contractual rights or 
tort claims. In addition, the regulatory uncertainties may be exploited through unmerited or frivolous legal actions or threats in 
attempts to extract payments or benefits from us.

In addition, any administrative and court proceedings in China may be protracted, resulting in substantial costs and diversion of 
resources and management attention.

Uncertainties in the interpretation and enforcement of Chinese laws and regulations could limit the legal protections 
available to us.

The PRC legal system is based on written statutes and prior court decisions have limited value as precedents. Since these laws 
and regulations are relatively new and the PRC legal system continues to rapidly evolve, the interpretations of many laws, 
regulations and rules are not always uniform and enforcement of these laws, regulations and rules involves uncertainties.
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From time to time, we may have to resort to administrative and court proceedings to enforce our legal rights, including the legal 
rights of our China subsidiary. However, since PRC administrative and court authorities have significant discretion in 
interpreting and implementing statutory and contractual terms, it may be more difficult to evaluate the outcome of 
administrative and court proceedings and the level of legal protection we enjoy than in more developed legal systems. 
Furthermore, the PRC legal system is based in part on government policies and internal rules. As a result, we may not be able to 
keep ourselves updated with these policies and rules in time. Such uncertainties, including uncertainty over the scope and effect 
of our contractual, property (including intellectual property) and procedural rights, could materially and adversely affect our 
business and impede our ability to continue our operations, including the operations of our China subsidiary.

Changes in China’s economic, political and social conditions, as well as changes in any government policies, laws and 
regulations may be quick with little advance notice and could have a material adverse effect on our China subsidiary’s 
business our results of operations.

A portion of our operations is conducted through Wuxi and a majority of our consolidated revenues were generated from 
product sales with a final shipping destination in China. Accordingly, our business, financial condition, results of operations, 
prospects and certain transactions we may undertake may be subject, to a significant extent, to economic, political and legal 
developments in China.

China’s economy differs from the economies of most developed countries in many respects, including the amount of 
government involvement, level of development, growth rate, control of foreign exchange and allocation of resources. While the 
PRC economy has experienced significant growth in the past two to three decades, growth has been uneven, both 
geographically and among various sectors of the economy. Demand for our products and the products of Wuxi depends, in part, 
on economic conditions in China. Any slowdown in China’s economic growth may cause our potential customers to delay or 
cancel their plans to purchase our products and the products of Wuxi, which in turn could reduce our revenues.

Although China’s economy has been transitioning from a planned economy to a more market-oriented economy since the late 
1970s, the PRC government continues to play a significant role in regulating industry development by imposing industrial 
policies. The PRC government also exercises significant control over China’s economic growth through allocating resources, 
controlling the incurrence and payment of foreign currency-denominated obligations, setting monetary policy and providing 
preferential treatment to particular industries or companies. Changes in any of these policies, laws and regulations may be quick 
with little advance notice and could adversely affect the economy in China and could have a material adverse effect on our 
business, the business of our China subsidiary and the value of our common stock.

The PRC government has implemented various measures to encourage foreign investment and sustainable economic growth 
and to guide the allocation of financial and other resources. However, we cannot assure you that the PRC government will not 
repeal or alter these measures or introduce new measures that will have a negative effect on us, or more specifically, we cannot 
assure you that the PRC government will not initiate possible governmental actions or scrutiny to us, which could substantially 
affect the operation of our China subsidiary, the operations of our customers, and the value of our common stock.

Our China subsidiary may be limited in its ability to make payments, dividends or other distributions to us.

Although Wuxi has not historically paid dividends or made distributions on equity to ADK LLC, it may be limited in its ability 
to make such distributions in the future. If Wuxi incurs debt on its own behalf in the future, the instruments governing the debt 
may restrict its ability to pay dividends or make other distributions to us. In addition, the PRC tax and other authorities may 
require Wuxi to adjust its taxable income in a manner that would materially and adversely affect its ability to pay dividends and 
other distributions to us.

Governmental control of currency conversion may limit our ability to utilize our net revenues effectively and affect the value 
of our securities.

The PRC government imposes controls on the convertibility of the RMB into foreign currencies and, in certain cases, the 
remittance of currency out of China. Wuxi receives substantially all of its revenues in RMB. Under existing PRC foreign 
exchange regulations, payments of current account items, such as profit distributions and trade and service-related foreign 
exchange transactions, can be made in foreign currencies without prior approval from SAFE by complying with certain 
procedural requirements. Therefore, we believe Wuxi would be able to pay dividends in foreign currencies to ADK LLC 
without prior approval from SAFE, subject to the condition that the remittance of such dividends outside of the PRC complies 
with certain procedures under PRC foreign exchange regulation, such as the overseas investment registrations by the beneficial 
owners of our company who are PRC residents. But approval from or registration with appropriate government authorities is 
required where RMB is to be converted into foreign currency and remitted out of China to pay capital expenses such as the 
repayment of loans denominated in foreign currencies.

In light of the flood of capital outflows of China in 2016 due to the weakening RMB, the PRC government has imposed more 
restrictive foreign exchange policies and stepped-up scrutiny of major outbound capital movement. More restrictions and 
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substantial vetting processes are put in place by SAFE to regulate cross-border transactions falling under the capital account. 
The PRC government may also at its discretion restrict access in the future to foreign currencies for current account 
transactions. If the foreign exchange control system prevents Wuxi from obtaining sufficient foreign currencies to satisfy its 
foreign currency demands, Wuxi may not be able to pay dividends in foreign currencies to ADK LLC.

Any failure to comply with PRC regulations regarding the registration requirements for employee stock incentive plans may 
subject the PRC plan participants or us to fines and other legal or administrative sanctions.

In February 2012, SAFE promulgated the Notices on Issues Concerning the Foreign Exchange Administration for Domestic 
Individuals Participating in Stock Incentive Plans of Overseas Publicly-Listed Companies, replacing earlier rules promulgated 
in March 2007. Pursuant to these rules, PRC citizens and non-PRC citizens who reside in China for a continuous period of not 
less than one year and who participate in any stock incentive plan of an overseas publicly listed company, subject to a few 
exceptions, are required to register with SAFE through a qualified domestic agent, and complete certain other procedures. In 
addition, an overseas entrusted institution must be retained to handle matters in connection with the exercise or sale of stock 
options and the purchase or sale of shares and interests. Failure to complete the SAFE registrations may subject them to fines 
and legal sanctions and may also limit our ability to contribute additional capital into our PRC subsidiary and limit Wuxi’s 
ability to distribute dividends to ADK LLC. Wuxi also faces regulatory uncertainties that could restrict its ability to adopt 
additional incentive plans for its directors, executive officers and employees under PRC law.

In light of recent events indicating greater oversight by the Cyberspace Administration of China over data security, 
particularly for companies seeking to list on a foreign exchange, though such oversight is not applicable to us, we may be 
subject to a variety of PRC laws and other obligations regarding data protection and any other rules, and any failure to 
comply with applicable laws and obligations could have a material and adverse effect on our business, our listing on the 
Nasdaq Capital Market, financial condition, and results of operations.

Even though, currently, we and Wuxi are not subject to PRC laws relating to the collection, use, sharing, retention, security, and 
transfer of confidential and private information, such as personal information and other data, these laws continue to develop, 
and the PRC government may adopt other rules and restrictions in the future. Non-compliance could result in penalties or other 
significant legal liabilities.

The Cybersecurity Law, the Cybersecurity Review Measures and the PRC’s Data Security Law impose regulations, review and 
conditions on the storage, security, purchase, collection and use of personal information and important data collected and 
generated by a critical information infrastructure operator (“CIIO”) in the course of its operations in China, including on the 
purchase of data affecting national security. The exact scope of what constitutes a “CIIO” remains unclear. Further, the PRC 
government authorities may have wide discretion in the interpretation and enforcement of these laws. While our business and 
Wuxi’s business do not currently include the type of activities subject to this regulation, there remains uncertainty about the 
final content of these and other regulations, interpretation and implementation, and various other implications. It also remains 
uncertain whether any future regulatory changes would impose additional restrictions on companies like us and Wuxi.

As of the date of this report, we have not received any notice from any authorities identifying us or Wuxi as a CIIO or requiring 
us to undertake a cybersecurity review by the CAC. Further, we have not been subject to any penalties, fines, suspensions, or 
investigations from any competent authorities for violation of the regulations or policies that have been issued by the CAC to 
date. We believe that neither we nor Wuxi are subject to the cybersecurity review by the CAC, given that we are a manufacturer 
and not engaged in any operation of information infrastructure. However, there remains uncertainty as to how the regulations 
will be interpreted or implemented and whether the PRC regulatory agencies, including the CAC, may adopt new laws, 
regulations, rules, or detailed implementation and interpretation. If any such new laws, regulations, rules, or implementation 
and interpretation come into effect, we expect to take all reasonable measures and actions to comply, but any such future laws, 
regulations or review could be time-consuming and costly to comply with, and could have a material impact on our and our 
Wuxi’s operations and financial results.

Risks Related to Financial Reporting, Internal Controls and Being a Public Company

We may not be able to timely and effectively implement and maintain controls and procedures required by Section 404 of the 
Sarbanes-Oxley Act that are applicable to us, which could result in materially misstated financial reporting.

As a public company, we are required to comply with the SEC’s rules implementing Sections 302 and 404 of the Sarbanes-
Oxley Act, which require management to establish and periodically evaluate procedures with respect to our internal controls 
over financial reporting. In addition, as a public company, we are required to document and test our internal controls over 
financial reporting pursuant to Section 404 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act so that our management can certify the effectiveness of 
our internal controls over financial reporting. Section 404(a) of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act (“Section 404(a)”) requires that 
management assess and report annually on the effectiveness of our internal controls over financial reporting and identify any 
material weaknesses in our internal controls over financial reporting. Although Section 404(b) of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act 
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(“Section 404(b)”) requires our independent registered public accounting firm to issue an annual report that addresses the 
effectiveness of our internal controls over financial reporting, we have opted to rely on the exemptions provided in the JOBS 
Act, and consequently will not be required to comply with SEC rules that implement Section 404(b) until such time as we are 
no longer an “emerging growth company.” In order to comply with these rules, we expect to incur additional expenses and 
devote increased management effort.

If we fail to maintain an effective system of internal controls, we may not be able to accurately report our financial results. As a 
result, our stakeholders could lose confidence in our financial reporting, which could adversely affect the results of our business 
and our enterprise value. In connection with our assessment of internal control over financial reporting, we identified certain 
material weaknesses in our internal control over financial reporting for the years ended December 31, 2022 and 2021 (see Item 
9A. Controls and Procedures for additional detail). While these material weaknesses did not result in material misstatements of 
the Company’s financial statements as of and for the years ended December 31, 2022 and 2021, these material weaknesses 
create a reasonable possibility that a material misstatement of account balances or disclosures in our consolidated financial 
statements may not be prevented or detected in a timely manner. Accordingly, the Company concluded that the deficiencies 
represent material weaknesses in its internal control over financial reporting and certain aspects of its internal control over 
financial reporting were not effective as of December 31, 2022 and 2021. The disclosure of these material weaknesses, even if 
quickly remediated, could reduce the market’s confidence in our financial statements and harm our enterprise value.

We will need to undertake significant efforts to strengthen our processes and systems and adapt them to changes as our business 
evolves (including with respect to being a publicly traded company). This continuous process of maintaining and adapting our 
internal controls is expensive and time-consuming, and requires significant management attention. We cannot be certain that 
our internal control measures will provide adequate control over our financial processes and reporting. Furthermore, as our 
business evolves, and if we expand through acquisitions of other companies, make significant investments in other companies 
or enter into joint development and similar arrangements, our internal controls may become more complex, and we will require 
significantly more resources to ensure our internal controls remain effective. Failure to implement required new or improved 
controls, or difficulties encountered in their implementation, could harm our operating results or cause us to fail to meet our 
reporting obligations. If we or our independent registered public accounting firm identify material weaknesses, the disclosure of 
that fact, even if quickly remediated, could reduce the market’s confidence in our financial statements and harm our enterprise 
value.

We have and will continue to incur significantly increased expenses and administrative burdens as a public company, which 
could have a material adverse effect on our business, financial condition and results of operations.

We face increased legal, accounting, administrative and other costs and expenses as a public company that we did not incur as a 
private company. The Sarbanes-Oxley Act, including the requirements of Section 404, as well as rules and regulations 
subsequently implemented by the SEC, the Dodd-Frank Act and the rules and regulations promulgated and to be promulgated 
thereunder, the Public Company Accounting Oversight Board and the securities exchanges, impose additional reporting and 
other obligations on public companies. Compliance with public company requirements increases costs and makes certain 
activities more time-consuming. A number of those requirements require us to carry out activities we did not do previously. For 
example, we created new board committees and adopted new internal controls and disclosure controls and procedures. In 
addition, additional expenses associated with SEC reporting requirements will be incurred. Furthermore, if any issues in 
complying with those requirements are identified (for example, if the auditors identify a material weakness or significant 
deficiency in our internal control over financial reporting), we could incur additional costs rectifying those issues, and the 
existence of those issues could adversely affect our reputation or investor perceptions of it. In connection with our assessment 
of internal control over financial reporting, we identified certain material weaknesses in our internal control over financial 
reporting for the years ended December 31, 2022 and 2021 (see Item 9A. Controls and Procedures for additional detail). It is 
also more expensive to obtain director and officer liability insurance. Risks associated with our status as a public company may 
also make it more difficult to attract and retain qualified persons to serve on the board of directors or as executive officers. 
Additionally, certain of our executive officers and certain directors have limited experience in the management of a publicly 
traded company. Our management team may not successfully or effectively manage its transition to a public company that is 
subject to significant regulatory oversight and reporting obligations under federal securities laws. The additional reporting and 
other obligations imposed by these rules and regulations will increase legal and financial compliance costs and the costs of 
related legal, accounting and administrative activities. These increased costs, which may include expanding our employee base 
and hiring additional employees to support our operations as a public company, will require us to divert a significant amount of 
money that could otherwise be used to expand the business and achieve strategic objectives. Advocacy efforts by stockholders 
and third parties may also prompt additional changes in governance and reporting requirements, which could further increase 
costs.

We qualify as an “emerging growth company” within the meaning of the Securities Act, and if we take advantage of certain 
exemptions from disclosure requirements available to emerging growth companies, we could make our securities less 
attractive to investors and may make it more difficult to compare our performance to the performance of other public 
companies.
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We qualify as an “emerging growth company” as defined in Section 2(a)(19) of the Securities Act, as modified by the JOBS 
Act. As such, we are eligible for and intend to take advantage of certain exemptions from various reporting requirements 
applicable to other public companies that are not emerging growth companies for as long as we continue to be an emerging 
growth company, including (a) the exemption from the auditor attestation requirements with respect to internal control over 
financial reporting under Section 404(b) of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act, (b) the exemptions from say-on-pay, say-on-frequency and 
say-on-golden parachute voting requirements and (c) reduced disclosure obligations regarding executive compensation in our 
periodic reports and proxy statements. We will remain an emerging growth company until the earliest of (i) the last day of the 
fiscal year in which the market value of common stock that is held by non-affiliates exceeds $700.0 million as of June 30 of that 
fiscal year, (ii) the last day of the fiscal year in which we have total annual gross revenue of $1.235 billion or more during such 
fiscal year (as indexed for inflation), (iii) the date on which we have issued more than $1 billion in non-convertible debt in the 
prior three-year period or (iv) December 31, 2024. In addition, Section 107 of the JOBS Act also provides that an emerging 
growth company can take advantage of the exemption from complying with new or revised accounting standards provided in 
Section 7(a)(2)(B) of the Securities Act as long as it is an emerging growth company. An emerging growth company can 
therefore delay the adoption of certain accounting standards until those standards would otherwise apply to private companies. 
We have elected not to opt out of such extended transition period and, therefore, we may not be subject to the same new or 
revised accounting standards as other public companies that are not emerging growth companies. Investors may find our 
securities less attractive because we will rely on these exemptions, which may result in a less active trading market for our 
securities.

Risks Related to Ownership of Our Class A Common Stock and Warrants, and Organizational Documents

There can be no assurance we will be able to comply with the continued listing standards of Nasdaq for our Class A 
common stock and public warrants.

Our Class A common stock and public warrants are currently listed on the Nasdaq Stock Market. In order to maintain such 
listing, we must satisfy minimum financial and other continued listing requirements and standards, including those regarding 
director independence and independent committee requirements, minimum stockholders’ equity, minimum share price, and 
certain corporate governance requirements. There can be no assurances that we will be able to comply with the applicable 
listing standards. Although we are currently in compliance with such listing standards, we may in the future fall out of 
compliance with such standards. If we are unable to maintain compliance with these Nasdaq requirements, our Class A 
common stock and  public warrants will be delisted from Nasdaq. If Nasdaq delists our Class A common stock and public 
warrants from trading on its exchange for failure to meet the listing standards, we and our security holders could face 
significant material adverse consequences including:

• a limited availability of market quotations for our securities;
• reduced liquidity for our securities;
• a determination that shares of the Class A common stock are “penny stock” which will require brokers trading in the Class

A common stock to adhere to more stringent rules and possibly result in a reduced level of trading activity in the secondary
trading market for our securities;

• a limited amount of news and analyst coverage; and
• a decreased ability to issue additional securities or obtain additional financing in the future.

We may redeem our unexpired public warrants prior to their exercise at a time that is disadvantageous to the holder, thereby 
making such warrants worthless.

We have the ability to redeem our outstanding public warrants at any time after they become exercisable and prior to their 
expiration, provided that the last reported sales price of our Class A common stock equals or exceeds $18.00 per share (as 
adjusted for share splits, share dividends, reorganizations, recapitalizations and the like) for any 20 trading days within a 30 
trading-day period ending on the third trading day prior to the date we send the notice of such redemption to the public warrant 
holders and if there is a current registration statement in effect with respect to the shares of Class A common stock underlying 
such public warrants at the redemption date and for the entire 30-day trading period and continuing each day thereafter until the 
date of redemption. If and when the public warrants become redeemable by us, we may exercise our redemption right even if 
we are unable to register or qualify the underlying securities for sale under all applicable state securities laws. Redemption of 
the outstanding public warrants could force the public warrant holder (i) to exercise such public warrants and pay the exercise 
price therefor at a time when it may be disadvantageous for the public warrant holder to do so, (ii) to sell such public warrants 
at the then-current market price when the public warrant holder might otherwise wish to hold its public warrants or (iii) to 
accept the nominal redemption price which, at the time the outstanding public warrants are called for redemption, is likely to be 
substantially less than the market value of the public warrant holder’s warrants.

Our warrants may have an adverse effect on the market price of our Class A common stock.

We have outstanding warrants to purchase up to 27,400,000 shares of our Class A common stock, including 17,250,000 public 
warrants, 8,650,000 private placement warrants and 1,500,000 sponsor warrants. To the extent such warrants are exercised, 
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additional shares of our Class A common stock will be issued, which will result in dilution to our stockholders and increase the 
number of shares of Class A common stock eligible for resale in the public market. Sales of substantial numbers of such shares 
in the public market or the fact that such warrants may be exercised could adversely affect the market price of our Class A 
common stock.

An investment in our Class A common stock may be diluted by the future issuance of additional Class A common stock or 
LLC Units in connection with our incentive plans, acquisitions or otherwise.

As of December 31, 2022, we have 250,000,000 shares of Class A common stock authorized, including 21,381,476 shares of 
Class A common stock issuable upon exchange of ADK LLC units that are held by certain indie Equity Holders, 27,400,000 
shares of Class A common stock issuable upon exercise of the warrants, 5,000,000 shares of Class A common stock issuable 
upon achievement of earn-out and 10,259,207 shares of Class A common stock reserved for issuance under the Equity Incentive 
Plan as described below. Our Certificate of Incorporation authorizes us to issue these shares of Class A common stock and 
options, rights, warrants and appreciation rights relating to Class A common stock for the consideration and on the terms and 
conditions established by our board of directors in its sole discretion, whether in connection with acquisitions or otherwise. 
Similarly, the Amended Operating Agreement permits ADK LLC to issue an unlimited number of additional limited liability 
company interests of ADK LLC with designations, preferences, rights, powers and duties that are different from, and may be 
senior to, those applicable to the ADK LLC units, and which may be exchangeable for shares of Class A common stock. Any 
Class A common stock that we issue, including under the Equity Incentive Plan or other equity incentive plans that we may 
adopt in the future, would dilute the percentage ownership held by the investors who own shares of Class A common stock.

As of December 31, 2022, 129,265,882 shares of Class A common stock have been issued.

There may be sales of a substantial amount of Class A common stock by our stockholders and these sales could cause the 
price of our securities to fall.

Pursuant to registration rights we have granted to certain stockholders, certain stockholders are entitled to demand that we 
register the resale of their securities subject to certain minimum requirements. These parties may sell large amounts of our Class 
A common stock in the open market or in privately negotiated transactions, which could have the effect of increasing the 
volatility in the share price of Class A common stock or putting significant downward pressure on the price of our Class A 
common stock.

Sales of substantial amounts of our Class A common stock in the public market, or the perception that such sales will occur, 
could adversely affect the market price of our Class A common stock and make it difficult for us to raise funds through 
securities offerings in the future.

Delaware law and our Certificate of Incorporation and Bylaws contain certain provisions, including anti-takeover 
provisions, that limit the ability of stockholders to take certain actions and could delay or discourage takeover attempts that 
stockholders may consider favorable.

Our Certificate of Incorporation and Bylaws, and the General Corporation Law of the State of Delaware (the “DGCL”), contain 
provisions that could have the effect of rendering more difficult, delaying, or preventing an acquisition that stockholders may 
consider favorable, including transactions in which stockholders might otherwise receive a premium for their shares. These 
provisions could also limit the price that investors might be willing to pay in the future for shares of our common stock, and 
therefore depress the trading price of our Class A common stock. These provisions could also make it difficult for stockholders 
to elect directors who are not nominated by the current members of our board of directors, effect changes in management or 
take other corporate actions. Among other things, the Certificate of Incorporation and Bylaws include provisions regarding:

• a classified board of directors with three-year staggered terms, which could delay the ability of stockholders to change the
membership of a majority of our board of directors;

• the ability of our board of directors to issue shares of preferred stock, including “blank check” preferred stock and to
determine the price and other terms of those shares, including preferences and voting rights, without stockholder approval,
which could be used to significantly dilute the ownership of a hostile acquirer;

• the limitation of the liability of, and the indemnification of, our directors and officers;
• the right of our board of directors to elect a director to fill a vacancy created by the expansion of our board of directors or

the resignation, death or removal of a director, which prevents stockholders from being able to fill vacancies on our board
of directors;

• the requirement that directors may only be removed from our board of directors for cause;
• the requirement that a special meeting of stockholders may be called only by our board of directors, the chairman of our

board of directors or our chief executive officer, which could delay the ability of stockholders to force consideration of a
proposal or to take action, including the removal of directors;

• controlling the procedures for the conduct and scheduling of meetings of our board of directors and stockholders;
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• the requirement for the affirmative vote of holders of 66⅔% of the voting power of our outstanding voting capital stock,
voting together as a single class to amend, alter, change or repeal certain provisions in the Certificate of Incorporation and
the Bylaws, respectively, which could preclude stockholders from bringing matters before annual or special meetings of
stockholders and delay changes in our board of directors and also may inhibit the ability of an acquirer to effect such
amendments to facilitate an unsolicited takeover attempt;

• the ability of our board of directors to amend the Bylaws, which may allow our board of directors to take additional actions
to prevent an unsolicited takeover and inhibit the ability of an acquirer to amend the Bylaws to facilitate an unsolicited
takeover attempt; and

• advance notice procedures with which stockholders must comply to nominate candidates to our board of directors or to
propose matters to be acted upon at a stockholders’ meeting, which could preclude stockholders from bringing matters
before annual or special meetings of stockholders and delay changes in our board of directors and also may discourage or
deter a potential acquirer from conducting a solicitation of proxies to elect the acquirer’s own slate of directors or otherwise
attempting to obtain control of us.

These provisions, alone or together, could delay or prevent hostile takeovers and changes in control or changes in our board of 
directors or management.

In addition, as a Delaware corporation, we are generally subject to provisions of Delaware law, including the DGCL. Although 
we have elected not to be governed by Section 203 of the DGCL, certain provisions of the Certificate of Incorporation, in a 
manner substantially similar to Section 203 of the DGCL, prohibit certain stockholders (other than those stockholders who are 
party to a stockholders’ agreement with us) who hold 15% or more of our outstanding capital stock from engaging in certain 
business combination transactions with us for a specified period of time unless certain conditions are met. 

Any provision of the Certificate of Incorporation, Bylaws or Delaware law that has the effect of delaying or preventing a 
change in control could limit the opportunity for stockholders to receive a premium for their shares of our capital stock and 
could also affect the price that some investors are willing to pay for our common stock.

Our Certificate of Incorporation designates the Court of Chancery of the State of Delaware as the sole and exclusive forum 
for certain types of actions and proceedings that may be initiated by our stockholders, which could limit our stockholders’ 
ability to obtain a favorable judicial forum for disputes with us or our directors, officers or other employees.

Our Certificate of Incorporation provides that, unless we consent in writing to the selection of an alternative forum, the Court of 
Chancery of the State of Delaware shall, to the fullest extent permitted by law, be the sole and exclusive forum for any (1) 
derivative action or proceeding brought on behalf of us, (2) action asserting a claim of breach of a fiduciary duty owed by any 
director, officer, employee or stockholder of ours to us or our stockholders, (3) action arising pursuant to any provision of the 
DGCL or our Certificate of Incorporation or our Bylaws or as to which the DGCL confers jurisdiction on the Court of 
Chancery, or (4) action asserting a claim against us governed by the internal affairs doctrine (the “Delaware Exclusive Forum 
Provision”). Our Certificate of Incorporation also provides that, unless we consent in writing to the selection of an alternative 
forum, the federal district courts of the United States of America will be the exclusive forum for the resolution of any complaint 
asserting a cause of action arising under the Securities Act. Notwithstanding the foregoing, the inclusion of such provision in 
our Certificate of Incorporation will not be deemed to be a waiver by our stockholders of our obligation to comply with federal 
securities laws, rules and regulations, and the provisions of this paragraph will not apply to suits brought to enforce any liability 
or duty created by the Exchange Act or any other claim for which the federal district courts of the United States of America 
shall be the sole and exclusive forum. Any person or entity purchasing or otherwise acquiring any interest in any shares of our 
capital stock shall be deemed to have notice of and to have consented to the forum provisions in our Certificate of 
Incorporation. If any action the subject matter of which is within the scope of the Delaware Exclusive Forum Provision is filed 
in a court other than a court located within the State of Delaware (a “foreign action”) in the name of any stockholder, such 
stockholder shall be deemed to have consented to: (x) the personal jurisdiction of the state and federal courts located within the 
State of Delaware in connection with any action brought in any such court to enforce the forum provisions (an “enforcement 
action”), and (y) having service of process made upon such stockholder in any such enforcement action by service upon such 
stockholder’s counsel in the foreign action as agent for such stockholder.

This choice-of-forum provision may limit a stockholder’s ability to bring a claim in a judicial forum that it finds favorable for 
disputes with us or our directors, officers or other employees, which may discourage such lawsuits. Alternatively, if a court 
were to find this provision of our Certificate of Incorporation inapplicable or unenforceable with respect to one or more of the 
specified types of actions or proceedings, we may incur additional costs associated with resolving such matters in other 
jurisdictions, which could materially and adversely affect our business, financial condition and results of operations and result 
in a diversion of the time and resources of our management and board of directors.

General Risk Factors

Loss of key management or other highly skilled personnel, or an inability to attract such management and other personnel, 
could adversely affect our business.
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We depend on key management to run our business and on development engineers to develop new products and technologies. 
The loss of any key personnel could have a material adverse effect on our business. In addition, the market for qualified 
employees, including skilled engineers and other individuals with the required technical expertise to succeed in our business, is 
highly competitive and an inability to attract, retain and motivate the employees required for the operation of our business could 
hinder our ability to successfully conduct research activities or develop marketable products.

Our employees are not bound by obligations that require them to continue to work for any specified period and, therefore, they 
could terminate their employment at any time. Moreover, our employees are generally not subject to non-competition 
agreements.

In addition, we must attract and retain highly qualified personnel, including certain foreign nationals who are not U.S. citizens 
or permanent residents, many of whom are highly skilled and constitute an important part of our U.S. workforce, particularly in 
the areas of engineering and product development. Our ability to hire and retain these employees and their ability to remain and 
work in the U.S. are impacted by laws and regulations, as well as by procedures and enforcement practices of various 
government agencies. Changes in immigration laws, regulations or procedures, including those that may be enacted by the 
current U.S. presidential administration, may adversely affect our ability to hire or retain such workers, increase operating 
expenses and negatively impact our ability to deliver products and services, any of which would adversely affect our business, 
financial condition and results of operations.

The loss of one or more of our executive officers or key personnel or our inability to locate suitable or qualified replacements 
could be significantly detrimental to product development efforts and could have a material adverse effect on our business, 
financial condition and results of operations.

ITEM 1B. UNRESOLVED STAFF COMMENTS

Not applicable.

ITEM 2. PROPERTIES

We are headquartered in Aliso Viejo, California with design centers and sales offices in Austin, Texas; Boston, Massachusetts; 
Detroit, Michigan; San Francisco and San Jose, California; Cordoba, Argentina; Budapest, Hungary; Dresden, Frankfurt an der 
Oder, Munich and Nuremberg, Germany; Cambridge, England; Edinburgh, Scotland; Rabat, Morocco; Haifa, Israel; Quebec 
City, Canada; Seoul, South Korea; Tokyo, Japan and several locations throughout China. We engage subcontractors to 
manufacture our products. The majority of these subcontractors are located in Asia. We periodically evaluate our facility 
requirements as necessary and believe our existing and planned facilities are sufficient for our needs for at least the next 12 
months. The following table sets forth our principal facilities: 

Location Square Footage Location Square Footage
Aliso Viejo, California 18,000 Quebec City, Canada 50,050
Austin, Texas 5,753 Suzhou, China 6,841
Detroit, Michigan 32,700 Edinburgh, Scotland 5,328
Haifa, Israel 6,641 Shanghai, China 5,162

ITEM 3. LEGAL PROCEEDINGS 

We are not party to any material legal proceedings. From time to time, we may be involved in legal proceedings or subject to 
claims incident to the ordinary course of business. The outcome of litigation is inherently uncertain, and there can be no 
assurances that favorable outcomes will be obtained. In addition, regardless of the outcome, such proceedings or claims can 
have an adverse impact on us, which may be material because of defense and settlement costs, diversion of resources and other 
factors.

ITEM 4. MINE SAFETY DISCLOSURES

Not applicable.
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PART II

ITEM 5. MARKET FOR REGISTRANT'S COMMON EQUITY, RELATED STOCKHOLDER MATTERS AND 
ISSUER PURCHASES OF EQUITY SECURITIES

(a) Market Information

Our Class A Common Stock and redeemable warrants began trading on the Nasdaq Capital Market under the symbols “INDI” 
and “INDIW”, respectively, on June 10, 2021. 

(b) Holders of Common Stock

As of March 21, 2023, there were approximately 91 holders of record of our Class A Common Stock and 20 holders of our 
redeemable warrants, neither of which include the number of shareholders that hold shares in “street name” through banks or 
broker-dealers.

(c) Dividends

We have not paid any cash dividends on our ordinary shares to date. The payment of any cash dividends will be within the 
discretion of our board of directors at such time. In addition, our board of directors is not currently contemplating and does not 
anticipate declaring any share dividends in the foreseeable future.

(d) Issuer Purchases of Equity Securities

The following table provides information regarding repurchases of common stock made during the three months ended 
December 31, 2022 (in thousands except share and per share data):

Period

Total 
Number of 

Shares 
Purchased

Average 
Price 

Paid per 
share

Total Number of Shares 
Purchased as Part of 

Publicly Announced Plans 
or Programs (1)

Approximate Dollar Value 
of Shares that May Yet Be 
Purchased Under the Plans 

or Programs (1)
10/1/2022 - 10/31/2022 — — — $ 50,000 
11/1/2022 - 11/30/2022 1,112,524 $6.65 1,112,524 $ 42,596 
12/1/2022 - 12/31/2022 — — — $ 42,596 

1,112,524 1,112,524

(1) We announced on November 16, 2022 that our Board of Directors had authorized the repurchase, from time to time, of up to
$50,000 of indie’s Class A common stock and/or warrants to purchase common stock.

(e) Unregistered Sales of Equity Securities and Use of Proceeds

On various dates between October 27, 2022 and November 11, 2022 the Company issued an aggregate of 2,405,560 shares of 
its Class A common stock to three ADK Minority Holders in exchange for an equal number of their ADK LLC units. The 
shares of Class A common stock were issued to the three ADK Minority Holders in reliance on the exemption under Section 
4(a)(2) of the Securities Act of 1933, as amended (the “Securities Act”). In connection with such exchange, 2,368,200 shares of 
Class V common stock held by the ADK Minority Holders were cancelled and 37,360 shares of ADK LLC units were 
exchanged for Class A common stock.

ITEM 6. [RESERVED]

ITEM 7. MANAGEMENT’S DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS OF FINANCIAL CONDITION AND RESULTS OF 
OPERATIONS OF INDIE

Unless the context otherwise requires, all references in this section to the “Company,” “we,” “us, or “our” refer to the 
business of indie and its subsidiaries prior to the consummation of the Transaction. Throughout this section, unless otherwise 
noted, “indie” refers to indie Semiconductor and its consolidated subsidiaries.

The following discussion and analysis provides information that management believes is relevant to an assessment and 
understanding of our consolidated results of operations and financial condition. You should read this discussion and analysis 
in conjunction with the accompanying audited consolidated financial statements and notes thereto included elsewhere in this 
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Form 10-K. Certain amounts may not foot due to rounding. This discussion and analysis contains forward-looking statements 
and involves numerous risks and uncertainties, including, but not limited to, those described under the sections entitled “Risk 
Factors” and “Cautionary Note Regarding Forward-Looking Statements” included elsewhere in this Form 10-K. We assume 
no obligation to update any of these forward-looking statements except as required by law. Actual results may differ materially 
from those contained in any forward-looking statements.

OUR COMPANY

indie Semiconductor offers highly innovative automotive semiconductors and software solutions for Advanced Driver 
Assistance Systems (“ADAS”), autonomous vehicle, connected car, user experience and electrification applications. We focus 
on edge sensors across multiple modalities spanning LiDAR, radar, ultrasound and computer vision. These functions represent 
the core underpinnings of both electric and autonomous vehicles, while the advanced user interfaces are transforming the in-
cabin experience to mirror and seamlessly connect to the mobile platforms we rely on every day. We are an approved vendor to 
Tier 1 automotive suppliers and our platforms can be found in marquee automotive manufacturers around the world. 
Headquartered in Aliso Viejo, California, indie has design centers and sales offices in Austin, Texas; Boston, Massachusetts; 
Detroit, Michigan; San Francisco and San Jose, California; Cordoba, Argentina; Budapest, Hungary; Dresden, Frankfurt an der 
Oder, Munich and Nuremberg, Germany; Cambridge, England; Edinburgh, Scotland; Rabat, Morocco; Haifa, Israel; Quebec 
City, Canada; Seoul, South Korea; Tokyo, Japan and several locations throughout China.

We maintain design centers for our semiconductor engineers and designers in the United States, Argentina, Hungary, Germany, 
Scotland, Morocco, Israel, and China. We engage subcontractors to manufacture our products. These subcontractors, as well as 
the majority of our customers’ locations, are primarily in Asia. For the years ended December 31, 2022 and 2021, 
approximately 54% and 62%, respectively, of our product revenues were recognized for shipments to customer locations in 
Asia.

Execution of At-The-Market Agreement

On August 26, 2022, we entered into an At Market Issuance Agreement (“ATM Agreement”) with B. Riley Securities, Inc., 
Craig-Hallum Capital Group LLC and Roth Capital Partners, LLC (collectively as “Sales Agents”) relating to shares of our 
Class A common stock, par value $0.0001 per share. In accordance with the terms of the Sales Agreement, we may offer and 
sell shares of our Class A common stock having an aggregate offering price of up to $150.0 million from time to time through 
the Sales Agents, acting as our agent or principal. We implemented this program for the flexibility that it provides to the capital 
markets and to best time our equity capital needs. As of December 31, 2022, we had raised gross proceeds of $17.2 million and 
issued 2,131,759 shares of Class A common stock at an average per-share sales price of $8.07 through this program. For the 
year ended December 31, 2022, we incurred total issuance costs of $0.4 million.

Recent Acquisitions

GEO Semiconductor Inc.

On February 9, 2023, we entered into an Agreement and Plan of Merger, pursuant to which Gonzaga Merger Sub Inc., a 
Delaware corporation and indie’s wholly-owned subsidiary, will merge with and into GEO Semiconductor Inc., a Delaware 
corporation (“GEO”), with GEO surviving as a wholly-owned subsidiary of indie (the “Merger”). The aggregate consideration 
for the Merger is up to $270.0 million, consisting of (i) $90.0 million payable in cash at closing, (ii) $90.0 million payable in 
indie shares of Class A common stock, par value $0.0001 per share (the “Common Stock”) at closing, and (iii) up to $90.0 
million of contingent consideration payable in cash or Common Stock subject to achieving certain GEO-related revenue targets. 
The purchase price is subject to working capital and other adjustments as provided in the merger agreement. The transaction 
was completed on March 3, 2023.

Silicon Radar

On February 21, 2023, Symeo GmbH (“Symeo”), one of our wholly-owned subsidiaries, completed its acquisition of all of the 
outstanding capital stock of Silicon Radar GmbH (“Silicon Radar”). The acquisition was consummated pursuant to a Share 
Purchase Agreement by and among Symeo, indie and the holders of the outstanding capital stock of Silicon Radar. The closing 
consideration consisted of (i) $9.0 million in cash, (ii) approximately 980,000 shares of our Class A common stock, par value 
$0.0001 per share and (iii) a contingent consideration payable in cash or in our Class A common stock subject to Silicon 
Radar’s achievement of certain revenue-based and design-win milestones through December 31, 2024. The purchase price is 
subject to working capital and other adjustments as provided in the merger agreement. 
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Symeo GmbH

On October 21, 2021, we entered into a definitive agreement with Analog Devices (“ADI”) to acquire Symeo. The acquisition 
was approved by the German government on January 4, 2022 and closed on the same day. The total consideration paid for this 
acquisition consisted of (i) $8.7 million in cash at closing, net of cash acquired; (ii) a $10.0 million promissory note payable in 
January 2023 with a fair market value of $9.7 million; and (iii) an equity-based earn-out of up to 858,369 shares of indie Class 
A common stock based on future revenue growth. The fair market value of this equity-based earn-out was $7.8 million on 
January 4, 2022.

The acquisition of ON Design Israel and Symeo will bring us engineering development teams with broad experience in 
millimeter wave technology and radar system implementation, respectively. We expect these combinations will accelerate our 
entry into the radar market and enable us to capture strategic opportunities among Tier 1 customers.

ON Design Israel

On October 1, 2021, we entered into a definitive agreement with Onsemi (“Onsemi”) and completed the acquisition of ON 
Design Israel Ltd. (“ON Design Israel”), for $5.0 million in cash paid upon close (net of cash acquired), $7.5 million of cash in 
2022 and up to $7.5 million of cash based on design win performance.

TERAXION INC

On August 27, 2021, we entered into a definitive agreement to acquire TERAXION INC, a Canadian corporation (“TeraXion”) 
from the existing stockholders of TeraXion. This acquisition was completed on October 12, 2021 and the total consideration 
paid for the acquisition consisted of (i) $75.3 million in cash, net of cash acquired; (ii) the issuance by indie of 5,805,144 shares 
of indie Class A common stock; and (iii) the assumption by indie of TeraXion options, which will become exercisable to 
purchase 1,542,332 shares of indie Class A common stock. 

TeraXion produces low-noise lasers, Bragg gratings and integrated photonic elements to address high-performance 
applications. More recently, TeraXion was an optical sensing reference design partner of indie, supporting next-generation 
Frequency Modulated Continuous Wave systems for automotive LiDAR. The addition of TeraXion is expected to be highly 
synergistic and we believe it will position us to accelerate mass market deployments of LiDAR platforms.

See Note 3 — Business Combinations for additional descriptions of these acquisitions

Reverse Recapitalization with Thunder Bridge Acquisition II

On June 10, 2021, we completed a series of transactions (the “Transaction”) with Thunder Bridge Acquisition II, Ltd (“TB2”) 
pursuant to the Master Transactions Agreement dated December 14, 2020, as amended on May 3, 2021 (the “MTA”). In 
connection with the Transaction, Thunder Bridge II Surviving Pubco, Inc, a Delaware corporation (“Surviving Pubco”), was 
formed to be the successor public company to TB2, TB2 was domesticated into a Delaware corporation and merged with and 
into and a merger subsidiary of Surviving Pubco. Additionally, we consummated a Private Investment in Public Entity (“PIPE”) 
financing, pursuant to which Surviving Pubco issued 15 million Class A common shares, generating net proceeds of $150 
million as a result of the Transaction. Also on June 10, 2021, Surviving Pubco changed  its  name to indie Semiconductor, Inc., 
and listed our shares of Class A common stock, par value $0.0001 per share on The Nasdaq Stock Market LLC under the 
symbol “INDI.”

The most significant change in our reported financial position and results of operations in comparison to the prior year is gross 
cash proceeds of $399.5 million from the Transaction, which includes $150.0 million in proceeds from the PIPE financing that 
was consummated in conjunction with the Transaction. The increase in cash was offset by transaction costs incurred in 
connection with the Transaction of approximately $60.6 million plus the retirement of indie’s long-term debt of $15.6 million. 
Approximately $29.8 million of the transaction costs and all of indie’s long-term debt were paid as of June 30, 2021. 
Approximately $21.8 million of the transaction costs paid as of June 30, 2021 were paid by TB2 as part of the closing of the 
Transaction. The remainder of the transaction costs were paid as of September 30, 2021.

Upon consummation of the Transaction, indie-designated directors were appointed to seven of the nine seats of the combined 
Company’s board of directors; our Chief Executive Officer and President were appointed as the other two board members; our 
existing senior management became the senior management of the combined company; and the current stockholders of indie 
became the owners of approximately 26% of the outstanding shares of Class A common stock of the combined company. 
Accordingly, the Transaction is being accounted for as a reverse recapitalization, whereby indie is the acquirer for accounting 
and financial reporting purposes and Surviving Pubco, Inc is the legal acquirer. A reverse recapitalization does not result in a 
new basis of accounting, and the financial statements of the combined entity represent the continuation of the consolidated 
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financial statements of legacy ADK LLC in many respects. The shares remaining after redemptions, and the unrestricted net 
cash and cash equivalents on the closing of the Transaction, are being accounted for as a capital infusion to ADK LLC.

As a consequence of the Transaction, we became an SEC-registered, Nasdaq-listed company, which has required, and will 
continue to require us to hire additional personnel and implement procedures and processes to address public company 
regulatory requirements and customary practices. We are now incurring additional annual expenses as a public company for, 
among other things, directors’ and officers’ liability insurance, director fees and additional internal and external accounting, 
legal and administrative expenses.

Additionally, we expect our capital and operating expenditures will increase significantly in connection with ongoing activities 
as we invest additional working capital for various research and development projects, additional investments in equipment to 
meet increased project needs, and additional operating expenses to hire project managers, technicians, sales, partnership and 
customer service personnel, data scientists, trading teams, software engineers and administrative staff.

Our historical operations and statements of assets and liabilities may not be comparable to the operations and statements of 
assets and liabilities of the combined company as a result of the Transaction.

Impact of COVID-19

The COVID-19 pandemic (the “Pandemic”) and efforts to control its spread have significantly curtailed the movement of 
people, goods, and services worldwide. While many economies and countries initially affected by the Pandemic have lifted 
quarantines and related restrictions, the ultimate duration and extent of the Pandemic depends on future developments that 
cannot be accurately predicted at this time, including the severity and transmission rates of new and more contagious and/or 
vaccine-resistant variants of COVID-19, as well as the impact that any such new variants may have on local, regional, national 
and international customers and economic markets. We continue to monitor the Pandemic to ensure continued compliance with 
applicable health regulations and effective responses to the economic impact of the Pandemic.

Results of Operations

Revenue

We design, develop and manufacture primarily analog, digital and mixed-signal integrated circuits (“ICs”) together with 
software running on the embedded processors in the majority of the ICs. Our revenue represents both non-recurring engineering 
(“NRE”) fees for the development of ICs and prototypes and product sales, the sale of semiconductors under separate 
commercial supply arrangements.

Our revenues fluctuate in response to a combination of factors, including the following:

• our overall product mix and sales volumes;

• gains and losses in market share and design win traction;

• semiconductor content per vehicle;

• pace at which technology is adopted in our end markets;

• fluctuations in currency exchange rates that affect our prices;

• the stage of our products in their respective life cycles;

• the effects of competition and competitive pricing strategies;

• governmental regulations influencing our markets; and

• the global and regional economic cycles.

Product Revenue. Our product revenue is recognized when the customer obtains control of the product and is based on the 
contractual shipping terms of a contract. We provide an assurance-type warranty which is not sold separately and does not 
represent a separate performance obligation. Therefore, the estimated costs of warranty claims are generally accrued as cost of 
goods sold in the period the related revenue is recorded. Under limited circumstances, we may offer an extended limited 
warranty to customers for certain products. We accrue for known warranty and indemnification issues if a loss is probable and 
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can be reasonably estimated. The majority of our product revenue originates from sales shipped to customer locations in Asia, 
and the United States.

Contract Revenue. Contract revenue is revenue earned from NRE services. Generally, our NRE contracts with our customers 
initially contain a single distinct performance obligation, which is to provide NRE design services for products based on the 
customer’s specifications. Generally, our contracts also include the optional purchase of products that may be exercised at 
stated prices subsequent to completion of NRE design services. We have determined that the option to purchase products is not 
a material right and have not allocated transaction price to this provision.

For NRE arrangements, we recognize revenue over time as services are provided based on the terms of the contract on an input 
basis, using costs incurred as the measure of progress. The costs incurred represent the most reliable measure of transfer of 
control to the customer. Revenue is deferred for amounts billed or received prior to delivery of the services.

Cost of Goods Sold

Cost of goods sold consists primarily of the cost of semiconductors purchased from subcontractors, including wafer fabrication, 
assembly, testing and packaging, board and device costs, manufacturing support costs, including labor and overhead associated 
with such purchases, final test yield fallout, inventory and warranty provisions, memory and component costs, and shipping 
costs. Cost of goods sold also includes compensation related to personnel associated with manufacturing and amortization of 
certain intangible assets acquired through the business combinations. Cost of goods sold does not include development costs 
incurred related to servicing our NRE services contracts, which are recorded to research and development and expensed as 
incurred.

Research and Development Expense

Costs related to research, design, and development of our products are expensed as incurred. Research and development 
expense consists primarily of pre-production costs related to the design and development of our products and technologies, 
including costs related to NRE services contracts with customers such as employee compensation, benefits and related costs of 
sustaining our engineering teams, project material costs, third-party fees paid to consultants, prototype development expenses, 
occupancy costs and related overhead based on headcount, other costs incurred in the product design and development process 
and amortization expenses for certain intangible assets acquired from the business combinations.

Selling, General, and Administrative Expense

Selling, general, and administrative costs include employee compensation, including compensation and benefits for executive, 
finance, accounting, legal, business operations and other administrative personnel. In addition, it includes marketing and 
advertising, outside legal, tax and accounting services, insurance, occupancy costs and related overhead based on headcount and 
amortization expenses for certain intangible assets acquired from the business combinations. Selling, general, and 
administrative costs are expensed as incurred. 

Amortization for Intangible Assets Acquired from Business Combinations

As a result of the most recent business combinations, we acquired various intangible assets. The corresponding amortization 
expenses are included within Cost of goods sold, Research and development expenses, and Selling, general and administrative 
expenses based on their respective nature. Our acquired intangible assets with definite lives are amortized from the date of 
acquisition over periods ranging from two to seven years.

Interest Expense

Interest expense primarily consists of cash and non-cash interest under our term loan facilities, convertible notes and line of 
credit.

Other Income (Expense)

Other income (expense) primarily comprises the change in the fair value of the warrants and earn-out liabilities issued as a 
result of the Transaction and contingent considerations issued as a result of the recent business combinations. 

As of November 9, 2021, the first Earn-Out Milestone was achieved, which also eliminated the need for future remeasurement 
of the Earn-Out liabilities in relation to the Transaction. 
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Income Taxes

We utilize the asset and liability method in accounting for income taxes. Deferred tax assets and liabilities reflect the estimated 
future tax consequences of temporary differences between the financial reporting and tax bases of assets and liabilities. 
Deferred tax assets and liabilities are measured using enacted tax rates expected to apply to taxable income in the years in 
which those temporary differences are expected to be recovered or settled. Deferred tax expense or benefit is the result of 
changes in the deferred tax asset and liability. Valuation allowances are established when necessary to reduce deferred tax 
assets where it is more likely than not that the deferred tax assets will not be realized. We make estimates, assumptions, and 
judgments to determine our provision for our income taxes, deferred tax assets and liabilities, and any valuation allowance 
recorded against deferred tax assets. We also assess the likelihood that our deferred tax assets, if any, will be recovered from 
future taxable income, and to the extent we believe that recovery is not likely, we establish a valuation allowance.

We recognize the tax benefit from an uncertain tax position only if it is more likely than not that the tax position will be 
sustained on examination by the taxing authorities, based on the technical merits of the position. The tax benefits recognized 
from such positions are then measured based on the largest benefit that has a greater than 50% likelihood of being realized upon 
settlement. Interest and penalties related to unrecognized tax benefits which, as of the date of this report, have not been 
material, are recognized within provision for income taxes.

Refer to Note 19, Income Tax, in our accompanying financial statements for additional detail.

Comparison of the Years Ended December 31, 2022 and 2021

Revenue

Fiscal Years Ended
2022 2021

(in thousands) $
% of 

Revenue $
% of 

Revenue $ Change % Change
Revenue:

Product revenue $ 89,457  81 % $ 43,796  90 % $ 45,661  104 %
Contract revenue 21,340  19 % 4,616  10 % 16,724  362 %

Total revenue $ 110,797  100 % $ 48,412  100 % $ 62,385  129 %

Revenue for the year ended December 31, 2022 was $110.8 million, compared to $48.4 million for the year ended 
December 31, 2021, an increase of $62.4 million or 129%, which was driven by a $45.7 million increase in product revenue and 
a $16.7 million increase in contract revenue. The increase in product revenue consists of higher product volume (units sold) 
given the continued growth in demand from our customers globally. Change in product mix, and increases in average selling 
price (“ASP”) also contributed to the increase in product revenue year-over-year. The increase in contract revenue was 
primarily due to commencement of a multi-year non-recurring engineering project with a top customer in the current year. 

Operating expenses

Fiscal Years Ended
2022 2021

(in thousands) $
% of 

Revenue $
% of 

Revenue $ Change % Change
Operating expenses:

Cost of goods sold $ 60,491  55 % $ 28,703  59 % $ 31,788  111 %
Research and development 121,197  109 % 58,117  120 % 63,080  109 %
Selling, general, and 
administrative 48,237  44 % 36,384  75 % 11,853  33 %

Total operating expenses $ 229,925  208 % $ 123,204  254 % $ 106,721  87 %

Cost of goods sold for the year ended December 31, 2022 was $60.5 million, compared to $28.7 million for the year ended 
December 31, 2021. The increase of $31.8 million or 111% was primarily due to a $15.7 million increase in product shipments 
in connection with the increase in products sold as described above, a $6.9 million increase due to an increase in product cost, 
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and a $5.3 million increase due to a change in product mix. Total cost of goods sold for the year ended December 31, 2022 also 
included $4.0 million in amortization related to acquired intangible assets as a result of the recent business combinations. 

Research and development (“R&D”) expense for the year ended December 31, 2022 was $121.2 million, compared to $58.1 
million for the year ended December 31, 2021. This increase of $63.1 million or 109% was primarily due to $23.4 million 
increase in personnel costs as we increased the number of employees working on product development, a $15.9 million increase 
in product development costs as we continue to expand product development activities, a $18.6 million increase in share-based 
compensation expense and a $2.6 million increase in amortization expense related to R&D project licenses and acquired 
intangible assets from business combinations. We started recognizing share-based compensation expense in the second quarter 
of the prior year following the consummation of the Transaction in June 2021 and implementation of the 2021 Omnibus Equity 
Plan in August 2021 to be recognized. We expect research and development expense to continue to increase as we continue to 
grow our headcount organically to support expanded product development activities.

Selling, general and administrative expense for the year ended December 31, 2022 was $48.2 million, compared to $36.4 
million for the year ended December 31, 2021. The increase of $11.9 million or 33% was primarily due to a $6.4 million 
increase in personnel costs due to increase in headcount, a $3.0 million increase in intangible asset amortization from business 
combinations and a $0.4 million increase in outside professional fees. We started recognizing share-based compensation 
expense in the second quarter of the prior year as it required the consummation of the Transaction in June 2021 and 
implementation of the 2021 Omnibus Equity Plan in August 2021 to be recognized. We expect selling, general, and 
administrative expense to continue to increase as we grow our headcount to support our global expansion and to fulfill our 
obligations as a publicly traded company.

Other income (expense), net

Fiscal Years Ended
2022 2021

(in thousands) $ $ $ Change % Change
Other income (expense), net:
Interest income $ 2,567 $ 49 $ 2,518  5139 %
Interest expense (1,692) (1,239) (453)  37 %
Gain from change in fair value of SAFEs — 21,600 (21,600)  (100) %
Gain (loss) from change in fair value of warrants 55,069 (26,060) 81,129  (311) %
Loss from change in fair value of earn-out liabilities — (38,758) 38,758  (100) %
Gain (loss) from change in fair value of contingent considerations 9,468 (80) 9,548  (11935) %
Gain from extinguishment of debt — 304 (304)  (100) %
Other income (expense) (107) 42 (149)  (355) %

Total other income (expense), net $ 65,305 $ (44,142) $ 109,447  (248) %

Interest income for the year ended December 31, 2022 was $2.6 million, increased by $2.5 million from the year ended 
December 31, 2021. Interest income increased primarily as a result of increases in interest rates associated with the money 
market funds and marketable securities.

Interest expense for the year ended December 31, 2022 was $1.7 million, compared to $1.2 million for the year ended 
December 31, 2021. Interest expense relates to the routine cash and non-cash interest expenses on outstanding debt obligations. 
The increase was primarily driven by the issuance of the 4.50% convertible notes with principal balance of $160.0 million 
issued in November 2022 (the “2027 Notes”).

For the years ended December 31, 2022 and 2021, we recognized gains (losses) from fair value remeasurement for SAFEs, 
warrants, earn-out liabilities, and contingent considerations. These gains (losses) represented the following:       

i) SAFEs: Upon the closing of the Transaction on June 10, 2021, the SAFE holders converted their SAFEs to Class A
common stock of indie. The gain of $21.6 million represents the decrease in fair value in SAFEs from December 31, 2020
to June 10, 2021. No changes in fair value of SAFEs was recorded post 2021 as they were settled as part of the
Transaction.

ii) Warrants: During the year ended December 31, 2022, we recognized an unrealized gain from change in fair value of our
warrants of $55.1 million, which reflected the decrease in fair value of our warrant liability. The decrease in fair value of
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our warrant liability was primarily a result of the decrease of the closing price of our Class A common stock listed on the 
Nasdaq to $5.83 per share on December 31, 2022 from $11.99 per share on December 31, 2021. During the year ended 
December 31, 2021, we recognized warrant liability of $74.4 million upon the consummation of the Transaction on June 
10, 2021, and subsequently remeasured the warrant liability to the fair value of $100.5 million at December 31, 2021. The 
increase in fair value of our warrant liability of $26.1 million was primarily a result of the increase of the closing price of 
our Class A common stock to $11.99 per share on December 31, 2021 from $10.87 per share on June 10, 2021. 

iii) Earn-out liability: Upon the consummation of the Transaction on June 10, 2021, we recognized an earn-out liability of
$119.8 million and subsequently remeasured the earn-out liability to the fair value of $158.5 million, or a year-to-date loss
of $38.8 million, on November 9, 2021 when the first milestone was achieved. The total liability as of November 9, 2021
was reclassified to Additional Paid in Capital in our consolidated balance sheet. As of December 31, 2021, there was no
liability remaining on the balance sheet.

iv) Contingent considerations: During the year ended December 31, 2022, we recognized a net gain from change in fair
value of our contingent considerations of $9.5 million, which is primarily contributed by a realized gain of $5.8 million and
$4.0 million for the contingent considerations related to the Symeo and OnDesign acquisition. During the year ended
December 31, 2022, management determined that the product design specified in the contingent consideration arrangement
from the OnDesign acquisition would be replaced with a new product design that is better aligned with customer
requirements and which will not be eligible for either of the contingent considerations. Accordingly, the fair value for both
the Tapeout and Design Win were reduced to zero, resulting in a gain of $4.0 million. The net gain from change in fair
value relating to Symeo was driven by additional information that became available after the initial purchase price
valuation.

Income Tax Benefit 

We evaluate our estimated AETR on a quarterly basis based on current and forecasted operating results. The relationship 
between our income tax provision or benefit and our pretax book income or loss can vary significantly from period to period. 
This is due to factors such as the overall level of pretax book income or loss, changes in the blend of jurisdictional income or 
loss that is taxed at different rates, changes in domestic and foreign valuation allowances and changes in non-controlling 
interest. Consequently, our AETR may fluctuate significantly period to period and may make quarterly comparisons less than 
meaningful.

Income tax benefits for the year ended December 31, 2022 and 2021 were due to results of foreign operations.

JOBS Act

The JOBS Act permits an emerging growth company (“EGC”) such as us to take advantage of an extended transition period to 
comply with new or revised accounting standards applicable to public companies. We have elected to use the extended 
transition period under the JOBS Act until the earlier of the date we (1) are no longer an emerging growth company or (2) 
affirmatively and irrevocably opt out of the extended transition period provided in the JOBS Act. As a result, our consolidated 
financial statements may not be comparable to companies that comply with new or revised  accounting pronouncements as of 
public company effective dates.

We will remain an emerging growth company until the earliest to occur of: (1) the last day of the fiscal year in which we have 
more than $1.235 billion in annual revenue; (2) the date on which we are deemed to be a “large accelerated filer,” which would 
occur if the market value of our equity securities held by nonaffiliates exceeds $700 million as of the last business day of our 
most recently completed second fiscal quarter; (3) the date on which we have issued more than $1.0 billion in non-convertible 
debt securities during the prior three-year period; and (4) the last day of the fiscal year ending after the fifth anniversary of our 
initial public offering, or December 31, 2024.

We may choose to early adopt any new or revised accounting standards whenever such early adoption is permitted for public 
companies.

Liquidity and Capital Resources 

Our primary use of cash is to fund operating expenses, which consist primarily of research and development expenditures, 
working capital requirements related to inventory, accounts payable and general and administrative expenditures. In addition, 
from time to time, we use cash to fund our mergers and acquisitions, purchases of various capital and software assets and 
scheduled repayments for outstanding debt obligations. Our immediate sources of liquidity are cash, cash equivalents and funds 
anticipated to be generated from our operations. We believe that our existing cash and cash equivalents, funds anticipated to be 
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generated from our operations, and available borrowing on our revolving credit facility will be sufficient to meet our working 
capital needs for at least the next 12 months. Our future capital requirements may vary from those currently planned and will 
depend on many factors, including our rate of sales growth, the timing and extent of spending on various business initiatives, 
including potential merger and acquisition activities, our international expansion, the timing of new product introductions, 
market acceptance of our solutions, and overall economic conditions including the potential impact of global supply 
imbalances, rising interest rates, inflationary pressures, COVID-19 and volatility in the global financial markets. To the extent 
that current and anticipated future sources of liquidity are insufficient to fund our future business activities and requirements, 
we may be required to seek additional equity or debt financing.

Historically, we derive liquidity primarily from debt and equity financing activities as we have historically had negative cash 
flows from operations. On June 10, 2021, we completed the Transaction, which resulted in approximately $341.3 million of net 
cash proceeds. On November 5, 2021, we also entered into an amendment to the PacWest loan agreement that (i) increased the 
maximum borrowing capacity under the revolving line of credit to $20 million, (ii) limited the security interests of the bank to 
the cash collateral set at 102.5% of the drawn amount of the loan, (iii) removed various reporting and restrictive covenants, (iv) 
extended the maturity date to November 4, 2022 and (iv) reduced the interest rate to 2.1% per annum. We did not extend this 
line of credit upon its maturity on November 4, 2022.

On August 26, 2022, we entered into the ATM Agreement with the Sales Agents relating to shares of our Class A common 
stock. In accordance with the terms of the Sales Agreement, we may offer and sell shares of our Class A common stock having 
an aggregate offering price of up to $150.0 million from time to time through the Sales Agents, acting as our agent or principal. 
We implemented this program for the flexibility that it provides to the capital markets and to best time its equity capital needs. 
As of December 31, 2022, we have raised gross proceeds of $17.2 million and issued 2,131,759 shares of Class A common 
stock at an averaged per-share sales price of $8.07 through this program and had approximately $132.8 million available for 
future issuances under the ATM Agreement. For the year ended December 31, 2022, we incurred total issuance costs of $0.4 
million.

On November 21, 2022, we issued $160 million in aggregate principal of our 4.50% convertible senior notes which are due in 
May 2027 (the “2027 Notes”). The 2027 Notes will be convertible into cash, shares of common stock or a combination of cash 
and common stock at our election. We used the net proceeds from the 2027 notes to fund the acquisition of GEO and Silicon 
Radar as well as a stock repurchase program authorized by our Board of Directors in November 2022. The acquisition of 
Silicon Radar completed in February 2023 and GEO completed in March 2023, which resulted in us funding a purchase price of 
approximately $9.0 million and $90 million, respectively. The stock repurchase program resulted in us repurchasing 1.1 million 
shares of our outstanding common stock in November at an average cost of $6.65 per share, which amounts for a total cash 
outflow of $7.4 million in 2022. 

On November 29, 2022, Wuxi executed a Capital Increase Agreement to raise CNY300.0 million (approximately $42.0 million) 
of capital by issuing 371,160 shares of its common stock, which represents 16% of Wuxi’s equity at the time of issuance. As a 
result, indie’s ownership in Wuxi has reduced from 45% to 38%. Among other provisions, this agreement includes certain 
liquidation preferences for the investors of this Capital Increase Agreement as well as an ability to exchange their Wuxi shares 
for up to 6 million shares of indie’s Class A common stock in the event Wuxi does not successfully complete a local initial 
public offering by December 31, 2027. The funds raised are intended to promote Wuxi’s business development and strengthen 
its capabilities. 

As of December 31, 2022, our balance of cash and cash equivalents was $321.6 million. 

Acquisitions

Since the closing of the Transaction, we have completed multiple acquisitions. We continually assess and plan to selectively 
pursue inorganic growth opportunities that are complementary to our existing technologies and portfolio of products and/or 
accelerate our growth initiatives. 

In connection with our acquisitions, we may from time to time be required to make future payments or issue additional shares 
of our common stock to satisfy our obligations under the acquisition agreements, including to satisfy certain earn-out 
requirements. 

In January 2022 we completed the acquisition of Symeo, for which we made an initial cash payment of approximately $10.0 
million. An additional $10.0 million was paid in January 2023, as well as an equity based earn out of shares of indie Class A 
common stock based on future revenue growth. 
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In February 2023, we entered into an agreement to acquire GEO Semiconductor, Inc. and completed the transaction on March 
3, 2023. The acquisition requested for (i) an initial cash payment of $90.0 million, (ii) an additional $90.0 million payable in 
indie’s Class A common stock, and (iii) a future payment of up to $90.0 million in cash or common stock based on future 
revenue growth. Additionally, in February, 2023, we acquired Silicon Radar GmbH, for approximately $9.0 million in cash, and 
approximately 980,000 shares of Class A common stock with an earn-out consideration payable in cash or in Class A common 
stock subject to Silicon Radar’s achievement of certain revenue-based and design-win milestones through December 31, 2024. 

We expect to continue to incur net operating losses and negative cash flows from operations. We also expect our research and 
development expenses, general and administrative expenses and capital expenditures will increase over time as we continue to 
expand our operations, product offerings and customer base.

The following table summarizes our consolidated cash flows for the years ended December 31, 2022 and 2021:

Fiscal Years Ended Change Change
2022 2021 $ %

Net cash used in operating activities $ (76,745) $ (55,819) $ (20,926)  37 %
Net cash used in investing activities (16,273) (84,326) 68,053  (81) %
Net cash provided by financing activities 192,659 340,646 (147,987)  (43) %

Operating Activities

Our primary use of cash is to fund operating expenses, which consist primarily of research and development expenditures, 
working capital requirements related to inventory, accounts payable and general and administrative expenditures. 

For the year ended December 31, 2022, net cash used in operating activities was $76.7 million, which included net loss of $52.8 
million and reflected adjustments for certain non-cash items and changes in operating assets and liabilities. Non-cash decreases 
primarily consisted of $64.7 million of net gains resulting from a change in fair value for warrants and contingent 
considerations. These non-cash decreases were partially offset by $41.9 million in share-based compensation expense and $14.8 
million in depreciation and amortization. Changes in operating assets and liabilities from operations used $18.1 million of cash, 
primarily driven by an increase in accounts receivable, prepaid and other current assets, and inventory offset by an increase in 
accounts payable and accrued expenses.

Cash used in operating activities during the year ended December 31, 2021 was $55.8 million, which included net loss of 
$118.6 million and was adjusted for certain non-cash items and changes in operating assets and liabilities. Non-cash increases 
primarily consisted of $43.3 million loss from change in fair value of SAFEs, warrants, earn-out liabilities, and contingent 
considerations, $22.9 million in share-based compensation expense and $6.0 million in depreciation and amortization. Changes 
in operating assets and liabilities from operations used $9.2 million of cash, primarily driven by an increase in accounts 
receivable, inventory, prepaid and other current assets and a decrease in accounts payable. This was offset by an increase in 
accrued expenses and other current liabilities.

Investing Activities

Net cash used in investing activities for the year ended December 31, 2022 and 2021 was $16.3 million and $84.3 million, 
respectively. During the year ended December 31, 2022,  the decrease in cash was primarily due to the acquisition of Symeo for 
$8.7 million, net of cash acquired, as well as cash used of $7.6 million for the purchase of capital expenditures. During the year 
ended December 31, 2021, the decrease in cash was primarily due to the acquisition of TeraXion and OnDesign Israel for $75.3 
million and $5.0 million, net of cash acquired, respectively, as well as cash used of $2.7 million for capital expenditures. We 
expect that we will make additional capital expenditures in the future, including licenses to various intangible assets, in order to 
support the future growth of our business. 

Financing Activities

Net cash provided by financing activities for the year ended December 31, 2022 was $192.7 million, which was primarily 
attributed to $160.0 million of proceeds from the issuance of the 2027 Notes, $41.9 million of proceeds related to the Wuxi 
capital raise and $16.8 million of net proceeds from the issuance of common stock through the ATM. These increases were 
partially offset by $7.5 million paid to Onsemi as part of the deferred payments in relation to the acquisition of ON Design, 
$7.4 million paid to repurchase common stock, $5.4 million of costs incurred from the issuance of the 2027 Notes, $4.2 million 
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of payments on financed software and a $1.0 million payment of City Semiconductor acquisition related deferred 
compensation.

Net Cash provided by financing activities for the year ended December 31, 2021 was $340.6 million, which was primarily 
attributed to $377.7 million net cash acquired from TB2 as we closed the Transaction on June 10, 2021 and $5.0 million of 
proceeds from issuance of SAFEs in April 2021. These increases in cash were partially offset by $19.9 million of transaction 
costs incurred in connection with the Transaction and $17.5 million repayment of long-term debt and related termination fees. 
Total transaction costs incurred in relation to the Transaction was approximately $44.5 million.

Future Cash Obligations

Following is a summary of our contractual cash obligations as of December 31, 2022:

Future Estimated Cash Payments Due by Period
Contractual Obligations Less than 1 year 1 - 3 years 3-5 years >5 years Total
Debt obligations $ 16,697 $ — $ 160,000 $ — $ 176,697 
Interest on debt obligations 7,300 14,620 13,680 — 35,600 
Operating leases 2,551 4,231 3,539 4,117 14,438 
Total contractual obligations $ 26,548 $ 18,851 $ 177,219 $ 4,117 $ 226,735 

Critical Accounting Estimates

The discussion and analysis of our financial condition and results of operations are based upon our consolidated financial 
statements, which have been prepared in accordance with generally accepted accounting principles (“GAAP”). The preparation 
of these financial statements requires us to make estimates and judgments in applying our most critical accounting policies that 
can have a significant impact on the results we report in our financial statements. The SEC has defined critical accounting 
estimates as those that involve a significant level of estimation uncertainty and have had or are reasonably likely to have a 
material impact on a registrant’s financial condition or results of operations. Based on this definition, our most critical 
accounting estimates include revenue recognition, which impacts the recording of net revenue; inventory valuation, which 
impacts the cost of goods sold and gross margin; business combinations, which impacts the fair value of acquired assets and 
assumed liabilities; goodwill and long-lived assets, which impacts the fair value of goodwill and intangible assets; warrants and 
earn-out liabilities valuations, which impacts the fair value of these financial instruments; and income taxes, which impacts the 
income tax provision. These policies and significant judgments involved are discussed further below. We have other significant 
accounting policies that do not generally require subjective estimates or judgments or would not have a material impact on our 
results of operations. Our significant accounting policies and estimates are described in Note 2 to Item 8 of this Annual Report 
on Form 10-K.

Revenue Recognition

We enter into contracts with customers that can include various combinations of products and services. As a result, our 
contracts may contain multiple performance obligations. We determine whether arrangements are distinct based on whether the 
customer can benefit from the product or service on its own or together with other resources that are readily available and 
whether our commitment to transfer the product or service to the customer is separately identifiable from other obligations in 
the contract.

In particular, we enter into engineering services contracts with customers that generally contain only one distinct performance 
obligation, which is design services for ICs based on agreed-upon specifications. Engineering services contracts typically also 
include the purchase, at the customer’s option, of ICs at agreed upon prices subsequent to completion of IC design services. We 
have determined that the option to purchase ICs is not a material right and has not allocated transaction price to this provision.

For IC development arrangements, revenue is recognized over time as services are provided based on the terms of the contract 
on an input basis, using costs incurred as the measure of progress and is recorded as contract revenue in the consolidated 
statement of operations. The costs incurred represent the most reliable measure of transfer of control to the customer. Revenue 
is deferred for amounts billed or received prior to delivery of the services.
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Warrants

We value our warrants by using the Black-Scholes-Merton formula and a Monte Carlo Simulations analysis. Calculating the 
fair value of warrants requires the input of subjective assumptions. Other reasonable assumptions could provide differing 
results. The carrying amount of the liability may fluctuate significantly and actual amounts paid may be materially different 
from the liability’s estimated value.

Business Combinations

We allocate the fair value of the purchase consideration of a business acquisition to the tangible assets, liabilities, and intangible 
assets acquired, including in-process research and development (“IPR&D”), based on their estimated fair values. The excess of 
the fair value of purchase consideration over the fair values of these identifiable assets and liabilities is recorded as goodwill. 
IPR&D is initially capitalized at fair value as an intangible asset with an indefinite life and assessed for impairment thereafter. 
When an IPR&D project is completed, the IPR&D is reclassified as an amortizable purchased intangible asset and amortized 
over the asset’s estimated useful life. Our valuation of acquired assets and assumed liabilities requires significant estimates, 
especially with respect to intangible assets. The valuation of intangible assets, in particular, requires that we use valuation 
techniques such as the market, income and cost approach. These approaches include the use of a discounted cash flow model, 
which includes discounted cash flow scenarios and requires the following significant estimates: future expected revenue, 
expenses, capital expenditures and other costs, and discount rates; or weighted average cost of capital, and any cost savings that 
are expected to be derived in the future from the viewpoint of a market participant. We estimate the fair value based upon 
assumptions we believe to be reasonable, but which are inherently uncertain and unpredictable and, as a result, actual results 
may differ from estimates. Estimates associated with the accounting for acquisitions may change as additional information 
becomes available regarding the assets acquired and liabilities assumed. Acquisition-related expenses are recognized separately 
from the business combination and are expensed as incurred.

Recently Issued and Adopted Accounting Standards

For information regarding new accounting pronouncements, and the impact of these pronouncements on our consolidated 
financial statements, if any, see Note 2 —  Summary of Significant Accounting Policies in our accompanying financial 
statements. 

ITEM 7A. QUANTITATIVE AND QUALITATIVE DISCLOSURES ABOUT MARKET RISK

Foreign Currency Risk

We have international operations, giving rise to exposure to market risks from changes in currency exchange rates. Our primary 
foreign currency exposures are the Canadian dollar, Chinese yuan/renminbi and Israeli New Shekel. We have intercompany 
loans with certain of our foreign subsidiaries that are long-term in nature. Repayments of such principal amounts are neither 
planned nor anticipated in the foreseeable future and are therefore treated analogous to equity for accounting purposes. As a 
result, the foreign exchange gains and losses on these borrowings are excluded from the determination of Net income (loss) and 
recorded as a component of Accumulated other comprehensive income (loss) in the consolidated balance sheets. A cumulative 
foreign currency translation loss of $12.0 million and $1.4 million related to our foreign subsidiaries is included in 
“Accumulated other comprehensive loss” within the Stockholders' Equity section of the consolidated balance sheet at 
December 31, 2022 and 2021, respectively. The aggregate foreign currency translation exchange rate loss included in 
determining loss before income taxes was $10.6 million and $1.3 million for the year ended December 31, 2022 and 2021, 
respectively. The year-over-year change was driven by the cumulative foreign currency translation loss recorded in relation to 
permanently invested intercompany loans as of December 31, 2022 as the U.S. dollar strengthened against foreign currencies.

As our international operations grow, our risks associated with fluctuation in foreign currency rates will become greater, and we 
will continue to reassess our approach to managing this risk. In addition, currency fluctuations or a weakening U.S. dollar could 
increase the costs of our international expansion and operation. To mitigate the risk, we plan to enter into additional foreign 
currency forward contracts in the foreseeable future.

Investment and Interest Rate Risk

Our exposure to interest rate and general market risks relates principally to our investment portfolio, which consists of cash and 
cash equivalents (money market funds and marketable securities purchased with less than ninety days until maturity) that totals 
approximately $321.6 million as of December 31, 2022.
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The main objectives of our investment activities are liquidity and preservation of capital. Our cash equivalent investments have 
short-term maturity periods that dampen the impact of market or interest rate risk. Credit risk associated with our investments is 
not material because our investments are diversified across securities with high credit ratings.

Given the objectives of our investment activities, and the relatively low interest income generated from our cash, cash 
equivalents, and other investments, we do not believe that investment or interest rate risks currently pose material exposures to 
our business or results of operations even in the current environment of rising interest rates.
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ITEM 8. FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND SUPPLEMENTARY DATA

Report of Independent Registered Public Accounting Firm

To the Stockholders and Board of Directors 
indie Semiconductor, Inc.:

Opinion on the Consolidated Financial Statements

We have audited the accompanying consolidated balance sheets of indie Semiconductor, Inc. and subsidiaries (the Company) as 
of December 31, 2022 and 2021, the related consolidated statements of operations, comprehensive loss, stockholders’ equity 
(deficit) and noncontrolling interest, and cash flows for the years then ended, and the related notes (collectively, the 
consolidated financial statements). In our opinion, the consolidated financial statements present fairly, in all material respects, 
the financial position of the Company as of December 31, 2022 and 2021, and the results of its operations and its cash flows for 
the years then ended, in conformity with U.S. generally accepted accounting principles.

Change in Accounting Principle

As discussed in Note 2 to the consolidated financial statements, the Company has changed its method of accounting for leases 
as of January 1, 2022 due to the adoption of Accounting Standards Codification Topic 842, Leases.

Basis for Opinion

These consolidated financial statements are the responsibility of the Company’s management. Our responsibility is to express 
an opinion on these consolidated financial statements based on our audits. We are a public accounting firm registered with the 
Public Company Accounting Oversight Board (United States) (PCAOB) and are required to be independent with respect to the 
Company in accordance with the U.S. federal securities laws and the applicable rules and regulations of the Securities and 
Exchange Commission and the PCAOB.

We conducted our audits in accordance with the standards of the PCAOB. Those standards require that we plan and perform the 
audit to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the consolidated financial statements are free of material misstatement, 
whether due to error or fraud. The Company is not required to have, nor were we engaged to perform, an audit of its internal 
control over financial reporting. As part of our audits, we are required to obtain an understanding of internal control over 
financial reporting but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of the Company’s internal control over 
financial reporting. Accordingly, we express no such opinion.

Our audits included performing procedures to assess the risks of material misstatement of the consolidated financial statements, 
whether due to error or fraud, and performing procedures that respond to those risks. Such procedures included examining, on a 
test basis, evidence regarding the amounts and disclosures in the consolidated financial statements. Our audits also included 
evaluating the accounting principles used and significant estimates made by management, as well as evaluating the overall 
presentation of the consolidated financial statements. We believe that our audits provide a reasonable basis for our opinion.

/s/ KPMG LLP

We have served as the Company’s auditor since 2017.

Irvine, California
March 28, 2023
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INDIE SEMICONDUCTOR, INC.
CONSOLIDATED BALANCE SHEETS

(Amounts in thousands, except share and per share amounts)
December 31,

2022 2021
Assets
Current assets:

Cash and cash equivalents $ 321,629 $ 219,081 
Restricted cash 250 383 
Accounts receivable, net of allowance for doubtful accounts of $46 as of December 31, 2022 and $27 as 

of December 31, 2021 26,441 13,842 
Inventory, net 13,256 9,080 
Prepaid expenses and other current assets 12,290 5,648 

Total current assets 373,866 248,034 
Property and equipment, net 15,829 11,090 
Intangible assets, net 63,117 96,285 
Goodwill 136,463 113,574 
Operating lease right-of-use assets 12,055 — 
Other assets and deposits 2,021 270 

Total assets $ 603,351 $ 469,253 

Liabilities and stockholders' equity
Accounts payable $ 14,186 $ 5,441 
Accrued payroll liabilities 11,541 4,021 
Accrued expenses and other current liabilities 13,159 16,462 
Intangible asset contract liability 9,377 5,516 
Current debt obligations 15,700 2,275 

Total current liabilities 63,963 33,715 
Long-term debt, net of current portion 155,699 5,618 
Warrant liability 45,398 100,467 
Intangible asset contract liability, net of current portion 4,177 12,452 
Deferred tax liabilities, non-current 7,823 19,532 
Operating lease liability, non-current 10,115 — 
Other long-term liabilities 1,844 5,612 

Total liabilities 289,019 177,396 
Commitments and contingencies (Note 21)
Stockholders’ equity

Preferred stock, $0.0001 par value, 10,000,000 shares authorized; 0 shares issued or outstanding — — 
Class A common stock, $0.0001 par value, 250,000,000 shares authorized, 129,265,882 and 
111,260,962 shares issued, 126,824,465 and 108,181,781 shares outstanding as of December 31, 2022 
and December 31, 2021, respectively. 13 11 
Class V common stock, $0.0001 par value, 40,000,000 shares authorized, 21,381,476 and 30,448,081 
issued and outstanding as of December 31, 2022 and December 31, 2021, respectively. 2 3 
Additional paid-in capital 568,564 514,891 
Accumulated deficit (243,816) (200,416) 
Accumulated other comprehensive loss (11,951) (1,443) 

indie’s stockholders’ equity 312,812 313,046 
Noncontrolling interest 1,520 (21,189) 

Total stockholders' equity 314,332 291,857 
Total liabilities and stockholders' equity $ 603,351 $ 469,253 

See accompanying notes to the consolidated financial statements.
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INDIE SEMICONDUCTOR, INC.
CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF OPERATIONS

(Amounts in thousands, except share and per share amounts)

Year ended December 31,
2022 2021

Revenue:
Product revenue $ 89,457 $ 43,796 
Contract revenue 21,340 4,616 

Total revenue 110,797 48,412 
Operating expenses:

Cost of goods sold 60,491 28,703 
Research and development 121,197 58,117 
Selling, general, and administrative 48,237 36,384 

Total operating expenses 229,925 123,204 
Loss from operations (119,128) (74,792) 
Other income (expense), net:

Interest income 2,567 49 
Interest expense (1,692) (1,239) 
Gain from change in fair value of SAFEs — 21,600 
Gain (loss) from change in fair value of warrants 55,069 (26,060) 
Loss from change in fair value of earn-out liabilities — (38,758) 
Gain (loss) from change in fair value of contingent considerations 9,468 (80) 
Gain from extinguishment of debt — 304 
Other income (expense) (107) 42

Total other income (expense), net 65,305 (44,142) 
Net loss before income taxes (53,823) (118,934) 

Income tax benefit 1,035 327 
Net loss (52,788) (118,607) 
Less: Net loss attributable to noncontrolling interest (9,388) (30,563) 

Net loss attributable to indie Semiconductor, Inc. $ (43,400) $ (88,044) 

Net loss attributable to common shares —basic $ (43,400) $ (88,044) 
Net loss attributable to common shares —diluted $ (43,400) $ (88,044) 

Net loss per share attributable to common shares —basic $ (0.37) $ (1.26) 
Net loss per share attributable to common shares —diluted $ (0.37) $ (1.26) 

Weighted average common shares outstanding—basic  118,660,785 70,012,112 
Weighted average common shares outstanding—diluted  118,660,785 70,012,112 

See accompanying notes to the consolidated financial statements.
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INDIE SEMICONDUCTOR, INC.
CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF COMPREHENSIVE LOSS

(Amounts in thousands)

Year Ended December 31,
2022 2021

Net loss $ (52,788) $ (118,607) 
Other comprehensive loss:

Foreign currency translation adjustments (10,624) (1,365) 
Comprehensive loss (63,412) (119,972) 

Less: Comprehensive loss attributable to noncontrolling interest (10,130) (30,654) 
Comprehensive loss attributable to indie Semiconductor, Inc. $ (53,282) $ (89,318) 

See accompanying notes to the consolidated financial statements.
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INDIE SEMICONDUCTOR, INC.
CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF STOCKHOLDERS’ EQUITY (DEFICIT) AND

NONCONTROLLING INTEREST
(Amounts in thousands, except share amounts)

Common Stock
Class A

Common Stock
Class V

Additional
Paid-In
Capital

Accumulated
Deficit

Accumulated
Other

Comprehensi
ve

Income

Total 
Stockholders' 

Equity 
(Deficit) 

Attributable 
to indie 

Semiconducto
r, Inc.

Noncontrollin
g

Interest

Total
Stockholders

Equity
(Deficit)Shares Amount Shares Amount

Balance as of December 31, 2020  34,413,634 $ 3  33,373,294 $ 3 $ 43,155 $ (153,264) $ (209) $ (110,312) $ 8,820 $ (101,492) 

Vesting of equity awards 1,943,838 — — — — — — — — — 
Share-based compensation — — — — 22,905 — — 22,905 — 22,905 
Net loss through June 10, 2021 — — — — — (2,619) — (2,619) (586) (3,205)
Reverse recapitalization on June 10, 2021  60,441,289 6 454,077 — 251,229 — — 251,235 — 251,235 
Reverse recapitalization: ADK Minority Holders interest 

on June 10, 2021 (378,605) — — — (36,831) 40,892 40 4,101 (4,101) — 
Net loss after June 10, 2021 — — — — — (85,425) — (85,425) (29,977) (115,402) 
Reclassification of earn-out liability — — — — 158,517 — — 158,517 — 158,517 
Issuance per Exchange of Class V to Class A 3,379,290 —  (3,379,290) — (3,237) — — (3,237) 3,237 — 
Issuance per Exchange of ADK LLC units to Class A 55,601 — — — — — — — — — 
Issuance per net settlement of equity awards and cash 

exercise of stock options 796,590 — — — (1,778) — — (1,778) — (1,778) 
Issuance per TeraXion acquisition 5,805,144 1 — — 81,275 — — 81,276 1,165 82,441 
Release of shares previously held in escrow 1,725,000 1 — — (344) — — (343) 344 1 
Foreign currency translation adjustment — — — — — — (1,274) (1,274) (91) (1,365)
Balance as of December 31, 2021  108,181,781 $ 11  30,448,081 $ 3 $ 514,891 $ (200,416) $ (1,443) $ 313,046 $ (21,189) $ 291,857 

Vesting of equity awards 652,878 — — — — — — — — — 
Share-based compensation — — — — 35,285 — — 35,285 — 35,285 
Issuance per Exchange of Class V to Class A  10,962,484 1  (10,962,484) (1) (10,897) — — (10,897) 10,897 — 
Issuance per Exchange of ADK LLC units to Class A 103,923 — — — — — — — — — 
Issuance on earn out awards - first milestone 3,074,779 1 1,895,879 — 872 — — 873 (873) — 
Issuance per net settlement of equity awards and cash 

exercise of stock options 2,829,385 — — — (864) — — (864) 967 103 
Share Repurchase in connection with 2027 Notes  (1,112,524) — — — (7,404) — — (7,404) (7,404) 
Wuxi Capital Raise — — — — 19,857 — 116 19,973 21,848 41,821 
Issuance in connection with At-The-Market equity 

offering 2,131,759 — — — 16,824 — — 16,824 — 16,824 
Net loss — — — — — (43,400) — (43,400) (9,388) (52,788) 
Foreign currency translation adjustment — — — — — — (10,624) (10,624) (742) (11,366)
Balance as of December 31, 2022  126,824,465 $ 13  21,381,476 $ 2 $ 568,564 $ (243,816) $ (11,951) $ 312,812 $ 1,520 $ 314,332 

See accompanying notes to the consolidated financial statements.
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INDIE SEMICONDUCTOR, INC.
CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF CASH FLOWS

(Amounts in thousands)
Year Ended December 31,

2022 2021
Cash flows from operating activities:

Net loss $ (52,788) $ (118,607) 
Adjustments to reconcile net loss to net cash used in operating activities:
Depreciation and amortization 14,812 5,967 
Inventory impairment charges 1,563 173 
Share-based compensation 41,885 22,905 
Amortization of discount and cost of issuance of debt 417 198 
Bad debts 24 (158) 
Gain from change in fair value remeasurement of SAFEs — (21,600) 
(Gain) loss from change in fair value of warrants (55,069) 26,060 
Loss from change in fair value of  earn-out liabilities — 38,758 
(Gain) loss from change in fair value of contingent considerations (9,468) 131 
Gain from change in fair value of currency forward contract (208) —
Gain from extinguishment of debt — (304) 
Deferred City Semi compensation 222 500 
Deferred tax liabilities (2,002) (516) 
Amortization of right-of-use assets 1,949 — 
Unrealized foreign currency transaction (gain) loss 8 (86) 
Changes in operating assets and liabilities:

Accounts receivable (12,161) (4,477) 
Inventory (4,299) (3,171) 
Accounts payable 7,419 (2,476) 
Accrued expenses and other current liabilities 1,665 1,432 
Accrued payroll liabilities 528 3,950 
Deferred revenue (301) (837)
Prepaid and other current assets (8,175) (3,706) 
Operating lease liabilities (1,488) — 
Other long-term liabilities (1,278) 45 

Net cash used in operating activities (76,745) (55,819) 
Cash flows from investing activities:

Purchases of property and equipment (7,568) (2,682) 
Purchases of intangible assets — (1,388) 
Business combinations, net of cash (8,705) (80,256) 
Net cash used in investing activities (16,273) (84,326) 

Cash flows from financing activities:
Proceeds from issuance of SAFEs — 5,000 
Proceeds from issuance of common stock/At-the-market offering 17,203 — 
Offering costs for the issuance of common stock/At-the-market offering (379) —
Proceeds from Wuxi Capital Raise 41,861 — 
Issuance Costs related to Wuxi Capital Raise (39) —
Proceeds from issuance of debt obligations 161,507 775 
Issuance and discount costs related to 2027 Notes (5,374) — 
Proceeds from reverse recapitalization — 377,663 
Issuance costs related to reverse recapitalization — (19,902) 
Payments on debt obligations (2,158) (17,543) 
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Payments on financed software (4,161) (2,270) 
Redemption of Class H units — (900) 
Deferred payments on business combination (7,500) — 
Payments of City Semi deferred compensation (1,000) (399) 
Taxes paid related to net share settlement of vested equity awards — (1,844) 
Repurchase of common stock (7,404) — 
Proceeds from exercise of stock options 103 66 
Net cash provided by financing activities 192,659 340,646 

Effect of exchange rate changes on cash, and cash equivalents 2,774 265 
Net increase in cash and cash equivalents 102,415 200,766 
Cash, cash equivalents, and restricted cash at beginning of period 219,464 18,698 
Cash, cash equivalents, and restricted cash at end of period $ 321,879 $ 219,464 

Supplemental disclosure of cash flow information:
Cash paid for interest $ 376 $ 1,234 

Supplemental disclosure of non-cash investing and financing activities:
Purchases of property and equipment, accrued but not paid $ 1,464 $ 240 
Conversion of historical members' equity $ — $ 41,278 
Class G warrants cashless exchange $ — $ 407 
Conversion of SAFEs $ — $ 86,100 
Conversion of Embry Notes $ — $ 4,119 
Recognition of earn-out considerations $ — $ 119,759 
Recognition of warrant liabilities $ — $ 74,408 
Accrual for purchases of intangible assets $ — $ 17,820 
Fair value of common stock issued for business combination $ — $ 82,441 
Contingent consideration for business combination $ 7,836 $ 4,000 
Accrual for purchase consideration for business combination $ 9,674 $ 7,500 

See accompanying notes to the consolidated financial statements.
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INDIE SEMICONDUCTOR, INC.
NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

(amounts in thousands, except unit and share amounts and per unit and per share amounts)

1) Nature of the Business and Basis of Presentation

indie Semiconductor, Inc. (“indie”) and its predecessor for accounting purposes, Ay Dee Kay, LLC, a California limited 
liability company (“ADK LLC”) and its subsidiaries are collectively referred to herein as the “Company.” The Company offers 
highly innovative automotive semiconductors and software solutions for Advanced Driver Assistance Systems (“ADAS”), 
autonomous vehicle, connected car, user experience and electrification applications. The Company focuses on edge sensors 
across multiple modalities spanning LiDAR, radar, ultrasound and computer vision. These functions represent the core 
underpinnings of both electric and autonomous vehicles, while the advanced user interfaces are transforming the in-cabin 
experience to mirror and seamlessly connect to the mobile platforms people rely on every day. indie is an approved vendor to 
Tier 1 automotive suppliers and its platforms can be found in marquee automotive manufacturers around the world. 
Headquartered in Aliso Viejo, California, indie has design centers and sales offices in Austin, Texas; Boston, Massachusetts; 
Detroit, Michigan; San Francisco and San Jose, California; Cordoba, Argentina; Budapest, Hungary; Dresden, Frankfurt an der 
Oder, Munich and Nuremberg, Germany; Edinburgh, Scotland; Rabat, Morocco; Haifa, Israel; Quebec City, Canada; Seoul, 
South Korea; Tokyo, Japan and several locations throughout China. The Company engages subcontractors to manufacture its 
products. The majority of these subcontractors are located in Asia.

Execution of At-The-Market Agreement

On August 26, 2022, the Company entered into an At Market Issuance Agreement (“ATM Agreement”) with B. Riley 
Securities, Inc., Craig-Hallum Capital Group LLC and Roth Capital Partners, LLC (collectively as “Sales Agents”) relating to 
shares of its Class A common stock, par value $0.0001 per share. In accordance with the terms of the Sales Agreement, the 
Company may offer and sell shares of its Class A common stock having an aggregate offering price of up to $150,000 from 
time to time through the Sales Agents, acting as the Company’s agent or principal. The Company implemented this program for 
the flexibility that it provides to the capital markets and to best time its equity capital needs. As of December 31, 2022, indie 
has raised gross proceeds of $17,203 and issued 2,131,759 shares of Class A common stock at an averaged per-share sales price 
of $8.07 through this program and had approximately $132,797 available for future issuances under the ATM Agreement. For 
the year ended December 31, 2022, indie incurred total issuance costs of $379.

Recent Acquisitions

On October 1, 2021, indie entered into a definitive agreement with Onsemi (“Onsemi”) and completed its acquisition of ON 
Design Israel Ltd. (“ON Design Israel”), for $4,974 in cash paid upon close (net of cash acquired), $7,500 of cash in 2022 and 
up to $7,500 of cash based on design win performance. Upon completion of the acquisition, ON Design Israel was renamed to 
indie Semiconductor Design Israel Ltd.

On October 12, 2021, indie completed its acquisition of all of the outstanding capital stock of TERAXION INC, a Canadian 
corporation (“TeraXion”) from the existing stockholders of TeraXion. The acquisition was consummated pursuant to a Share 
Purchase Agreement dated August 27, 2021. The total consideration paid for this acquisition consisted of (i) approximately 
$75,282 in cash (including debt paid at closing and net of cash acquired); (ii) the issuance by indie of 5,805,144 shares of indie 
Class A common stock with a fair value of $65,192; and (iii) the assumption by indie of TeraXion options, which became 
exercisable to purchase 1,542,332 shares of indie Class A common stock with a fair value of $17,249.

On October 21, 2021, indie entered into a definitive agreement with Analog Devices (“ADI”) to acquire Symeo GmbH 
(“Symeo”). The acquisition was approved by the German government on January 4, 2022  and closed on the same day. The 
total consideration paid for this acquisition consisted of (i) $8,705 in cash at closing, net of cash acquired; (ii) a $10,000 
promissory note payable in January 2023 with a fair market value of $9,674 on January 4, 2022; and (iii) an equity-based earn-
out of up to 858,369 shares of indie Class A common stock based on future revenue growth. The fair market value of this 
equity-based earn-out was $7,836 on January 4, 2022. 

See Note 3 — Business Combinations for additional description of these acquisitions.
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Reverse Recapitalization with Thunder Bridge Acquisition II

On June 10, 2021 (the “Closing Date”), the Company completed a series of transactions (the “Transaction”) with Thunder 
Bridge Acquisition II, Ltd. (“TB2”) pursuant to the Master Transactions Agreement dated December 14, 2020, as amended on 
May 3, 2021. In connection with the Transaction, Thunder Bridge Acquisition II Surviving Pubco, Inc, a Delaware corporation 
(“Surviving Pubco”), was formed to be the successor public company to TB2, and TB2 was domesticated into a Delaware 
corporation and merged with and into a merger subsidiary of Surviving Pubco. Immediately prior to the closing of the 
Transaction (the “Closing”), shareholders of TB2 redeemed an aggregate of 9,877,106 common shares of TB2 and the 
outstanding common shares and warrants of TB2 were converted into 24,622,894 Class A common shares of Surviving Pubco 
and 17,250,000 warrants to purchase Class A common shares of Surviving Pubco. The outstanding common shares and 
warrants of TB2 sponsors were converted into 8,625,000 shares of Class A common shares and 8,650,000 private placement 
warrants. In addition, TB2 issued 1,500,000 working capital warrants to an affiliate of the sponsor in satisfaction of a working 
capital promissory note (see Note 10 — Warrant Liability). Concurrent with the Closing, TB2 raised $150,000 in a Private 
Investment in Public Entity (“PIPE”) financing, pursuant to which Surviving Pubco issued 15,000,000 Class A common shares. 
On the Closing Date, Surviving PubCo changed its name to indie Semiconductor, Inc., and listed its shares of Class A common 
stock, par value $0.0001 per share (“Common Stock”) on the Nasdaq under the symbol “INDI.”

Immediately prior to the Transaction, (i) the Company’s existing warrants to purchase the Company’s Class G units were net 
exercised and 10,019 Class G units of the Company were issued to the holders of the warrants; (ii) the SAFEs were converted 
into an aggregate of 284,925 Class A units; (iii) the Embry notes and the interest accrued thereunder were converted into 
185,000 Class A units and 100,000 Class C units; and (iv) all 1,251,566 Class C, D, E, F and G units of the Company were 
converted into Class A units as per their rights and preferences. Immediately thereafter, each outstanding Class A unit and Class 
B unit was split into approximately 27.8 Class A units and Class B units, respectively (the “Exchange Ratio”). Following the 
split, 77,497,793 Class A units were exchanged for 43,670,422 Class A common shares and 33,827,371 Class V common 
shares in indie and 9,564,150 Class B units were exchanged for 9,564,150 Class A common shares in indie (1,791,147 of such 
shares were subject to vesting conditions).

The closing Exchange Ratio was determined by dividing (i) a number of shares of the Company’s Class A common stock equal 
to (A) the Closing Merger Consideration (as defined below), divided by (B) $10.00 per share, by (ii) the total number of ADK 
LLC membership units outstanding immediately prior to the Closing. The “Closing Merger Consideration” of $894,628 was 
determined by taking $900,000 of merger consideration less applicable adjustments of $5,372.

3,450,000 Class A common shares of indie were issued and held in escrow (“Escrow Shares”) for the potential future release to 
the sponsors of TB2 in the event the earn-out milestones are met. Additionally, the former owners of ADK LLC may be entitled 
to receive up to 10,000,000 earn-out shares of the Company’s Class A common stock if the earn-out milestones are met. See 
Note 11 — Contingent and Earn-Out Liabilities for the milestone details. 

Immediately following the Closing, the Company’s board of directors consisted of nine directors, seven of whom were 
designated by the Company. A majority of the directors qualified as independent directors under rules of Nasdaq.

The Transaction was accounted for as a reverse recapitalization in accordance with generally accepted accounting principles in 
the United States of America (“U.S. GAAP”). Under the guidance in Accounting Standards Codifications (“ASC”) Topic 805, 
indie is treated as the “acquirer” for financial reporting purposes. As such, the Company is deemed the accounting predecessor 
of the combined business and is the successor registrant for U.S. Securities and Exchange Commission (“SEC”) purposes, 
meaning that the Company’s financial statements for previous periods will be disclosed in the registrant’s future periodic 
reports filed with the SEC. The most significant change in our reported financial position and results of operations was gross 
cash proceeds of $399,511 from the merger transaction, which includes 150,000 in gross proceeds from the PIPE financing that 
was consummated in conjunction with the Transaction. The increase in cash was offset by transaction costs incurred in 
connection with the Transaction of approximately $43,463 plus the retirement of indie’s long-term debt of $15,607. 
Approximately $29,770 of the transaction costs and all of indie’s long-term debt were paid as of June 30, 2021. Approximately 
$21,848 of the transaction costs paid as of June 30, 2021 were paid by TB2 as part of the Closing. The remainder of the 
transaction costs were paid in the third quarter of 2021.

The table below summarizes the shares of Class A and Class V common stock issued immediately after the closing of the 
Transaction as well as the impact of the Transaction on the consolidated statement of stockholders’ equity as of June 10, 2021:
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Class A Common Stock Class V Common Stock Additional 
Paid in 
CapitalShares Amount Shares Amount

Redemption of Class H units (125,101) $ — — $ — $ (900) 
Embry notes conversion 8,023,072 1 — — 4,118 
Warrants net settlement conversion 278,533 — — — — 
SAFEs conversion 7,466,891 1 454,077 — 86,099 
PIPE and SPAC financing 44,797,894 4 — — 377,654 
Earn-out liability — — — — (119,759) 
Transaction expenses — — — — (21,575) 
Warrants liability — — — — (74,408) 

Reverse recapitalization on June 10, 2021 60,441,289 $ 6 454,077 $ — $ 251,229 

Risks and Uncertainties

The Pandemic and efforts to control its spread have significantly curtailed the movement of people, goods, and services 
worldwide. The ultimate duration and extent of the Pandemic depends on future developments that cannot be accurately 
predicted at this time, including the severity and transmission rates of new and more contagious and/or vaccine-resistant 
variants of COVID-19, as well as the impact that any such new variants may have on local, regional, national and international 
customers and economic markets. The Pandemic has already had an adverse effect on the global economy, and the ultimate 
societal and economic impact of the Pandemic remains unknown.

The Company experienced a decrease in customer demand and product shipments in the second quarter of fiscal year 2020. 
This decrease was primarily the result of closures or reduced capacity at customer manufacturing facilities in China. Starting 
from the second half of fiscal year 2020, customer manufacturing facilities re-opened, and through 2021, customers’ demand 
has continued to increase. As a result, the semiconductor industry and automotive semiconductors in particular, experienced 
material shortages and supply constraints. Given the Company’s reliance on third-party manufacturing suppliers, these industry 
dynamics have resulted in certain instances of extended production lead times, increased production and expedite costs, and 
delays in meeting increasing customer demand for its products, which if unabated, present a significant risk to the Company. In 
certain circumstances, the Company has increased order lead times, and placed purchase orders with suppliers based on its 
anticipated demand requirements in efforts to secure production capacity allocation. However, the Company cannot predict the 
duration or magnitude of the Pandemic or the full impact that it may have on the Company’s financial condition, operations, 
and workforce. The Company will continue to actively monitor the rapidly evolving situation related to the Pandemic and may 
take further actions that alter the Company’s operations, including those that may be required by federal, state or local 
authorities, or that the Company determines are in the best interests of its employees and other third parties with whom the 
Company does business.

Basis of Presentation

The consolidated financial statements are prepared in accordance with generally accepted accounting principles in the United 
States of America (“U.S. GAAP”) and the rules and regulations of the Securities and Exchange Commission (“SEC”). Any 
reference in these notes to applicable guidance is meant to refer to the authoritative U.S. GAAP as found in the Accounting 
Standards Codification (“ASC”) and the Accounting Standards Update (“ASU”) of the Financial Accounting Standards Board 
(“FASB”). The consolidated financial statements include the consolidated accounts of the Company’s majority-owned 
subsidiary, ADK LLC, of which 85% was owned by indie as of December 31, 2022. ADK LLC’s consolidated financial 
statements include its wholly-owned subsidiaries indie Services Corporation, indie LLC and indie City LLC, all California 
entities, Ay Dee Kay Limited, a private limited company incorporated under the laws of Scotland, indie GmbH and Symeo 
GmbH, both of which are private limited liability companies incorporated under the laws of Germany, indie Kft, a limited 
liability company incorporated under the laws of Hungary, TeraXion Inc., a company incorporated under the laws of Canada, 
indie Semiconductor Israel Ltd., a private limited company incorporated under the laws of Israel, Ay Dee Kay S.A., a limited 
liability company incorporated under the laws of Argentina, indie Semiconductor Morocco, a limited liability company under 
the laws of Morocco, indie Semiconductor Japan KK, a limited liability company under the laws of Japan, indie Semiconductor 
Korea Branch, a limited liability company under the laws of Korea, Wuxi indie Microelectronics (“Wuxi”), a Chinese entity 
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with 55% voting controlled and 38% owned by the Company as of December 31, 2022 and Wuxi’s wholly-owned subsidiaries, 
indie Semiconductor Suzhou, indie Semiconductor HK, Ltd and Shanghai Ziying Microelectronics Co., Ltd.

All significant intercompany accounts and transactions of the subsidiaries have been eliminated in consolidation. Certain prior 
year amounts have been reclassified for consistency with the current year presentation. These reclassifications had no effect on 
the reported results of operations. The noncontrolling interest attributable to the Company’s less-than-wholly-owned subsidiary 
is presented as a separate component from stockholders’ equity (deficit) in the consolidated balance sheets, and a 
noncontrolling interest in the consolidated statements of operations and consolidated statements of stockholders’ equity (deficit) 
and noncontrolling interest (see Note 2 — Summary of Significant Accounting Policies — Consolidation).

2) Summary of Significant Accounting Policies

Use of Estimates

The preparation of consolidated financial statements in conformity with U.S. GAAP requires management to make estimates 
and assumptions that affect the reported amounts of assets and liabilities and disclosure of contingent assets and liabilities at the 
dates of the consolidated financial statements and the reported amounts of expenses during the reporting period. Actual results 
could differ materially from those estimates and assumptions.

On an ongoing basis, management evaluates its estimates assumptions, including those related to (i) the collectability of 
accounts receivable; (ii) write-down for excess and obsolete inventories; (iii) warranty obligations; (iv) the value assigned to 
and estimated useful lives of long-lived assets; (v) the realization of tax assets and estimates of tax liabilities and tax reserves; 
(vi) amounts recorded in connection with acquisitions; (vii) recoverability of intangible assets and goodwill; (viii) the
recognition and disclosure of fair value of debt instruments, warrants and contingent liabilities; (ix) the computation of share-
based compensation; (x) accrued expenses; and (xi) the recognition of revenue based on a cost-to-cost measure of progress for
certain engineering services contracts. These estimates are based on historical data and experience, as well as various other
factors that management believes to be reasonable under the circumstances, the results of which form the basis for making
judgments about the carrying value of assets and liabilities that are not readily apparent from other sources. The Company
engages third-party valuation specialists to assist with estimates related to the valuation of certain financial instruments and
assets associated with various contractual arrangements, and valuation of assets acquired in connection with acquisitions. Such
estimates often require the selection of appropriate valuation methodologies and models, and significant judgment in evaluating
ranges of assumptions and financial inputs. Actual results may differ from those estimates under different assumptions or
circumstances.

Foreign Currency

Certain of the Company’s self-sustaining foreign subsidiaries use the local currency as their functional currency. Assets and 
liabilities for these subsidiaries have been translated into U.S. dollars at the exchange rates prevailing at the end of the period 
and results of operations at the average exchange rates for the period. Unrealized exchange gains and losses arising from the 
translation of the financial statements of our non-U.S. functional currency operations are accumulated in the cumulative 
translation adjustments account in accumulated other comprehensive loss. 

For those foreign subsidiaries where the U.S. dollar is the functional currency, all foreign currency-denominated accounts are 
remeasured into U.S. dollars. Unrealized exchange gains and losses arising from remeasurements of foreign currency-
denominated assets and liabilities are included within Other income (expense), net in the consolidated statements of operations 
and comprehensive loss. Gains and losses arising from international intercompany transactions that are of a long-term 
investment nature are reported in the same manner as translation gains and losses. Realized exchange gains and losses are 
included in net income for the periods presented.

Forward Exchange Contracts

The Company’s forward exchange contracts, which are used to hedge anticipated U.S. dollar denominated sales and purchases 
as well as euro-denominated purchases, do not qualify for hedge accounting and are recognized at fair value. Any change in the 
fair value of these contracts is reflected as part of Other income (expense), net in the consolidated statement of operations.
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Consolidation

The consolidated financial statements comprise the financial statements of the Company, its wholly owned subsidiaries, and 
subsidiaries that it controls due to ownership of a majority voting interest. Subsidiaries are fully consolidated from the date of 
acquisition, being the date on which the Company obtains control, and continue to be consolidated until the date when such 
control ceases. All significant intercompany accounts and transactions are eliminated in consolidation. The Company 
recognizes noncontrolling interest related to its less-than-wholly-owned subsidiary as equity in the consolidated financial 
statements separate from the parent entity’s equity. The net loss attributable to noncontrolling interest is included in net loss in 
the consolidated statements of operations and comprehensive loss. The Company accounts for investments in which it has 
significant influence but not a controlling interest using the equity method of accounting.

Emerging Growth Company 

Section 102(b)(1) of the Jumpstart Our Business Startups Act of 2012 (“JOBS Act”) exempts emerging growth companies from 
being required to comply with new or revised financial accounting standards until private companies are required to comply 
with the new or revised financial accounting standards. The JOBS Act provides that a company can choose not to take 
advantage of the extended transition period and comply with the requirements that apply to non-emerging growth companies, 
and any such election to not take advantage of the extended transition period is irrevocable. We are an “emerging growth 
company” as defined in Section 2(a) of the Securities Act, and have elected to take advantage of the benefits of the extended 
transition period for new or revised financial accounting standards. Following the consummation of the Transaction, our Post-
Combination Company will remain an emerging growth company until the earliest of (i) the last day of the fiscal year in which 
the market value of our common stock that is held by non-affiliates exceeds $700 million as of the end of that year’s second 
fiscal quarter, (ii) the last day of the fiscal year in which we achieve total annual gross revenue of $1.235 billion or more during 
such fiscal year (as indexed for inflation), (iii) the date on which we issue more than $1 billion in non-convertible debt in the 
prior three-year period or (iv) December 31, 2024. The Company expects to continue to take advantage of the benefits of the 
extended transition period, although it may decide to early adopt such new or revised accounting standards to the extent 
permitted by such standards. This may make it difficult or impossible to compare the Company’s financial results with the 
financial results of another public company that is either not an emerging growth company or is an emerging growth company 
that has chosen not to take advantage of the extended transition period exemptions because of the potential differences in 
accounting standards used.

Cash and Cash Equivalents

Cash and cash equivalents are defined as short-term, highly liquid investments with original maturities of 90 days or less at the 
date of purchase. As of December 31, 2022 and 2021, cash and cash equivalents consisted of money market funds and cash 
deposits that were held by reputable financial institutions in local jurisdictions of the Company’s subsidiaries including the 
U.S., Asia, Canada, Germany, and Great Britain denominated in U.S. dollars and local currency.

Restricted Cash

The Company’s restricted cash consists of cash that the Company is contractually obligated to maintain in accordance with the 
terms of its PacWest Revolving Line of Credit and accumulated credit limit.

Accounts Receivable

Accounts receivable consist of amounts due primarily from customers for product sales and engineering services agreements. 
Accounts receivable are recorded at the invoiced amount and do not bear interest. The Company accounts for potential losses in 
accounts receivable utilizing the allowance method. The Company closely monitors outstanding accounts receivable and 
considers its knowledge of customers, historical losses, and current economic conditions in establishing the allowance for 
doubtful accounts. The Company did not have material write-offs in any period presented.

Concentration of Credit Risk

The Company deposits its cash with large financial institutions. At times, the Company’s cash balances with individual banking 
institutions will exceed the limits insured by the FDIC, however, the Company has not experienced any losses on such deposits.
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The Company extends credit to its customers based upon an evaluation of the customers’ financial condition and credit history 
and generally does not require collateral. Credit losses, if any estimated, are provided for in the consolidated financial 
statements and consistently have been within management’s expectations. See Note 16 — Revenue — Concentrations.

Inventory, Net

The Company values inventories at the lower of cost or net realizable value on a first-in, first-out basis. Cost is computed using 
standard cost, which approximates actual cost, on a first-in, first-out basis. Inventories are reduced for write-downs based on 
periodic reviews for evidence of slow-moving or obsolete parts. The write-down is based on the comparison between inventory 
on hand and forecasted customer demand for each specific product. Once written down, inventory write-downs are not reversed 
until the inventory is sold or scrapped. Inventory write-downs are also established when conditions indicate the net realizable 
value is less than cost due to physical deterioration, technological obsolescence, changes in price level or other causes. All 
inventory provisions are recorded to cost of goods sold in the consolidated statement of operations.

Property and Equipment, Net

The Company’s property and equipment primarily consist of lab equipment, production tooling and masks, equipment, furniture 
and fixtures, leasehold improvements, and computer hardware and software. Property and equipment are recorded at cost less 
accumulated depreciation. Depreciation is calculated using the straight-line method based on the estimated useful lives of 
between three and seven years and for leasehold improvements the lesser of the remaining lease term or useful life. Major 
improvements are capitalized while routine repairs and maintenance are charged to expense when incurred.

Production masks with discernible future benefits, namely that they will be used to manufacture products to service customer 
demand, are capitalized and amortized over the estimated useful life of four years. Production masks being used for research 
and development or testing do not meet the criteria for capitalization and are expensed as research and development costs.

Business Combinations

The Company accounts for its business acquisitions under the ASC Topic 805, Business Combinations guidance for business 
combinations. The total cost of acquisitions is allocated to the underlying identifiable net assets based on their respective 
estimated fair values. Determining the fair value of assets acquired and liabilities assumed requires management’s judgment and 
often involves the use of significant estimates and assumptions, including assumptions with respect to future cash inflows and 
outflows, discount rates, asset lives and market multiples, among other items.

Intangible Assets, Net

The Company’s intangible assets include intangible assets acquired from business combinations, intellectual property (“IP”) 
and software licensed from third parties. The majority of the intangible assets have finite lives, except for those related to in-
progress research and development (“IPR&D”), and are amortized over a period of two to ten years, on a straight-line basis, 
which approximates the pattern in which economic benefits of these assets are expected to be utilized. IPR&D is considered to 
have indefinite life until the abandonment or completion of the associated research and development efforts. If the development 
is abandoned in the future, these assets will be expensed in the period of abandonment. If and when the development activities 
are completed, management will make a determination of the useful lives and methods of amortization of these assets. 

Goodwill

Goodwill represents the excess of the fair value of purchase consideration of an acquired business over the fair value of the 
identifiable net assets acquired. Goodwill is not amortized but is tested for impairment at a reporting unit level on an annual 
basis on October 1, or more frequently if circumstances change or an event occurs that would more likely than not reduce the 
fair value of a reporting unit below its carrying amount.

Significant judgment may be required when goodwill is assessed for impairment. Qualitative factors may be assessed to 
determine whether it is more likely than not that the fair value of the reporting unit is less than its carrying amount. If the 
assessment of all relevant qualitative factors indicates that it is more likely than not that the fair value of a reporting unit is 
greater than its carrying amount, a quantitative goodwill impairment test is not necessary. If the assessment of all relevant 
qualitative factors indicates that it is more likely than not that the fair value of a reporting unit is less than its carrying amount, 
the Company will perform a quantitative goodwill impairment test. The quantitative impairment test for goodwill consists of a 
comparison of the fair value of a reporting unit with its carrying value, including the goodwill allocated to that reporting unit. If 

INDIE SEMICONDUCTOR, INC.
NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

(amounts in thousands,  except unit and share amounts and per unit and per share amounts)

62



the carrying value of a reporting unit exceeds its fair value, the Company will recognize an impairment loss equal to the amount 
of the excess, limited to the amount of goodwill allocated to that reporting unit. Application of the impairment test requires 
judgement, including the identification of reporting units, assignment of assets and liabilities to reporting units and the 
determination of fair value of each reporting unit. The Company did not record any impairment to goodwill for the years ended 
December 31, 2022 and 2021.

Impairment of Long-Lived Assets

The Company reviews its long-lived assets, consisting of property and equipment, right-of-use assets and intangible assets, for 
impairment whenever events or changes in circumstances indicate that the carrying amount of an asset may not be recoverable. 
The Company regularly reviews its operating performance for indicators of impairment. Factors considered important that 
could trigger an impairment review include a significant underperformance relative to expected historical or projected future 
operating results, or a significant change in the manner of the use of the assets. Recoverability of assets to be held and used is 
measured by a comparison of the carrying amount of an asset (or asset group) to estimated undiscounted future cash flows 
expected to be generated by the asset (or asset group). If the carrying amount of an asset (or asset group) exceeds its estimated 
undiscounted future cash flows, an impairment charge is recognized to the extent the fair value is less than the carrying value. 
The Company did not record any impairment to long-lived assets for the years ended December 31, 2022 and 2021.

Fair Value Measurements

Fair value is defined as the price that would be received upon the sale of an asset or paid to transfer a liability in an orderly 
transaction between willing, able and knowledgeable market participants at the measurement date. Fair value measurements are 
not adjusted for transaction costs. In addition, a three-tiered hierarchy for inputs is used in management’s determination of fair 
value of financial instruments that emphasizes the use of observable inputs over the use of unobservable inputs by requiring that 
the observable inputs be used when available. Observable inputs are market participant assumptions based on market data 
obtained from sources independent of the Company. Unobservable inputs are the reporting entity’s own assumptions about 
market participants based on the best information available under the circumstances. In assessing the appropriateness of using 
observable inputs in making its fair value determinations, the Company considers whether the market for a particular security is 
“active” or not based on all the relevant facts and circumstances.

Valuation service providers typically obtain data about market transactions and other key valuation model inputs from multiple 
sources and, through the use of widely accepted valuation models, provide a single fair value measurement for individual 
securities for which a fair value has been requested under the terms of service agreements. The inputs used by the valuation 
service providers include, but are not limited to, market prices from recently completed transactions and transactions of 
comparable securities, interest rate yield curves, credit spreads, currency rates and other market observable information, as 
applicable. The valuation models consider, among other things, market observable information as of the measurement date as 
well as the specific attributes of the security being valued including its term, interest rate, credit rating, industry sector and, 
when applicable, collateral quality and other issue or issuer specific information. When market transactions or other market 
observable data is limited, the extent to which judgment is applied in determining fair value is greatly increased.

As a basis for considering such assumptions, a three-tier value hierarchy is used in management’s determination of fair value 
based on the reliability and observability of inputs as follows:

Level 1 — Valuations are based on unadjusted quoted prices in active markets that the Company has the ability to access for 
identical, unrestricted assets and do not involve any meaningful degree of judgment. An active market is defined as a market 
where transactions for the financial instrument occur with sufficient frequency and volume to provide pricing information on an 
ongoing basis;

Level 2 — Valuations are based on direct and indirect observable inputs other than quoted market prices included in Level 1. 
Level 2 inputs include quoted prices for similar assets in active markets and inputs other than quoted prices that are observable 
for the asset, such as the terms of the security and market-based inputs;

Level 3 — Valuations are based on techniques that use significant inputs that are unobservable. The valuation of Level 3 assets 
and liabilities requires the greatest degree of judgment. These measurements may be made under circumstances in which there 
is little, if any, market activity for the asset or liability. The Company’s assessment of the significance of a particular input to 
the fair value measurement in its entirety requires judgment. In making the assessment, the Company considers factors specific 
to the asset. In certain cases, the inputs used to measure fair value may fall into different levels of the fair value hierarchy. In 
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such cases, the level in the fair value hierarchy within which the fair value measurement is classified is determined based on the 
lowest level input that is significant to the fair value measurement in its entirety.

The Company’s fair value measurements in each reporting period include cash equivalents, debt instruments, share-
based awards, SAFEs, warrants, contingent considerations and earn-out liabilities. The Company’s financial instruments of 
accounts receivable, accounts payable and accrued expenses are stated at their carrying value, which approximates fair value 
due to the short time to the expected receipt or payment date. The Company remeasures its simple agreements for future equity 
(“SAFEs”), warrants, contingent considerations and earn-out liabilities associated with business combinations using Level 3 fair 
value measurements.

Warrant Liability

The Company accounts for the public and private placement warrants issued in connection with the Transaction in accordance 
with ASC 815-40, Derivatives and Hedging—Contracts in Entity’s Own Equity (“ASC 815”), under which the warrants do not 
meet the criteria for equity classification and must be recorded as liabilities. As the warrants meet the definition of a derivative 
as contemplated in ASC 815, the warrants are measured at fair value at inception and at each reporting date in accordance with 
ASC 820, Fair Value Measurement, with changes in fair value recognized as a component of Other income (expense), net on 
the consolidated statement of operations. 

Earn-out Liability

The earn-out shares have been categorized into two components: (i) those associated with stockholders with vested equity at the 
closing of the Transaction that will be earned upon achievement of the earn-out milestones (the “Vested Shares”) and (ii) those 
associated with stockholders with unvested equity at the closing of the Transaction that will be earned over the remaining 
service period with the Company on their unvested equity shares and upon achievement of the earn-out milestones (the 
“Unvested Shares”). The Vested Shares were initially classified as liabilities in the consolidated balance sheet at fair value and 
subsequently were remeasured at the end of each reporting period. The estimated fair value of the earn-out liability was 
determined using a Monte Carlo Simulations analysis that simulated the future path of the Company’s stock price over the earn-
out period. The assumptions utilized in the calculation are based on the achievement of certain stock price milestones including 
projected stock price, volatility, and risk-free rate. The change in fair value of the earn-out liability was recorded as part of 
Other income (expense), net in the consolidated statement of operations. Upon the achievement of the first earn-out milestones, 
the liability classified portion was remeasured to its fair value and reclassified to equity. The final change in fair value of the 
earn-out liability is recorded as part of Other income (expense), net in the consolidated statement of operations. 

The Unvested Shares are equity-classified share-based compensation to be recognized over time. 

Segment Information

Operating segments are defined as components of an enterprise about which separate financial information is available that is 
evaluated regularly by the chief operating decision maker in deciding how to allocate resources and in assessing performance. 
The chief operating decision maker (“CODM”) is the Chief Executive Officer. The Company has multiple business activities 
and are managed and held accountable for operations, operating results and plans for levels or components below the 
consolidated unit level by individual segment managers. However, discrete financial information is not reviewed by CODM as 
the operating results of the Company are reviewed by the CODM only on a consolidated basis. Accordingly, the Company has 
one operating segment, and therefore, one reportable segment.

Revenue

Revenue is primarily derived from the design and sale of semiconductor solutions. Revenue is recognized within the scope of 
ASC 606, Revenue from Contracts with Customers. The Company recognizes product revenue in the consolidated statement of 
operations when it satisfies performance obligations under the terms of its contracts and upon transfer of control at a point in 
time when title transfers either upon shipment to or receipt by the customer as determined by the contractual shipping terms of 
the contract, net of accruals for estimated sales returns and allowances. Sales and other taxes the Company collects, if any, are 
excluded from revenue. Product revenue arrangements do not contain significant financing components.

The Company generally offers a limited warranty to customers covering a period of twelve months which obligates the 
Company to repair or replace manufacturing defective products. The warranty is not sold separately and does not represent a 
separate performance obligation. Therefore, such warranties are accounted for under ASC 460, Guarantees, and the estimated 
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costs of warranty claims are accrued as cost of goods sold in the period the related revenue is recorded. Infrequently, the 
Company offers an extended limited warranty to customers for certain products. The Company accrues for known warranty and 
indemnification issues if a loss is probable and can be reasonably estimated.

Engineering services contracts with customers typically contain only one distinct performance obligation, which is primarily 
design services for integrated circuits (“ICs”) based on agreed upon specifications. Engineering services contracts typically also 
include the purchase, at the customer’s option, of the designed products at agreed upon prices subsequent to completion of the 
design services. The Company has determined that the option to purchase these products is not a material right and has not 
allocated transaction price to this provision.

For these engineering services arrangements, revenue is recognized over time as services are provided based on the terms of the 
contract on an input basis, using costs incurred as the measure of progress and is recorded as contract revenue in the 
consolidated statement of operations. The costs incurred represent the most reliable measure of transfer of control to the 
customer. Revenue is deferred for amounts billed or received prior to delivery of the services.

Practical Expedients and Elections

ASC 606 requires disclosure of the aggregate amount of transaction price that is allocated to performance obligations that have 
not yet been satisfied as of the reporting periods presented. The guidance provides certain practical expedients that limit this 
requirement and, therefore, disclosure of the value of unsatisfied performance obligations for (i) contracts with an original 
expected length of one year or less and (ii) contracts for which revenue is recognized at the amount to which the Company has 
the right to invoice for services performed is not provided. The Company has elected not to disclose the aggregate amount of 
transaction prices associated with unsatisfied or partially unsatisfied performance obligations for contracts where these criteria 
are met.

The Company’s policy is to capitalize any incremental costs incurred to obtain a customer contract, only to the extent that the 
benefit associated with the costs is expected to be longer than one year. Capitalizable contract costs were not significant as of 
both December 31, 2022 and 2021, and accordingly, no costs have been capitalized.

The Company accounts for shipping and handling activities related to contracts with customers as costs to fulfill the promise to 
transfer the associated products. When shipping and handling costs are incurred after a customer obtains control of the products, 
the Company has elected to account for these as costs to fulfill the promise and not as a separate performance obligation. 
Shipping and handling costs associated with the distribution of products to customers are insignificant, but if incurred, are 
recorded in cost of goods sold generally when the related product is shipped to the customer.

Upon adoption of ASC 842, the Company elected the package of practical expedients permitted under the transition guidance, 
which does not require reassessment of prior conclusions related to contracts containing a lease, lease classification and initial 
direct lease costs. Further, the Company elected to exclude short-term leases (term of 12 months or less) from the balance sheet 
presentation and accounted for non-lease and lease components in a contract as a single lease for certain asset classes.

Cost of Goods Sold

Cost of goods sold includes cost of materials and contract manufacturing services, including semiconductor wafers processed 
by third-party foundries, costs associated with packaging, assembly, testing and shipping products. In addition, cost of goods 
sold includes the costs of personnel, certain royalties for embedded intellectual property, production tooling used in the 
manufacturing process, logistics, warranty, and amortization of production mask costs. Cost of goods sold also include 
amortization of certain intangible assets acquired through business combinations. 

In addition to generating revenues from product shipments, the Company recognizes revenues related to certain engineering 
services contracts which help offset the costs of developing ICs for customers. The costs associated with fulfilling these 
contracts are expensed as incurred as research and development in the period incurred. 

Research and Development Expenses

Research and development expenses consist of costs incurred in performing product design and development activities 
including employee compensation and benefits, third-party fees paid to consultants, occupancy costs, pre-
production engineering mask costs, engineering samples and prototypes, packaging, test development and product qualification 
costs. In certain situations, the Company enters into engineering services agreements with certain customers to develop ICs. 
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The costs incurred in satisfying these contracts are recorded as research and development expenses. Research and development 
expenses also include amortization of certain intangible assets acquired through business combinations. All research and 
development costs are expensed as incurred.

Selling, General, and Administrative Expenses

Selling, general, and administrative expenses include employee compensation and benefits for sales, executive management, 
finance, accounting, legal, human resources and other administrative personnel. In addition, it includes marketing and 
advertising, outside legal, tax and accounting services, insurance, and occupancy costs and related overhead costs allocated 
based on headcount. Selling, general, and administrative costs also include amortization of certain intangible assets acquired 
through business combinations. Selling, general, and administrative costs are expensed as incurred.

Share-Based Compensation

The Company recognizes compensation expense for all share-based payment awards made to employees and directors. The fair 
value of share-based payment awards is amortized over the requisite service period, which is defined as the period during which 
an employee is required to provide service in exchange for an award. The Company generally uses a straight-line attribution 
method for all grants that include only a service condition. Awards with both performance and service conditions are expensed 
over the service period for each separately vesting tranche.

Share-based compensation expense recognized during the period includes actual expense on vested awards and expense 
associated with unvested awards. Forfeitures are recorded as incurred.

The determination of fair value of restricted and certain market- or performance-based stock awards and units is based on the 
value of the Company’s stock on the date of grant with performance-based awards and units adjusted for the actual outcome of 
the underlying vesting conditions. The determination of fair value of options granted is based on Black-Scholes Model and 
market-based awards is based on Monte Carlo Simulations analysis. 

Income Taxes

As a result of the Transaction, indie Semiconductor, Inc. became the holding company for ADK LLC. ADK LLC is treated as a 
partnership for U.S. federal and most applicable state and local income tax purposes. As a partnership, ADK LLC is not subject 
to U.S. federal and certain state and local income taxes. Any taxable income or loss generated by ADK LLC is passed through 
to and included in the taxable income or loss of its members, including indie, based on its economic interest held in the 
partnership. indie is taxed as a corporation and is subject to U.S. federal, state and local income taxes with respect to its 
allocable share of any taxable income or loss of ADK LLC, as well as any stand-alone income or loss generated by indie.

Income taxes are recognized based upon our underlying annual blended federal, state and foreign income tax rates for the year. 
As the sole managing member of ADK LLC, indie Semiconductor, Inc. consolidates the financial results of ADK LLC and its 
subsidiaries. Further, indie Semiconductor Inc. is taxed as a corporation and is subject to U.S. federal, state and local income 
taxes with respect to its allocable share of any taxable income or loss of ADK LLC, as well as any stand-alone income or loss 
generated by indie. As of December 31, 2022, the Company's income tax benefit is attributable to its Non-US operations.

The Company accounts for income taxes under the asset and liability method pursuant to ASC 740 for its corporate 
subsidiaries. Under this method, the Company recognizes deferred tax assets and liabilities for the future tax consequences 
attributable to differences between the financial statement carrying amounts of existing assets and liabilities and their respective 
tax bases and operating loss and tax credit carryforwards. Deferred tax assets and liabilities are measured using enacted tax 
rates expected to apply to taxable income in the years in which those temporary differences are expected to be recovered or 
settled. The effect on deferred tax assets and liabilities of a change in tax rates is recognized in income in the period that 
includes the enactment date. A valuation allowance is recorded for deferred tax assets if it is more likely than not that some 
portion or all of the deferred tax assets will not be realized based on all available positive and negative evidence. As of 
December 31, 2022, the Company continues to maintain a full valuation allowance against its deferred tax assets in the US and 
for material entities in China.

The Company recognizes liabilities for uncertain tax positions based on a two-step process regarding recognition and 
measurement. The Company recognizes a tax benefit only if it is more likely than not the tax position will be sustained on 
examination by the local taxing authorities based on the technical merits of the position. The Company then measures the tax 
benefits recognized in the financial statements from such positions based on the largest benefit greater than 50% likelihood of 
being realized upon ultimate settlement with the related tax authority. The changes in recognition or measurement are reflected 
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in the period in which the change in judgment occurs based on new information not previously available. As of December 31, 
2022, the Company has not identified any uncertain tax positions.

The Company records interest and penalties related to unrecognized tax benefits in its tax provision. As of December 31, 2022, 
no accrued interest or penalties are recorded on the consolidated balance sheet, and the Company has not recorded any related 
expenses.

Comprehensive Loss

Foreign currency translation adjustments of $10,624 and $1,365 represent the difference between net loss and comprehensive 
loss for the year ended December 31, 2022 and 2021, respectively.

Net Loss Per Share Attributable to Common Stockholders

The Company’s basic net loss per share attributable to common stockholders is calculated by dividing the net loss attributable 
to common stockholders by the weighted-average number of shares of common stock outstanding for the period. The 
computation of net loss attributable to common stockholders is computed by deducting net earnings or loss attributable to non-
controlling interests from the consolidated net earnings or loss. The diluted net loss per share attributable to common 
stockholders is computed by giving effect to all potential dilutive common stock equivalents outstanding for the period. The 
dilutive effect of these potential common shares is reflected in diluted earnings per share by application of the treasury stock 
method. 

Stock Repurchase

The Company accounts for stock repurchases in the consolidated balance sheet by reducing common stock for the par value of 
the shares, reducing paid-in capital for the amount in excess of par to zero during the period in which the shares are 
repurchased, and recording the residual amount, if any, to retained earnings.

Recent Accounting Pronouncements

Recently Issued Accounting Pronouncements Not Yet Adopted

In June 2016, the FASB amended guidance related to impairment of financial instruments as part of ASU 2016-13, Financial 
Instruments – Credit Losses (Topic 326): Measurement of Credit Losses on Financial Instruments, which replaces the incurred 
loss impairment methodology with an expected credit loss model for which a company recognizes an allowance based on the 
estimate of expected credit loss. This ASU requires entities to measure the impairment of certain financial instruments, 
including accounts receivable, based on expected losses rather than incurred losses. This ASU is effective for fiscal years 
beginning after December 15, 2022, with early adoption permitted, and will be effective for the Company beginning in 2023. 
The Company does not expect the impact to its consolidated financial statements to be material.

Recently Adopted Accounting Pronouncements

In February 2016, the FASB issued ASU 2016-02, Leases (Topic 842) (“ASU 2016-02”), whereby lessees will be required to 
recognize for all leases at the commencement date a lease liability, which is a lessee’s obligation to make lease payments 
arising from a lease, measured on a discounted basis; and a right-of-use (“ROU”) asset, which is an asset that represents the 
lessee’s right to use, or control the use of, a specified asset for the lease term. Under the new guidance, lessor accounting is 
largely unchanged. A modified retrospective transition approach for leases existing at, or entered into after, the beginning of the 
earliest comparative period presented in the consolidated financial statements must be applied. The modified retrospective 
approach would not require any transition accounting for leases that expired before the earliest comparative period presented. 
The FASB issued ASU 2019-10-Financial Instruments-Credit Losses (Topic 326), Derivatives and Hedging (Topic 815), and 
Leases (Topic 842): Effective Dates in November 2019 and ASU 2020-05-Revenue from Contracts with Customers (Topic 606) 
and Leases (Topic 842): Effective Dates for Certain Entities in June 2020. The ASUs change some effective dates for ASU 
2016-02 on leasing. After applying ASU 2019-10 and 2020-05, ASU 2016-02 is effective for annual periods beginning after 
December 15, 2021, and interim periods within fiscal years beginning after December 15, 2021. 

The Company applied the transition requirements on the adoption date of January 1, 2022, rather than at the beginning of the 
earliest comparative period presented. This approach allows for a cumulative effect adjustment in the period of adoption, and 
prior periods will not be restated. In addition, the Company elected the package of practical expedients permitted under the 
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transition guidance, which does not require reassessment of prior conclusions related to contracts containing a lease, lease 
classification and initial direct lease costs. The Company also elected to use the hindsight practical expedient to consider any 
facts or circumstances that have changed through the January 1, 2022 adoption date that may affect the lease term due to 
renewal options and assess the impairment of the right-of-use asset. As an accounting policy election, the Company also 
excluded short-term leases (term of 12 months or less) from the balance sheet presentation and accounted for non-lease and 
lease components in a contract as a single lease component for certain asset classes. Effective January 1, 2022, the Company 
recorded the impact on its consolidated balance sheet from the recognition of ROU asset and lease liability of $10,344. The 
impact to its consolidated statements of operations, consolidated statements of comprehensive income (loss) and consolidated 
statements of cash flows is not material. See Note 20 — Leases, for additional details.

In December 2019, the FASB issued ASU 2019-12, Income Taxes (Topic 740) - Simplifying the Accounting for Income Taxes, 
which simplifies the accounting for income taxes by removing certain exceptions to the general principles of ASC 740, Income 
Taxes. The amendments also improve consistent application of and simplify U.S. GAAP for other areas of ASC 740 by 
clarifying and amending existing guidance. ASU 2019-12 is effective for fiscal years beginning after December 15, 2020 (and 
December 15, 2021 for nonpublic companies) and early adoption is permitted. Depending on the amendment, adoption may be 
applied on a retrospective, modified retrospective, or prospective basis. The Company adopted ASU 2019-12 as of January 1, 
2022 on a prospective basis. The standard did not have a material impact on the Company’s consolidated financial statements 
and related disclosures.

In January 2017, the FASB issued ASU 2017-04, Simplifying the Test for Goodwill Impairment. The new guidance eliminates 
Step 2 from the goodwill impairment test and instead requires that an entity measure the impairment of goodwill assigned to a 
reporting unit if the carrying value of assets and liabilities assigned to the reporting unit including goodwill exceed the reporting 
unit's fair value. The new guidance must be adopted for annual and interim goodwill tests in fiscal years beginning after 
December 15, 2022. The Company early adopted this update for the year ended December 31, 2021 and the impacts to its 
consolidated financial statements were not material.

In August 2020, the FASB issued ASU 2020-06, Accounting for Convertible Instruments and Contracts in an Entity’s Own 
Equity, which simplifies the guidance on the issuer’s accounting for convertible debt instruments by removing the separation 
models for (1) convertible debt with a cash conversion feature and (2) convertible instruments with a beneficial conversion 
feature. As a result, entities will not separately present in equity an embedded conversion feature in such debt. Instead, they will 
account for a convertible debt instrument wholly as debt, unless certain other conditions are met. The elimination of these 
models will reduce reported interest expense and increase reported net income for entities that have issued a convertible 
instrument that was within the scope of those models before the adoption of ASU 2020-06. Also, ASU 2020-06 requires the 
application of the if-converted method for calculating diluted earnings per share and treasury stock method will be no longer 
available. The provisions of ASU 2020-06 are applicable for fiscal years beginning after December 15, 2021, with early 
adoption permitted no earlier than fiscal years beginning after December 15, 2020. The Company early adopted this update on 
January 1, 2022 using the modified retrospective method of transition and the impact to its consolidated financial statements 
was not material.

In October 2021, the FASB issued ASU 2021-08, Business Combinations (Topic 805): Accounting for Contract Assets and 
Contract Liabilities from Contracts with Customers. ASU 2021-08 requires the company acquiring contract assets and contract 
liabilities obtained in a business combination to recognize and measure them in accordance with ASC 606, Revenue from 
Contracts with Customers. At the acquisition date, the company acquiring the business should record related revenue, as if it 
had originated the contract. Before the update such amounts were recognized by the acquiring company at fair value. The 
amendments in this update are effective for fiscal years beginning after December 15, 2022, including interim periods within 
those fiscal years. Early adoption is permitted, including in interim periods, for any financial statements that have not yet been 
issued. The Company early adopted this update for the year ended December 31, 2021 and the impacts to its consolidated 
financial statements were not material.

3) Business Combinations

The Company acquired TeraXion, Inc. (“TeraXion”) and ON Design Israel Ltd. (“ON Design Israel”) in October 2021 and 
Symeo GmbH (“Symeo”) in January 2022. These acquisitions were recorded by allocating the purchase consideration to the net 
assets acquired based on their estimated fair values at the acquisition date. The excess of the purchase consideration for the 
acquisition over the fair value of the net assets acquired is recorded as goodwill. The fair values were based on management’s 
analysis, including work performed by third-party valuation specialists. The following presents the final allocation of the 
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purchase consideration to the assets acquired and liabilities assumed for Symeo, TeraXion and ON Design Israel as of 
December 31, 2022:

Symeo GmbH TeraXion ON Design Israel
Purchase price - cash consideration $ 10,000 $ 74,050 $ 6,107 
Purchase price - cash consideration (Accrual) 9,674 — 7,500 
Add: debt paid at closing — 6,857 — 
Less: cash acquired (1,295) (5,625) (1,133) 

Net cash paid 18,379 75,282 12,474 

Purchase price - equity consideration
Common stock — 65,192 — 
Options — 17,249 — 

Total equity consideration — 82,441 — 

Earn out shares 7,836 — — 
Contingent consideration — — 4,000 

Net consideration $ 26,215 $ 157,723 $ 16,474 

Fair value of net assets and liabilities assumed:
Current assets other than cash 2,767 7,627 119 
Property and equipment 1,039 4,992 1,424 
Developed technology 5,060 17,305 — 
In-progress research & development 4,060 — 10,100 
Customer relationships 4,510 13,059 — 
Backlog 350 16 — 
Trade name 2,590 6,946 — 
Other non-current assets 36 — 66 
Current liabilities (1,461) (5,840) (537) 
Deferred revenue — (1,025) — 
Deferred tax liabilities, non-current (1,055) (10,030) — 
Long-term debt — (7,580) — 

Total fair value of net assets acquired 17,896 25,470 11,172 

Goodwill $ 8,319 $ 132,253 $ 5,302 

For all three acquisitions, trade receivables and payables, as well as other current and non-current assets and liabilities, were 
valued at the existing carrying value as they represented the fair value of those items at the acquisition date, based on 
management’s judgments and estimates. The fair value of property, plant and equipment utilized a replacement cost method 
incorporating the age, quality and condition of the assets. 

Acquisition of TERAXION INC

On August 27, 2021, indie entered into a Share Purchase Agreement (the “Purchase Agreement”), pursuant to which indie’s 
wholly-owned Canadian subsidiary (“Purchaser”) agreed to purchase all of the outstanding capital stock of TeraXion from the 
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existing stockholders. The transaction was completed on October 12, 2021 and TeraXion became a wholly-owned subsidiary of 
ADK, LLC as a result of this acquisition. 

The aggregate purchase price of this acquisition was CAD$200,000 (the “Purchase Price”), which was payable 50% in cash and 
50% in indie’s shares of Class A common stock, subject to various purchase price adjustments. Upon completion of the 
transaction, the total consideration paid for this acquisition consisted of (i) approximately $75,282 in cash (including debt paid 
at closing and net of cash acquired); (ii) the issuance by indie of 5,805,144 shares of indie Class A common stock with a fair 
value of $65,192 based on the market value of $11.23 per share; and (iii) the assumption by indie of TeraXion options, which 
became exercisable to purchase 1,542,332 shares of indie Class A common stock with a fair value of $17,249.

TeraXion is a market leader in the design and manufacture of innovative photonic components. The Company paid a premium 
(i.e. goodwill) over the fair value of the net tangible and identified intangible assets acquired as this acquisition accelerates 
indie’s vision of becoming a semiconductor and software level solutions provider for multiple sensor modalities spanning 
advanced driver-assistance systems (“ADAS”) and autonomous vehicles. The goodwill is not expected to be deductible for tax 
purposes. 

As of December 31, 2022, the Company finalized the opening net assets acquired and goodwill as follows:

Preliminary 
Valuation Adjustments

Final
Valuation

Property and equipment $ 6,009 $ (1,017) $ 4,992 
Developed technology 43,594 (26,289) 17,305 
In-progress research & development 10,304 (10,304) — 
Customer relationships 12,682 377 13,059 
Backlog 2,378 (2,362) 16 
Trade name 6,125 821 6,946 
Deferred tax liabilities, non-current (20,272) 10,242 (10,030) 
Goodwill 103,721 28,532 132,253 

Changes in fair value of fixed assets and deferred tax liabilities, non-current were a result of gathering additional information 
during the measurement period. The Company also revised the initial values of intangible assets as a result of switching from 
utilizing publicly available benchmarking information to determine the fair value of the intangible assets to primarily utilizing 
an income method based on forecasts of expected future cash flows. As a result, the Company recorded an adjustment to 
decrease the amortization of intangible assets of $2,491 in the consolidated statement of operations during the three months 
ended September 30, 2022, of which $617 would have been recorded during the three months ended December 31, 2021 and 
the remainder during the six months ended June 30, 2022, if the adjustment to the intangible assets had been recognized as of 
the date of the acquisition. 

The fair value of property, plant and equipment utilized a replacement cost method incorporating the age, quality and condition 
of the assets. 

Developed technology relates to various laser systems, optical sensing and optical communication products offered by 
TeraXion at the time of the acquisition. Developed technology was valued using relief from royalty of the income approach. 
The selected royalty rate was determined based on an analysis of licensing agreements related to similar technologies and was 
further adjusted to reflect the maintenance R&D expenses associated with sustaining the technology. The economic useful life 
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was determined to be four years based on the technology cycle related to each developed technology, as well as the cash flows 
over the forecast period.

Customer relationships represents the fair value of future projected revenue that will be derived from sales of products to 
existing customers of TeraXion. The fair value was determined by applying the excess earnings method of the income 
approach. The economic useful life was determined to be ten years. 

Backlog relates to various purchase orders in place with TeraXion’s customers at the time of the acquisition. The fair value was 
determined by applying the excess earnings method of the income approach. The economic useful life was determined to be 
two years. 

Trade name relates to the “TeraXion” trade name. The fair value was determined by applying the relief from royalty of the 
income approach. The selected royalty rate was determined based on an analysis of licensing agreements related to similar 
brand names. The economic useful life was determined to be seven years.

Under both the relief from royalty and multi-period excess earnings methods, the fair value models incorporated estimates of 
future cash flows, estimates of allocations of certain assets and cash flows, estimates of future growth rates and management’s 
judgment regarding the applicable discount rates to use to discount such estimates of cash flows. Because the estimates and 
assumptions made by management at the time of the acquisitions are unobservable and significant to the overall fair value 
measurement of these acquired identifiable intangible assets, the corresponding fair values are classified as Level 3 fair value 
hierarchy measurements.

The amounts of revenue and earnings of TeraXion included in the Company’s consolidated statement of operations from the 
acquisition date of October 12, 2021 through December 31, 2021 are $6,075 and $(1,474), respectively.

For the year ended December 31, 2021, indie incurred approximately $1,640 of acquisition-related costs, which were primarily 
legal expense and recorded as part of the Selling, General and Administrative expenses. Total acquisition-related costs incurred 
for the year ended December 31, 2022 was de minimus.

The unaudited pro forma financial information shown below summarizes the combined results of operations for the Company 
and TeraXion as if the closing of the acquisition had occurred on January 1, 2021:

Year ended
December 31, 2021

Combined revenue $ 66,788 
Combined net loss before income taxes (126,350) 

The unaudited pro forma financial information includes adjustments that are directly attributable to the business combination 
and are factually supportable. Pro forma information reflects adjustments that are expected to have a continuing impact on the 
Company’s results of operations and are directly attributable to the acquisition. The unaudited pro forma results include 
adjustments to reflect, among other things, direct transaction costs relating to the acquisition, the incremental intangible asset 
amortization to be incurred based on the preliminary values of each identifiable intangible asset, and to eliminate a portion of 
the interest expense related to legacy TeraXion’s former loans, which were repaid upon completion of the acquisition. The 
unaudited pro forma financial information is presented for illustrative purposes only and is not necessarily indicative of the 
operating results that would have been realized if the acquisition had taken place on January 1, 2021.

Acquisition of ON Design Israel Ltd.

On October 1, 2021, indie entered into a definitive agreement and completed its acquisition of ON Design Israel Ltd. (“ON 
Design Israel”) for $4,974 in cash paid upon close (net of cash acquired), $7,500 was paid in 2022, and up to $7,500 will be 
paid upon achievement of certain milestones. Upon completion of the acquisition, ON Design Israel was renamed to indie 
Semiconductor Design Israel Ltd and became a wholly-owned subsidiary of the Company. 

The Company paid a premium (i.e. goodwill) over the fair value of the net tangible and identified intangible assets acquired as 
this acquisition brings the Company an engineering development team with broad experience in radar system implementation, 
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which will accelerate indie’s entry into the radar market and enable the Company to capture strategic opportunities among Tier 
1 customers. 

As of December 31, 2022, the Company finalized the opening net assets acquired and goodwill as follows:

Preliminary 
Valuation Adjustment

Final
Valuation

Property and equipment $ 1,315 $ 109 $ 1,424 
Developed technology 5,077 (5,077) — 
In-progress research & development 1,562 8,538 10,100 
Current liabilities (754) 217 (537) 
Goodwill 9,089 (3,787) 5,302 

Changes in fair value of fixed assets, current liabilities, deferred tax liabilities and non-current liabilities were a result of 
gathering additional information during the measurement period. The Company also revised the initial values of intangible 
assets as a result of switching from utilizing publicly available benchmarking information to determine the fair value of the 
intangible assets to primarily utilizing an income method based on forecasts of expected future cash flows. As a result, the 
Company recorded an adjustment to decrease the amortization of intangible assets of $169 in the consolidated statement of 
operations during the twelve months ended December 31, 2022 that would have been recorded during the prior periods if the 
adjustment to the intangible assets had been recognized as of the date of the acquisition. 

The fair value of in-process research and development (“IPR&D”), was determined using the multi-period excess earnings 
method under the income approach. This method reflects the present value of the projected cash flows that are expected to be 
generated by the IPR&D, less charges representing the contribution of other assets to those cash flows. Under the multi-period 
excess earnings method, the fair value models incorporated estimates of future cash flows, estimates of allocations of certain 
assets and cash flows, estimates of future growth rates and management’s judgment regarding the applicable discount rates to 
use to discount such estimates of cash flows. Because the estimates and assumptions made by management at the time of the 
acquisitions are unobservable and significant to the overall fair value measurement of these acquired identifiable intangible 
assets, the corresponding fair values are classified as Level 3 fair value hierarchy measurements. 

For the year ended December 31, 2021, indie incurred approximately $365 of acquisition-related costs, which were primarily 
legal expenses and recorded as part of the Selling, General and Administrative expenses. Total acquisition-related costs 
incurred for the year ended December 31, 2022 was de minimus.

Total purchase consideration transferred at closing also included contingent consideration that had a fair value of $4,000 as of 
the acquisition date. The maximum contingent consideration payable in connection with the acquisition is $7,500. The 
acquisition date fair value of the contingent consideration was determined based on the Company’s assessment of the 
probability of achieving the performance targets that ultimately obligate the Company to transfer additional consideration to the 
seller. The contingent consideration is comprised of two tranches. The first tranche (“Tapeout”) is payable, up to a maximum of 
$2,500, upon the achievement of tapeout of certain product designs acquired from the seller within 30 months of the 
acquisition. The second tranche (“Design Win”) is payable, up to a maximum of $5,000, upon indie’s achievement of a design 
win related to certain acquired product designs within 36 months of the acquisition. The fair value of any outstanding 
contingent consideration liabilities will be remeasured as of the end of each reporting period with any resulting remeasurement 
gains or losses recognized in the consolidated statement of operations. During the six months ended June 30, 2022, 
management determined that the product designs specified in the contingent consideration arrangement would be replaced with 
a new product design that is better aligned with customer requirements and which will not be eligible for either of the 
contingent considerations. Accordingly, the fair value of Tapeout and Design Win contingent consideration liabilities were 
reduced to zero as of December 31, 2022.

Pro forma financial information for the year ended December 31, 2021 for ON Design Israel is not disclosed as the results are 
not material to the Company’s consolidated financial statements.
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Acquisition of Symeo GmbH 

On October 21, 2021, indie entered into a definitive agreement with ADI to acquire Symeo. The acquisition was approved by 
the German government on January 4, 2022 and closed on the same day. The total consideration paid for this acquisition 
consisted of (i) $8,705 in cash at closing, net of cash acquired; (ii) a $10,000 promissory note payable in January 2023 with a 
fair market value of $9,674; and (iii) an equity-based earn-out of up to 858,369 shares of indie Class A common stock based on 
future revenue growth. The fair market value of this equity-based earn-out was $7,836 on January 4, 2022. The acquisition date 
fair value of the equity-based earn-out was determined based on the Company’s assessment of the probability of achieving the 
performance targets that ultimately obligate the Company to transfer additional consideration to the seller. This earn-out has 
two tranches. Both tranches are payable upon Symeo achieving a revenue threshold of $5,000 by March 31, 2023, another 
revenue threshold of $6,000 by March 31, 2024 and an annual gross margin of Symeo for each period of greater than 65%. The 
fair value of any outstanding contingent consideration liabilities will be remeasured as of the end of each reporting period with 
any resulting remeasurement gains or losses recognized in the consolidated statements of operations. The fair value of these 
contingent consideration liabilities was $2,000 and $4, respectively, as of December 31, 2022. The first tranche of this earn-out 
liability is reflected in Accrued expense and other current liabilities and the second tranche is reflected in Other long-term 
liabilities in the consolidated balance sheet as of December 31, 2022.

As of December 31, 2022, the Company finalized the opening net assets acquired and goodwill as follows:

Preliminary 
Valuation Adjustment

Final
Valuation

Purchase price - contingent considerations $ 8,204 $ (368) $ 7,836 

Inventory 2,020 (90) 1,930
Developed technology 6,631 (1,571) 5,060 
In-progress research & development 2,170 1,890 4,060 
Customer relationships 2,411 2,099 4,510 
Backlog 603 (253) 350
Trade name 965 1,625 2,590 
Deferred tax liability (2,935) 1,880 (1,055) 
Goodwill 14,267 (5,948) 8,319 

Change in the equity-based earn-out was driven by updating the valuation methodology from probability-weighted method to 
Monte Carlo Simulations analysis. The Company initially used the probability-weighted method to determine the fair value of 
the equity-based earn out as certain information was not available to conduct the Monte Carlo Simulations analysis. 

Changes in fair value of inventory, fixed assets and deferred tax liabilities were a result of gathering additional information 
during the measurement period. The Company also revised the initial values of intangible assets as a result of switching from 
utilizing publicly available benchmarking information to determine the fair value of the intangible assets to primarily utilizing 
an income method based on forecasts of expected future cash flows. As a result, the Company recorded an adjustment to 
increase the amortization of intangible assets of $271 in the consolidated statement of operations during the three months ended 
December 31, 2022 that would have been recorded during the first nine months ended September 30, 2022 if the adjustment to 
the intangible assets had been recognized as of the date of the acquisition. 

Four separate developed technologies relating to industrial radar distance sensor, automotive radar sensor, telemetry power unit 
and legacy products offered by Symeo were identified at the time of the acquisition. Developed technologies were each valued 
using relief from royalty of the income approach. The selected royalty rate was determined based on an analysis of licensing 
agreements related to similar technologies and was further adjusted to reflect the maintenance R&D expenses associated with 
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sustaining the technology. The economic useful life for the identified assets range between three years and seven years based on 
the technology cycle related to each developed technology, as well as the cash flows over the forecast period.

Customer relationships represents the fair value of future projected revenue that will be derived from sales of products to 
existing customers of Symeo. The fair value was determined by applying the excess earnings method of the income approach. 
The economic useful life was determined to be ten years. 

Backlog relates to various purchase orders in place with Symeo’s customers at the time of the acquisition. The fair value was 
determined by applying the excess earnings method of the income approach. The economic useful life was determined to be 
two years was determined. 

Trade name relates to the “Symeo” trade name. The fair value was determined by applying the relief from royalty of the income 
approach. The selected royalty rate was determined based on an analysis of licensing agreements related to similar brand 
names. The economic useful life was determined to be seven years.

The fair value of IPR&D, was determined using the relief from royalty of the income approach. The selected royalty rate was 
determined based on an analysis of licensing agreements related to similar technologies and was further adjusted to reflect the 
maintenance R&D expenses associated with sustaining the technology. Because the estimates and assumptions made by 
management at the time of the acquisitions are unobservable and significant to the overall fair value measurement of these 
acquired identifiable intangible assets, the corresponding fair values are classified as Level 3 fair value hierarchy 
measurements. 

Under both the relief from royalty and multi-period excess earnings methods, the fair value models incorporated estimates of 
future cash flows, estimates of allocations of certain assets and cash flows, estimates of future growth rates and management’s 
judgment regarding the applicable discount rates to use to discount such estimates of cash flows. Because the estimates and 
assumptions made by management at the time of the acquisitions are unobservable and significant to the overall fair value 
measurement of these acquired identifiable intangible assets, the corresponding fair values are classified as Level 3 fair value 
hierarchy measurements.

indie incurred various acquisition-related costs, which were primarily legal expenses and recorded as part of the Selling, 
General and Administrative expenses. Total costs incurred is de minimis for the year ended December 31, 2022.

Pro forma financial information for the twelve months ended December 31, 2022 for Symeo is not disclosed as the results are 
not material to the Company’s consolidated financial statements.

4) Inventory, Net

Inventory, net consists of the following:

December 31,

2022 2021

Raw materials $ 5,718 $ 2,380 
Work-in-process 6,846 6,301 
Finished goods 2,484 2,151 

Inventory, gross 15,048 10,832 
Less: Inventory reserves 1,792 1,752 

Inventory, net $ 13,256 $ 9,080 

During the years ended December 31, 2022 and 2021, the Company recognized write-downs in the value of inventory of $1,563 
and $173, respectively.
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5) Property and Equipment, Net

Property and equipment, net consists of the following:

December 31,
Useful life 2022 2021
(in years)

Production tooling 4 $ 10,851 $ 10,158 
Lab equipment 4 6,382 4,489 
Office equipment 3 - 7 4,736 1,893 
Leasehold improvements * 1,216 395 
Construction in progress 1,763 256 

Property and equipment, gross 24,948 17,191 
Less: Accumulated depreciation 9,119 6,101 

Property and equipment, net $ 15,829 $ 11,090 

* Leasehold improvements are amortized over the shorter of the remaining lease term or estimated useful life of the leasehold
improvement.

The Company recognized depreciation expense of $3,168 and $1,198 for the years ended December 31, 2022 and 2021, 
respectively.

Fixed assets not yet in service consist primarily of capitalized internal-use software and certain tooling and other equipment that 
have not been placed into service.

6. Intangible Assets, Net

Intangible assets, net consist of the following:

December 31, 2022 December 31, 2021
Weighted
average

remaining
useful life

Gross
Carrying
Amount

Accumulated
Amortization

Net
Carrying
Amount

Weighted
average

remaining
useful life

Gross
Carrying
Amount

Accumulated
Amortization

Net
Carrying
Amount

Developed technology 4.0 $ 22,734 $ (4,993) $ 17,741 6.7 $ 49,040 $ (1,374) $ 47,666 
Software licenses 1.5 23,305 (11,514) 11,791 2.5 23,297 (6,286) 17,011 
Customer relationships 8.2 17,569 (1,895) 15,674 6.7 12,682 (365) 12,317
Intellectual property 
licenses 1.0 1,777 (1,716) 61 1.5 1,736 (1,687) 49 
Trade names 5.5 9,536 (1,466) 8,070 6.7 6,125 (182) 5,943
Backlog 1.0 366 (175) 191 1.8 2,378 (239) 2,139
Effect of exchange rate 
on gross carrying 
amount

(3,614) — (3,614) (631) — (631) 
Intangible assets with 
finite lives 71,673 (21,759) 49,914 94,627 (10,133) 84,494 

IPR&D 14,160 — 14,160 11,866 — 11,866 
Effect of exchange rate 
on gross carrying 
amount

(957) — (957) (75) — (75) 
Total intangible assets 
with indefinite lives 13,203 — 13,203 11,791 — 11,791 

Total intangible assets $ 84,876 $ (21,759) $ 63,117 $ 106,418 $ (10,133) $ 96,285 
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The Company obtained software licenses, which it uses for its research and development efforts related to its products. In fiscal 
2022 and 2021, the Company obtained additional software licenses. Further, the Company has acquired developed technology, 
customer relationships, trade names, backlog and IPR&D as a result of the business combinations. The change in gross amount 
of intangible assets is related to the business combination valuation for TeraXion, ON Design and Symeo that was finalized 
during the twelve months ended December 31, 2022. See Note 3 — Business Combinations for additional information.

Intangible assets with finite lives are amortized on a straight-line basis over the expected period to be benefited by future cash 
flows. The Company monitors and assesses these assets for impairment on a periodic basis. As of December 31, 2022, the 
Company determined that there was no impairment of intangible assets.

Amortization of intangible assets for the years ended December 31, 2022 and 2021 was $11,644 and $4,769, respectively, and 
is included within Cost of goods sold, Research and development expenses, and Selling, general and administrative expenses 
based their respective nature, in the consolidated statements of operations. 

Based on the amount of definite-lived intangible assets subject to amortization as of December 31, 2022, amortization expense 
for each of the next five fiscal years is expected to be as follows:

2023 $ 14,553 
2024 11,480 
2025 6,676 
2026 5,880 
2027 4,003 
Thereafter 7,322 
Total $ 49,914 

7) Goodwill

The following table sets forth the carrying amount and activity of goodwill as of December 31, 2022:

December 31,
2022 2021

Balance at the beginning of the period $ 113,574 $ 1,739 
Acquisitions (Note 3) 8,319 112,756 
Measurement period adjustment for business combinations from prior year 24,745 — 
Effect of exchange rate on goodwill (10,175) (921) 
Balance at the end of the period $ 136,463 $ 113,574 

During the fiscal year ended December 31, 2022, the change in goodwill is primarily driven by $8,319 increase due to the 
acquisition of Symeo that was completed during the period, $24,745 increase related to the finalization of business combination 
valuations for TeraXion and ON Design and partially offset by $10,175 decrease in value due to effect of exchange rate on 
goodwill. See Note 3 — Business Combinations for a detailed discussion of goodwill acquired as well as adjustments due to 
finalization of the business combination valuations. 

Goodwill increased by $112,756 in fiscal 2021 due to acquisitions completed during the period. 

The Company performed an impairment test of its goodwill as of the first day of the fourth fiscal quarter in accordance with its 
regularly scheduled testing. The results of this test indicated that the Company’s goodwill was not impaired. There were no 
other indicators of impairment noted during the fiscal year ended December 31, 2022 and 2021.

Subsequent to the issuance of the financial statements for the fiscal year ended December 31, 2021, the Company identified a 
misstatement in the financial statements related to the recognition of deferred taxes in the purchase accounting for ON Design 
Israel. The Company recorded the following adjustment:
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December 31, 2021
Initially 
reported Adjustment Corrected

Goodwill $ 115,206 $ (1,632) $ 113,574 
Deferred tax liabilities, non-current $ 21,164 $ (1,632) $ 19,532 

8) Warranties

The Company’s warranty liabilities are included in accrued expenses and other current liabilities on the consolidated balance 
sheets as of December 31, 2022 and 2021. The following table identifies the changes in the Company’s aggregate product 
warranty liabilities for the years ended December 31, 2022 and 2021:

December 31,
2022 2021

Balance at the beginning of period $ 553 $ 201 
Accruals for warranties issued 545 151 
Assumed warranty liability from acquisition 194 226 
Warranty obligations satisfied during the period (137) (25)
Effect of exchange rate (24) 0
Balance at the end of period $ 1,131 $ 553 

9) Debt

The following table sets forth the components of debt as of December 31, 2022 and 2021:

December 31,
2022 2021

Principal 
outstanding

Unamortized 
discount and 
issuance cost

Carrying 
amount

Principal 
outstanding

Unamortized 
discount and 
issuance cost

Carrying 
amount

2027 Notes 160,000 (5,258) 154,742 — — — 
Promissory note, due 2023 10,000 (26) 9,974 — — — 
CIBC loan, due 2026 5,247 (14) 5,233 7,102 (19) 7,083
Short term loans, due 2023 1,450 — 1,450 810 — 810 
Total debt $ 176,697 $ (5,298) $ 171,399 $ 7,912 $ (19) $ 7,893 

The outstanding debt as of December 31, 2022 and 2021 is classified in the consolidated balance sheets as follows:

December 31,
2022 2021

Current liabilities – Current debt obligations $ 15,700 $ 2,275 
Noncurrent liabilities – Long-term debt net of current maturities 155,699 5,618 
Total debt $ 171,399 $ 7,893 
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2027 Notes

On November 16, 2022, the Company entered into a purchase agreement (the “Purchase Agreement” with Goldman Sachs & 
Co. LLC, as representative of the initial purchasers (collectively the “Initial Purchasers”), pursuant to which the Company 
agreed to sell $140,000 aggregate principal amount of 4.50% Convertible Senior Notes due 2027 (the “Initial Notes”). The 
Company also agreed to grant an option, exercisable within the 30-day period immediately following the date of the Purchase 
Agreement (the “Option”) to the Initial Purchasers to purchase all or part of an additional $20,000 aggregate principal amount 
of 4.50% Convertible Senior Notes due 2027 (the “Additional Notes” and, together with the Initial Notes, the “2027 Notes”). 
On November 17, 2022, the Initial Purchasers exercised the Option in full, bringing the total aggregate principal amount for the 
2027 Notes to $160,000. The sale of the 2027 Notes closed on November 21, 2022. The 2027 Notes were issued pursuant to an 
Indenture dated November 21, 2022 (the “Indenture”), between the Company and U.S. Bank Trust Company, National 
Association, as trustee (the “Trustee”). Interest on the 2027 Notes will be payable semiannually in arrears on May 15 and 
November 15 of each year, beginning on May 15, 2023. The 2027 Notes will mature on November 15, 2027, unless earlier 
repurchased, redeemed or converted. 

The 2027 Notes will be convertible into cash, shares of the Company’s Class A common stock, par value $0.0001 per share 
(“common stock”), or a combination of cash and shares of common stock, at the Company’s election, at an initial conversion 
rate of 115.5869 shares of common stock per $1,000 principal amount of the 2027 Notes, which is equivalent to an initial 
conversion price of approximately $8.65 per share of common stock. The initial conversion price of the Notes represents a 
premium of approximately 30% over the $6.655 per share last reported sale price of the common stock on The Nasdaq Capital 
Market on November 16, 2022. The conversion rate will be subject to adjustment upon the occurrence of certain specified 
events, but will not be adjusted for any accrued and unpaid interest, except under the limited circumstances described in the 
Indenture. In addition, upon the occurrence of a “Make-Whole Fundamental Change” (as defined in Section 1.01 of the 
Indenture) prior to the maturity date, or if the Company delivers a notice of redemption, the Company will, in certain 
circumstances, increase the conversion rate by a number of additional shares of common stock (not to exceed 150.2629 shares 
of common stock per $1,000 principal amount of the Notes, subject to adjustment in the same manner as the conversion rate) 
for Notes that are converted in connection with such Make-Whole Fundamental Change or for notes called (or deemed called) 
for redemption that are converted in connection with such notice of redemption.

The Notes are convertible at the option of the holders (in whole or in part) at any time prior to the close of business on the 
business day immediately preceding August 15, 2027 only under the following circumstances: (1) during any calendar quarter 
commencing after the calendar quarter ending on December 31, 2022 (and only during such calendar quarter), if the last 
reported sale price of the common stock for at least 20 trading days (whether or not consecutive) during any 30 consecutive 
trading days ending on, and including, the last trading day of the immediately preceding calendar quarter is greater than or 
equal to 130% of the conversion price on each applicable trading day; (2) during the five business day period after any five 
consecutive trading day period (the “measurement period”) in which the “Trading Price” (as defined in Section 1.01 of the 
Indenture) per $1,000 principal amount of Notes for each trading day of the measurement period was less than 98% of the 
product of the last reported sale price of common stock and the conversion rate on each such trading day; (3) if the Company 
calls such Notes for redemption, at any time prior to the close of business on the second scheduled trading day immediately 
preceding the redemption date, but only with respect to the Notes called (or deemed called) for redemption; or (4) upon the 
occurrence of certain corporate events as specified in the Indenture. On or after August 15, 2027 until the close of business on 
the second scheduled trading day immediately preceding the maturity date, holders may convert all or a portion of their Notes, 
in multiples of $1,000 principal amount, at any time, regardless of the foregoing circumstances. Upon conversion, the Company 
will pay or deliver, as the case may be, cash, shares of common stock or a combination of cash and shares of common stock, at 
the Company’s election, in amounts determined in the manner set forth in the Indenture.

The Company may not redeem the 2027 Notes prior to November 20, 2025. indie may redeem for cash all or any portion of the 
2027 Notes, at indie’s option, on or after November 20, 2025 if the last reported price of indie’s Class A common stock has 
been at least 130% of the conversion price then in effect for at least 20 trading days (whether or not consecutive) during any 30 
consecutive trading day period (including the last trading day of such period) ending on, and including, the trading day 
immediately preceding the date on which indie provides notice of redemption, at a redemption price equal to 100% of the 
principal amount of the 2027 Notes to be redeemed, plus accrued and unpaid interest to, but excluding, the redemption date.

Upon the occurrence of a “Fundamental Change” (as defined in Section 1.01 of the Indenture), subject to certain conditions and 
certain limited exceptions, holders may require the Company to repurchase for cash all or any portion of their Notes in principal 
amounts of $1,000 or an integral multiple thereof at a fundamental change repurchase price in cash equal to 100% of the 
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principal amount of the Notes to be repurchased, plus accrued and unpaid interest to, but excluding, the fundamental change 
repurchase date.

The Notes are senior unsecured obligations of the Company and rank: (i) senior in right of payment to any indebtedness of the 
Company that is expressly subordinated in right of payment to the Notes; (ii) equal in right of payment to any unsecured 
indebtedness of the Company that is not so subordinated; (iii) effectively junior in right of payment to any senior, secured 
indebtedness of the Company to the extent of the value of the assets securing such indebtedness; and (iv) structurally junior to 
all indebtedness and other liabilities (including trade payables) of the Company’s subsidiaries.

The 2027 Notes have been recorded as long-term debt in its entirety pursuant to ASU 2020-06. The carrying value of the 2027 
Notes is presented net of $5,374 of discount and issuance costs, which are amortized to interest expense over the respective 
terms of these borrowings. As of December 31, 2022, the total carrying value of the 2027 Notes, net of unamortized discount, 
was $154,742. The amortization of the debt discount and cost of issuance resulted in non-cash interest expense of $116 for the 
year ended December 31, 2022, and is also included in Interest Expense in the Company’s consolidated statements of 
operations.

In connection with the offering of the Convertible Senior Notes, the Company entered into privately negotiated transactions 
through one of the initial purchasers or its affiliate to repurchase 1,112,524 shares of common stock, at an average cost of $6.65 
per share, for approximately $7,404.

Embry Convertible Subordinated Notes Payable

On December 4, 2012, the Company entered into two convertible note and exchange agreements with an investor, pursuant to 
which the entire outstanding principal of $3,500 and corresponding accrued interest of $107 held under existing loan 
agreements were exchanged for two convertible subordinated notes with aggregate principal amounts of $2,604 and $1,003. 
The convertible subordinated notes bore interest of 0.93% per annum, which was compounded annually. The aggregate 
principal and all accrued and unpaid interest were due in full on December 4, 2017. On December 3, 2017, the Company 
entered into a 12-month extension of these two convertible note and exchange agreements.

On December 3, 2018, the Company entered into a 36-month extension of these two convertible notes and exchange 
agreements. The interest rate on the 36-month extension was amended to 3.07% per annum. The Company recorded a discount 
on this convertible debt extension and a corresponding increase in additional paid-in capital related to the enhanced value of the 
embedded conversion options. The Company is amortizing the discount to interest expense over the 36-month extension period.

The amendments to extend the maturity date were treated as modifications of the debt.

The convertible subordinated notes with aggregate principal of $2,604 and $1,003 were converted into an aggregate 185,000 
Class A units and 100,000 Class C units, respectively, at the investors’ discretion prior to the maturity date or automatically 
upon a liquidity event, as defined in the loan agreement. The Company determined that the embedded conversion options 
should not be bifurcated from their host instruments.

In December 2020, Embry assigned the notes to its affiliate, Cézanne Investments Ltd. (“Cézanne”). At December 31, 2020, the 
total carrying value of such convertible subordinated notes payable, net of unamortized discount, was $3,496. Total accrued 
interest as of December 31, 2020 was $458, and is included in Accrued expenses and other current liabilities on the Company’s 
consolidated balance sheets. On June 10, 2021, Cézanne exercised its right to convert at the closing of the Transaction and the 
Embry convertible notes were converted to equity at their carrying value of $4,119, inclusive of $3,607 principal balance and 
accrued interest of $512. 

PacWest Revolving Line of Credit

The Company entered into a loan and security agreement with Pacific Western Bank (“PacWest”) in January 2015, that 
provided a term loan of up to $10,000 with a maturity date of September 2020. The term loan bore interest equal to the greater 
of one percent above the prime rate in effect, or 4.5% on outstanding borrowings. In addition, the loan and security agreement 
provided for a revolving line of credit. The revolving line of credit bore interest equal to the greater of seventy-five basis points 
above the prime rate in effect, or 4.25%, on outstanding borrowings. The terms of the loan and security agreement have been 
amended from time to time and was most recently amended on November 5, 2021 as described below. The amendments have, 
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among other things, extended the maturity date of the loan and adjusted the financial covenants’ borrowing limits. During 2020, 
the outstanding balance on the term loan was transferred to the revolving line of credit.

On November 5, 2021, the Company entered into an amendment to the PacWest loan agreement (the “Amended Line of 
Credit”) that (i) increased the maximum borrowing capacity under the revolving line of credit to $20,000, (ii) limited the 
security interests of the bank to the cash collateral set at 102.5% of the drawn amount of the loan, (iii) removed various 
reporting and restrictive covenants, (iv) extended the maturity date to November 4, 2022 and (iv) reduced the interest rate to 
2.1% per annum. In addition, the amendment required the Company to collateralize a cash balance equal to the total outstanding 
balance in a cash security account with PacWest. Upon execution of the Amended Line of Credit, the Company repaid the 
outstanding balance of $1,675 under the original line of credit to this new arrangement.

The Company’s borrowings under the Amended Line of Credit were subject to an aggregate borrowing limit of $20,000 as of 
December 31, 2021. Total borrowings at any given time under the Amended Line of Credit were limited to a percentage of 
domestic accounts receivables less than 90 days past due and other factors. As of December 31, 2021, there was no outstanding 
balance on the Amended Line of Credit. On November 9, 2022, the Company terminated the Amended Line of Credit with 
PacWest and paid a de minimus fee.

Trinity Term Loan

In March 2018, the Company entered into a term loan agreement with Trinity Capital Fund (“Trinity”) to borrow $15,000 at a 
rate of 11.25% per annum. In connection with such loan, the Company issued a warrant to Trinity to acquire 6,250 Class G 
units at an exercise price per unit of $35.42

In October 2020, the Company entered into a new loan agreement with Trinity, which replaced the March 2018 agreement. The 
new loan had a principal of $12,000, which was exchanged for the old loan’s principal balance of $11,325, lender fees of $474 
and a cash payment to the Company of $194. In addition, the Company issued to Trinity 1,844 additional warrants to purchase 
the Company’s Class G units, which had a fair value of $405. The new loan agreement was treated as a modification for 
accounting purposes. The unamortized discount from the old loan was treated as additional debt discount on the new loan along 
with the lender fees paid to and additional warrants issued to Trinity in October 2020. On June 10, 2021 these warrants were net 
exercised and ultimately converted into 196,346 shares of indie Class A common stock.

The new loan had a maturity date of October 1, 2024 and interest equal to the greater of 10.75% or the Prime Rate plus 7.5%. 
The term loan may be prepaid by paying the principal and interest plus a prepayment fee ranging from 4.0% to 1.0% of the 
principal being repaid, depending on the length of time between the effective date and the prepayment date. Upon final 
repayment, an end-of-term fee of $720 was payable by the Company to Trinity. The term loan was collateralized by 
substantially all of the Company’s assets to the extent they were not already securing the senior debt of PacWest.

As of December 31, 2020, the Company had $11,335 outstanding under the Trinity Term loans, net of the unamortized discount 
and issuance cost generated as a result of the warrant issuance described in Note 14 — Stockholders’ Equity. The debt discount 
and issuance costs were being amortized through interest expense over the term of the loan using the effective interest method. 
The old loan required monthly interest only payments of $141 until November 2019 when repayment of principal began, and 
payments increased to $493 per month. The new loan required interest only payments of $108 until October 2021 when 
repayment of principal began, and payments increased to $391 per month with an effective interest rate of 15.8%.

On June 21, 2021, the Company fully repaid the outstanding loan balance and the accrued interest of $13,261, including 
principal of $12,000, end-of-term fee and early termination fee of $1,200 and accrued interest of $61. As a result of the 
repayment, the Company recognized a loss from extinguishment of debt for $1,585, which included (i) the remaining 
unamortized discount and debt issuance cost of $577 and (ii) end-of-term fee and early termination fee paid not previously 
accrued of $1,008, in the consolidated statement of operations for the year ended December 31, 2021.

TeraXion Revolving Credit

In connection with the acquisition of TeraXion on October 12, 2021, the Company assumed a revolving credit with the 
Canadian Imperial Bank of Commerce (“CIBC”) with a credit limit of CAD9,440 bearing interest at prime rate plus 0.25%, 
repayable in monthly installments of CAD155 plus interest, maturing in October 2026. The repayment of monthly installments 
reduces the credit limit over time. CIBC also reserves the right to request for full repayment of a portion or all outstanding 
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balances at anytime. At December 31, 2022 and 2021, the outstanding principal balance and credit limit of the loan was $5,247 
and $7,102 (or CAD7,119 and CAD8,976), respectively. 

TeraXion also has an authorized credit facility up to CAD7,000 from CIBC, bearing interest at prime rate plus 0.25%. This line 
of credit was unused as of December 31, 2022 and 2021.

Short-Term Loans

Wuxi

On November 13, 2019, Wuxi entered into a short-term loan agreement with CITIC Group Corporation Ltd. with aggregate 
principal balance of CNY2,000, or approximately $285, and bearing interest of 4.785% per annum. The principal balance is 
denominated in Chinese Yuan and the outstanding balance is adjusted for changes in foreign currency exchange rates at each 
reporting period. On November 13, 2020, the terms of the agreement were extended for twelve months, and the principal and 
interest were due on November 15, 2021. On November 19, 2021, the total outstanding balance with CITIC Group Corporation 
was fully paid off. On January 19, 2022, Wuxi entered into a short-term loan agreement with CITIC Group Corporation Ltd. 
with aggregate principal balance of CNY2,000, or approximately $315, and bearing interest of 3.90% per annum. On June 21, 
2022, Wuxi increased its short-term loan principal with CITIC by CNY3,000, or approximately $448, and bearing interest of 
3.70% per annum. The principal balance is denominated in Chinese Yuan and the outstanding balance is adjusted for changes in 
foreign currency exchange rates at each reporting period. As of December 31, 2022, the total outstanding short-term loan with 
CITIC Group Corporation Ltd. was CNY5,000, or approximately $725.

On October 15, 2020, Wuxi entered into a short-term loan agreement with Bank of Ningbo (“NBCB”) with aggregate principal 
balance of CNY1,000 or approximately $151 and bearing interest of 4.785%. On April 29, 2021, Wuxi increased its short-term 
loan principal with NBCB by CNY1,000 or approximately $155 to a total principal balance of CNY4,000. On October 14, 
2021, the borrowing from October 15, 2020 was fully paid off. On October 18, 2021, Wuxi re-entered into a short-term loan 
agreement with NBCB for CNY1,000, or approximately $150 and bearing interest of 4.785%. On April 26, 2022, the entire 
loan balance was paid off, and on April 27, 2022 Wuxi entered into a short-term loan agreement with NBCB with aggregate 
principal balance of CNY2,000, or approximately $304, and bearing interest of 4.26% per annum. On June 24, 2022, Wuxi 
increased its principal balance by CNY3,000, or $448, and bearing interest of 3.15% per annum. As of December 31, 2022, the 
total outstanding short-term loan with NBCB was CNY5,000, or $725. As of December 31, 2021, the total outstanding short-
term loan with NBCB was CNY2,000, or $315. 

On November 18, 2021, Wuxi also entered into a short-term loan agreement with Bank of Nanjing with aggregate principal 
balance of CNY$3,000, or approximately $453 and bearing interest of 4.00%, On November 10, 2022, the entire loan balance 
was paid off. As of December 31, 2021, the total outstanding short-term loan with Bank of Nanjing was CNY3,000, or $472.

Symeo Promissory Note

In connection with the Symeo acquisition on January 4, 2022, the Company issued a short-term interest-free promissory note of 
$10,000, payable upon its maturity of January 31, 2023. As of December 31, 2022, the outstanding principal balance was 
$10,000 and the carrying value was $9,961. The promissory note was fully repaid on January 31, 2023.

Tropez Note

On January 31, 2020, the Company entered into a convertible loan agreement with Tropez Fund Limited (“Tropez”) with 
principal amount of $2,000 and subject to interest of 12% per annum. The terms of the loan provide for a renewable 180-
day period for a maximum term of twelve months. The Company renewed the loan on July 29, 2020 for the additional 180-
day period. The note was amended on January 21, 2021 to extend the maturity date to the earlier of December 31, 2021 or the 
closing of the merger with Thunder Bridge Acquisition II, Ltd. described in Note 1 — Nature of the Business and Basis of 
Presentation. Additionally, the January 21, 2021 amendment removed the conversion rights associated with the loan. On 
June 17, 2021, the Company fully repaid the outstanding loan balance and the accrued interest of $2,346 and the loan was 
terminated.
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Paycheck Protection Program

In April 2020, the Company applied for a loan pursuant to the Paycheck Protection Program of the Coronavirus Aid, Relief, and 
Economic Security Act (the “CARES Act”) as administered by the U.S. Small Business Administration (the “SBA”). In May 
2020, the loan was approved, and the Company received gross proceeds from the loan in the amount of $1,868 (the “PPP 
Loan”). The PPP Loan took the form of a promissory note that matures two years after the date of the note and bears interest at 
a rate of 1.0% per annum. Monthly principal and interest payments, less the amount of any potential forgiveness (discussed 
below), will commence in 2021. The PPP Loan provides for customary events of default, including, among others, those 
relating to failure to make payments thereunder. The Company may prepay the principal of the PPP Loan at any time without 
incurring any prepayment penalties. The PPP Loan is non-recourse against any individual stockholder, except to the extent that 
such party uses the loan proceeds for an unauthorized purpose.

All or a portion of the PPP Loan may be forgiven by the SBA and lender upon application by the Company and upon 
documentation of expenditures in accordance with the SBA requirements. Under the CARES Act, loan forgiveness is available 
for the sum of documented payroll costs, covered rent payments, and covered utilities during the applicable period beginning on 
the date of loan approval. For purposes of the CARES Act, payroll costs exclude compensation of an individual employee in 
excess of $100,000, prorated annually. Not more than 25% of the forgiven amount may be for non-payroll costs. Forgiveness is 
reduced if full-time headcount declines, or if salaries and wages for employees with salaries of $100,000 or less annually are 
reduced by more than 25%. 

On May 10, 2021, the entire balance of the PPP Loan was forgiven by the SBA and lender. As a result, the Company recorded a 
gain on extinguishment of debt of $1,889, which represented the principal balance of $1,868 and accrued interest of $21, in the 
consolidated statement of operations for the year ended December 31, 2021.

The table below sets forth the components of interest expense for the years ended December 31, 2022 and 2021:

December 31,
2022 2021

Interest expense on the 2027 Notes
Stated interest at 4.50% per annum $ 900 $ — 
Amortization of discount and issuance cost 116 — 

Total interest expense related to the 2027 Notes 1,016 — 

Interest expense on other debt obligations:
Contractual interest 375 1,041 
Amortization of discount and issuance cost 301 198 

Total interest expense related to other debt obligations 676 1,239 

Total interest expense $ 1,692 $ 1,239 

The future maturities of the debt obligations are as follows:

2023 $ 16,697 
2024 — 
2025 — 
2026 — 
2027 160,000 
Total $ 176,697 
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10) Warrant Liability

In connection with the June 10, 2021 Transaction, holders of TB2 Class A ordinary shares automatically received Class A 
common stock of indie, and holders of TB2 warrants automatically received 17,250,000 warrants of indie with substantively 
identical terms (“Public Warrants”). At the closing of the Transaction, 8,625,000 Class B ordinary shares of TB2 owned by 
Thunder Bridge Acquisition II LLC, a Delaware limited liability company (the “Sponsor”), automatically converted into 
8,625,000 shares of indie Class A common stock, and 8,650,000 private placement warrants held by the Sponsor, each 
exercisable for one Class A ordinary share of TB2 at $11.50 per share, automatically converted into warrants to purchase one 
share of indie Class A common stock at $11.50 per share with substantively identical terms (“the “Private Placement 
Warrants”). Also at the Closing, TB2 issued 1,500,000 working capital warrants to an affiliate of the Sponsor in satisfaction of 
a working capital promissory note of $1,500 (the “Working Capital Warrants” and, together with the Private Placement 
Warrants, the “Private Warrants”). These Working Capital Warrants have substantially identical terms to the Private Placement 
Warrants. 

The warrants may be exercised only during the period commencing on July 10, 2021 (30 days after the closing of the 
Transaction) through June 10, 2026. The Company may redeem the Public Warrants at a price of $0.01 per warrant upon 30 
days’ notice, only in the event that the last sale price of the Class A common stock is at least $18.00 per share for any 20 trading 
days within a 30-trading day period ending on the third day prior to the date on which notice of redemption is given, provided 
there is an effective registration statement and current prospectus in effect with respect to the Class A common stock underlying 
such warrants during the 30 day redemption period. If the Company redeems the warrants as described above, management will 
have the option to require all holders to exercise warrants on a “cashless basis.” 

In accordance with the warrant agreement relating to the Public Warrants, the Company is required to use its best efforts to 
maintain the effectiveness of the registration statement covering the warrants. If a registration statement is not effective within 
90 days following the consummation of a business combination, warrant holders may, until such time as there is an effective 
registration statement and during any period when the Company shall have failed to maintain an effective registration 
statement, exercise warrants on a cashless basis pursuant to an available exemption from registration under the Securities Act. 
In the event that a registration statement is not effective at the time of exercise or no exemption is available for a cashless 
exercise, the holder of such warrant shall not be entitled to exercise such warrant for cash and in no event (whether in the case 
of a registration statement being effective or otherwise) will the Company be required to net cash settle the warrant exercise. 

The terms of the Private Warrants are identical to the Public Warrants as described above, except that the Private Warrants are 
not redeemable so long as they are held by the Sponsor or its permitted transferees.

The Company has reviewed the terms of warrants to purchase its Class A common stock to determine whether warrants should 
be classified as liabilities or stockholders’ equity in its consolidated balance sheet. In order for a warrant to be classified in 
stockholders’ equity, the warrant must be (a) indexed to the Company’s equity and (b) meet the conditions for equity 
classification in ASC 815-40, Derivatives and Hedging – Contracts in an Entity’s Own Equity. If a warrant does not meet the 
conditions for equity classification, it is carried on the consolidated balance sheet as a warrant liability measured at fair value, 
with subsequent changes in the fair value of the warrant recorded in the statement of operations as change in fair value of 
warrants in Other income (expense), net. The Company determined that all warrants are required to be carried as a liability in 
the consolidated balance sheet at fair value, with changes in fair value recorded in the consolidated statement of operations (see 
Note 13 — Fair Value Measurements). At the closing of the Transaction on June 10, 2021, the warrants had an initial fair value 
of $74,408, which was recorded as liability and a reduction to additional paid in capital in the consolidated balance sheet.

The following table is a summary of the number of shares of the Company’s Class A common stock issuable upon exercise of 
warrants outstanding at June 10, 2021:

Number of 
Shares

Exercise
Price

Redemption 
Price

Expiration 
Date Classification

Initial Fair 
Value

Public Warrants 17,250,000 $ 11.50 $ 18.00 June 10, 2026 Liability $ 42,435 
Private Warrants 10,150,000 $ 11.50 N/A June 10, 2026 Liability $ 31,973 

As of December 31, 2022 and 2021, there have been no exercises of the warrants and the fair value was  $45,398 and $100,467, 
respectively.
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11) Contingent and Earn-Out Liabilities

Earn-Out Milestones

Certain of indie’s stockholders are entitled to receive up to 10,000,000 earn-out shares of the Company’s Class A common 
stock if the earn-out milestones are met. The earn-out milestones represent two independent criteria, each of which entitles the 
eligible stockholders to 5,000,000 earn-out shares per milestone met. Each earn-out milestone is considered met if at any time 
following the Transaction and prior to December 31, 2027, the volume weighted average price of indie’s Class A common 
stock is greater than or equal to $12.50 or $15.00 for any twenty trading days within any thirty-trading day period, respectively. 
Further, the earn-out milestones are also considered to be met if indie undergoes a Sale. A Sale is defined as the occurrence of 
any of the following for indie: (i) engage in a “going private” transaction pursuant to Rule 13e-3 under the Securities Exchange 
Act of 1934, as amended (the “Exchange Act”), or otherwise cease to be subject to reporting obligations under Sections 13 or 
15(d) of the Exchange Act; (ii) Class A common stock ceases to be listed on a national securities exchange, other than for the 
failure to satisfy minimum listing requirements under applicable stock exchange rules; or (iii) change of ownership (including a 
merger or consolidation) or approval of a plan for complete liquidation or dissolution.

These earn-out shares have been categorized into two components: (i) those associated with stockholders with vested equity at 
the closing of the Transaction that will be earned upon achievement of the earn-out milestones (the “Vested Shares”) and (ii) 
those associated with stockholders with unvested equity at the closing of the Transaction that will be earned over the remaining 
service period with the Company on their unvested equity shares and upon achievement of the Earn-Out Milestones (the 
“Unvested Shares”). The Vested Shares are classified as liabilities in the consolidated balance sheet and the Unvested Shares 
are equity-classified share-based compensation to be recognized over time (see Note 17 — Share-Based Compensation). The 
earn-out liability was initially measured at fair value at the closing of the Transaction and subsequently remeasured at the end of 
each reporting period. The change in fair value of the earn-out liability is recorded as part of Other income (expense), net in the 
consolidated statement of operations.

The estimated fair value of the earn-out liability was determined using a Monte Carlo Simulations analysis that simulated the 
future path of the Company’s stock price over the earn-out period. The assumptions utilized in the calculation are based on the 
achievement of certain stock price milestones including projected stock price, volatility, and risk-free rate. 

Escrow Shares

3,450,000 Class A common shares of indie were placed in escrow for the potential future release to the Sponsor in the event the 
earn-out milestones are met. The earn-out milestones for the Escrow Shares are identical to those of the earn-out shares. 
Achievement of each milestone entitles the shareholders to 50% of the total Escrow Shares. The Escrow Shares have been 
accounted for as a liability and remeasured to fair value each reporting period. 

At the closing of the Transaction on June 10, 2021, the earn-out liability had an initial fair value of $119,759, which was 
recorded as a long-term liability and a reduction to additional paid in capital in the consolidated balance sheet.

As of November 9, 2021, the first earn-out milestone was achieved while the second Earn-Out Milestone remains unachieved. 
The achievement of the first earn-out milestone eliminated the variability in the arrangement that previously prevented this 
instrument to be equity-classified. As a result, the earn-out liabilities associated with the first Earn-Out Milestone were recorded 
to Additional paid-in capital in the consolidated balance sheet at its fair value. At the same time, the unearned liabilities 
associated with the second Earn-Out Milestones were also remeasured to its fair value and reclassified per ASC 815-40 to 
Additional paid-in capital in the consolidated balance sheet. The total fair value associated with the first and second Earn-Out 
Milestone is $158,517 and the change in fair value of $38,758 from its initial measurement date is recorded as part of Other 
income (expense), net in the consolidated statement of operations as of December 31, 2021.

As of December 31, 2021, there was no liability remaining on the balance sheet. 

Contingent Considerations

On May 13, 2020, in connection with the acquisition of City Semiconductor, Inc. (“City Semi”), the Company recorded 
contingent consideration as a long-term liability at a fair value of $1,180. The contingent consideration is comprised of two 
tranches. The first tranche is payable, up to a maximum of $500, upon the achievement of cash collection targets within twelve 
months of the acquisition, and $456 was achieved in May 2021. The second tranche is payable, up to a maximum of $1,500, 
upon the shipment of a product incorporating the acquired developed technology. In September 2021, the Company paid off the 
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first tranche of the contingent consideration. The fair value of the second tranche contingent consideration liabilities was $1,383 
as of December 31, 2022. 

On October 1, 2021, in connection with the acquisition of ON Design Israel, the Company recorded contingent consideration as 
a long-term liability at a fair value of $4,000. The contingent consideration is comprised of two tranches. The first tranche is 
payable, up to a maximum of $2,500, upon the achievement of Tapeout of certain product designs acquired from the seller 
within 30 months of the acquisition. The second tranche is payable, up to a maximum of $5,000, upon indie’s achievement of a 
Design Win related to certain acquired product designs within 36 months of the acquisition. The fair value of the first and 
second tranche contingent consideration liabilities was $1,817 and $2,222, respectively, and are recorded in Other long-term 
liabilities in the consolidated balance sheet as of December 31, 2021. The change in fair value since the acquisition date is 
recorded in Other income (expense), net in the consolidated statement of operations as of  December 31, 2021. During the six 
months ended June 30, 2022, management determined that the product design specified in the contingent consideration 
provision would be replaced with a new product design that is better aligned with customer requirements and which will not be 
eligible for either of the contingent considerations. Accordingly, the fair value for both the Tapeout and Design Win were 
reduced to zero as of December 31, 2022. The change in fair value since the acquisition date is recorded in Other income 
(expense), net in the consolidated statement of operations.

On January 4, 2022, in connection with the acquisition of Symeo, the Company recorded contingent considerations as a current 
and a long-term liability at a fair value of $4,390 and $3,446, respectively. The contingent consideration is comprised of two 
tranches. The first tranche is payable upon the achievement of a revenue threshold of $5,000 by December 31, 2022. The 
second tranche is payable upon Symeo’s achievement of a revenue threshold of $6,000 by December 31, 2023. The fair value 
of the first and second tranche contingent consideration liabilities as of December 31, 2022 was $2,000 and $4, respectively. 
The change in fair value since the acquisition date is recorded in Other income (expense), net in the consolidated statement of 
operations.

See Note 3 — Business Combinations for additional information.

12) Simple Agreements for Future Equity (“SAFEs”)

During the year ended December 31, 2020, the Company entered into SAFEs with existing investors and third-party investors 
for total proceeds of $25,765. The SAFEs require that the Company issue equity to the SAFE holders in exchange for their 
investment upon an equity raise of at least $35,000. During April, 2021, the Company entered into SAFEs with a third-party 
investor for a total purchase amount of $5,000. The SAFEs require that the Company issue equity to the SAFE holders in 
exchange for their investment upon an equity financing (including a SPAC transaction) with an aggregate purchase price of at 
least $35,000. 

In connection with the closing of the Transaction on June 10, 2021, all SAFEs converted into Class A membership units in 
ADK LLC, and then into 7,466,891 shares of Class A common stock and 454,077 shares of Class V common stock of indie. At 
the time of conversion, the SAFEs had a fair value of $86,100, which was valued based on the Company’s market close price of 
$10.87 per share, and was recorded as a reduction of additional paid in capital in the consolidated balance sheet. The fair value 
of the SAFEs was $102,700 as of December 31, 2020. The change in fair value between the last measurement date and the 
conversion date was recorded in Other income (expense), net in the consolidated statement of operations. 

13) Fair Value Measurements

The Company’s debt instruments are recorded at their carrying values in its consolidated balance sheets, which may differ from 
their respective fair values. The fair values of the Company’s convertible notes are estimated using the valuation of the 
securities into which the debt is convertible, external pricing data, based on interest rates and credit ratings for similar issuances 
with the same remaining term as the Company’s outstanding borrowings. The fair values of the Company’s term loans 
generally approximated their carrying values. 

At December 31, 2022 and 2021, the Company held currency forward contracts of $3,825 and $3,075 to sell United States 
dollars and to buy Canadian dollars at a forward rate. Any changes in the fair value of these contracts are reflected in the 
consolidated statement of operations. The change in fair value at December 31, 2022 and 2021 was de minimis.

The following table presents the Company’s fair value hierarchy for financial assets and liabilities:
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Fair Value Measurements as of December 31, 2022
Level 1 Level 2 Level 3 Total

Liabilities:
Private Placement Warrants $ — $ — $ 17,970 $ 17,970 
Public Warrants $ 27,428 $ — $ — $ 27,428 
City Semi Contingent Consideration - Second Tranche $ — $ — $ 1,383 $ 1,383 
Symeo Contingent Consideration - First Tranche $ — $ — $ 2,000 $ 2,000 
Symeo Contingent Consideration - Second Tranche $ — $ — $ 4 $ 4 
Symeo Promissory Note $ — $ — $ 9,674 $ 9,674 
Currency forward contract $ — $ 3,845 $ — $ 3,845 

Fair Value Measurements as of December 31, 2021
Level 1 Level 2 Level 3 Total

Liabilities:
Private Placement Warrants $ — $ — $ 40,092 $ 40,092 
Public Warrants $ 60,375 $ — $ — $ 60,375 
ON Design Israel Contingent Consideration - Tapeout $ — $ — $ 1,817 $ 1,817 
ON Design Israel Contingent Consideration - Design Win $ — $ — $ 2,222 $ 2,222 
City Semi Contingent Consideration - Second Tranche $ — $ — $ 980 $ 980 
Currency forward contract $ — $ 3,068 $ — $ 3,068 

As of December 31, 2022 and 2021, the Company’s cash and cash equivalents were all held in cash or Level 1 instruments 
where the fair values approximate the carrying values.

Level 3 Disclosures

Warrants

Private Placement Warrants were valued using the Black-Scholes-Merton formula and a Monte Carlo Simulations analysis. 
Calculating the fair value of warrants requires the input of subjective assumptions. Other reasonable assumptions could provide 
differing results. The carrying amount of the liability may fluctuate significantly and actual amounts paid may be materially 
different from the liability’s estimated value. 

For the year ended December 31, 2022, there were no redemptions of the warrants and the carrying amount of the liability 
fluctuated due to fair value remeasurement.

Contingent Earn-Outs

Contingent earn-outs were valued using a Monte Carlo Simulations analysis in order to simulate the future path of the 
Company’s stock price over the earn-out period. The carrying amount of the liability may fluctuate significantly and actual 
amounts paid may be materially different from the liability’s estimated value. As of November 9, 2021, the first earn-out 
milestone was achieved. The existing liability was remeasured to its fair value and reclassified from a liability to Additional 
paid-in capital in the consolidated balance sheet. See Note 11 — Contingent and earn-out Liabilities for additional information.

Contingent Considerations

Contingent considerations were valued based on the consideration expected to be transferred. The Company estimated the fair 
value based on a Monte Carlo Simulations analysis in order to simulate the probability of achievement of various milestones 
identified within each contingent consideration arrangement, using certain assumptions that require significant judgement and 
discount rates. The discount rates were based on the estimated cost of debt plus a premium, which included consideration of 
expected term of the earn-out payment, yield on treasury instruments and an estimated credit rating for the Company.
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The following table presents the significant unobservable inputs assumed for each of the fair value measurements:

As of December 31, 
2022

As of December 31, 
2021

Input Input
Liabilities:
Warrants

Expected volatility  64.00 %  36.00 %
City Semi Contingent Consideration - Second Tranche

Discount rate  12.65 %  10.83 %
ON Design Israel Contingent Consideration - Tapeout

Discount rate N/A 4.37%
ON Design Israel Contingent Consideration - Design Win

Discount rate N/A 4.37%
Contingent earn-outs - second milestone

Constant volatility factor N/A  40.00 %
Symeo Contingent Consideration - First Tranche

Discount Rate  4.73 % N/A
Symeo Contingent Consideration - Second Tranche

Discount Rate  4.73 % N/A
Symeo Promissory Note

Discount rate  3.13 % N/A

14) Stockholders’ Equity

Wuxi Capital Raise

On November 29, 2022, the Company entered into and closed an agreement with multiple investors in China, including two of 
the top four Chinese automotive OEMs, that secured a strategic investment (“Wuxi Capital Raise”) through Wuxi indie 
Microelectronics Ltd. (“Wuxi”), indie’s majority controlled subsidiary. The Wuxi Capital Raise provided Wuxi additional 
funding of CNY300,000 (approximately $42,000) by issuing 371,160 shares from Wuxi, which represents 16% of Wuxi’s 
equity at the time of issuance. The funds raised are intended to promote Wuxi’s business development and strengthen its 
capabilities. Pursuant to the terms of the Agreement, these investors will subscribe into the 371,160 shares at ¥808.28 per share. 
As a result, indie’s ownership in Wuxi has reduced from 45% to 38%. As indie continues to control Wuxi’s Board of Directors 
and has the majority of the voting interests, Wuxi’s financial results will continue to be consolidated with those of ADK LLC 
and its other wholly-owned subsidiaries. Minority interests held in Wuxi are accounted for as non-controlling interests in the 
Company’s consolidated financial statements. Among other provisions, this agreement includes certain liquidation preferences 
for the investors (“Deemed Liquidation Event” or “DLE”) as well as an ability to exchange their Wuxi shares for shares of 
indie’s Class A common stock in the event Wuxi does not successfully complete a local initial public offering (“IPO”) by 
December 31, 2027 (the “Conversion”). A Deemed Liquidation Event includes but not limited to (a) a change of control of the 
Company or its surviving entity in a single, or series of related transactions, or merger, division, reorganization, acquisition, or 
business integration between the Company and any third parties, excluding any corporate restricting as duly approved pursuant 
to the AOA; or (b) a sale, transfer or otherwise disposal of the all or substantially all assets of the Company, in a single, or 
series of related transactions. Upon a DLE prior to IPO, the distribution will be made in cash in order of the liquidation 
preferences pursuant to the investment agreement for an amount that is the higher of (i) an amount equal to 100% of the 
applicable original issue price with an annual simple premium of 8% (calculated from the Closing Date to the date of the 
Liquidation Event), or (ii) an amount equal to the total liquidation proceeds received by the Company or the shareholders (as 
the case may be) directly in a Liquidation Event, multiplied by the shareholder’s proportionate ownership percentage, plus all 
accrued or declared but unpaid dividends of such share.
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Pursuant to the investment agreement, Wuxi shall use commercially reasonable efforts to meet the conditions for the IPO and 
list shares by a Chinese or overseas securities trading institutions and consummate an IPO as early as possible if Wuxi is unable 
to consummate an IPO, indie undertakes to exchange the shares issued in this capital raise for indie’s Class A common stock 
equal to the total capital raised plus a premium of 8% per year (simple interest) between the execution date and December 31, 
2027. The total amount is calculated using the exchange rate at the time of the stock exchange and the value of each of Class A 
common stock is based on the stock price at that time, but the exchange shall not exceed a total of 6,000,000 shares of indie 
Class A common stock. 

Stock Repurchase Program

On November 16, 2022, indie’s Board of Directors authorized the repurchase, from time to time, of up to $50,000 of indie’s 
Class A common stock and/or warrants to purchase common stock. This is inclusive of any concurrent repurchase of shares of 
common stock described in Note 9 - Debt, under the 2027 Notes, which allows for a portion of net proceeds to be used to 
repurchase up to $25,000 of common stock. For the year ended December 31, 2022, in connection with the concurrent 
repurchase, the Company has repurchased 1,112,524 shares of common stock, at an average cost of $6.65 per share, for 
approximately $7,404.

Post Transaction Stockholders’ Equity

In connection with the closing of the Transaction on June 10, 2021, all of the historical members’ equity in ADK LLC that was 
issued and outstanding at the Closing were converted to either Class A or Class V common stock of the Company per its rights 
and privileges as follows:

As of June 10, 2021

Member Units Outstanding
Class A 

Common Stock
Class V 

Common Stock
Class A 1,381,424 12,612,470 25,791,473 
Class B 293,221 9,564,150 — 
Class C 400,000 11,520,101 — 
Class D 236,521 1,568,565 5,806,776 
Class E 112,916 1,309,971 2,229,122 
Class F 492,110 16,380,782 — 
Class G 10,019 278,533 — 
Total 2,926,211 53,234,572 33,827,371 

Class H units were redeemed for a cash payment of $900.
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Pre-Merger Members’ Equity

The table and information set forth below reflects information about the historical ADK LLC members’ equity immediately 
prior to the closing as of June 10, 2021 and as of December 31, 2020:

As of June 10, 2021 As of December 31, 2020
Authorized Issued Outstanding Authorized Issued Outstanding

Class A 3,136,518 1,381,424 1,381,424 3,136,518 911,500 911,500 
Class B 513,846 367,395 293,221 513,846 367,927 229,732 
Class C 400,000 400,000 400,000 400,000 300,000 300,000 
Class D 236,521 236,521 236,521 236,521 236,521 236,521 
Class E 112,916 112,916 112,916 112,916 112,916 112,916 
Class F 492,110 492,110 492,110 492,110 492,110 492,110 
Class G 11,482 10,019 10,019 11,482 — — 
Class H 5,000 4,500 4,500 5,000 4,500 4,500 
Total 4,908,393 3,004,885 2,930,711 4,908,393 2,425,474 2,287,279 

In connection with its formation on February 9, 2007, the Company issued 911,500 Class A units to the four initial members. 
On December 28, 2012, the Company issued 300,000 Class C units to an investor at an original issue price of $0.01 per unit for 
total consideration of $3,000.

The Company reserved 185,000 Class A units and 100,000 Class C units in connection with the convertible notes described in 
Note 9 — Debt. These units are not issued or outstanding until conversion of the outstanding principal in accordance with the 
terms of the notes.

The Fifth Amended and Restated LLC Agreement (the “ADK LLC Operating Agreement”) authorized an increase of Class B 
units from 243,000 units to 513,846 units. The Class B units are profit interests issued to employees, directors, and consultants. 
See Note 17 — Share-Based Compensation.

On July 24, 2015, the Company issued 221,739 Class D units to an investor at an original issue price of $33.82 per unit for cash 
consideration of approximately $7,215, net of issuance costs of $285. On August 28, 2015, the Company issued an additional 
14,782 Class D units to an existing investor at an original issue price of $33.82 per unit for cash consideration of $500.

On July 25, 2017, the Company issued 112,916 Class E units to investors at an original issue price of $35.42 per unit for cash 
consideration of $3,963, net of issuance costs of $37.

The Company issued warrants to purchase Class G units as part of amendments to the terms of debt agreements with Trinity 
and PacWest, see Note 9 — Debt. In connection with entering into the term loan agreement with Trinity in March 2018, the 
Company issued an aggregate of 6,250 warrants with a strike price of $35.42 to purchase Class G units. In April 2018, as part 
of an amendment to the loan and security agreement, the Company issued warrants to PacWest to purchase 3,388 Class G units 
with a strike price of $35.42 (see Note 21 — Commitments and Contingencies). On October 1, 2020, in connection with the 
new loan agreement with Trinity, the Company issued additional warrants to Trinity to purchase 1,844 Class G units at a strike 
price of $35.42 under the same terms and features as previously issued Class G warrants. 

Following the Company’s announcement of the Master Transactions Agreement (“MTA”), PacWest issued a letter dated 
February 3, 2021 to the Company demanding 52,632 warrants in satisfaction of the provisions contained in the August 9, 2017 
credit facility amendment. On June 8, 2021, the Company and PacWest entered into a settlement agreement and mutual release 
where both parties acknowledged and agreed that the original 3,388 warrants issued were in full compliance of the credit 
facility amendment.

In June 2018, the Company issued 492,110 Class F units to investors at an issue price of $54.87 per unit for cash consideration 
of $26,790, net of issuance costs of $210.

In May 2020, the Company issued 4,500 Class H units to the owners of City Semi as part of the business combination.
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The rights and privileges of the holders of the equity units are as follows:

Liquidation Rights and Distributions with Respect to Liquidity Event Rights

The Company’s Operating Agreement outlines the liquidation and other preferential rights granted to holders of Class C, D, E, 
F, G and H units. These rights include preferential treatment in the case of an extraordinary distribution by the Company to its 
members (not including any distribution of units), a sale of the Company, a liquidation event or unwind of the Company. The 
distribution provisions are complex and depend on the amount of proceeds to be distributed. In the scenario where the proceeds 
are sufficient to return the capital investment of each class and provide greater than another 50% of the capital investment of 
each class on a participating basis, then Class F as the most senior preference and would be entitled to the amount of the 
original issue price of the Class F Units, followed by Classes E, D, and C in that order, each in the respective amount of the 
original issue price of its units, followed by Class H and G up to the original issue price. The remaining amounts available to be 
distributed are shared among all of the classes of Units (except for Class G) according to their fully diluted percentages. If 
distribution proceeds are not sufficient to return the capital investment of each class and provide greater than another 50% of 
the capital investment of each class on a participating basis, then, the Operating Agreement provides numerous distribution 
waterfalls that are designed to achieve the rights of each class in each scenario based on the specific amount of proceeds. 
Generally, if a preferred class would receive through a fixed preference of 150% of its capital as compared to 100% of its 
capital plus its participation in the residual tranche, then the preferred class would receive up to 150% of its capital with no 
participation. Class A and Class B receive distributions only in the residual tranche to the extent proceeds remain after the 
preferences.

Conversion Rights

Each unit of Classes C, D, E, F, G and H shall be convertible, at the option of the holder thereof, into such number of fully paid 
and nonassessable Class A units as is determined by dividing the original issue price for the units of Classes C, D, E, F, G or H 
as applicable, by the conversion price (original issue price) applicable to such Class C, D, E, F, G and H unit in effect on the 
conversion date. Additionally, each Class C, D, E, F, G, or H unit shall automatically be converted into Class A units at the 
Conversion Price applicable to such units of Classes C, D, E, F, G or H immediately upon the Company’s sale of its securities 
in a firm commitment underwritten public offering pursuant to a registration statement under the Securities Act in which (i) the 
public offering per unit price is not less than $180.53 (adjusted for splits and reverse splits and other adjustments of Class F 
Units) and (ii) the anticipated aggregate offering price is at least $200,000. The conversion price shall be the initial issuance 
price as adjusted for any antidilution provisions as defined in the operating agreement.

Voting Rights

Each Class A unit shall be entitled to one point four seven (1.47) votes per Class A unit. This ratio is revised from time to time 
to equal (X) divided by (Y), where (X) equals the sum of (i) the Class A units issued to the initial members and their successors 
and assigns plus (ii) the total number of authorized B units and G units, and (Y) equals the total number of Class A units issued 
to the initial members and their successors and assigns.

Holders of Class B units shall not be entitled to vote except as otherwise required by law. Each holder of Class C, D, E, and F 
units shall be entitled one vote per Class A unit into which such Class C, D, E, and F units are convertible. Holders of Class G 
and H units shall not be entitled to vote except as otherwise required by law or in the event the holders of Class G or H units 
convert their units to Class A units as in the operating agreement.

15) Noncontrolling Interest

In connection with the closing of the Transaction on June 10, 2021, certain members of ADK LLC (the “ADK Minority 
Holders”) retained an approximate 26% membership interest in ADK LLC. The ADK Minority Holders may from time to time, 
after December 10, 2021, exchange with indie, such holders’ units in ADK LLC for an equal number of shares of indie’s Class 
A common stock. As a result, indie’s ownership interest in ADK LLC will increase. The ADK Minority Holders’ ownership 
interests are accounted for as noncontrolling interests in the Company’s consolidated financial statements. The Company’s 
ownership of ADK LLC, was approximately 85% and 78% as of December 31, 2022 and 2021, respectively.

In connection with the Transaction, the Company issued to ADK LLC Minority Holders an aggregate of 33,827,371 shares of 
Class V common stock of indie (the “Class V Holders”). The shares of Class V common stock provides no economic rights in 
indie to the holder thereof; however, each Class V Holder is entitled to vote with the holders of Class A common stock of indie, 
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with each share of Class V common stock entitling the holder to one (1) vote per share of Class V common stock at the time of 
such vote (subject to customary conversion rate adjustments for stock splits, stock dividends and reclassifications). As of 
December 31, 2022 and 2021, the Company had an aggregate of 21,381,476 and 30,448,081 shares of Class V common stock 
issued and outstanding, respectively.

ADK LLC held 55% and 50% voting control and 38% and 50% ownership interest in Wuxi as of December 31, 2022 and 2021, 
respectively. From time to time, Wuxi has sold equity ownership and the transactions have reduced ADK LLC’s controlling 
interest in Wuxi on the consolidated balance sheets. As of December 31, 2022, ADK LLC maintained its controlling ownership 
in Wuxi. Accordingly, Wuxi’s financial statements are consolidated with those of ADK LLC and its other wholly-owned 
subsidiaries. Minority interests held in Wuxi are accounted for as non-controlling interests in the Company’s consolidated 
financial statements.

16) Revenue

Disaggregation of Revenue

The Company disaggregates revenue from contracts with customers by geographic region, as the Company’s management 
believes it best depicts how the nature, amount, timing and uncertainty of revenue and cash flows are affected by economic 
factors.

The following tables present revenue disaggregated by geography of the customer’s shipping location for the years ended 
December 31, 2022 and 2021:

Year Ended December 31,
2022 2021

United States $ 39,915 $ 11,313 
Greater China 43,969 25,973 
Europe 16,713 4,928 
Rest of North America 4,788 3,798 
Rest of Asia Pacific 3,932 1,006 
South America 1,480 1,394 
Total $ 110,797 $ 48,412 

Contract Balances

Certain assets or liabilities are recorded depending on the timing of revenue recognition, billings and cash collections on a 
contract-by-contract basis. Contract liabilities primarily relate to deferred revenue, including advance consideration received 
from customers for contracts prior to the transfer of control to the customer, and therefore revenue is recognized upon delivery 
of products and services or as the services are performed. 

The following table presents the assets and liabilities associated with the engineering services contracts recorded on the 
consolidated balance sheet as of December 31, 2022 and 2021:

December 31,
Balance Sheet Classification 2022 2021

Unbilled revenue Prepaid expenses and other current assets $ 3,623 $ 402 
Contract liabilities Accrued expenses and other current liabilities $ 1,739 $ 1,840 

During the year ended December 31, 2022 and 2021, the Company recognized $1,253 and $1,665, respectively, of revenue 
related to amounts that were previously included in deferred revenue at the beginning of the period. Deferred revenue fluctuates 
over time due to changes in the timing of payments received from customers and revenue recognized for services provided.

Revenue related to remaining performance obligations represents the amount of contracted development arrangements that has 
not been recognized, which includes deferred revenue on the consolidated balance sheet and unbilled amounts that will be 
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recognized as revenue in future periods. As of December 31, 2022, the amount of performance obligations that have not been 
recognized as revenue was $32,204, of which approximately 70% is expected to be recognized as revenue over the next twelve 
months and the remainder thereafter. This amount excludes the value of remaining performance obligations for contracts with 
an original expected length of one year or less. Variable consideration that has been constrained is excluded from the amount of 
performance obligations that have not been recognized.

Concentrations

As identified below, one of our customers accounted for more than 10% of the Company’s total revenue for the years ended 
December 31, 2022 and 2021:

December 31,
2022 2021

Customer A  36.9 %  39.0 %

The loss of this customer would have a material impact on the Company’s consolidated financial results.

The largest customer represented 38% and 31% of accounts receivable as of December 31, 2022 and 2021, respectively. No 
other individual customer represented more than 10% of accounts receivable at either December 31, 2022 or 2021.

17) Share-Based Compensation

At the closing of the Transaction on June 10, 2021, ADK LLC’s share-based compensation awards (as such terms are defined 
below) were converted into equity in indie at the Exchange Ratio of 27.80. Share and per share information below have been 
converted from historical disclosure based on the Exchange Ratio.

2021 Omnibus Equity Incentive Plan

The Company’s Board of Directors adopted the indie Semiconductor, Inc. 2021 Omnibus Equity Incentive Plan (the “2021 
Plan”) effective June 10, 2021, which provides for the granting of nonqualified stock options, incentive stock options, restricted 
stock awards, stock appreciation rights, performance stock awards, unrestricted stock awards, distribution equivalent rights or 
any combination of the foregoing to employees and directors for a total of 10,368,750 shares. On June 22, 2022, the Company’s 
Board of Directors and shareholders approved an increase of shares by 10,500,000 to a total of 20,868,750 shares. The primary 
purpose of the 2021 Plan is to enhance the Company’s ability to attract, motivate and retain the services of qualified employees, 
officers and directors. 

The Company accounts for share-based compensation arrangements with employees and non-employees in accordance with 
ASC 718-10, Compensation — Stock Compensation, which requires the Company to account for the compensation expense 
related to all equity awards on a fair value based method. Further, the Company treats equity awards with multiple vesting 
tranches as a single award for expense attribution purposes and recognize compensation expense on a straight-line basis over 
the required service vesting period of the entire award. 

Since inception of the 2021 Plan, equity awards granted are substantially all in the form of restrictive stock units (“RSU”). 
These RSUs primarily have a four-year vesting schedule and vests annually in equal installments. The grant date fair value of 
RSUs issued per the 2021 Plan was valued based on the value of indie’s common stock on the date of grant. The RSUs are 
equity classified. Occasionally, the Company also grants equity awards in the forms of options or equity awards with either 
market condition (“MSU”) or performance conditions (“PSU”). Options typically have a four year vesting schedule in equal 
annual installments and a ten-year term from the original grant date. The grant date fair value of Options issued per the 2021 
Plan was valued based on a Black-Scholes model at the time of the grant. Vesting for both the MSUs and PSUs require the 
award recipients’ continuous service with the Company and achievement of predetermined milestones. The grant date fair value 
of PSUs was based on the value of indie’s common stock on the date of grant. The grant date fair value of MSUs was 
determined using the Monte Carlo Simulations analysis. As of December 31, 2022, there were 10,259,207 award units in the 
2021 Plan that were available for grant.
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Historical Profit Interests

Historically, per the ADK LLC Operating Agreement, ADK LLC issued Class B units (“Profits Interests” or “Class B units”) to 
employees, directors and consultants. Class B units entitle the holders of such units to a share of ADK LLC’s profits and 
distributions of ADK’s assets to the extent their capital accounts are positive. Holders of Class B units do not have voting rights 
except to the extent required by law.

The board of directors authorized 14,284,919 shares (or 513,846 units prior to the exchange) for grant under the ADK LLC 
Operating Agreement. The Class B units generally have a four-year vesting schedule, in which 25% of units vest after 12 
months and the remaining 75% vest monthly over the following three-year period. Upon the consummation of the Transaction, 
the Class B units were converted into Class A common stock at the Exchange Ratio of 27.80. Any unvested shares will 
continue to vest over time following their original contractual terms. No additional profit interests were granted post the 
consummation of the Transaction. 

The Profit Interests are equity-classified awards that operate substantially the same as an RSU. The consummation of the 
Transaction is considered to be a qualifying liquidation event, such that all historically vested units are now considered to have 
value. As a result, the unrecognized compensation costs through the consummation date of the Transaction were recognized in 
full as a change of control satisfying the in-substance performance condition became probable. No compensation cost was 
recognized historically until the closing of the Transaction. 

Phantom Units

On January 29, 2021, indie issued Phantom Units that give employees rights to receive, upon vesting, either 1,751,360 shares of 
Class A common stock (or 62,998 Phantom Units prior to giving effect to the Exchange Ratio) or the equivalent in cash at the 
election of indie (the “Phantom Units”). These Phantom Units had a grant date fair value of $6.83 per share of Class A common 
stock. The Phantom Units generally have a four-year vesting schedule, in which 25% of units vest after 12 months and the 
remaining 75% vest monthly over the following three-year period. Certain awards vest based on specific performance 
conditions. Notwithstanding the foregoing, no Phantom Units vested until December 10, 2021.

These Phantom Units are equity-classified awards that operate substantially the same as an RSU. The grant date fair value of 
the Phantom Units was determined by dividing the expected equity value of the Company upon the Transaction by the 
Company’s expected capitalization structure at the time of the grant. No compensation cost was recognized historically until the 
closing of the Transaction. 

Unvested Earn-out Shares

A portion of the earn-out shares were issued to individuals with unvested equity awards. While the payout of these shares 
requires achievement of the earn-out milestones, the individuals are required to complete the remaining service period 
associated with these unvested equity awards to be eligible to receive the earn-out shares. As a result, these unvested earn-out 
shares are equity-classified awards that operate substantially the same as an RSU. The aggregated grant date fair value of these 
shares totaled $3,919 (or $9.20 per share). The grant date fair value of the earn-out shares was valued based on the fair value of 
the earn-out liability at inception divided by total shares subject to the earn-out liability.

Stock compensation expense is recorded in cost of goods sold, research and development and general and administrative 
expenses based on the classification of the work performed by the grantees. 

The following table sets forth the share-based compensation for the periods presented:

December 31,
2022 2021

Cost of goods sold $ 149 $ — 
Research and development 28,325 9,721 
Selling, general, and administrative 13,411 13,184 
Total $ 41,885 $ 22,905 
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Total stock compensation expense for the year ended December 31, 2022 above included an accrual of $6,600 that represents 
awards issuable upon distribution of the Company’s 2022 annual incentive plan.

The following table sets forth the changes in the Company’s outstanding aforementioned non-option awards for the years ended 
December 31, 2022 and 2021:

Number of 
Shares

Weighted
average grant 
date fair value

Shares Retained 
to Cover 
Statutory 
Minimum 

Nonvested shares as of December 31, 2020 3,841,822 $ 2.61 
Granted 6,237,471 $ 9.00 
Vested (3,070,760) $ 4.17 153,636 
Forfeited (337,026) $ 4.04 
Nonvested shares as of December 31, 2021 6,671,507 $ 7.79 
Granted 6,610,213 $ 7.81 
Vested (3,594,696) $ 7.51 — 
Forfeited (436,667) $ 10.46 
Nonvested shares as of December 31, 2022 9,250,357 $ 8.52 

As of December 31, 2022 there was $60,574 of total unrecognized compensation costs related to all nonvested shares, which is 
expected to be recognized over a weighted-average remaining vesting period of 3.3 years.

The following table sets forth the changes in the Company’s outstanding options in the 2021 plan for the year ended 
December 31, 2022:

Options

Weighted-
average exercise 

price

Weighted-
average 

remaining 
contractual 
term (years)

Aggregate 
intrinsic value

Outstanding at December 31, 2021 — $ — $ — 
Granted 384,108 $ 10.77 
Exercised — $ — 
Forfeited or expired (15,233) $ 11.69 

Outstanding at December 31, 2022 368,875 $ 10.74 9.07 $ — 
Exercisable at December 31, 2022 — $ — $ — $ — 
Vested or expected to vest — $ — — $ — 

There were no options granted or outstanding for the year ended December 31, 2021.

The Company uses the Black-Scholes option pricing model to estimate the fair value of stock options. Fair value is estimated at 
the date of grant for employee options. The following assumptions were used in the Black-Scholes model to calculate the fair 
value of stock options granted for the year ended December 31, 2022 for the 2021 Plan.

December 31, 2022
Expected life of options (in years) (1) 6
Dividend yield (2)  — %
Risk-free interest rate (3) 1.35% - 3.39%
Volatility (4) 53.95% - 77.74%
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(1)The Company opted for simplified method permitted by ASC 718 for companies that offers plain vanilla options and do
not have sufficient historical data to provide a reasonable basis to estimate the expected term. Under the simplified term,
expected term = ((vesting term + original contractual term) / 2).
(2)The Company has assumed a dividend yield of zero as it has no plans to declare dividends in the foreseeable future.
(3)Risk free rate was obtained from US treasury notes for the expected terms noted as of the valuation date.
(4)Volatility, or the standard deviation of annualized returns, was calculated based on the Company’s internal volatility.

The weighted-average grant date fair value per share of options granted during the year ended December 31, 2022 was $10.77. 

There were no stock options exercised under the 2021 Plan during the year ended December 31, 2022 

As of December 31, 2022, the Company had $1,599 of unrecognized stock-based compensation expense related to stock 
options. This cost is expected to be recognized over a weighted-average period of 3.1 years.

 TeraXion Option Plan

On October 12, 2021, the Company assumed fully vested TeraXion options, which became exercisable to purchase 1,542,332 
shares of indie Class A common stock with a fair value of $17,249 in connection with the acquisition. The options have a 10-
year term from the original grant date. The consummation of the TeraXion acquisition is considered to be a qualifying 
liquidation event per the original option plan, all of the options became fully vested upon the acquisition date. As such, there is 
no further stock-based compensation expense to be recognized.

The following table sets forth the changes in the Company’s outstanding options for the year ended December 31, 2022:

Options

Weighted-
average exercise 

price

Weighted-
average 

remaining 
contractual 
term (years)

Aggregate 
intrinsic value

Outstanding at December 31, 2021 1,450,081 $ 0.20 5.93 $ 17,095 
Granted — $ — 
Exercised (235,144) $ 0.44 
Forfeited or expired (893) $ 0.05 

Outstanding at December 31, 2022 1,214,044 $ 0.16 4.88 $ 6,889 
Exercisable at December 31, 2022 1,214,044 $ 0.16 4.88 $ 6,889 
Vested or expected to vest 1,214,044 $ 0.16 $ 6,889 

2023 Employment Inducement Incentive Plan

On March 22, 2023, the Company’s board of directors approved the indie Semiconductor, Inc. 2023 Employment Inducement 
Incentive Plan (the “2023 Inducement Plan”), which became effective on such date without stockholder approval pursuant to 
Rule 5635(c)(4) of The Nasdaq Stock Market LLC listing rules (“Rule 5635(c)(4)”). The 2023 Inducement Plan provides for 
the grant of nonqualified stock options, stock appreciation rights, restricted stock awards, restricted stock units and other stock- 
or performance-based awards. In accordance with Rule 5635(c)(4), awards under the 2023 Inducement Plan may only be made 
to a newly hired employee who has not previously been a member of indie’s board of directors, or an employee who is being 
rehired following a bona fide period of non-employment by indie as a material inducement to the employee’s entering into 
employment with the Company. A total of 2,000,000 shares of Class A common stock were reserved for issuance under the 
2023 Inducement Plan. To the extent that an award lapses, expires, is cancelled, is terminated, unexercised or ceases to be 
exercisable for any reason, or the rights of its recipient terminate, any shares subject to such award shall again be available for 
the grant of a new award under the 2023 Inducement Plan. 

As of March 28, 2023, there were no awards outstanding and 2,000,000 Class A common stock shares available for future grant 
under the 2023 Inducement Plan.
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18) Net Loss per Common Share

Basic and diluted net loss per common share was calculated as follows:

Year Ended December 31,
2022 2021

Numerator:
Net loss $ (52,788) $ (118,607) 
Less: Net loss attributable to noncontrolling interest (9,388) (30,563) 
Net loss attributable to indie Semiconductor, Inc. $ (43,400) $ (88,044) 

 Net loss attributable to common shares - dilutive $ (43,400) $ (88,044) 

Denominator:
Weighted average shares outstanding - basic  118,660,785 70,012,112 

 Weighted average common shares outstanding—diluted  118,660,785 70,012,112 

Net loss per share attributable to common shares— basic #REF! #REF!
Net loss per share attributable to common shares— diluted #REF! #REF!

On June 10, 2021, the Company completed a series of business transactions with TB2 pursuant to the MTA. The Transaction 
materially impacted the number of shares outstanding. Weighted average shares outstanding in the table above have been 
retroactively restated to give effect to the reverse recapitalization. See Note 1 — Nature of Business and Basis of Presentation 
for more information regarding the Transaction.

The Company’s potentially dilutive securities, which include unvested Class B units, unvested phantom units, unvested 
restricted stock units, convertible Class V common shares, warrants for Class A units (public and private), unexercised options, 
earn-out shares and escrow shares, have been excluded from the computation of diluted net loss per share as the effect would be 
to reduce the net loss per share. For the years ended December 31, 2022 and 2021 the weighted average number of shares 
outstanding used to calculate both basic and diluted net loss per share attributable to common shares is the same because the 
Company reported a net loss for each of these periods and the effect of inclusion would be antidilutive. The Company excluded 
the following potential shares, presented based on amounts outstanding at each period end, from the computation of diluted net 
loss per share attributable to shareholders for the periods indicated as their inclusion would have had an antidilutive effect:

Year Ended December 31,
2022 2021

Unvested Class B units 746,294 1,612,797 
Unvested Phantom units 647,028 1,188,862 
Unvested Restricted stock units 7,857,035 3,869,848 
Convertible Class V common shares 21,381,476 30,448,081 
Public warrants for the purchase of Class A common shares 17,250,000 17,250,000 
Private warrants for the purchase of Class A common shares 10,150,000 10,150,000 
Unexercised options 349,006 — 
Earn-out Shares 5,000,000 10,000,000 
Escrow Shares 1,725,000 1,725,000 

65,105,839 76,244,588 
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19. Income Taxes

The components of loss before income taxes for the years ended December 31, 2022 and 2021 are as follows:

Year Ended December 31,

2022 2021
United States $ (49,948) $ (117,761) 
Foreign (3,875) (1,173) 
Total $ (53,823) $ (118,934) 

The components of the provision for income taxes for the years ended December 31, 2022 and 2021 are as follows:

Year Ended December 31,

2022 2021

Current expense:
Federal $ — $ — 
State 224 8 
Foreign 818 181 

Total current expense: $ 1,042 $ 189 
Deferred expense:
Federal $ — $ — 
State — — 
Foreign (2,077) (516) 

Total deferred expense: $ (2,077) $ (516) 
Total income tax expense $ (1,035) $ (327) 

The components of deferred tax assets (liabilities) as of December 31, 2022 and 2021 are as follows:

December 31,

2022 2021
Reserves and accruals $ 116 $ 310 
Investment in Ay Dee Kay, LLC 44,114 41,788 
Net operating loss (“NOL”) carryforwards 13,458 11,493 

Total Deferred Tax Assets before Valuation Allowance 57,688 53,591 
Valuation Allowance (56,115) (53,430) 

Deferred Tax Assets – net of Valuation Allowance 1,573 161 

Fixed Assets $ (104) $ (56) 
Intangibles (9,292) (19,637) 

Total Deferred Tax Liabilities (9,396) (19,693) 
Net Deferred Tax Liabilities $ (7,823) $ (19,532) 
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Changes in the valuation allowance for deferred tax assets during the years ended December 31, 2022 and 2021, are as follows:

2022 2021
Valuation Allowance as on January 1st $ 53,430 $ 1,040 
Increases recorded to tax provision 2,685 52,390 
Decreases recorded as a benefit to income tax provision — — 
Valuation Allowance as on December 31st $ 56,115 $ 53,430 

As of December 31, 2022, the Company has $10,451 of deferred tax assets in domestic NOLs. This was composed of gross 
U.S. Federal NOLs of $49,033, which have an indefinite carry-forward pursuant to the Tax Cuts and Jobs Act of 2017 and 
$50,450 of gross California NOLs, which have a carry-forward period of 20 years. Due to the California NOL suspension of tax 
years 2020 and 2021, the California 2021 NOL will be extended by one year. The Company also has $6,444 of gross NOLs in 
China which have a 5-year carry-forward period and $9,023 of gross NOLs in Germany which have an indefinite carryforward 
period and are subject to annual change-of-control utilization limitations.

In addition to the NOL carryforwards, the Company’s other significant deferred tax asset is its investment in ADK LLC in the 
amount of $44,114 (net of federal tax benefit). This is based on the difference between the book carrying value of the 
investment and the tax basis in the investment pursuant to tax law. 

In evaluating its ability to realize its net deferred tax assets, the Company considered all available positive and negative 
evidence, such as past operating results, forecasted earnings, prudent and feasible tax planning strategies, and the future 
realization of the tax benefits of existing temporary differences in accordance with the relevant accounting guidance under ASC 
740. The Company has concluded that it is not possible to reasonably quantify future taxable income. Further, when
considering its history of generating net operating losses, management concluded that it is more likely than not that the
Company’s domestic deferred assets will not be realized and has established a full valuation allowance for U.S. domestic
deferred tax assets. A similar conclusion regarding China operations conducted through Wuxi and its subsidiaries have been
reached. As a result, the Company continues to maintain a full valuation allowance as of December 31, 2022 for its China
operations. The Company’s net deferred tax liability position is the result of the UK, Israel, Germany and Canada operations.

The Company does not provide for foreign income and withholding, U.S. Federal, or state income taxes expense or tax benefits 
for the difference between the financial reporting basis over the tax basis of its investments in foreign subsidiaries to the extent 
such amounts are indefinitely reinvested to support operations and continued growth plans outside the U.S. The Company 
reviews its indefinite reinvestment assertion on a quarterly basis and evaluates its plans for reinvestment. This includes a review 
of the Company’s ability to control repatriation, its ability to mobilize funds without triggering basis differences, and the 
profitability of U.S. operations, their cash requirements and the need, if any, to repatriate funds. If the Company’s intent and 
ability with respect to reinvestment of earnings of non-U.S. subsidiaries changes, deferred U.S. income taxes, foreign income 
taxes, and foreign withholding taxes may have to be accrued. The Company files a federal income tax return and various state 
income tax returns in the United States. However, ADK LLC will continue to file a partnership return as it has historically and 
ADK LLC tax returns for years 2019-2021 remain open to examination by the IRS, and tax years 2018-2021 remain open to 
California State Tax examination. 
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A reconciliation of the federal statutory income tax rate to the effective tax rate for the years ended December 31, 2022 and 
2021 are as follows:

December 31,
2022 2021

Income tax provision at U.S. statutory federal rate $ (11,286) $ (25,509) 
State income tax provision, net of federal income tax effect (5) (5,891)
Foreign taxes provision (250) 22
Noncontrolling interest 1,844 6,764 
Change in valuation allowance 6,728 24,150 
Research and other tax credits — (270) 
Tax benefits on vested and exercised equity awards 542 404 
Partnership/non-taxable income — — 
GILTI inclusion, net 1,301 — 
Other 91 3 

Provision for income taxes $ (1,035) $ (327) 

The calculation of the Company’s tax liabilities involves dealing with uncertainties in the application of complex tax laws and 
regulations for the jurisdictions in which it operates or does business in. A tax benefit from an uncertain tax position may be 
recognized when it is more likely than not that the position will be sustained upon examination, including resolutions of any 
related appeals or litigation processes, on the basis of the technical merits.

The Company records tax positions as liabilities and adjusts these liabilities when its judgement changes as a result of the 
evaluation of new information not previously available. Because of the complexity of some of these uncertainties, the ultimate 
resolution may result in a payment that is materially different from the Company’s current estimate of the recognized tax 
benefit liabilities. These differences will be reflected as increases or decreases to income tax expense in the period in which new 
information is available. As of December 31, 2022, the Company has not recorded any uncertain tax positions in its financial 
statements.

The Company records interest and penalties related to unrecognized tax benefits in provision of income taxes. As of 
December 31, 2022, no accrued interest or penalties are recorded in the consolidated balance sheets, and the Company has not 
recorded any related expenses.

The Company files tax returns as prescribed by the tax laws of the jurisdictions in which it operates and is subject to 
examinations by the various jurisdictions where applicable. There are currently no pending tax examinations. The Company’s 
tax years are still open under statute from 2019 to 2021 for Federal purposes and from 2018 to 2021 for California. Foreign tax 
statutes are generally three to five years. The company’s significant foreign taxing jurisdiction are Canada, UK, Hungary, 
China, Germany, Argentina, Morocco and Israel. 

The Company is also party to a Tax Receivable Agreement (“TRA”). Following the Transaction, ADK LLC unitholders’ 
exchange of ADK LLC units for indie Class A Common stock are expected to result in increases in the Company’s tax basis in 
its interest in ADK LLC. These increases in tax basis are expected to increase (for tax purposes) depreciation and amortization 
deductions allocable to the Company, and therefore reduce the amount of tax that the Company would otherwise be required to 
pay in the future. As a result, the Company has entered into a TRA with certain members of ADK LLC prior to the Transaction. 
Under the TRA, the Company will be obligated to pay such parties or their permitted assignees 85% of the amount of cash tax 
savings, if any, in U.S. federal, state, and local taxes that the Company realizes, or is deemed to realize as a result of future tax 
benefits from increases in tax basis.

20. Leases

The Company’s lease arrangements consist primarily of corporate and manufacturing facility agreements. The leases expire at 
various dates through 2028, some of which include options to extend the lease term. The options with the longest potential total 
lease term consist of options for extension of up to five years following expiration of the original lease term. All of the leases 
are operating leases. The Company is headquartered in Aliso Viejo, California and has various research and design centers, 
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sales support offices, and manufacturing facilities throughout the world. The key lease terms for the principal locations are 
summarized below:

In July 2015, the Company entered into a five-year operating lease for its 14,881 square foot headquarters in Aliso Viejo, 
California, which is payable monthly with periodic rent adjustments over the lease term. The lease requires a security deposit of 
$30, which is recorded in other assets on the Company’s consolidated balance sheets as well as a tiered, time-based letter of 
credit that has now reached its lowest tier of $200. Subsequently, the rentable area was expanded to 18,000 square feet and the 
lease was extended through the end of June 2023. In November 2022 the lease was extended through the end of October 2028 
and the letter of credit has been rescinded. Rent expense is approximately $40 per month.

In October 2015, the Company entered into a five-year operating lease for its Scotland Design Center in Edinburgh, Scotland, 
which is payable monthly with periodic rent adjustments over the lease term. The lease expired in October 2020. During 2019, 
the Company entered into a sub-lease agreement with a third party for the Scotland Design Center facility. Separately, effective 
January 2020, the Company entered into a lease for a property in Scotland. The lease agreement has a term through June 2024 
and monthly rent of approximately $16 per month.

In May 2021, the Company entered into a seven-year operating lease for a location in Detroit, Michigan, which is payable 
monthly with periodic rent adjustments over the lease term. The lease will expire in 2028 with an initial monthly rent of 
approximately $22 per month.

In October 2021, the Company entered into a five-year operating lease for its design center in Austin, Texas. Rent for the 
associated office is payable monthly with periodic rent adjustments over the lease term, which expires in June 2027. Rent 
expense is approximately $13 per month.

In October 2021, the Company acquired TeraXion and assumed its existing operating lease for an office building and a 
warehouse in Quebec City, Canada. Rent for the associated office is payable at approximately $38 per month. The lease will 
expire on May 31, 2028. Rent for the associated warehouse is at approximately $3 per month. This lease will expire on 
November 30, 2023.

In February 2022, the Company entered into a two-year operating lease for its location in Haifa, Israel. Rent expense is 
approximately $11 per month. 

In November 2022, the Company entered into an operating lease in Shanghai, China. Rent expense is approximately $14 per 
month. This lease will expire on January 15, 2026.

In November 2022, the Company entered into a three-year operating lease in Suzhou, China. Rent expense is approximately $6 
per month.

The total monthly rent for the remaining locations of the Company around the world is not material.

ASC 842 Adoption

The Company adopted ASC 842 using the modified retrospective method on January 1, 2022. The Company determines if an 
arrangement is a lease at its inception. ROU assets and liabilities are recognized at the lease commencement date based on the 
present value of lease payments over the lease term. The Company uses its estimated incremental borrowing rate in determining 
the present value of lease payments considering the term of the lease, which is derived from information available at the lease 
commencement date. The lease term includes renewal options when it is reasonably certain that the option will be exercised, 
and excludes termination options. To the extent that the Company’s agreements have variable lease payments, the Company 
includes variable lease payments that depend on an index or a rate and excludes those that depend on facts or circumstances 
occurring after the commencement date, other than the passage of time. Lease expense for these leases is recognized on a 
straight-line basis over the lease term. The Company has elected the package of practical expedients permitted under the 
transition guidance, which does not require reassessment of prior conclusions related to contracts containing a lease, lease 
classification and initial direct lease costs. As an accounting policy election, the Company also excluded short-term leases (term 
of 12 months or less) from the balance sheet presentation and accounted for non-lease and lease components in a contract as a 
single lease component for certain asset classes. Effective January 1, 2022, the Company recorded the impact on its 
consolidated balance sheet from the recognition of ROU asset and lease liability of $10,344.
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The Company’s facility leases have remaining lease terms ranging from less than one year to six years, some of which include 
options to extend the lease term for up to five years. 

The table below represents lease-related assets and liabilities recorded on the consolidated balance sheet:

Balance Sheet Classification
December 31, 

2022
Assets

Operating lease right-of-use assets Operating lease right-of-use assets $ 12,055 

Liabilities
Operating lease liabilities (current) Accrued expenses and other current liabilities $ 1,955 
Operating lease liabilities (noncurrent) Operating lease liabilities 10,115 

Total lease liabilities $ 12,070 

Lease Costs

The following lease costs were included in the consolidated statements of operations for the year ended December 31, 2022:

Twelve Months 
Ended

December 31,
Operating lease cost $ 2,496 
Short-term lease cost 124 
Variable lease cost 174 

Total lease cost $ 2,794 

Supplemental Information

The table below presents supplemental information related to operating leases as of December 31, 2022:

Cash paid for amounts included in the measurement of operating lease liabilities $ 2,035 
Right-of-use assets obtained in exchange for new operating lease liabilities $ 1,660 
Weighted average remaining lease term 6.90 years
Weighted average discount rate  5.42 %

Undiscounted Cash Flows

The table below reconciles the undiscounted cash flows for each of the first five years and total of the remaining years to the 
operating lease liabilities recorded on the consolidated balance sheet as December 31, 2022:
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2023 $ 2,551 
2024 2,152 
2025 2,079 
2026 1,814 
2027 1,725 
Thereafter 4,117 
Total minimum lease payments 14,438 
Less imputed interest (2,368) 
Present value of future minimum lease payments 12,070 
Less current obligations under leases (1,955) 
Long-term lease obligations $ 10,115 

Disclosures related to Periods Prior to Adoption of New Lease Standard

Minimum lease payments under operating leases with non-cancelable terms in excess of one year as of December 31, 2021, 
were as follows:

2022 $ 1,869 
2023 1,674 
2024 1,303 
2025 1,177 
2026 1,201 
Thereafter 1,686 
Total minimum lease payments $ 8,910 

Rent expense was recognized on a straight-lined basis over the lease term and is included in the consolidated statements of 
operations for the years ended December 31, 2021 as follows:

Research and development. $ 966 
Selling, general, and administrative 252 
Cost of goods sold 24 
Total $ 1,242 

21) Commitments and Contingencies

Litigation

The Company may be a party to routine claims or litigation incidental to its business. The Company does not believe that it is a 
party to any pending legal proceeding that is likely to have a material adverse effect on its business, financial condition or 
results of operations or cash flows.

In connection with a credit facility amendment executed with PacWest on August 9, 2017, the Company agreed to issue the 
bank warrants to acquire Membership Units. In 2018, the Company and the bank agreed that 3,388 warrants would be issued at 
a strike price of $35.42 per unit, which was subsequently reflected in the Company’s books and records. Following the 
Company’s announcement of the Master Transactions Agreement (“MTA”), on February 3, 2021, PacWest issued a letter to the 
Company demanding 52,632 warrants in satisfaction of the provisions contained in the August 9, 2017 credit facility 
amendment. On June 8, 2021, the Company and PacWest entered into a settlement agreement and mutual release where both 
parties acknowledged and agreed that the original 3,388 warrants issued were in full compliance of the credit facility 
amendment.
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Royalty Agreement

The Company has entered into license agreements to use certain technology in its design and manufacture of its products. The 
agreements require royalty fees for each semiconductor sold using the licensed technology. Total royalty expense incurred in 
connection with these contracts during the years ended December 31, 2022 and 2021 was $1,305 and $810, respectively. These 
expenses are included in cost of goods sold in the consolidated statements of operations. Accrued royalties of $544 and $264 
are included in accrued expenses in the Company’s consolidated balance sheets as of December 31, 2022 and 2021, 
respectively.

Tax Distributions

To the extent the Company has funds legally available, the board of directors will approve distributions to each member of 
ADK LLC, prior to March 15 of each year, in an amount per unit that, when added to all other distributions made to such 
member with respect to the previous calendar year, equals the estimated federal and state income tax liabilities applicable to 
such member as the result of its, his or her ownership of the units and the associated net taxable income allocated with respect 
to such units for the previous calendar year. There were no distributions approved by the board of directors or paid by the 
Company during the years ended December 31, 2022 and 2021.

22) Supplemental Financial Information

Accrued expenses and other current liabilities consist of the following:

December 31,
2022 2021

Contingent considerations $ 2,500 $ 7,500 
Operating lease liabilities, current 1,955 — 
Deferred revenue 1,739 1,840 
Accrued interest 900 — 
City Semi deferred compensation — 833 
Other (1) 6,065 6,289 

Accrued expenses and other current liabilities $ 13,159 $ 16,462 

(1) Amount represents accruals for various operating expenses such as professional fees, accrued royalties, open purchase
orders and other estimates that are expected to be paid within the next 12 months.

23) Geographical Information

Long-lived assets include property and equipment, net, which were based on the physical location of the assets as of the end of 
period presented:

December 31,
2022 2021

United States $ 5,357 $ 2,786 
Canada 4,931 5,802 
Germany 1,435 105 
Israel 1,567 1,297 
China 1,692 843 
Rest of world 847 257 
Total $ 15,829 $ 11,090 
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24) Subsequent Events

For its consolidated financial statements as of December 31, 2022 and the year then ended, management reviewed and 
evaluated material subsequent events from the consolidated balance sheet date of December 31, 2022 through March 28, 2023, 
the date the consolidated financial statements were issued.

Acquisition of GEO Semiconductor Inc.

On February 9, 2023, indie entered into an Agreement and Plan of Merger, pursuant to which Gonzaga Merger Sub Inc., a 
Delaware corporation and indie’s wholly-owned subsidiary, will merge with and into GEO Semiconductor Inc., a Delaware 
corporation (“GEO”), with GEO surviving as a wholly-owned subsidiary of indie. The aggregate consideration for this 
transaction is up to $270,000, of which $90,000 will be payable in cash at closing, $90,000 will be payable in indie shares of 
Class A common stock, par value $0.0001 per share at closing, and up to $90,000 will be payable in cash or Class A common 
stock subject to achieving certain GEO-related revenue targets. The purchase price is subject to working capital and other 
adjustments as provided in the merger agreement. The transaction was completed on March 3, 2023.

Acquisition of Silicon Radar

On February 21, 2023, Symeo, a wholly-owned subsidiary of the Company, completed its acquisition of all of the outstanding 
capital stock of Silicon Radar GmbH (“Silicon Radar”). The acquisition was consummated pursuant to a Share Purchase 
Agreement by and among Symeo, the Company and the holders of the outstanding capital stock of Silicon Radar. The closing 
consideration consisted of (i) $9,000 in cash, (ii) approximately 980,000 shares of Class A common stock, par value $0.0001 
per share of the Company and (iii) a contingent consideration payable in cash or in Class A common stock subject to Silicon 
Radar’s achievement of certain revenue-based and design-win milestones through December 31, 2024. The purchase price is 
subject to working capital and other adjustments as provided in the merger agreement. 

The Company expects to account for the acquisition of GEO and Silicon Radar as business combinations and is currently 
evaluating the purchase price allocation. It is not practicable to disclose the preliminary purchase price allocation or unaudited 
pro forma combined financial information for these transactions, given the short period of time between the acquisition date and 
the issuance of these consolidated financial statements. 

INDIE SEMICONDUCTOR, INC.
NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

(amounts in thousands,  except unit and share amounts and per unit and per share amounts)

104



ITEM 9. CHANGES IN AND DISAGREEMENTS WITH ACCOUNTANTS ON ACCOUNTING AND FINANCIAL 
DISCLOSURES

None.

ITEM 9A. CONTROLS AND PROCEDURES 

Evaluation of Disclosure Controls and Procedures 

Our management, including our Chief Executive Officer and Chief Financial Officer, have conducted an evaluation of the 
effectiveness of the design and operation of our disclosure controls and procedures (as defined in Rule 13a-15(e) under the 
Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as amended (the “Exchange Act”)) as of December 31, 2022 and based on this evaluation, 
have concluded that, as a result of the material weaknesses in internal control over financial reporting as described below, our 
disclosure controls and procedures were not effective as of December 31, 2022.

Per Rule 13a-15(e), the term disclosure controls and procedures means controls and other procedures of an issuer that are 
designed to ensure that information required to be disclosed by the issuer in the reports that it files or submits under the 
Exchange Act (15 U.S.C. 78a et seq.) is recorded, processed, summarized and reported within the time periods specified in the 
SEC’s rules and forms. Disclosure controls and procedures include, without limitation, controls and procedures designed to 
ensure that information required to be disclosed by an issuer in the reports that it files or submits under the Exchange Act is 
accumulated and communicated to the issuer’s management, including its Chief Executive Officer and Chief Financial Officer, 
or persons performing similar functions, as appropriate to allow timely decisions regarding required disclosure.

In designing and evaluating disclosure controls and procedures, our management recognizes that any system of controls, 
however well designed and operated, can provide only reasonable assurance, and not absolute assurance, that the desired 
control objectives of the system are met. In addition, the design of any control system is based in part upon certain assumptions 
about the likelihood of future events. Because of these and other inherent limitations of control systems, there can be no 
assurance that any design will succeed in achieving its stated goals in all future circumstances. Accordingly, our disclosure 
controls and procedures must be designed to provide reasonable, not absolute, assurance that the objectives of our disclosure 
control system are met.

Management’s Report on Internal Control over Financial Reporting 

The Company’s management is responsible for establishing and maintaining adequate internal control over financial reporting 
and for the assessment of the effectiveness of internal control over financial reporting as defined in Rules 13a-15(f) and 
15(d)-15(f) under the Exchange Act. As of December 31, 2022, our management, under the supervision of the Company’s 
Chief Executive Officer and Chief Financial Officer and oversight of the Board of Directors, conducted an assessment of the 
effectiveness of our internal control over financial reporting based on the criteria for effective internal control over financial 
reporting established by the Committee of Sponsoring Organizations of the Treadway Commission in Internal Control - 
Integrated Framework (2013) (the “2013 COSO Framework”). 

As previously disclosed, in connection with the preparation of our previously issued financial statements, material weaknesses 
in our internal control over financial reporting were identified that continue to exist as of December 31, 2022. A material 
weakness is a deficiency, or a combination of deficiencies, in internal control over financial reporting such that there is a 
reasonable possibility that a material misstatement of our annual or interim financial statements will not be prevented or 
detected on a timely basis. The material weaknesses which continue to exist as of December 31, 2022 are as follows:

a. Risk Assessment: The Company did not have effective risk assessment to identify and analyze risks related to non-
routine transactions, such as mergers and acquisitions, at a sufficient level of detail to identify all relevant risks of
material misstatement across the Company or within each acquired entity.

b. Information and Communication: The Company did not have effective information control processes, including
those related to information technology general controls (“ITGCs”), user access controls and the use of manual
spreadsheets, to ensure the reliability of information used in certain computations related to financial reporting.

c. Control Activities:  As a consequence of the aforementioned deficiencies, the Company did not have effective control
activities related to the design and operation of process-level controls across certain key financial reporting processes.

Accordingly, the Company concluded that the deficiencies represent material weaknesses in its internal control over financial 
reporting and that internal control over financial reporting was not effective as of December 31, 2022.
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This Annual Report does not include an attestation report of our independent registered public accounting firm, KPMG LLP, 
due to the established rules of the Securities and Exchange Commission.

Remediation Efforts to Address the Material Weaknesses

The Company’s remediation efforts related to the foregoing material weaknesses are ongoing, and the Company will continue 
its initiatives to strengthen the Company’s internal control environment which will require a substantial effort throughout 2023.
The material weaknesses cannot be considered completely remediated until the applicable controls have operated for a 
sufficient period of time and management has concluded, through testing, that these controls are operating effectively. In 
addition, it is possible that certain controls the Company plans to implement in 2023 will not have operated for a sufficient 
period of time in 2023 to test their operating effectiveness as part of the Company’s evaluation of internal control over financial 
reporting as of December 31, 2023 and may extend to the following year.

During the year ended December 31, 2022, management completed the following remedial actions:

• Control Environment:

◦ We hired critical leadership roles with public company and internal control experience responsible for
designing, implementing, and monitoring our business processes and ITGCs to support the achievement of
our objectives.

◦ We hired a Head of Internal Audit and established the Internal Audit function to provide independent
oversight of the development and performance of internal controls and enforce accountability in the
achievement of our short-term and long-term objectives with input and direction from our board of directors.

◦ We established policies and practices that reflect the organization’s expectations to enforce accountability in
our structures, authorities and responsibilities in the pursuit of our objectives.

• Risk Assessment:

◦ We established objectives relating to the preparation of financial statements and analyzed the related risks
considering internal and external factors across the organization and the potential impact of changes which
could impact our system of internal controls.

◦ We performed a detailed fraud risk assessment over financial reporting to ensure accurate, timely and
complete financial statements and disclosures for fiscal year ended  December 31, 2022.

• Control Activities:

◦ We developed control activities that address and mitigate the risks to the achievement of the Company’s
objectives that consider the range and variety of controls needed to address the environment, complexity,
nature and scope of operations within the organization.

• Information and Communication:

◦ We completed the first phase of implementing a new enterprise resource planning (“ERP”) tool during the
year. As a result of the implementation we have transitioned the majority of our business to a system capable
of automating some of our  annual financial reporting processes, enhancing our information technology
control environment, and mitigating some of the internal control gaps and limitations that cannot be addressed
by the current system.

• Monitoring:

◦ We performed ongoing evaluations to conduct monitoring to ascertain whether the components or internal
control were present and functioning.

◦ We evaluated and communicated the results of our monitoring activity with management and the board of
directors, including any related action plans, and will continue to monitor progress to support timely
remediation.

To remediate the material weaknesses described above, the Company is pursuing the following remediation steps:
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1. Risk Assessment: We will continue to enhance our risk assessment procedures to identify and analyze risks related to
non-routine transactions.

2. Information and Communication: In addition to our continued implementation of new ERPs on a worldwide basis,
we plan to further enhance the function of internal control around segregation of duties, user access and information
quality, from both internal and external resources, to ensure our information systems produce information that is
timely, currently, accurate, complete, accessible, protected, verifiable and retained to support the entity’s objective.

3. Control Activities: We will continue to develop control activities that contribute to the mitigation of risks to support
the achievement of objectives to select and develop control activities to address each risk to acceptable levels.

We believe that our remediation plan will be sufficient to address the identified material weaknesses and strengthen our internal 
control over financial reporting. As we continue to evaluate, and work to improve our internal control over financial reporting, 
we may determine that additional measures to address control deficiencies or modifications to the remediation plan are 
necessary. It cannot be assured, however, when we will remediate such material weaknesses, nor can we be certain whether 
additional actions will be required. Moreover, it cannot be assured that additional material weaknesses will not arise in the 
future.

Changes in Internal Control Over Financial Reporting

As described above under “Remediation Efforts to Address the Material Weaknesses”, we are taking actions to remediate the 
material weaknesses in our internal control over financial reporting. Except as described above, there were no changes in 
internal control over financial reporting during the fourth quarter of 2022 that have materially affected, or are reasonably likely 
to materially affect, our internal control over financial reporting.

ITEM 9B. OTHER INFORMATION

None.

ITEM 9C. DISCLOSURE REGARDING FOREIGN JURISDICTIONS THAT PREVENT INSPECTIONS

Not applicable.
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PART III

ITEM 10. DIRECTORS, EXECUTIVE OFFICERS AND CORPORATE GOVERNANCE

The following table and biographical descriptions provide information regarding our directors and executive officers as of the 
date of this Report.

Name Age Position
Donald McClymont 54 Chief Executive Officer and Director
Ichiro Aoki 57 President and Director
Thomas Schiller 52 Chief Financial Officer and EVP of Strategy
Kanwardev Raja Singh Bal 47 Chief Accounting Officer
Steven Machuga 58 Chief Operating Officer
Jeffrey Owens 68 Director
Sonalee Parekh 50 Director
Diane Biagianti 60 Director
Diane Brink 65 Director
Karl-Thomas Neumann 62 Director
David Aldrich 66 Director
Peter J. Kight 67 Director

Directors

Our Board of Directors (“Board”) is divided into three classes, each serving staggered, three-year terms:

• our Class I directors are Ichiro Aoki, Jeffrey Owens, and Sonalee Parekh, and their current terms expire at the 2025
Annual Meeting of Stockholders;

• our Class II directors are Diane Biagianti, Diane Brink and Karl-Thomas Neumann and their current terms expire at
the 2023 Annual Meeting of Stockholders; and

• our Class III directors are David Aldrich, Peter Kight and Donald McClymont and their current terms expire at the
2024 Annual Meeting of Stockholders.

The name, age as of the date of this Report, principal occupation for the last five years, selected biographical information and 
period of service as a director of indie of directors are set forth below.

Class I Directors

Ichiro Aoki, age 58, serves as indie’s President and as a member of the Board of Directors. He works closely with indie’s 
executive team and Board to create, update and manage execution of indie’s strategies and technical roadmaps. Prior to co-
founding indie in 2012, Dr. Aoki was a co-founder, Board Member and Chief Architect of Axiom Microdevices, which was 
subsequently sold to Skyworks Solutions. Previously, Dr. Aoki founded and served as co-CEO of PST Eletronica Ltd. in Brazil, 
which was later sold to Stoneridge, Inc. Dr. Aoki has developed 35 patents worldwide and has authored numerous IEEE papers, 
two of them having over 400 citations. He is fluent in Japanese, Portuguese and English. Dr. Aoki holds a Ph.D. and Masters in 
Electrical Engineering from the California Institute of Technology and a Bachelor of Science in Electrical Engineering from the 
University of Campinas, Sao Paulo, Brazil. He serves as a California Institute of Technology Electrical Engineering Advisory 
Council Member and is also a Scientific Advisory Board Member with the California Institute of Technology Space-based 
Solar Power Project. Dr. Aoki’s extensive knowledge of technology and indie’s products qualifies him for membership on our 
Board.

Jeffrey Owens, age 68, has been our director since June 2021 and is a retired automotive technology executive. He served as 
Executive Vice President and CTO of Delphi Automotive PLC, until his retirement in 2017. During his over 40-year career at 
Delphi, Mr. Owens served in a variety of technology, engineering and operating leadership roles, including as President of 
Delphi’s Electronics and Safety Division and President of Delphi Asia Pacific. Mr. Owens also has served as a director of 
Rogers Corporation (NYSE: ROG) since 2017 and previously served a director of Cypress Semiconductor Corporation from 
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2017 to 2020. Mr. Owens serves on the Board of Trustees for Kettering University, including as past Chairman. Mr. Owens 
received a Master’s in Business Administration from Ball State University and a Bachelor’s Degree in Mechanical/Electrical 
Engineering from Kettering University. He has also completed the Global Executive Program from Duke’s Fuqua School of 
Business and a Corporate Governance Program from Northwestern’s Kellogg School of Management. Mr. Owens brings to the 
Board deep experience as a technology and operating executive of a global automotive technology company, which qualifies 
him for membership on our Board.

Sonalee Parekh, age 50, has been our director since June 2021 has served since May 2022 as Chief Financial Officer of 
RingCentral, Inc. (NYSE: RNG), a provider of business cloud communications and contact center solutions. From September 
2019 to April 2022, Ms. Parekh served as the Senior Vice President of Corporate Development and Investor Relations at 
Hewlett Packard Enterprise (“HPE”), a Fortune 500 technology company with approximately $30 billion in revenues. As Senior 
Vice President. of Corporate Development, Ms. Parekh was responsible for corporate strategy, mergers and acquisitions, 
strategic investments, business integration and performance management. In her role as Senior Vice President of Investor 
Relations, Ms. Parekh worked directly with many of the world’s largest institutional investors and asset managers and led 
HPE’s quarterly earnings process and socially responsible investing strategy. Prior to HPE, Ms. Parekh held senior leadership 
roles at several global investment banks, including Goldman Sachs, Barclays Capital and Jefferies International. From July 
2016 to April 2019, Ms. Parekh was a Managing Director at Jefferies International, and from July 2014 to July 2016 she was an 
Executive Director at the Royal Bank of Canada. She currently serves as a board advisor to Bidstack Group. Ms. Parekh earned 
a Bachelor of Commerce from McGill University and holds a Chartered Accountancy designation and is an alumna of 
PricewaterhouseCoopers. Ms. Parekh’s experience with operations, management and strategic planning for large global 
organizations qualifies her for membership on our Board.

Class II Directors 

Diane Biagianti, age 60, has been our director since April 2022 and has served since 2020 as senior vice president and general 
counsel for Glaukos Corporation (NYSE:GKOS), a publicly-traded medical technology and pharmaceutical company. From 
2011 to 2020, Ms. Biagianti was Chief Responsibility Officer for Edwards Lifesciences, a global leader in patient-focused 
medical innovations for structural heart disease and critical care and surgical monitoring, where she was responsible for global 
ethics and compliance, corporate sustainability and information security. From 2009 to 2011, she served as division vice 
president, legal section head, upon Abbot Laboratories’ acquisition of Advanced Medical Optics, and from 2002 to 2009, she 
served in various leadership positions at Advanced Medical Optics, including senior vice president and general counsel. From 
1997 to 2002, she served as vice president and assistant general counsel for Experian Information Solutions, Inc. She has also 
worked as a labor and employment attorney for O’Melveny & Myers LLP and a senior accountant for M.J. Seby & Associates, 
Ltd., CPAs. Ms. Biagianti earned a juris doctorate from Cornell University and a bachelor’s degree in business administration 
from the University of Arizona. Ms. Biagianti’s legal and senior management experience with public technology companies 
qualifies her for membership on our Board.

Diane Brink, age 65, has been our director since June 2021 and is currently an Independent Director for Belden Inc. (NYSE: 
BDC), where she chairs both the Nominating and Corporate Governance Committee and the Cybersecurity Committee. Ms. 
Brink also serves as an independent director for Altus Power, Inc. (NYSE: AMPS), a developer, owner and operator of 
commercial-scale solar facilities, where she is chair of the Compensation Committee and a member of the Audit Committee. 
Ms. Brink is also a Senior Fellow and Adjunct Professor at the Kellogg School of Management, Northwestern University. 
Diane retired from IBM in February 2015 after a successful 35-year career. She served as IBM’s Chief Marketing Officer for 
Global Technology Services from September 2008 to January 2015. Her market-centric approach led to the redesign of the 
legacy infrastructure services business to a cloud-based, analytics driven services model, establishing market leadership in 
cloud computing, security, resiliency, and mobility. Ms. Brink has held a variety of senior leadership positions, including 
leading World Wide Integrated Marketing Communications, managing, promoting and generating demand for the IBM brand. 
Her leadership in advancing the digital transformation of IBM through digital marketing, social media and e-commerce enabled 
new revenue sources, new methods of client engagement, and new approaches to sales and marketing. She was Vice President 
of Marketing and Strategy for IBM Americas, Vice President of Distribution Channels Management, Systems Group and 
General Manager, IBM Middle Markets, Midwest. In addition to her public company board roles, she has board experience 
with nonprofit industry institutions including the Association of National Advertisers, the Advanced Energy Research & 
Technology Center, and the Iona Preparatory School. Ms. Brink currently serves on the Dean’s Council for the College of 
Engineering & Applied Sciences at Stony Brook University. She is a Governance Fellow with the National Association of 
Corporate Directors. Ms. Brink holds an MBA in Finance from Fordham University and a BS in Computer Science from Stony 
Brook University. Ms. Brink’s extensive experience leading, advising and managing public companies qualifies her for 
membership on our Board.

Karl-Thomas Neumann, age 62, has been our director since June 2021 and has been the CEO and Founder of KTN Investment 
and Consulting since March 2018. From April 2018 to June 2019, he held a management position at Canoo Inc., an electric 
vehicles company, where his responsibilities included technology and marketing. From March 2013 to March 2018 he was 
Executive Vice President & President Europe for General Motors Company, where he was also a member of the GM Executive 

109



Committee. Dr. Neumann was previously with Volkswagen AG, where he was CEO and Vice President of Volkswagen Group 
China in Beijing from September 2010 to August 2012. Prior to that he held a number of management positions at Volkswagen, 
beginning in 1999 as Head of Research and Director of Electronics Strategy. From 2004 to 2009, Dr. Neumann was a member 
of the Executive Board at German automotive supplier Continental AG, responsible for the Automotive Systems Division. 
From August 2008 to September 2009, he was Chairman of the Executive Board of Continental AG. In December 2009, he 
returned to Volkswagen AG and took over company-wide responsibility for electric propulsion. Since March 2019, he has 
served as a member of the board of directors of South Korea based Hyundai-Mobis where he serves on the audit committee, the 
compensation committee and the nominating and corporate governance committee. Dr. Karl-Thomas Neumann holds a Ph.D. in 
Microelectronics from the University of Duisburg, Germany, as well as a diploma in Electrical Engineering from the University 
of Dortmund, Germany. He began his professional career at the Fraunhofer Institute as a research engineer before moving to 
Motorola Semiconductor, where he worked as an engineer and strategy director responsible for the automobile industry. Dr. 
Neumann’s deep experience with tech and automotive companies and strategic and operational insights qualify him for service 
on our Board. 

Class III Directors 

David Aldrich, age 66, has been our Chairman since June 2021 and was Chairman of the Board of Skyworks Solutions, Inc., a 
position he held between 2014 and 2018. Mr. Aldrich also served as Executive Chairman of Skyworks from May 2016 to May 
2018. Prior to his appointment as Executive Chairman, Mr. Aldrich had served as Chief Executive Officer of Skyworks since its 
formation in 2002 via a merger between Alpha Industries and Conexant Systems’ wireless business. Before the creation of 
Skyworks, he served as President and CEO of Alpha Industries, a position he held since April 2000. He joined Alpha Industries 
in 1995 as Vice President and Chief Financial Officer and held various management positions in the ensuing years, including 
President and Chief Operating Officer. Prior to this, he held senior management positions at Adams-Russell and M/A-COM. 
Mr. Aldrich received a Bachelor of Arts in Political Science from Providence College and a Master’s in Business 
Administration from the University of Rhode Island. In 2004, he was named Ernst & Young New England Entrepreneur of the 
Year in the Semiconductor category. In 2014, he was named CEO of the Year by the Massachusetts Technology Leadership 
Council. In addition, Mr. Aldrich is a board member of Belden (NYSE: BDC), a publicly traded provider of end-to-end signal 
transmission solutions. He also serves as a board member of Allegro Microsystems, Inc. (NASDAQ: ALGM), a sensing and 
power semiconductor technology company. From 2017 until its recent acquisition by Cisco Systems, Inc. in 2021, Mr. Aldrich 
served as a member of the board of directors of Acacia Communications, Inc., a publicly traded optical networking strategy and 
technology company. Mr. Aldrich’s leadership and management experience as well as his service on boards of directors of 
public companies qualify him for membership on our Board.

Donald McClymont, age 54, serves as indie’s Chief Executive Officer and is responsible for formulating its strategic vision, 
ensuring execution of business plans and creating shareholder value. Mr. McClymont also serves on indie’s Board of Directors. 
Prior to co-founding indie in 2012, he was Vice President of Marketing at Axiom Microdevices, tasked with driving company 
strategy, developing sales engagements and building key industry partnerships. Prior to Axiom, he was a Product Line Director 
at Skyworks Solutions/Conexant and a Marketing Manager at Fujitsu. Previously, he was with Thesys (now X-FAB/Melexis), 
and Wolfson (now Cirrus Logic), as a design engineer. Mr. McClymont holds five patents worldwide and earned a Masters in 
Engineering Electronics and Electrical from the University of Glasgow. Mr. McClymont’s technical knowledge and his unique 
understanding of indie Semiconductor’s technology and operations qualify him for membership on our Board.

Peter J. Kight, age 67, has been our director since June 2021 and served as senior special advisor to Thunder Bridge II. Since 
2020, he has been a senior special advisor of Thunder Bridge Capital Partners III Inc. From 2018 to 2019, he was a director of 
Thunder Bridge Acquisition, Ltd. (NASDAQ: TBRG), a blank check company which in July 2019 consummated its initial 
business combination with Hawk Parent Holdings, LLC, or Repay, an omnichannel payments technology provider; upon such 
consummation, Mr. Kight remained with the combined company, Repay Holdings Corporation (NASDAQ: RPAY) as 
chairman of the board of directors. Previously, he was the founder, chairman and CEO of CheckFree (Nasdaq: CKFR), a 
provider of financial services technology, from 1981 until it was acquired by Fiserv (Nasdaq: FISV) in 2007. He also served as 
director and vice chairman (2007 to 2010) of Fiserv until 2012. Prior to CheckFree, Mr. Kight was co-chairman, managing 
partner and senior advisor at Comvest Partners. Since May 2019, he is a board member of Bill.com Holdings, Inc. (NYSE: 
BILL), a provider of software that digitizes and automates back-office financial operations. Mr. Kight previously served on the 
boards of directors of Blackbaud (NASDAQ: BLKB), a supplier of software and services specifically designed for nonprofit 
organizations, from 2014 to 2020, Huntington Bancshares Incorporated (NASDAQ: HBAN), a regional bank holding company, 
from 2012 to 2020, Akamai Technologies, Inc. (NASDAQ GS: AKAM), distributor of computing solutions and services, from 
2004 to 2012, and Manhattan Associates, Inc., (NASDAQ: MANH) a provider of supply chain planning and execution 
solutions, from 2007 to 2011. Mr. Kight holds more than a dozen patents and publications for electronic banking and payment 
systems. Mr. Kight’s technical knowledge and extensive experience managing and advising developing and growing companies 
and experience with public companies qualify him for membership on our Board.

Executive Officers 
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Please see “Part I., Item 1. Business, Information About Out Executive Officers” for information regarding our executive 
officers. 

Code of Ethics

We have adopted a Code of Ethics that applies to our principal officers, including our Chief Executive Officer, Chief Financial 
Officer, controller and other persons performing similar functions. The full text of our Code of Ethics is available on our 
website at investors.indiesemi.com under “Governance.” Our Code of Ethics is a “code of ethics” as defined in Item 406(b) of 
Regulation S-K. We will make any legally required disclosures regarding amendments to, or waivers of, provisions of our Code 
of Ethics on our website.

Audit Committee

The Board has a standing Audit Committee, which currently consists of three directors. The current members of the Audit 
Committee are David Aldrich, Jeffrey Owens and Sonalee Parekh. Ms. Parekh serves as Chairman of the Audit Committee. 
Each of the members of our Audit Committee satisfy the requirements for independence and financial literacy under the 
applicable rules and regulations of the SEC and rules of Nasdaq. The Board has determined that Ms. Parekh is an “Audit 
Committee financial expert,” as that term is defined in SEC rules.

Delinquent Section 16(a) Reports

Section 16(a) of the Exchange Act requires our executive officers, directors and persons who beneficially own more than 10% 
of a registered class of our equity securities to file with the SEC initial reports of ownership and reports of changes in 
ownership of our ordinary shares and other equity securities. Based solely on our review of such forms furnished to us and 
written representations from certain reporting persons, we believe that all filing requirements applicable to our executive 
officers, directors and greater than 10% beneficial owners were complied with in a timely manner during the year ended 
December 31, 2022, except for one Form 4 with respect to one transaction for each of Mr. McClymont and Mr. Kight. 

ITEM 11. EXECUTIVE COMPENSATION

This section discusses the material components of the executive compensation programs for our named executive officers 
(identified below). This discussion may contain forward- looking statements that are based on our current plans, considerations, 
expectations and determinations regarding future compensation programs. Actual compensation programs that we adopt may 
differ materially from the existing and currently planned programs summarized or referred to in this discussion.

We have opted to comply with the executive compensation disclosure rules applicable to emerging growth companies, as we 
are an emerging growth company. The scaled down disclosure rules are those applicable to “smaller reporting companies,” as 
such term is defined in the rules promulgated under the Exchange Act.

Donald McClymont was our principal executive officer for the entirety of fiscal 2022 and fiscal 2021. Our two most highly 
compensated executive officers that were serving in such capacity at the end of fiscal year 2022 (other than Mr. McClymont) 
were Ichiro Aoki and Steve Machuga, and we have also voluntarily elected to provide compensation information for certain of 
our other executive officers.

Therefore, for the fiscal year ended December 31, 2022, our named executive officers were:

• Donald McClymont, Chief Executive Officer;
• Ichiro Aoki, President;
• Thomas Schiller, Chief Financial Officer and Executive Vice President of Strategy; and
• Steven Machuga, Chief Operating Officer

111



Name and Principal 
Position

Fiscal 
Year Salary

Bonus 
(1)(2)

Stock 
Awards

(2)

Option 
Awards

(2)

All Other 
Compensation

(3) Total
Donald McClymont 2022 $ 400,000 $ 241,671 $ 1,316,424 $ 422,463 $ 19,075 $ 2,399,633 

Chief Executive Officer 2021 $ 220,000 $ — $ — $ — $ 34,886 $ 254,886 

Ichiro Aoki 2022 $ 275,000 $ 72,690 $ 764,884 $ 108,914 $ 6,855 $ 1,228,343 
President 2021 $ 200,000 $ — $ — $ — $ 16,080 $ 216,080 

Thomas Schiller 2022 $ 300,000 $ 101,955 $ 493,660 $ 158,422 $ 23,418 $ 1,077,455 
Chief Financial Officer 2021 $ 300,000 0 $ — $ — $ — $ 47,358 $ 347,358 
and Executive Vice
President of Strategy

Steve Machuga 2022 $ 330,000 $ 106,349 $ 968,536 $ 174,269 $ 8,250 $ 1,587,404 
Chief Operating Officer 2021 $ 316,250 $ — $ 3,965,708 $ — $ 40,801 $ 4,322,759 

(1) Each officer is entitled to a target bonus amount based on a percentage of their base salary. The target bonus
percentage for each named executive officer is as follows: Mr. McClymont - target bonus equal to 80% of base salary;
Mr. Schiller - target bonus equal to 45% of base salary; Mr. Aoki - target bonus equal to 35% of base salary; and Mr.
Machuga - target bonus equal to 45% of base salary. In March 2023, based on the Company’s fiscal 2022
performance, the Compensation Committee approved the bonus amounts listed in the table above, to be payable in
immediately vested shares of Class A common stock to further link the interests of our officers to our stockholders.
These share awards will be granted after the Report is filed with the SEC, using the closing price of the Company’s
shares as of the grant date to determine the actual number of shares  to be awarded to each named executive officer.

(2) The fair value of these awards represents the estimated grant date fair value of the stock awards and option awards as
determined under the provisions of ASC 718. Such estimated fair value amounts do not necessarily correspond to the
potential actual value realized from the stock awards. The assumptions made in computing the estimated fair value of
such stock awards are discussed in Note 17 to the Consolidated Financial Statements included in our Report.

(3) Amount consists of Company matching contributions under the 401(k) Plan in the amount of $12,200, $0, $12,000,
$8,250 for Messrs. McClymont, Aoki, Schiller and Machuga, respectively. Each named executive officer also was
provided with Armadacare, which is an executive medical cost reimbursement program, which program costs $6,875,
$6,855, $11,418 and $0 for Messrs. McClymont, Aoki, Schiller and Machuga, respectively, which was paid for by the
Company.

Narrative Disclosure to Summary Executive Compensation Table

The following is a brief description of the compensation arrangements we have with each of our named executive officers and 
other compensation paid to our named executive officers. 

Employment Arrangements with Named Executive Officers

We have entered into employment agreements with each of our named executive officers (the “Employment Agreements”). 
These agreements govern the terms of their compensation and, in addition, provide for certain payments and benefits in the 
event of certain qualifying terminations of employment, including a termination of employment in connection with a change in 
control of the Company. The employment agreements provide each named executive officer with a base salary and a target 
bonus.

The Employment Agreements also provide that if (i) indie terminates a named executive officer’s employment at any time with 
Cause (as such term is defined in the Employment Agreement), (ii) the named executive officer voluntarily terminates his 
employment other than for Good Reason (as such term is defined in the Employment Agreement) or (iii) the named executive 
officer dies, such named executive officer will be entitled to his base salary accrued through the date of termination of 
employment. Additionally, if a named executive officer is then serving on the Board, such named executive officer will be 
required to tender his resignation as a member of the Board if so requested.
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Pursuant to the terms of the Employment Agreements, if indie terminates a named executive officer’s employment at any time 
(A) other than for Cause or (B) due to a Disability (as such term is defined in the Employment Agreement), or if a named
executive officer voluntarily terminates his employment for Good Reason (each event constituting “Severance”), then, subject
to such named executive officer executing a release of claims in favor of indie, such named executive officer will be entitled to:
(a) lump sum payment equal to a sum of a number of months of base salary and target bonus, together with any base salary
accrued through the termination date; (b) at the named executive officer’s election, a lump sum payment equal to the value of a
number of months of COBRA coverage or direct payment of premiums for health care continuation coverage under the
applicable provisions of COBRA (the “COBRA Benefit”); and (c) a number of months of accelerated vesting of all equity
awards received from indie prior to such termination of employment (with the vesting for awards subject to performance-based
vesting based on the target performance level). Mr. McClymont is entitled to 18 months of his base salary and target bonus, 18
months of the COBRA Benefit and to 12 months of accelerated equity award vesting, while all of the other named executive
officers are entitled to 12 months of base salary and target bonus, 12 months of the COBRA Benefit and 6 months of
accelerated equity award vesting.

Notwithstanding the foregoing, if any such termination occurs within the period commencing 90 days before, or two years 
following, the consummation of a Change of Control (as such term is defined in the Employment Agreement) (such event, a 
“CIC Severance”), then, in lieu of the benefits described above, such named executive officer will be entitled to: (a) a lump sum 
payment equal to a sum of a number of months of base salary and target bonus, together with any base salary accrued through 
the termination date; (b) 100% accelerated vesting of all equity awards received from indie prior to such termination of 
employment (with the vesting for awards subject to performance-based vesting to be at the greater of target or the level earned 
based on actual performance); (c) the COBRA Benefit for a number of months; and (d) a pro-rata portion of any annual bonus 
earned based on actual performance for the year of termination of employment. Additionally, if a named executive officer is 
then serving on the Board, such named executive officer will be required to tender his resignation as a member of the Board if 
so requested. For the CIC Severance, Mr. McClymont is entitled to 24 months of his base salary and target bonus and 18 
months of the COBRA Benefit, while all of the other named executive officers are entitled to 18 months of base salary and 
target bonus and 18 months of the COBRA Benefit.

Equity Incentive Plan

The 2021 Omnibus Equity Incentive Plan (the “2021 Plan”) is a comprehensive incentive compensation plan that was adopted 
in June 2021 under which we can grant equity-based and other incentive awards to our officers, employees, directors, 
consultants and advisers. The purpose of the 2021 Plan is to help us attract, motivate and retain such persons with awards under 
the 2021 Plan and thereby enhance shareholder value.

Administration. The 2021 Plan is administered by the compensation committee of our board of directors, which consists of 
three members of our board of directors, each of whom is a “non-employee director” within the meaning of Rule 16b-3 
promulgated under the Exchange Act and “independent” for purposes of Nasdaq requirements. If a member of the 
compensation committee is eligible to receive an award under the 2021 Plan, such compensation committee member shall have 
no authority under the plan with respect to his or her own award. Among other things, the compensation committee has 
complete discretion, subject to the express limits of the 2021 Plan, to determine the directors, employees and nonemployee 
consultants to be granted an award, the type of award to be granted, the terms and conditions of the award, the form of payment 
to be made and/or the number of shares of common stock subject to each award, the exercise price of each option and base price 
of each stock appreciation right (“SAR”), the term of each award, the vesting schedule for an award, whether to accelerate 
vesting, the value of the common stock underlying the award, and the required withholding, if any. The compensation 
committee may amend, modify or terminate any outstanding award, provided that the participant’s consent to such action is 
required if the action would impair the participant’s rights or entitlements with respect to that award. The compensation 
committee is also authorized to construe the award agreements, and may prescribe rules relating to the 2021 Plan. 
Notwithstanding the foregoing, the compensation committee does not have any authority to grant or modify an award under the 
2021 Plan with terms or conditions that would cause the grant, vesting or exercise thereof to be considered nonqualified 
“deferred compensation” subject to Section 409A of the Internal Revenue Code of 1986, as amended (the “Code”), unless such 
award is structured to be exempt from or comply with all requirements of Code Section 409A.

Grant of Awards; Shares Available for Awards. The 2021 Plan provides for the grant of stock options, SARs, performance 
share awards, performance unit awards, distribution equivalent right awards, restricted stock awards, restricted stock unit 
awards and unrestricted stock awards to non-employee directors, officers, employees and consultants of the Company or its 
affiliates. The aggregate number of shares of Class A common stock (“Common Stock” or “common stock”) reserved and 
available for grant and issuance under the 2021 Plan is 20,868,750 shares. No more than 20,868,750 shares of common stock in 
the aggregate may be issued under the 2021 Plan in connection with incentive stock options. Shares shall be deemed to have 
been issued under the 2021 Plan solely to the extent actually issued and delivered pursuant to an award. If any award expires, is 
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cancelled, or terminates unexercised or is forfeited, the number of shares subject thereto is again available for grant under the 
2021 Plan. The 2021 Plan shall continue in effect, unless sooner terminated, until the tenth (10th) anniversary of the date on 
which it was adopted by our board of directors. The board of directors in its discretion may terminate the 2021 Plan at any time 
with respect to any shares for which awards have not theretofore been granted; provided, however, that the 2021 Plan’s 
termination shall not materially and adversely impair the rights of a holder, without the consent of the holder, with respect to 
any award previously granted.

Stock Options.    The 2021 Plan provides for either “incentive stock options” (“ISOs”), which are intended to meet the 
requirements for special federal income tax treatment under Section 422 of the Internal Revenue Code of 1986, as amended (the 
“Code”), , or “nonqualified stock options” (“NQSOs”).

Stock options may be granted on such terms and conditions as the compensation committee may determine, which shall be 
specified in the option agreement; provided, however, that the per share exercise price under a stock option may not be less than 
the fair market value of a share of common stock on the date of grant and the term of the stock option may not exceed 10 years 
(110% of such value and five years in the case of an ISO granted to an employee who owns (or is deemed to own) more than 
10% of the total combined voting power of all classes of our capital stock or that of a parent or subsidiary).

ISOs may only be granted to employees. In addition, the aggregate fair market value of common stock covered by one or more 
ISOs (determined at the time of grant), which are exercisable for the first time by an employee during any calendar year may 
not exceed $100,000. Any excess is treated as a NQSO.

No ISO shall be granted to an employee if, at the time the ISO is granted, such employee owns shares possessing more than ten 
percent (10%) of our total combined voting power, unless (i) at the time such ISO is granted the option price is at least one 
hundred ten percent (110%) of the fair market value of the shares subject to the ISO, and (ii) such ISO by its terms is not 
exercisable after the expiration of five (5) years from the date of grant.

No ISO shall be granted more than ten (10) years from the earlier of the effective date of the 2021 Plan or the date on which the 
2021 Plan was approved by the Thunder Bridge II shareholders.

Stock Appreciation Rights.    A SAR entitles the participant, upon exercise, to receive an amount, in cash or stock or a 
combination thereof, equal to the increase in the fair market value of the underlying common stock between the date of grant 
and the date of exercise. The compensation committee shall set forth in the applicable SAR award agreement the terms and 
conditions of the SAR, including the base value for the SAR (which shall not be less than the fair market value of a share on the 
date of grant), the number of shares subject to the SAR and the period during which the SAR may be exercised and any other 
special rules and/or requirements which the compensation committee imposes on the SAR. No SAR shall be exercisable after 
the expiration of ten (10) years from the date of grant. SARs may be granted in tandem with, or independently of, stock options 
granted under the 2021 Plan. A SAR granted in tandem with a stock option: (i) is exercisable only at such times, and to the 
extent, that the related stock option is exercisable in accordance with the procedure for exercise of the related stock option; (ii) 
terminates upon termination or exercise of the related stock option (likewise, the common stock option granted in tandem with a 
SAR terminates upon exercise of the SAR); (iii) is transferable only with the related stock option; and (iv) if the related stock 
option is an ISO, may be exercised only when the value of the stock subject to the stock option exceeds the exercise price of the 
stock option. A SAR that is not granted in tandem with a stock option is exercisable at such times as the compensation 
committee may specify.

Performance Shares and Performance Unit Awards.   Performance share and performance unit awards entitle the participant to 
receive cash or shares of common stock upon the attainment of specified performance goals. In the case of performance units, 
the right to acquire the units is denominated in cash values. The compensation committee shall set forth in the applicable award 
agreement the performance goals and objectives and the period of time to which such goals and objectives shall apply. If such 
goals and objectives are achieved, such distribution of shares, or payment in cash, as the case may be, shall be made no later 
than by the fifteenth (15th) day of the third (3rd) calendar month next following the end of our fiscal year to which such 
performance goals and objectives relate, unless otherwise structured to comply with Code Section 409A.

Distribution Equivalent Right Awards.   A distribution equivalent right award entitles the participant to receive bookkeeping 
credits, cash payments and/or common stock distributions equal in amount to the distributions that would have been made to the 
participant had the participant held a specified number of shares of common stock during the period the participant held the 
distribution equivalent right. A distribution equivalent right may be awarded as a component of another award (but not an 
option or SAR award) under the 2021 Plan, where, if so awarded, such distribution equivalent right will expire or be forfeited 
by the participant under the same conditions as under such other award. The compensation committee shall set forth in the 
applicable distribution equivalent rights award agreement the terms and conditions, if any, including whether the holder is to 
receive credits currently in cash, is to have such credits reinvested (at fair market value determined as of the date of 
reinvestment) in additional shares, or is to be entitled to choose among such alternatives.
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Restricted Stock Awards.    A restricted stock award is a grant or sale of common stock to the holder, subject to such 
restrictions on transferability, risk of forfeiture and other restrictions, if any, as the compensation committee or the board of 
directors may impose, which restrictions may lapse separately or in combination at such times, under such circumstances 
(including based on achievement of performance goals and/or future service requirements), in such installments or otherwise, as 
the compensation committee or the board of directors may determine at the date of grant or purchase or thereafter. If provided 
for under the restricted stock award agreement, a participant who is granted or has purchased restricted stock shall have all of 
the rights of a stockholder, including the right to vote the restricted stock and the right to receive dividends thereon (subject to 
any mandatory reinvestment or other requirement imposed by the compensation committee or the board of directors or in the 
award agreement). During the restricted period applicable to the restricted stock, subject to certain exceptions, the restricted 
stock may not be sold, transferred, pledged, exchanged, hypothecated, or otherwise disposed of by the participant.

Restricted Stock Unit Awards.    A restricted stock unit award provides for a grant of shares or a cash payment to be made to 
the holder upon the satisfaction of predetermined individual service-related vesting requirements, based on the number of units 
awarded to the holder. The compensation committee shall set forth in the applicable restricted stock unit award agreement the 
individual service-based vesting requirements which the holder would be required to satisfy before the holder would become 
entitled to payment and the number of units awarded to the holder. The holder of a restricted stock unit shall be entitled to 
receive a cash payment equal to the fair market value of a share of common stock, or one share of common stock, as determined 
in the sole discretion of the compensation committee and as set forth in the restricted stock unit award agreement, for each 
restricted stock unit subject to such restricted stock unit award, if and to the extent the holder satisfies the applicable vesting 
requirements. Such payment or distribution shall be made no later than by the fifteenth (15th) day of the third (3rd) calendar 
month next following the end of the calendar year in which the restricted stock unit first becomes vested, unless otherwise 
structured to comply with Code Section 409A. A restricted stock unit shall not constitute an equity interest in the Company and 
shall not entitle the holder to voting rights, dividends or any other rights associated with ownership of shares prior to the time 
the holder shall receive a distribution of shares.

Unrestricted Stock Awards.   An unrestricted stock award is a grant or sale of shares of our common stock to the employees, 
non-employee directors or non-employee consultants that are not subject to transfer, forfeiture or other restrictions, in 
consideration for past services rendered to us or an affiliate or for other valid consideration.

Change-in-Control Provisions.    The Compensation Committee may, in its sole discretion, at the time an award is granted or at 
any time prior to, coincident with or after the time of a change in control, cause any award either (i) to be cancelled in 
consideration of a payment in cash or other consideration in amount per share equal to the excess, if any, of the price or implied 
price per share of common stock in the change in control over the per share exercise, base or purchase price of such award, 
which may be paid immediately or over the vesting schedule of the award; (ii) to be assumed, or new rights substituted 
therefore, by the surviving corporation or a parent or subsidiary of such surviving corporation following such change in control; 
(iii) to have its time periods accelerated, or waive any other conditions, relating to the vesting, exercise, payment or distribution
of an award so that any award to a holder whose employment has been terminated as a result of a change in control may be
vested, exercised, paid or distributed in full on or before a date fixed by the compensation committee; (iv) to be purchased from
a holder whose employment has been terminated as a result of a change in control, upon the holder’s request, for an amount of
cash equal to the amount that could have been obtained upon the exercise, payment or distribution of such rights had such
award been currently exercisable or payable; or (v) terminate any then outstanding award or make any other adjustment to the
awards then outstanding as the compensation committee deems necessary or appropriate to reflect such transaction or change.
The number of shares subject to any award shall be rounded to the nearest whole number.

Amendment and Termination.   The compensation committee may adopt, amend and rescind rules relating to the administration 
of the 2021 Plan, and amend, suspend or terminate the 2021 Plan, but no such amendment or termination will be made that 
materially and adversely impairs the rights of any participant with respect to any award received thereby under the 2021 Plan 
without the participant’s consent, other than amendments that are necessary to permit the granting of awards in compliance with 
applicable laws.

Outstanding Equity Awards at Fiscal Year End

The following table sets forth outstanding equity awards held by each of our named executive officers as of December 31, 
2022.
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Name and 
Principal Position

Grant 
Date

Number of 
securities 

underlying 
unexercised 
options (#) 

unexercisable

Option 
exercise 

price
($)

Option 
expiration 

date

Number of 
Shares of 

Stock That 
Have Not 

Vested
(#)

Market 
Value of 
Shares of 

Stock That 
Have Not 

Vested
($)

Equity 
Incentive 

Plan 
Awards: 
Number 

of 
Unearned 

Shares, 
Units or 
Other 
Rights 

That Have 
Not 

Vested
(#)

Equity 
Incentive 

Plan 
Awards: 

Market or 
Payout 

Value of 
Unearned 

Shares, 
Units or 
Other 
Rights 

That Have 
Not Vested

(#)
Donald McClymont 1/3/2022 — $ — 24,615 $ 143,505 — $ — (1)(6)

Chief Executive 
Officer 1/3/2022 70,646 $ 11.69 1/3/2032 — $ — — $ — (2)

1/3/2022 — $ — — $ — 73,846 $ 430,522 (3)(6)
Ichiro Aoki 1/3/2022 — $ — 6,346 $ 36,997 — $ — (1)(6)

President 1/3/2022 18,213 $ 11.69 1/3/2032 — $ — — $ — (2)
1/3/2022 — $ — — $ — 19,038 $ 110,992 (3)(6)

8/31/2022 — $ — 50,000 $ 291,500 — $ — (1)(6)
Thomas Schiller 1/3/2022 — $ — 9,231 $ 53,817 — $ — (1)(6)

Chief Financial 
Officer 1/3/2022 26,492 $ 11.69 1/3/2032 — $ — — $ — (2)
and Executive Vice 1/3/2022 — $ — — $ — 27,692 $ 161,444 (3)(6)
President of 
Strategy 8/13/2020 — $ — — $ — 150,585 $ 877,911 (5)(6)

8/13/2020 — $ — — $ — 333,600 $ 1,944,888 (4)(6)
Steve Machuga 1/3/2022 — $ — — $ — 17,377 $ 101,308 (5)(6)

Chief Operating 
Officer 1/3/2022 — $ — 10,154 $ 59,198 — $ — (1)(6)

1/3/2022 29,142 $ 11.69 1/3/2032 — $ — — $ — (2)
8/31/2022 — $ — — $ — 30,462 $ 177,593 (3)(6)

(1) Time-based restricted stock unit (“RSU”) award that vests in equal annual installments over a four-year period from
the grant date.

(2) Options vest in equal annual installments over a four-year period from the grant date.
(3) PRSU may be earned and become vested based on the achievement of stock price targets set at $16 (“Threshold

Price”), $18 (“Target Price”) and $20 (“Maximum Price”), each based on the average closing price for our Class A
common stock during any 30 trading day period commencing on the grant date and ending on the three-year
anniversary of the grant date. The PRSUs reported in this table represent shares that may be earned and become vested
upon achievement of the Target Price (“Target Shares”). Achievement of the Threshold Price would result in 50% of
the Target Shares being earned (“Threshold Shares”) and achievement of the Maximum Price would result in 200% of
the target shares being earned (“Maximum Shares”). The actual number of PRSUs that vest for each named executive
officer will be based on a straight line continuum calculation between the Threshold Shares and the Target Shares or
between the Target Shares and the Maximum Shares. Notwithstanding the foregoing, to the extent the closing price of
our Class A common stock equals or exceeds an average closing price of $20 per share during any 30 trading day
period within the first 24 months of the three-year performance period, the Maximum Number of Shares shall vest on
January 3, 2024.

(4) PRSU vests in its entirety upon the Company’s achievement of at least $150,000,000 in trailing twelve-month revenue.
(5) Time-based RSU award that vests as to 25% of the shares on the anniversary of the grant date and thereafter vests as to

the remaining 75% of the shares monthly in equal installments over a three year period.
(6) The fair value of this award represents the valuation of the Class A common stock of indie Semiconductor, Inc. as of

December 31, 2022 per a market close price of $5.83 per share.
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2022 Director Compensation

The following table sets forth information concerning the annual and long-term compensation awarded to, earned by, or paid to 
each non-employee director for all services rendered in all capacities to our Company, or any of its subsidiaries, for the last 
fiscal year.

Name

Fees Earned or 
Paid in Cash

(1)
Stock Awards

(2)(3) Total
David Aldrich $ 78,750 $ 175,003 $ 253,753 
Diane Biagianti (4) $ 37,500 $ 530,250 $ 567,750 
Diane Brink $ 78,750 $ 175,003 $ 253,753 
Peter Kight $ 75,000 $ 175,003 $ 250,003 
Karl-Thomas Neumann $ 75,000 $ 175,003 $ 250,003 
Jeffrey Owens $ 75,000 $ 175,003 $ 250,003 
Sonalee Parekh $ 78,750 $ 175,003 $ 253,753 
William Woodward (5) $ 37,500 $ — $ 37,500 

(1) Under our director compensation plan adopted effective June 10, 2021 and subsequently amended from time to time
(“Non-Employee Director Compensation Program”), our non-employee directors are each paid an (i) annual cash
retainer of $75,000, and (ii) additional cash retainer of $15,000 for each committee chair position. Mr. Aldrich and
Mses Brink and Parekh serve as the chair of the Compensation Committee, Nominating and Corporate Governance
Committee and Audit Committee, respectively. Their fees paid in cash reflect the additional cash retainer paid to
committee chairs, prorated from June 22, 2022, when the Non-Employee Director Compensation Program was
amended, to the end of the fiscal year.

(2) Under our Non-Employee Director Compensation Program, our non-employee directors are granted an (i) initial equity
grant of $225,000 in restricted stock units that vest over three years and (ii) annual equity grant of $175,000 in RSUs
that vest over one year with each director being eligible for such annual grant only after one year of service and each
such grant being made immediately following our Annual Stockholders’ Meeting each year. On June 22, 2022, each
non-employee director received a grant of 26,965 RSUs that had a grant date fair value of $175,003. The RSUs vest
upon the earlier of June 22, 2023 or the date of the Company’s 2023 Annual Meeting of Stockholders.

(3) The fair value of these awards represents the grant date fair value of the stock awards as determined under the
provisions of ASC 718. Such fair value amounts do not necessarily correspond to the potential actual value realized
from the stock awards. The assumptions made in computing the estimated fair value of such stock awards are
discussed in Note 17 to the Consolidated Financial Statements included in our Report. As of December 31, 2022, each
of our non-employee directors held the following unvested restricted stock unit awards:

Name Outstanding Stock Awards
David Aldrich 76,965
Diane Biagianti 75,000
Diane Brink 76,965
Peter Kight 76,965
Karl-Thomas Neumann 192,031
Jeffrey Owens 76,965
Sonalee Parekh 76,965

(4) Ms. Biagianti joined the Board effective April 1, 2022, and received an initial equity grant of 75,000 restricted stock
units, in accordance with the Non-Employee Director Compensation Program in effect at that time. In the table above,
$530,250 reflects the grant date fair value of the initial grant under the provisions of ASC 718. The RSUs vest in three
equal annual installments beginning April 1, 2022.

(5) Mr. Woodward ceased serving as director effective March 28, 2022. The amount in the table above reflects his
compensation paid in fiscal year 2022, pro-rated through March 28, 2022.
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Risks Related to Compensation Policies and Practices

The Compensation Committee regularly monitors and considers whether our overall compensation programs, including our 
executive compensation program, create incentives for employees to take excessive or unreasonable risks that could materially 
harm our company. Although risk-taking is a necessary part of any business, the Compensation Committee focuses on aligning 
our compensation policies with our long-term interests and avoiding short-term rewards for management decisions that could 
pose long-term risks to us. We believe our 2022 compensation programs do not create risks that are reasonably likely to have a 
material adverse effect on our Company.

ITEM 12. SECURITY OWNERSHIP OF CERTAIN BENEFICIAL OWNER AND MANAGEMENT AND RELATED 
STOCKHOLDER MATTERS

Beneficial Ownership Table

The following table sets forth information regarding the beneficial ownership of our common stock by:

• each person who is known by us to be the beneficial owner of more than five percent of our issued and outstanding
Class A common stock and Class V common stock;

• each of our named executive officers and directors; and
• all of our executive officers and directors as a group.

Beneficial ownership is determined in accordance with SEC rules and includes voting or investment power with respect to 
securities. Except as indicated by the footnotes below, we believe, based on the information furnished to us, that the persons 
and entities named in the table below will have sole voting and investment power with respect to all Class A common stock and 
Class V common stock that they beneficially own, subject to applicable community property laws.

Subject to the paragraph above, the percentage ownership of common stock is based on 142,695,779 shares of our Class A 
common stock and 19,829,941 shares of our Class V common stock deemed issued and outstanding as of March 21, 2023. Of 
the 142,695,779 shares of our Class A common stock deemed issued and outstanding as of March 21, 2023, 2,370,002 of such 
shares are the 1,725,000 Sponsor Escrow Shares and 645,002 of such shares are restricted shares of Class A common stock that 
are issued and are considered beneficially owned as of March 21, 2023 because such shares carry voting rights even though 
they are subject to forfeiture. The beneficial ownership information below excludes the shares underlying outstanding warrants, 
any shares issuable upon the achievement of any earn-out consideration after March 21, 2023, and shares subject to outstanding 
grants or awards under the 2021 Plan, except to the extent they are exercisable by the holder within 60 days of March 21, 2023 
(in which case they are deemed outstanding for purposes of computing the beneficial ownership of the person holdings such 
securities, but are not deemed outstanding for purposes of computing the beneficial ownership of any other person).

Unless otherwise noted, the business address of each of the following entities or individuals is 32 Journey, Aliso Viejo, 
California 92656.
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Name and Address of Beneficial Owner

Shares of Class 
A Common 

Stock (1)

Shares of Class 
V Common 

Stock
(2)

% of Total 
Common Stock 

(3)
Donald McClymont (4) 35,622 6,001,506  3.7 %
Ichiro Aoki 1,603 5,689,362  3.5 %
Thomas Schiller (5) 1,319,362 — *
Steve Machuga 66,376 — *
David Aldrich 25,000 — *
Diane Biagianti (6) 25,000 — *
Diane Brink 25,000 — *
Peter Kight 2,025,000 —  1.2 %
Karl-Thomas Neumann (7) 449,063 — *
Jeffrey Owens 25,000 — *
Sonalee Parekh 25,000 — *
All Executive Officers and Directors as a Group (12 persons): 4,022,742 11,690,868  9.7 %

Greater than Five Percent Holders:
Anthem/MIC Strategic Partners LP (8) 12,971,427 —  8.0 %
Soros Fund Management LLC (9) 8,752,630 —  5.4 %

(1) Each individual’s calculation includes shares subject to outstanding grants or awards under the 2021 Plan that are
exercisable by the holder within 60 days of March 21, 2023.

(2) Holders owns ADK, LLC units after the Transaction (“Post-Transaction LLC Units”) and a corresponding number of
shares of Class V common stock and will be entitled to one vote per share of Class V common stock. Subject to the
terms of the Exchange Agreement, the Post-Transaction LLC Units are exchangeable for shares of Class A common
stock on a one-for-one basis from and after December 10, 2021. Upon such exchange, the corresponding shares of
Class V common stock will be cancelled.

(3) Represents the combined percentage of beneficial ownership of Class A common stock and Class V common stock,
which vote together as a single class.

(4) Includes 4,298 shares of Class A common stock held directly, 31,324 shares of Class A stock held indirectly through
Mr. McClymont’s spouse.

(5) Includes 15,059 shares of Class A common stock issuable upon vesting of RSUs within 60 days after March 21, 2023.
(6) Includes 25,000 shares of Class A common stock issuable upon vesting of RSUs within 60 days after March 21, 2023.
(7) Includes 8,688 shares of Class A common stock issuable upon vesting of RSUs within 60 days after March 21, 2023.
(8) Consists of 12,971,427 shares held of record by Anthem/MIC Strategic Partners LP (“ASP”). The address of ASP is

225 Arizona Street, Suite 200, Santa Monica, CA 90401.
(9) Based on information contained in a Schedule 13G filed by Soros Fund Management LLC (“SFM LLC”) and George

Soros with the SEC on February 13, 2023, these shares are held for the accounts of Quantum Partners LP, a Cayman
Islands exempted limited partnership (“Quantum Partners”) and certain other funds/accounts (the "Other Funds/
Accounts" and, together with Quantum Partners, the "Accounts"). According to the Schedule 13G, as of December 31,
2022, SFM LLC and George Soros each have shared voting and dispositive power over all 8,752,630 shares of Class A
common stock. SFM LLC serves as investment manager to the Accounts. As such, SFM LLC has been granted
investment discretion over portfolio investments, including the shares of Class A common stock, held for the
Accounts. George Soros serves as Chairman of SFM LLC and has sole discretion to replace FPR Manager LLC, the
Manager of SFM  The address for SFM LLC and George Soros is 250 West 55th Street, 29th Floor, New York, NY
10019.

Equity Compensation Plan Information

The following table sets forth the number of shares of common stock subject to outstanding awards and the number of shares 
remaining available for future award grants as of December 31, 2022 under our equity compensation plans. 
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Plan category

Number of 
securities to be 

issued upon 
exercise of 

outstanding 
options, warrants 

and rights
(a)(1)

Weighted-aver
age exercise 

price of 
outstanding 

options, 
warrants and 

rights
(b)

Number of 
securities 
remaining 

available for 
future issuance 
under equity 
compensation 

plans (excluding 
securities 

reflected in 
Column (a))

(c)(2)

Equity compensation plan approved by security holders 9,610,483 $ 10.74 10,187,807 
Equity compensation plans not approved by security holders 1,214,044 $ 0.16 — 

Totals 10,824,527 $ 2.62 10,187,807 

(1) Outstanding shares under equity compensation plan approved by security holders represents total equity awards issued
under equity plans and the 2021 Plan that are in the form of restricted stock units, stock options or similar forms.
Outstanding shares under equity compensation plans not approved by security holders represent the TeraXion option
assumed by the Company as a result of the acquisition of TERAXION INC. on October 12, 2021.

(2) Of the aggregate number of shares that remained available for future issuance, all were available under the 2021 Plan
and may be used for any type of award authorized under the 2021 Plan.

ITEM 13. CERTAIN RELATIONSHIPS AND RELATED TRANSACTIONS, AND DIRECTOR INDEPENDENCE

Director Independence

Our Class A common stock is listed on Nasdaq. Under the rules of Nasdaq, independent directors must comprise a majority of a 
listed company’s board of directors. In addition, the rules of Nasdaq require that, subject to specified exceptions, each member 
of a listed company’s audit, compensation and nominating committees be independent. Under the rules of Nasdaq, a director 
will only qualify as an “independent director” if, in the opinion of that company’s board of directors, that person does not have 
a relationship that would interfere with the exercise of independent judgment in carrying out the responsibilities of a director. 
Audit Committee members must also satisfy the additional independence criteria set forth in Rule 10A-3 under the Exchange 
Act and the rules of Nasdaq. Compensation Committee members must also satisfy the additional independence criteria set forth 
in Rule 10C-1 under the Exchange Act and the rules of Nasdaq.

In order to be considered independent for purposes of Rule 10A-3 under the Exchange Act and under the rules of Nasdaq, a 
member of an audit committee of a listed company may not, other than in his or her capacity as a member of the committee, the 
board of directors, or any other board committee: (1) accept, directly or indirectly, any consulting, advisory, or other 
compensatory fee from the listed company or any of its subsidiaries; or (2) be an affiliated person of the listed company or any 
of its subsidiaries.

To be considered independent for purposes of Rule 10C-1 under the Exchange Act and under the rules of Nasdaq, the board of 
directors must affirmatively determine that a member of the compensation committee is independent, including a consideration 
of all factors specifically relevant to determining whether the director has a relationship to the company which is material to 
that director’s ability to be independent from management in connection with the duties of a compensation committee member, 
including, but not limited to: (i) the source of compensation of such director, including any consulting, advisory or other 
compensatory fee paid by the company to such director; and (ii) whether such director is affiliated with the company, a 
subsidiary of the company or an affiliate of a subsidiary of the company.

Our Board has undertaken a review of the independence of each director and considered whether each of our directors has a 
material relationship with the Company that could compromise his or her ability to exercise independent judgment in carrying 
out his or her responsibilities. As a result of this review, we have determined that each of Messrs. Aldrich, Kight, Neumann, 
and Owens, and Mses. Biagianti, Brink and Parekh are considered “independent directors” as defined under the listing 
requirements and rules of Nasdaq and the applicable rules of the Exchange Act. Messrs. Aoki and McClymont are not 
considered independent due to their positions at the Company.

Related Party Transactions

Statement of Policy Regarding Transactions with Related Persons
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We have adopted a formal written policy providing that our officers, directors, nominees for election as directors, beneficial 
owners of more than 5% of any class of our capital stock, any member of the immediate family of any of the foregoing persons 
and any firm, corporation or other entity in which any of the foregoing persons is employed or is a general partner or principal 
or in a similar position or in which such person has a 5% or greater beneficial ownership interest, are not permitted to enter into 
a related person transaction with us without the approval of our Audit Committee. For this purpose, a related person transaction 
is defined as any transaction in which we are a participant, the amount involved in the transaction exceeds $120,000 and such 
person or entity has a direct or indirect material interest in the transaction. 

Exchange Agreement

On June 10, 2021 (the “Closing Date”), the Company completed a series of transactions (the “Transaction”) with Thunder 
Bridge Acquisition II, Ltd. (“TB2”) pursuant to the Master Transactions Agreement (“MTA”) dated December 14, 2020, as 
amended on May 3, 2021. In connection with the Transaction, Thunder Bridge Acquisition II Surviving Pubco, Inc, a Delaware 
corporation (“Surviving Pubco”), was formed to be the successor public company to TB2, and TB2 was domesticated into a 
Delaware corporation and merged with and into a merger subsidiary of Surviving Pubco. On the Closing Date, Surviving 
PubCo changed its name to indie Semiconductor, Inc., and listed its shares of Class A common stock, par value $0.0001 per 
share on  Nasdaq under the symbol “INDI.”

Concurrently with the completion of the Transaction, Surviving Pubco entered into an Exchange Agreement with certain 
holders of Post-Merger indie Units, including Messrs. Aoki and McClymont, which provides for the exchange of such holders’ 
Post-Transaction LLC Units into shares of our Class A common stock.

Exchange Mechanics

Upon the later of December 10, 2021 and the second anniversary of the grant of such holder’s Post-Transaction LLC 
Units may, from time to time thereafter, exchange all or any portion of their Post-Transaction LLC Units for shares of our 
Class A common stock by delivering a written notice to us; provided, that we may, in our sole and absolute discretion, in lieu of 
delivering shares of Class A common stock for any Post-Transaction LLC Units surrendered for exchange, pay an amount in 
cash per Post-Transaction LLC Units equal to the volume weighted average price of the Class A common stock on the date of 
the receipt of the written notice of the exchange. 

Exchange Ratio

The initial exchange ratio was one Post-Transaction LLC Units for one share of Class A common stock. The exchange ratio 
will be adjusted for any subdivision (split, unit distribution, reclassification, reorganization, recapitalization or otherwise) or 
combination (by reverse unit split, reclassification, reorganization, recapitalization or otherwise) of the Post-Transaction LLC 
Units that is not accompanied by an identical subdivision or combination of the Class A common stock or, by any such 
subdivision or combination of the Class A common stock that is not accompanied by an identical subdivision or combination of 
the Post-Transaction LLC Units. If our Class A common stock is converted or changed into another security, securities or other 
property, on any subsequent exchange an exchanging holder of Post-Transaction LLC Units will be entitled to receive such 
security, securities or other property. The exchange ratio will also adjust in certain circumstances when we acquire Post-
Transaction LLC Units other than through an exchange for shares of Class A common stock.

Restrictions on Exchange

We may refuse to effect an exchange if we determine that an exchange would violate applicable law (including securities laws). 
We may also limit the rights of holders of Post-Transaction LLC Units to exchange their Post-Transaction LLC Units under the 
Exchange Agreement if we determine in good faith that such restrictions are necessary so that we will not be treated as a 
“publicly traded partnership” under applicable tax laws and regulations. 

Expenses

The Company and each holder of Post-Transaction LLC Units will bear its own expense regarding the exchange except that we 
will be responsible for transfer taxes, stamp taxes and similar duties (unless the holder has requested the shares of Class A 
common stock to be issued in the name of another holder).

Tax Receivable Agreement
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Concurrently with the completion of the Transaction, Surviving Pubco entered into the Tax Receivable Agreement with certain 
members of ADK LLC prior to the Transaction (“TRA Parties”). 

Holders of ADK LLC units (“LLC Units”) that are party to the Exchange Agreement (other than the Company) may, subject to 
certain conditions, from and after the six-month anniversary of the date of the completion of the Transaction, exchange their 
LLC Units for shares of our Class A common stock on a one-for-one basis, subject to the terms of the Exchange Agreement, 
including in certain cases, adjustments as set forth therein. We intend to have in effect an election under Section 754 of the 
Code for each taxable year in which an exchange of LLC Units for shares of Class A common stock occurs, which we expect 
will result in increases to the tax basis of ADK LLC’s assets at the time of an exchange of LLC Units. The exchanges are 
expected to result in increases in the tax basis of ADK LLC’s tangible and intangible assets. These increases in tax basis may 
reduce the amount of tax that we would otherwise be required to pay in the future. These increases in tax basis may also 
decrease gains (or increase losses) on future dispositions of certain capital assets to the extent tax basis is allocated to those 
capital assets.

The Tax Receivable Agreement provides for the payment by us to TRA Parties of LLC Units of 85% of the tax benefits, if any, 
that we realize (or in certain cases are deemed to realize) as a result of these increases in tax basis and certain tax attributes of 
the ADK Blocker Group (as defined in the MTA) and tax benefits related to entering into the Tax Receivable Agreement, 
including tax benefits attributable to payments under the Tax Receivable Agreement. This payment obligation is an obligation 
of us and not of ADK LLC. For purposes of the Tax Receivable Agreement, the cash tax savings in income tax will be 
computed by comparing our actual income tax liability (calculated with certain assumptions) to the amount of such taxes that 
we would have been required to pay had there been no increase (or decrease) to the tax basis of the assets of ADK LLC as a 
result of the exchanges and had we not entered into the Tax Receivable Agreement. Such increase or decrease will be calculated 
under the Tax Receivable Agreement without regard to any transfers of Post-Merger indie Units or distributions with respect to 
LLC Units before the exchange under the Exchange Agreement.

The term of the Tax Receivable Agreement will continue until all such tax benefits have been utilized or expired unless we 
exercise our right to terminate the Tax Receivable Agreement for an amount representing the present value of anticipated future 
tax benefits of the Tax Receivable Agreement is otherwise accelerated (as described in more detail below). Estimating the 
amount of payments that may be made under the Tax Receivable Agreement is by its nature imprecise, insofar as the 
calculation of amounts payable depends on a variety of factors. The actual increase in tax basis, as well as the amount and 
timing of any payments under the Tax Receivable Agreement, will vary depending upon a number of factors, including:

• the timing of exchanges — for instance, the increase in any tax deductions will vary depending on the fair market
value, which may fluctuate over time, of the depreciable or amortizable assets of ADK LLC at the time of each
exchange;

• the price of shares of our Class A common stock at the time of each exchange — the increase in any tax deductions, as
well as the tax basis increase in other assets of ADK LLC, is directly proportional to the price of shares of our Class A
common stock at the time of each exchange;

• the extent to which such exchanges are taxable — if an exchange is not taxable for any reason, increased deductions
will not be available; and

• the amount and timing of our income — we will be required to pay 85% of such tax benefits as and when realized,
under the terms of the Tax Receivable Agreement. Except as discussed below with respect to a material breach of a
material obligation under the Tax Receivable Agreement, a change of control, or other circumstances requiring an
early termination of the tax receivable agreement, if we do not have taxable income before the application of tax
attributes subject to the Tax Receivable Agreement, we generally will not be required to make payments under the Tax
Receivable Agreement for that taxable year because no tax benefits will have actually been realized. However, any tax
benefits that do not result in realized benefits in a given tax year will likely generate tax attributes that may be utilized
to generate benefits in previous or future tax years. The utilization of such tax attributes will result in payments under
the Tax Receivables Agreement.

We anticipate that we will account for the effects of these increases in tax basis and associated payments under the Tax 
Receivable Agreement arising from future exchanges as follows:

• we will record an increase in deferred tax assets for the estimated income tax effects of the increases in tax basis based
on enacted federal and state tax rates at the date of the exchange;

• to the extent we estimate that we will not realize the full benefit represented by the deferred tax asset, based on an
analysis that will consider, among other things, our expectation of future earnings, we will reduce the deferred tax
asset with a valuation allowance;

• we will record the estimated realizable tax benefit (which is the recorded deferred tax asset less any recorded valuation
allowance) as an increase to the liability due under the Tax Receivable Agreement; and

• all of the effects of changes in any of our estimates after the date of the exchange will be included in net income.
Similarly, the effect of subsequent changes in the enacted tax rates will be included in net income.
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We expect that, as a result of the size of the increases in the tax basis of the tangible and intangible assets of ADK LLC, the 
payments that we may make under the Tax Receivable Agreement will be substantial. There may be a material negative effect 
on our liquidity if, as a result of timing discrepancies or otherwise, the payments under the Tax Receivable Agreement exceed 
the actual cash tax savings that we realize in respect of the tax attributes subject to the Tax Receivable Agreement and/or 
distributions to us by ADK LLC are not sufficient to permit us to make payments under the Tax Receivable Agreement after we 
have paid taxes. Late payments under the Tax Receivable Agreement generally will accrue interest at an uncapped rate equal to 
LIBOR plus 500 basis points. The payments under the Tax Receivable Agreement are not conditioned upon continued 
ownership of us by holders of Post-Merger indie Units. The rights of each party under the Tax Receivable Agreement other 
than us are assignable.

In addition, the Tax Receivable Agreement provides that, if we materially breach any of our obligations under the Tax 
Receivable Agreement or if certain mergers, asset sales, other forms of business combination, or other changes of control were 
to occur, our (or our successor’s) obligations with respect to exchanged or acquired Post-Merger indie Units (whether 
exchanged or acquired before or after such transaction) would be based on certain assumptions, including that we would have 
sufficient taxable income to fully utilize the deductions arising from the increased tax deductions and tax basis and other 
benefits related to entering into the Tax Receivable Agreement.

Furthermore, we may elect to terminate the Tax Receivable Agreement early by making an immediate payment equal to the 
present value of the anticipated future cash tax savings. In determining such anticipated future cash tax savings, the Tax 
Receivable Agreement includes several assumptions, including (i) that any LLC Units that have not been exchanged are 
deemed exchanged for the market value of the shares of our Class A common stock at the time of termination, (ii) we will have 
sufficient taxable income in each future taxable year to fully realize all potential tax savings, (iii) the tax rates for future years 
will be those specified in the law as in effect at the time of termination and (iv) certain non-amortizable assets are deemed 
disposed of within specified time periods. In addition, the present value of such anticipated future cash tax savings are 
discounted at a rate equal to LIBOR plus 100 basis points. If we were to elect to terminate the Tax Receivable Agreement at the 
current time, we estimate that we would be required to pay approximately $97 million to satisfy our total Tax Receivable 
Agreement liability.

Decisions made by us in the course of running our business may influence the timing and amount of payments that are received 
by an exchanging or selling existing owner under the Tax Receivable Agreement. For example, the earlier disposition of assets 
following an exchange or acquisition transaction generally will accelerate payments under the Tax Receivable Agreement and 
increase the present value of such payments, and the disposition of assets before an exchange or acquisition transaction will 
increase an existing owner’s tax liability without giving rise to any rights of an existing owner to receive payments under the 
Tax Receivable Agreement.

Payments under the Tax Receivable Agreement are based on the tax reporting positions that we will determine. We will not be 
reimbursed for any payments previously made under the Tax Receivable Agreement if a tax item is successfully challenged by 
the IRS. As a result, in certain circumstances, payments could be made under the Tax Receivable Agreement in excess of our 
cash tax savings.

Amended Operating Agreement

Concurrently with the completion of the Transaction, the existing amended and restated limited liability company agreement of 
ADK LLC was further amended and restated in its entirety to become the Amended Operating Agreement. Below is a summary 
of some of the provisions of the Amended Operating Agreement.

Rights of the Units

Those who continue to own Post-Transaction LLC Units are entitled to share in the profits and losses of ADK LLC and to 
receive distributions as and if declared by the managing member of ADK LLC and no voting rights.

Management

The Company, as the manager of ADK LLC, has the sole vote on all matters that require a vote of members under the Amended 
Operating Agreement or applicable law. The business, property and affairs of ADK LLC are managed solely by the manager.

Distributions

The Company, as managing member of ADK LLC may, in its sole discretion, authorize distributions to the ADK LLC 
members. All such distributions will be made pro rata in accordance with each member’s interest in ADK LLC.
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The Amended Operating Agreement provides for cash distributions, which we refer to as “tax distributions,” to the holders of 
Post-Transaction LLC Units  if we, as the sole manager of ADK LLC, reasonably determine that a holder, by reason of holding 
Post-Transaction LLC Units, will incur an income tax liability. Generally, these tax distributions will be computed based on our 
estimate of the net taxable income of ADK LLC multiplied by an assumed tax rate equal to the highest effective marginal 
combined United States federal, state and local income tax rate prescribed for a corporate resident in California (taking into 
account the non-deductibility of certain expenses and the character of our income).

Upon the liquidation or winding up of ADK LLC, all net proceeds thereof will be distributed one hundred percent (100%) to the 
holders of Post-Transaction LLC Units, pro rata based on their percentage interests.

Transfer Restrictions

The Amended Operating Agreement contains restrictions on transfers of units and requires the prior consent of the manager for 
such transfers, except, in each case, for (i) certain transfers to permitted transferees under certain conditions and (ii) exchanges 
of Post-Transaction LLC Units for our Class A common stock pursuant to the Exchange Agreement as described above.

Sponsor Letter Agreement

Simultaneously with the execution of the MTA, Thunder Bridge Acquisition II LLC, a Delaware limited liability company 
(“Sponsor”) entered into a letter agreement with TB2 and ADK LLC (the “Sponsor Letter Agreement”), pursuant to which at 
the closing of the Transaction the Sponsor deposited with Continental Stock Transfer and Trust, as escrow agent (the “Sponsor 
Escrow Agent”), the Sponsor Escrow Shares, along with any earnings or proceeds thereon. At any time subsequent to the 
closing of the Transaction, the Sponsor may liquidate pursuant to its organizational documents and distribute the rights to the 
Escrow Shares among its members in accordance with its operating agreement, subject to the escrow restrictions. Following 
this dissolution, Gary Simanson, the managing member of the Sponsor, will have the authority to act on behalf of the Sponsor’s 
members, subject to the escrow agreement, in releasing from escrow or otherwise disposing of the Escrow Shares. While the 
Escrow Shares are held in escrow, the Sponsor’s members have full ownership rights to the Escrow Shares, including voting 
rights, but any earnings or proceeds from the Escrow Shares will be retained in the escrow account, and neither the Sponsor’s 
members nor Mr. Simanson following the Sponsor dissolution will have the right to transfer the Escrow Shares.

Release Escrow Shares

Fifty percent of the Escrow Shares was to be released from escrow to the Sponsor (along with any related earnings and 
proceeds) if at any time prior to December 31, 2027 the closing price of shares of our Class A common stock (or any successor 
equity security) on the principal exchange on which such securities are then listed or quoted will have been at or above $12.50 
for 20 trading days over a 30 trading day period (subject to equitable adjustment for stock splits, stock dividends, 
reorganizations or extra ordinary dividends). Such condition was satisfied on November 9, 2021. 100% of the remaining 
Escrow Shares will vest and be released from escrow to the Sponsor (along with any related earnings and proceeds) if at any 
time prior to December 31, 2027 the closing price of shares of our Class A common stock (or any successor equity security) on 
the principal exchange on which such securities are then listed or quoted will have been at or above $15.00 for 20 trading days 
over a 30 trading day period (subject to equitable adjustment for stock splits, stock dividends, reorganizations or extra ordinary 
dividends).

Additionally, all of the Escrow Shares will vest and be released from escrow to the Sponsor (along with any related earnings 
and proceeds) if prior to December 31, 2027, (i) we engage in a going private transaction or otherwise ceases to be subject to 
reporting obligations under Sections 13 or 15(d) of the Exchange Act, (ii) shares of Class A common stock or successor 
securities cease to be listed on a national securities exchange other than due to a violation of (x) minimum exchange listing 
requirements (including minimum round lot holder requirements), unless such failure is caused by an action or omission of us 
with the primary intent to cause, or that would reasonably be expected to cause, the delisting or (y) a minimum price per share 
requirement or (iii) there is a change of control of us.

In the event that the Escrow Shares (and related escrow property) are not released from escrow prior to December 31, 2027, 
they will be forfeited to us and cancelled.

Registration Rights Agreements

On the closing of the Transaction, Surviving Pubco entered into a registration rights agreement, dated as of the Closing Date, 
with Mr. McClymont, Mr. Aoki, Mr. Schiller, Bison Capital Partners IV, L.P., and certain other indie equity holders, pursuant 
to which Surviving Pubco registered for resale under the Securities Act shares of Class A common stock issued to such parties 
as consideration in connection with the Transaction, and provided such parties with certain rights relating to the registration of 
the securities held by them.
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In addition, pursuant to the Purchase Agreement, dated August 27, 2021, among indie, indie’s acquisition subsidiary and the 
stockholders of TeraXion, Inc., indie filed with the SEC a Registration Statement on Form S-1 to register for resale the shares 
of Class A common stock issued to such stockholders in the TeraXion acquisition. 

Other Transactions

Simultaneously with the consummation of the Transaction, the Sponsor converted $1,500,000 principal amount of working 
capital promissory notes issued to it by TB2I into warrants to purchase 1,500,000 shares of our Class A common stock pursuant 
to the terms of such notes. The terms of the Sponsor warrants are substantially the same as our private placement warrants.

The spouse of Donald McClymont, our Chief Executive Officer and member of our Board, is employed by indie as head of the 
human resources function. She is not one of our executive officers. Her compensation was determined and approved by indie’s 
independent Compensation Committee without the involvement of Mr. McClymont. Her base salary in fiscal year 2022 was 
approximately $175,000 per year. She has received and continues to be eligible for benefits, bonus and equity awards on the 
same general terms and conditions as applicable to employees in similar positions who do not have such a family relationship. 

ITEM 14. PRINCIPAL ACCOUNTANT FEES AND SERVICES

The following table shows the fees for professional services rendered by KPMG for the audit of our annual financial statements 
for the years ended December 31, 2022 and December 31, 2021, and fees billed for other services rendered by KPMG during 
those periods. 

2022 2021
Audit Fees(1) $ 2,420,000 $ 1,779,382 
Audit-Related Fees(2) 1,780 8,011 
Tax Fees(3) 15,000 — 
Total $ 2,436,780 $ 1,787,393 

____________
(1) Audit Fees. Audit Fees consist of fees for professional services rendered for the audits of our annual consolidated

financial statements, reviews of unaudited condensed consolidated quarterly financial statements and consent and
comfort letter procedures required in connection with the preparation of certain registration statements and securities
offering matters.

(2) Audit-Related Fees. Audit-Related Fees consist of fees for professional services that are reasonably related to the
performance of the audit or review of the Company’s financial statements and are not reported under “Audit Fees.”

(3) Tax Fees. Tax Fees consist of fees for professional services rendered with respect to tax advice, including tax law
interpretation.

All audit-related services, tax services and other non-audit services were pre-approved by the Audit Committee, which 
concluded that the provision of such services by KPMG was compatible with the maintenance of that firm’s independence in 
the conduct of its auditing functions. The Audit Committee’s outside auditor independence policy provides for pre-approval of 
audit, audit-related and tax services specifically described by the Audit Committee on an annual basis and, in addition, 
individual engagements anticipated to exceed pre-established thresholds must be separately approved.
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PART IV

ITEM 15. EXHIBITS AND FINANCIAL STATEMENT SCHEDULES

(a) The following documents are filed as part of this Report:

1. All financial statements:

The following consolidated financial statements of indie Semiconductor, Inc. and subsidiaries are filed as part of this
report under Item 8 – Financial Statements and Supplementary Data:

Form 10-K
Page No.

Report of Independent Registered Public Accounting Firm 50
Consolidated Balance Sheets 51
Consolidated Statements of Operations 52
Consolidated Statements of Comprehensive Loss 53
Consolidated Statements of Stockholders’ Equity and Noncontrolling Interest 54
Consolidated Statements of Cash Flow 55
Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements 57

2. Financial Statements Schedules:

Schedule II - Valuation and Qualifying Accounts information is included in Note 19 to the consolidated financial
statements which are filed as part of this report under Item 8 - Financial Statements and Supplementary Data.

All other financial statement schedules for which provision is made in the applicable accounting regulations of the 
Securities and Exchange Commission are not required under the related instructions or are inapplicable and, therefore, have 
been omitted.

3. Exhibits:

Exhibits required to be filed as part of this Report are:

2.1† Master Transactions Agreement, dated 
effective December 14, 2020, by and 
among Surviving Pubco, Thunder Bridge 
II, the Merger Subs named therein, indie, 
the ADK Blocker Group, ADK Service 
Provider Holdco, and the indie 
Securityholder Representative named 
therein, and also included as Annex 
B-1 to the proxy statement/prospectus.

8-K filed by
Thunder
Bridge
Acquisition
II, Ltd 001-39022 2.1 12/15/2020

2.2 Amendment to Master Transactions 
Agreement, dated effective May 3, 2021, 
by and among Surviving Pubco, Thunder 
Bridge II, the Merger Subs named therein, 
indie, the ADK Blocker Group, ADK 
Service Provider Holdco, and the indie 
Securityholder Representative named 
therein (included as Annex B-2 to the 
proxy statement/prospectus). Form S-4/A 333-25374 2.2 5/4/2021

Incorporated by Reference

Exhibit
No. Description

Filed 
Herewith Form SEC File No.

Exhibit 
No. Filing Date
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2.3† Share Purchase Agreement, dated as of 
August 27, 2021, by and among indie, 
TeraXion, Purchaser and certain 
stockholders of TeraXion and their 
ultimate beneficial owners. 8-K 001-40481 2.1 9/2/2021

3.1 Amended and Restated Certificate of 
Incorporation of indie Semiconductor, 
Inc., filed with the Secretary of State of 
Delaware on June 10, 2021. 8-K 001-40481 3.1 6/16/2021

3.2 Amended and Restated Bylaws of indie 
Semiconductor, Inc. 8-K 001-40481 3.2 6/16/2021

4.1 Specimen Common Stock Certificate. 8-K 001-40481 4.1 6/16/2021
4.2 Specimen Warrant Certificate. 8-K 001-40481 4.3 6/16/2021
4.3 Warrant Agreement between Continental 

Stock Trust & Transfer Company and 
Thunder Bridge II.

8-K filed by
Thunder
Bridge
Acquisition
II, Ltd 001-39022 4.1 8/14/2019

4.4 Warrant Agreement Assignment and 
Assumption Agreement. 8-K 001-40481 4.4 6/16/2021

4.5 Description of indie Semiconductor, Inc. 
Capital Stock X

4.6 Indenture, dated as of November 21, 
2022, between indie Semiconductor, Inc. 
and U.S. Bank Trust Company, National 
Association, as trustee. 8-K 001-40481 4.1 11/21/2022

4.7 Form of 4.500% Convertible Senior 
Notes due 2027 (included as Exhibit A in 
Exhibit 4.6). 8-K 001-40481 4.2 11/21/2022

10.1 Eighth Amended and Restated Limited 
Liability Company Agreement of indie 
LLC. 8-K 001-40481 10.1 6/16/2021

10.2 Subscription Agreement for the PIPE 
Investment.

8-K filed by
Thunder
Bridge
Acquisition
II, Ltd 001-39022 10.1 12/15/2020

10.3+ indie Semiconductor, Inc. Amended and 
Restated 2021 Equity Incentive Plan 10-Q 001-40481 10.2 11/14/2022

10.4+ indie Semiconductor, Inc. 2023 
Inducement Incentive Plan X

10.5+ Form of Notice of Restricted Stock Unit 
Award and Terms and Conditions of 
Restricted Stock Unit Award (2023 
Inducement Incentive Plan) X

10.6+ Form of Notice of Performance Stock 
Unit Award and Terms and Conditions of 
Performance Stock Unit Award X

10.7+ Form of Notice of Restricted Stock Unit 
Award and Terms and Conditions of 
Restricted Stock Unit Award S-8 333-258907 4.4 8/18/2021

Incorporated by Reference

Exhibit
No. Description

Filed 
Herewith Form SEC File No.

Exhibit 
No. Filing Date
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10.8+ Form of Notice of Restricted Stock 
Award and Terms and Conditions of 
Restricted Stock Award S-8 333-258907 4.5 8/18/2021

10.9+ Form of Notice of Stock Option Grant 
and Terms and Conditions of Stock 
Option S-8 333-258907 4.6 8/18/2021

10.10+ Form of Indemnification Agreement 
between registrant and certain officers 
and directors of registrant. 8-K 001-40481 10.4 6/16/2021

10.11 Exchange Agreement, dated June 10, 
2021, between registrant and certain indie 
Equity Holders. 8-K 001-40481 10.5 6/16/2021

10.12 Tax Receivable Agreement, dated June 
10, 2021, between registrant and certain 
indie Equity Holders. 8-K 001-40481 10.6 6/16/2021

10.13 Registration Rights Agreement, dated 
June 10, 2021, between registrant and 
certain indie Equity Holders. 8-K 001-40481 10.7 6/16/2021

10.14 Registration Rights Agreement, dated 
August 8, 2019, between Thunder Bridge 
II, Sponsor and the holders party thereto.

S-1/A filed
by Thunder
Bridge
Acquisition
II, Ltd 333-232688 10.4 7/29/2019

10.15 Private Placement Warrants Purchase 
Agreement between Thunder Bridge II 
and Thunder Bridge Acquisition II LLC.

S-1/A filed
by Thunder
Bridge
Acquisition
II, Ltd 333-232688 10.6 7/29/2019

10.16 Sponsor Letter Agreement by and among 
Thunder Bridge II, Sponsor and indie, 
dated December 14, 2020.

8-K filed by
Thunder
Bridge
Acquisition
II, Ltd 001-39022 10.6 12/15/2020

10.17 Loan and Security Agreement, dated 
January 13, 2015, and relevant 
amendments thereto, by and between 
Square 1 Bank (now Pacific Western 
Bank) and indie LLC. 8-K 001-40481 10.12 6/16/2021

10.18 Form of Option Settlement Agreement by 
and among indie, TeraXion, Purchaser 
and certain holders of options to purchase 
TeraXion capital stock 8-K 001-40481 2.2 9/2/2021

10.19 Purchase Agreement, dated November 16, 
2022, by and between indie 
Semiconductors, Inc. and Goldman Sachs 
& Co., LLC, as representative of the 
several Initial Purchasers 8-K 001-40481 10.1 11/21/2022

10.20 Sales Agreement, by and among the 
Registrant and B. Riley Securities, Inc., 
Craig-Hallum Capital Group LLC and 
Roth Capital Partners, LLC dated August 
6, 2022 S-3 333-267120 1.2 8/26/2022

10.21+ Form of Employment Agreement 8-K 001-40481 10.1 12/23/2022

Incorporated by Reference

Exhibit
No. Description

Filed 
Herewith Form SEC File No.

Exhibit 
No. Filing Date
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21.1 List of Subsidiaries of the Company X
23.1 Consent of KPMG LLP X
31.1 Chief Executive Officer Certification 

pursuant to Section 302 of the Sarbanes-
Oxley Act of 2002 X

31.2 Chief Financial Officer Certification 
pursuant to Section 302 of the Sarbanes-
Oxley Act of 2002 X

32 Certification Pursuant to Section 906 of 
the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002 X

101 Inline XBRL Interactive Data Files 
formatted in Inline XBRL Pursuant to 
Rule 405 of Regulation S-T: (i) 
Consolidated Balance Sheets as of 
December 31, 2022 and 2021; (ii) 
Consolidated Statements of Operations 
for the years ended December 31, 2022 
and 2021; (iii) Consolidated Statements 
of Other Comprehensive Loss for the 
years ended December 31, 2022 and 
2021; (iv) Consolidated Statement of 
Stockholders’ Equity for the years ended 
December 31, 2022 and 2021; (v) 
Consolidated Statements of Cash Flows 
for the years ended December 31, 2022 
and 2021; and (vi) Notes to Consolidated 
Financial Statements. X

104 Cover Page Interactive Data File 
(formatted as Inline XBRL and contained 
in Exhibit 101) X

Incorporated by Reference

Exhibit
No. Description

Filed 
Herewith Form SEC File No.

Exhibit 
No. Filing Date

____________

+ Indicates a management or compensatory plan.
†  Schedules to this exhibit have been omitted pursuant to Item 601(b)(2) of Registration S-K. The Registrant hereby agrees to furnish a 

copy of any omitted schedules to the Commission upon request.

ITEM 16. FORM 10-K SUMMARY

None.
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SIGNATURES

Pursuant to the requirements of the Securities and Exchange Act of 1934, the registrant has duly caused this report to be 
signed on its behalf by the undersigned hereunto duly authorized on March 28, 2023.

indie Semiconductor, Inc.

By: /s/ Donald McClymont
Name: Donald McClymont
Title: Chief Executive Officer

POWER OF ATTORNEY

KNOW ALL PERSONS BY THESE PRESENTS, that each person whose signature appears below constitutes and 
appoints Donald McClymont and Thomas Schiller, jointly and severally, his/her attorneys-in-fact, each with the power of 
substitution, for him/her in any and all capacities, to sign any amendments to this Annual Report on Form 10-K, and to file the 
same, with exhibits thereto and other documents in connection therewith, with the Securities and Exchange Commission, 
hereby ratifying and confirming all that each of said attorneys-in-fact, or his substitute or substitutes, may do or cause to be 
done by virtue hereof.

Pursuant to the requirements of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, this Annual Report on Form 10-K has been signed 
below by the following persons on behalf of the Registrant in the capacities and on the dates indicated.

Signature Title Date

/s/ Donald McClymont Chief Executive Officer and Director March 28, 2023
Donald McClymont (Principal Executive Officer)

/s/ Thomas Schiller Chief Financial Officer and EVP of Strategy March 28, 2023
Thomas Schiller (Principal Financial Officer)

/s/ Kanwardev Raja Singh Bal Chief Accounting Officer March 28, 2023
Kanwardev Raja Singh Bal (Principal Accounting Officer)

/s/ Ichiro Aoki President and Director March 28, 2023
Ichiro Aoki

/s/ David Aldrich Chairman of the Board of Directors March 28, 2023
David Aldrich

/s/ Diane Biagianti Director March 28, 2023
Diane Biagianti

/s/ Diane Brink Director March 28, 2023
Diane Brink

/s/ Peter Kight Director March 28, 2023
Peter Kight

/s/ Karl-Thomas Neumann Director March 28, 2023
Karl-Thomas Neumann

/s/ Jeffrey Owens Director March 28, 2023
Jeffrey Owens

/s/ Sonalee Parekh Director March 28, 2023
Sonalee Parekh
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Board of Directors

David Aldrich
Retired Chairman of the Board, Skyworks Solutions, Inc.

Donald McClymont
Chief Executive Offi  cer, indie Semiconductor, Inc.

Dr. Ichiro Aoki
President, indie Semiconductor, Inc.

Diane Biagianti
Senior Vice President and General Counsel, Glaukos Corporation

Diane Brink
Independent Director, Belden

Peter Kight
Chairman of the Board, Repay

Dr. Karl-Thomas Neumann
CEO and Founder, KTN Investment and Consulting

Jeffrey Owens
Retired Executive Vice President and CTO, Delphi Automotive PLC

Sonalee Parekh
Chief Financial Offi  cer, RingCentral

Senior Management

Donald McClymont
Chief Executive Offi  cer

Dr. Ichiro Aoki
President

Samar Aoun
Vice President, Quality

Chet Babla
Senior Vice President, Strategic Marketing

Kanwardev Raja Singh Bal
Chief Accounting Offi  cer

Joseph Damato
Executive Vice President and 
General Manager, System Solutions

Lionel Federspiel
Executive Vice President, Engineering

Darshan Gopal
Director, Product and Test Engineering

Dr. Peter Gulden
Senior Vice President, Radar Systems and Software

Paul Hollingworth
Executive Vice President, Sales and Marketing

David Kang
Engineering Fellow

Dr. Scott Kee
Chief Technology Offi  cer

Ghislain Lafrance
Executive Vice President, indie Semiconductor
President, TeraXion

Steve Machuga
Chief Operating Offi  cer

Abhay Rai
Executive Vice President and 
General Manager, Vision

Thomas Schiller
Chief Financial Offi  cer and Executive Vice President, Strategy

Vincent Wang
Executive Vice President, Asia Sales and Marketing

Michael Wittmann
Senior Vice President, Marketing

Audrey Wong
Chief Legal Offi  cer

Transfer Agent and Register
Continental Stock Transfer and Trust Company 

1 State Street, 30th Floor
New York, NY 10004-1561
(212) 509-4000
www.continentalstock.com

Our transfer agent can help you with a variety of stockholder-related 
services including change of address, lost stock certifi cates, stock 
transfers, account status and other administrative matters. 

Investor Relations
You can contact indie’s Investor Relations team directly to order an 
Investor’s Kit or to ask investment-oriented questions about indie 
Semiconductor at: 

indie Semiconductor
32 Journey
Aliso Viejo, CA, 92656
(949) 418-8637
ir@indiesemi.com

You can also view this annual report along with other fi nancial-relat-
ed information and other public fi lings with the U.S. Securities and 
Exchange Commission at: www.indiesemi.com.

Independent Registered Public Accountants

KPMG LLP

Executive Offi ces

indie Semiconductor
32 Journey
Aliso Viejo, CA, 92656
(949) 608-0854

Common Stock
indie Semiconductor common stock is traded on the Nasdaq Global 
Select Market® under the symbol INDI.

Annual Meeting
The annual meeting of stockholders will be held virtually on 
June 21, 2023 at 1:00 p.m. Pacifi c time.

Electrifi cation
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